IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

LAUREL M. LEE, in her official capacity as the Secretary of State of Florida, et al.,

Defendants.

Case No. 4:21-cv-186-MW-MAF

Consolidated for trial with

Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MJF

Case No. 4:21-cv-187-MW-MAF

Case No. 4:21-cv-242-MW-MAF

NAACP AND FLORIDA RISING TOGETHER PLAINTIFFS' JOINT POST-TRIAL BRIEF, INCLUDING PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INT	RODI	UCTION	1
FIN	DING	S OF FACT	3
I.	PARTIES		3
	A.	Plaintiffs	3
	B.	Defendants	13
II.	EXF	PERTS	14
	A.	Plaintiffs' Experts	14
	B.	Plaintiffs' Rebuttal Experts	22
III.	HIS'	HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TO SB 90	
	A.	Florida's History of Racially Discriminatory Voting Laws and Practices Prior to the Voting Rights Act of 1965	24
	В.	Voting Discrimination After the Voting Rights Act of 1965 Throuthe 2000 General Election	30
	C.	Recent Developments	35
	D.	Effects of Racial Discrimination in Florida	49
IV.	FLORIDA'S ELECTION LAWS PRIOR TO SB 90		59
	A.	Voter Registration	59
	B.	Vote-by-Mail Application Process	61
	C.	Use of Drop Boxes	63
	D.	Polling-Place Assistance	65
V.	THE 2020 GENERAL ELECTION		67
	A.	Unprecedented Turnout and Use of Vote-by-Mail, Particularly And Black and Latino Voters	_
	B.	Absence of Voter Fraud	71
	C.	Absence of Issues with Voter Registration Organizations	75
	D.	Widespread Praise of 2020 Election and Florida Election Code	77
VI.	CHALLENGED PROVISIONS OF SB 90		82
	A.	VBM Application Requests	82

	В.	Vote-by-Mail Application Restriction	83
	C.	3PVRO Compelled Disclaimer	84
	D.	Voter Registration Delivery Restriction	85
	E.	Drop Box Restrictions	86
	F.	Polling-Place Assistance Restriction	88
VII.	THE PASSAGE OF SB 90		90
	A.	SB 90's Introduction and Evolution in the Senate and House	91
	В.	Sponsors' Inability to Justify Major Election Law Changes or the Specific Challenged Provisions	.107
	C.	Legislators' Awareness That SB 90 Would Burden Voters	.118
	D.	Legislators' Awareness That SB 90 Would Have a Discriminatory Impact	.122
	E.	Procedural and Substantive Departures from the Ordinary Legislat Process	ive
VIII.	IMPA	ACT OF SB 90 ON FLORIDA VOTERS	
	A.	Calculus of Voting Framework	.164
	B.	The Challenged Provisions Burden All Florida Voters	.166
IX.	INJU	RIES TO PLAINTIFFS	.206
	A.	Florida NAACP	.206
	B.	Common Cause	.210
	C.	Disability Rights Florida	.211
	D.	Florida Rising Together	.214
	E.	Poder Latinx	.219
	F.	Equal Ground	.225
	G.	Hispanic Federation	.230
	H.	UnidosUS	.238
X.	THE	DEFENDANT'S CASE	.244
	A.	Witnesses	.244
	B	Defendants' Defense of SB 90	253

CO	NCLU	JSIONS OF LAW	259	
I.	PLA	AINTIFFS HAVE ESTABLISHED STANDING TO SUE	259	
	A.	NAACP Plaintiffs Have Established Standing.	271	
	В.	FRT Plaintiffs Have Established Standing	283	
II.	RA0 FOU	E CHALLENGED PROVISIONS OF SB 90 WERE PASSED WIT CIALLY DISCRIMINATORY INTENT IN VIOLATION OF THE URTEENTH AMENDMENT AND CTION 2 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT	Ξ	
	A.	Voting Laws Passed with Racially Discriminatory Intent Violate Fourteenth Amendment, Fifteenth Amendment, and Section 2 of Voting Rights Act	f the	
	В.	SB 90 was Enacted with Discriminatory Intent and Effect under Arlington Heights		
III.	SB 90 HAS DISCRIMINATORY EFFECTS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT			
	A.	Legal Principles	329	
	B.	Applying the <i>Brnovich</i> and <i>Gingles</i> Factors, the Challenged Provisions Have Discriminatory Effects		
IV.		E CHALLENGED PROVISIONS ARE UNCONSITUTTIONAL DER THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS	340	
	A.	Legal Standard	340	
	В.	The Challenged Provisions Unduly Burden Florida Voters Right Vote and Are Not Justified by Any Purported State Interest		
	C.	The State's Interest in the Challenged Provisions is Pretextual, o At Least Insufficient to Justify the Burdens on Voters		
V.	FIR	FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGES TO LINE RELIEF PROVISION		
	••••	36		
	A.	Legal Standard - Expressive Conduct	367	
	В.	Application – Expressive Conduct	370	
	C.	Application – Overbreadth	376	
	D	Legal Standard – Vagueness	377	

	E.	Application – Vagueness	378
VI.	the c	hallenged provisions violate the americans with disabilities act	381
	A.	Legal Standard	381
	B.	DRF May Sue Defendants for Violations of the ADA	383
	C.	The Drop Box Provision Will Deny Voters with Disabilities' Act to Drop Boxes	
	D.	The VBM Application Provision Will Deny Individuals with Disabilities Access to Vote-By-Mail.	387
	E.	Enforcement of the Line Relief Provision Will Deny Individuals Disabilities Equal Access to In-Person Voting	
VII.		LINE RELIEF PROVISION OF SB 90 IS PREEMPTED BY TION 208 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT	396
		REGISTRATION DISCLAIMER PROVISION VIOLATES THE ST AMENDMENT AS COMPELLED SPEECH	399
	A.	Legal Principles	399
	B.	The Registration Disclaimer Provision Violates the First Amend	mont
IX.	DISC	ST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO REGISTRATION CLAIMER PROVISION BASED ON PLAINTIFFS' RIGHTS TO EDOM OF ASSOCIATION)
X.		ST AMENDMENT CHALLENGES TO VOTER REGISTRATION IVERY RESTRICTION	
	A.	Legal Principles	416
	B.	The Registration Delivery Restriction Violates the First Amendatunder Exacting Scrutiny	
	C.	Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Injunctive Relief	422
XI.		NEED FOR BAIL-IN RELIEF UNDER SECTION 3 OF THE	
		TNG RIGHTS ACT	
	A.	Legal Principles	
	В.	Application	426

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs in the NAACP (21-cv-187) and Florida Rising Together (21-cv-201) cases respectfully submit these Joint Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law following a 14-day bench trial of the four above-captioned consolidated cases, in which the Plaintiffs challenge various provisions of the Florida voter suppression statute known as SB 90. As set forth in detail below, the evidence presented at this consolidated trial demonstrated that each of the provisions of SB 90 challenged by the NAACP and Florida Rising Together Plaintiffs—namely, Section 28 (the "Drop Box Provision"), Section 29 (the "Line Relief Provision"), Section 24 (the "VBM Application Provision" and "VBM Request Identification"), and Section 7 (the "Registration Disclaimer Provision" and "Registration Delivery Provision") (collectively, the "Challenged Provisions")—is unlawful and invalid on each of the statutory and constitutional grounds Plaintiffs alleged. Declaratory and injunctive relief prohibiting the implementation of each of these Challenged Provisions therefore should be granted.

The trial evidence demonstrated that SB 90—in a pattern set by the many other discriminatory voting laws in Florida that preceded it—was enacted in a discriminatory backlash against the unprecedented surge in minority voters' usage of voting by mail and the organized assertion of their voting power in the election of 2020. Lacking any legitimate impetus or justification, the Challenged Provisions

impose severe and unwarranted burdens on the voting rights of all Florida voters, but particularly upon Black and Latino voters and voters with disabilities, in violation of their constitutional and statutory rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments, the Voting Rights Act of 1965 ("VRA"), and the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"). Each of the organizational Plaintiffs has already been injured, and will continue to be injured, through diversion of its resources from other critical tasks; and the Black and Latino voters and voters with disabilities who are the Plaintiffs' members will likewise be harmed by SB 90, along with Florida voters at large, if the Challenged Provisions are not enjoined.

The burden the Challenged Provisions impose on Florida voters serves no legitimate state interest, nor can the restrictions they impose on Plaintiffs' right to engage in expressive conduct by registering voters and providing voting-line relief withstand constitutional scrutiny. The Challenged Provisions should be invalidated and enjoined for what they are, and what the trial evidence exposes them to be: a reactionary and racially tinged campaign to make it harder for Florida voters—and particularly minority voters—to exercise their right to vote. Plaintiffs are entitled to relief against Defendants on all claims.

FINDINGS OF FACT

I. PARTIES

A. Plaintiffs

- 1. Florida State Conference of Branches and Youth Units of the NAACP
- 1. Plaintiff FLORIDA STATE CONFERENCE OF BRANCHES AND YOUTH UNITS OF THE NAACP ("Florida NAACP") is an advocacy organization. Tr. 506:4-8 (Brown). The Florida NAACP's approximately 12,000 members are predominately Black and other minority individuals; they include registered voters who reside throughout the state and who plan to vote in future elections in 2022. Tr. 508:20-21, 510:4-11 (Brown); Tr. 1951:24-1952 (Slater).
- 2. The Florida NAACP's mission is to ensure the political, social, educational, and economic equality of all persons and to eliminate race-based discrimination. Tr. 506:6-8 (Brown). For decades, Florida NAACP has engaged in statewide voter registration drives, get-out-the-vote programs, "Souls to the Polls" events, line relief efforts, public education and trainings about the voting process, candidate forums, partnerships with members of the faith-based community, and other advocacy to support voting rights, all as part of its civic participation work. Tr. 510:16-517:11 (Brown); Tr. 1953:22-1954:8 (Slater).
- 3. As a result of SB 90, the Florida NAACP's members will face increased burdens on voting rights, including reduced drop box access, added hurdles for

requesting a VBM ballot, and increased hardships for in-person voters waiting in longer lines. Furthermore, the Florida NAACP has been forced to divert resources from its core programming to respond to SB 90; to create new educational materials to inform its members about SB 90 and its consequences; and to forgo central features of its civic engagement mission, such as providing items of relief to voters waiting in line.

2. Common Cause

- 4. Plaintiff COMMON CAUSE is a nonpartisan, nonprofit citizen lobby with approximately 55,000 members in Florida. Tr. 539:17-20 (Albert). Common Cause advocates for policies at the state and local level to ensure that elections are free, fair, and accessible. Tr. 539:3-7 (Albert).
- 5. Common Cause also encourages and supports voter participation in elections by, among other things, engaging in voter education and outreach efforts; acting as a lead coordinator for the nonpartisan Florida Election Protection Coalition; monitoring and correcting election-related disinformation online; and funding translation of election information into Spanish and Haitian Creole for non-English-speaking voters. *Id.* at 540:6-23, 542:5-18 (Albert).
- 6. As a result of SB 90, Common Cause has already spent \$10,000 on new educational resources to inform voters how they can vote. Tr. 544:9-24 (Albert).

- 7. In addition, Common Cause has determined that it will have to hire at least two additional community organizers to inform and educate voters about their rights as they are affected by the new law. Tr. 554:1-545:20 (Albert). The organization estimates that the additional organizers will cost a minimum of \$100,000, which Common Cause would have otherwise devoted to public education and advocacy concerning the redistricting process in Florida. Tr. 557:20-558:6 (Albert).
- 8. The Challenged Provisions make it substantially more difficult for Common Cause to engage in its civic engagement mission in Florida. Tr. 558:4-12 (Albert).

3. Disability Rights Florida

- 9. Plaintiff DISABILITY RIGHTS FLORIDA ("DRF") is an independent, nonprofit corporation designated by law as Florida's federally funded protection and advocacy system ("P&A system") for individuals with disabilities. Tr. 434:18-20 (DePalma). In this capacity, DRF advocates, educates, investigates, and litigates to protect and advance the rights of people with disabilities. Tr. 437:12-15 (DePalma).
- 10. DRF's constituents include every Floridian with a disability. Tr. 440:24 (DePalma); ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 26 (Decl. of William S. Cooper). DRF works to increase the political participation of individuals with disabilities, including by

addressing barriers that voters with disabilities face while voting and by increasing opportunities for people residing in a range of congregate facilities to vote. Tr. 441:22-442:2 (DePalma). DRF engages in legislative and public advocacy on these issues, directly engages with and trains election officials and voters on expanding voting accessibility, promotes robust voter registration, and engages in voter hotline and voter education efforts. Tr. 442:6-10, 442:19-443:6 (DePalma).

- 11. As a result of SB 90, DRF has commissioned an accessibility audit, which will cost DRF approximately \$82,000; it will review the websites of all 67 Supervisors of Elections to assess whether they are compatible with screen readers and accessible for people with disabilities, now that voters will have to request VBM ballots twice as often using these websites. Tr. 468:23-469:15, 472:21-473:10, 474:7-24 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:5-7, 2731:11-13 (Babis).
- 12. To educate its constituents about SB 90, and to minimize the impact of SB 90's Challenged Provisions, DRF has been forced to divert time, money, and resources away from other activities. Tr. 474:20-24 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:24-2732:5, 2732:1-2733:4, 2733:11-24, 2734:3-6, 2734:18-2736-3, 2736:15-2737 (Babis). DRF has also developed new educational resources explaining SB 90's changes to Florida's voting laws, which will cost between \$5,000 and \$9,000. Tr. 475:14-476:1, 476:8-477:8 (DePalma). DRF will distribute these materials to ADA

coordinators at the city and county level, SOEs' offices, and not-for-profit organizations. Tr. 476:20-22 (DePalma).

4. Florida Rising Together

- 13. Florida Rising Together ("FRT") is a nonprofit organization dedicated to expanding democracy, advocating for historically marginalized communities, and building a state where all families can thrive. Tr. 2032:20-22 (Mercado). FRT focuses on various issues, including democracy, housing justice, and climate action. *Id.* at 2033:17-18. As part of its mission to expand democracy, FRT engages in voter registration, voter education, and election protection work. *Id.* at 2034:3-8.
- 14. FRT was created as a result of a merger of two former nonprofit organizations, New Florida Majority Education Fund and Organize Florida Education Fund. Tr. 2032:23-2033:1 (Mercado). FRT's predecessors each registered over 100,000 Florida voters, and over 85% of those registered by the New Florida Majority Education Fund were people of color. *Id.* at 2035:2-15, 2035:20-21. In 2020, FRT's predecessors and their partners provided assistance to voters at polling places in Miami-Dade, Broward, Palm Beach, Duval, Orange, Osceola, and Hillsborough Counties. *Id.* at 2046:11-21. An FRT predecessor also sent out 14,000 vote-by-mail application forms to Florida voters. *Id.* at 2050:25-2051:15.
- 15. FRT engages with voters in several counties throughout the State of Florida. For example, FRT registers voters in Miami-Dade, Broward, Orange,

Osceola, Gadsden, and Duval Counties. Tr. 2036:9-13 (Mercado). FRT has registered more than 2,000 individuals and aims to register 100,000 voters by October 2022. *Id.* at 2034:24-2035:1, 2044:15-2045:9.

- 16. FRT is a membership organization. Members of FRT may participate in FRT's activities by identifying issues in their communities, by helping to educate elected officials about such issues, by volunteering their time, and by attending FRT membership meetings. Tr. 2033:21-2034:2 (Mercado).
- 17. As discussed further herein (*see infra*, Findings of Fact, Section IX.E), in response to SB 90, FRT has: (i) spent staff time and resources educating voters about how to cast their ballots and have their votes counted in light of SB 90's changes to the law; (ii) hired three additional quality control managers; and (iii) ended its efforts to produce voter education materials that help Floridians apply to vote by mail. FRT has taken these actions at the expense of its other programs, including the lost opportunity to hire more frontline organizers for its vaccine education, democracy education, and eviction support programs.

5. Poder Latinx

18. Poder Latinx is a fiscally sponsored project of Tides Advocacy. Poder Latinx is a civic and social justice organization dedicated to building the political power of the Latinx community through its civic engagement, community organizing, and leadership development programs. Tr. 187:18-188:4 (Garces).

- 19. Poder Latinx's civic engagement program aims to build the political power of the Latinx community through voter registration, voter education, voter turnout, and voter protection. Tr. 190:10-191:22 (Garces). It primarily engages with voters in eight counties, including Orange, Osceola, Seminole, Lake, Polk, Lee, Palm Beach, and Volusia Counties. Tr. 187:1-2; 193:12-16 (Garces).
- 20. Poder Latinx was founded in 2019. Since then, Poder Latinx has registered over 40,000 Florida voters. *Id.* at 191:11-13; 234:6-7. Poder Latinx's voter turnout program in 2020 knocked on 105,000 doors mead of the 2020 election. *Id.* at 191:9-18; 193:17-24.
- 21. As discussed further herein (Section XI.B), in response to SB 90, Poder Latinx has ended its vote-by-mail application assistance program and has diverted its staff and funding to its voter registration program and to voter outreach for its language assistance and drop box education efforts. Poder Latinx has taken these steps at the expense of its ability to invest in its organizational infrastructure or hire additional staff members to further its mission of empowering the Latinx community and organizing around key issues.

6. Equal Ground

22. Equal Ground Education Fund ("Equal Ground") is a non-profit organization founded to empower Black voters. Tr. 381:4-11; 17-24 (Burney-Clark).

- 23. Since 2019, Equal Ground has conducted voter registration, education, and mobilization work, focusing on Orange, Pinellas, Seminole, and Volusia counties. Tr. 382:25-383:2; 384:10-14 (Burney-Clark). "Souls to the Polls," one of Equal Ground's primary voter mobilization efforts, reached about 60,000 parishioners across more than 20 Florida counties in 2020. *Id.* at 395:7-19. In 2020, Equal Ground's voter education materials reached approximately 500,000 voters. *Id.* at 404:16-18.
- 24. As discussed further herein (*infra* Findings Fact, Section IX.F), in response to SB 90, Equal Ground has ended its voter registration and voter mobilization "Souls to the Polls" program and has diverted staff and funding to dramatically expanding its voter education program to educate voters about how to cast their ballots and have their votes counted in light of SB 90's changes to the laws.

7. Hispanic Federation

- 25. Hispanic Federation is a 501(c)(3) organization whose mission is to advance and empower the Latino community through its programming on the environment, health care, education, immigration, economic empowerment, and civic engagement. Tr. 717:10-20 (Velez Burgos).
- 26. Through its civic engagement program, Hispanic Federation engages in voter registration, "get out the vote" activities ("GOTV"), and voter education. Its program is meant to ensure the representation of the Latino community's interests

in government by helping Latinos get involved in elections and civic participation.

Tr. 719:1-720:11 (Velez Burgos).

- 27. Hispanic Federation has member agencies, all of which are nonprofit organizations. Tr. 718:21-719:2, 780:14-18 (Velez Burgos). Hispanic Federation provides subgrants to those agencies, provides training, and assists them with capacity development. *Id.* 718:21-719:2, 785:2-5. During the 2020 election, Hispanic Federation supported the civic engagement activities of its member agencies by providing funding for polling place assistance activities. *Id.* at 780:14-23; 784:8-13; 810:13-17.
- 28. Hispanic Federation primarily engages with voters in Broward, Hillsborough, Lake, Miami-Dade, Orange, Osceola, Polk, Seminole, and Volusia Counties. *Id.* at 722:8-17. During the 2016 and 2020 election cycles, Hispanic Federation registered over 78,000 voters. *Id.* at 726:3-21. During the 2020 election cycle alone, Hispanic Federation's voter education and GOTV programs engaged with about 520,000 voters—226,000 of whom voted by mail—in all 67 counties in Florida. *Id.* at 722:18-723:14; 737:23-738:1.
- 29. As discussed further herein (*infra* Findingsfo Fact, Section IX.G), in response to SB 90, Hispanic Federation will divert resources from its voter education and GOTV programs to accommodate its need to hire additional canvassers and quality control staff. Hispanic Federation will take these actions at the expense of

its ability to: (i) reach voters in additional Florida counties; (ii) invest in its infrastructure and current staff; and (iii) expand its civic engagement program to Pennsylvania.

8. Unidos US

- 30. UnidosUS is a 501(c)(3) organization whose mission is to "create an America where Latino contributions are respected and where they are able to pursue their version of the American dream." It pursues this mission through issue advocacy and civic engagement programs, including voter registration, voter education, and "get out the vote" activities. Tr. 1404.4-1405:17 (Nordlund).
- 31. UnidosUS has 17 affiliate Latino nonprofit organizations that provide social services to the communities they serve. Each affiliate pays annual dues to UnidosUS. UnidosUS provides support to its affiliates with their voter registration work. Tr. 1404:21-1405:11; 1411:14-1413:7 (Nordlund).
- 32. UnidosUS primarily engages with voters in Broward, Lake, Miami-Dade, Orange, Osceola, Seminole, and Volusia Counties. Tr. 1409:22-25 (Nordlund). Its Florida affiliates engage with voters in Brevard, Broward, Hillsborough, Orange, Osceola, and Miami-Dade Counties. Tr. 1413:4-7 (Nordlund). Since 2012, UnidosUS has registered over 300,000 voters in Florida, including 72,000 voters in 2020. *Id.* at 1409:11-15; 1413:8-13. In 2020, UnidosUS also helped about 25,000 Florida voters vote by mail. *Id.* at 1485:16-21.

33. As discussed further herein (*infra* Findingsfo Fact, Section IX.H), in response to SB 90, UnidosUS has diverted staff and funding to its voter registration program and to expanding its voter education program with respect to the vote-by-mail application requirements in particular. UnidosUS will take these actions at the expense of its issue advocacy campaigns and its overall ability to register more Latino voters.

B. Defendants

- 34. The Secretary of State, Laurel Lee, is the chief election official in the State of Florida. *See* Fla. Stat. § 97.012; *see also* Fr. 2758:7-9 (Matthews). The Secretary's duties consist of, among other things, "[o]btain[ing] and maintain[ing] uniformity in the interpretation and implementation of the election laws." Fla. Stat. § 97.012(1). To achieve that end, she may adopt "uniform standards for the proper and equitable interpretation and implementation" of the election laws. *Id.* Defendant Lee's statutory responsibilities also include managing voter registration and overseeing third-party voter registration organizations. *Id.* § 97.0575.
- 35. Director of Elections Maria Matthews was the only employee of the Secretary of State's office who testified.
- 36. The remaining Defendants are the Supervisors of Elections for each of Florida's 67 counties. The Supervisors are responsible for administering elections in their respective counties. Among other election administration responsibilities,

the Supervisors are charged by law with enforcing SB 90's drop box restrictions, Fla. Stat. § 101.69(2), vote-by-mail identification requirement, id. § 101.62, and restriction on polling-place assistance, id. § 102.031(4)(c).

- The following Supervisors testified during trial: 37.
- Craig Latimer by designation (Hillsborough);
- Alan Hays by designation (Lake);
- Joe Scott (Broward);
- Brian Corley (Pasco);
- Christina White (Miami-Dade);
- Mark Earley (Leon); and
- Tommy Doyle (Lee).
- MOCKACYDOCKETCOM The Republican National Committee and the National Republican 38. Senatorial Committee are Defendant-Intervenors. See ECF No. 402 (Joint Stip.) at 2.

II. **EXPERTS**

Plaintiffs' Experts Α.

- 1. Dr. Morgan Kousser
- Dr. Morgan Kousser is Emeritus Professor of History and Social 39. Science at the California Institute of Technology where he served as a tenured professor from 1975 until his retirement in 2020. Tr. 1671 (Kousser). He received

his B.A. in history from Princeton University, and his master's and a Ph.D. in history from Yale University. ECF No. 608-25 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1671 (Kousser).

- 40. Dr. Kousser's work has focused on, among other things, American politics, particularly Southern politics; minority voting rights; educational discrimination, race relations, and the legal history of those subjects. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 3 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1672-1673 (Kousser). At Cal-Tech, Dr. Kousser taught courses on American history, U.S. Supreme Court history, and historical and quantitative methodology, among others. Tr. 1672-1673 (Kousser).
- 41. Dr. Kousser is the author of two books and numerous scholarly articles. His books include *The Shaping of Southern Politics: Suffrage Restriction and the Establishment of the One-Party South, 1880-1910*, which concerned the connection between party politics and the distranchisement of African-Americans and poor whites in the late 19th and early 20th centuries; and *Colorblind Injustice: Minority Voting Rights and the Undoing of the Second Reconstruction.* ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 3 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1673 (Kousser). For 12 years he was the editor of a scholarly journal, *Historical Methods*, which addresses quantitative methods in social scientific approaches to history. Tr. 1674 (Kousser).
- 42. Dr. Kousser has also testified twice before Congress on voting rights, most recently in 2019. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 6 (Kousser Rpt.). He previously has

provided expert testimony in approximately 50 voting rights cases. Tr. 1675 (Kousser).

- 43. In this case, Dr. Kousser was asked to examine the evidence he would typically consider as a historian to analyze the reasons for the adoption of SB 90, and to make that analysis available to the finder of fact. Tr. 1680-1681 (Kousser).
- 44. Dr. Kousser was accepted as an expert in American political and legal history, the history of racial discrimination in voting, and historical and quantitative methodology. Tr. 1675:5-16 (Kousser).

2. Dr. Traci Burch

- A5. Dr. Traci R. Burch is an Associate Professor of Political Science at Northwestern University and Research Professor at the American Bar Foundation. Tr. 920:16-19, 921:3-7 (Burch); *see also* ECF No. 608-5 at 69 (Burch Rpt.). She received her Ph.D. in Government and Social Policy from Harvard University in 2007. Tr. 920:8-12, 22, 24; 912:2 (Burch); *see also* ECF No. 608-5 at 69 (Burch Rpt.). Dr. Burch works in the areas of political behavior, political participation, and barriers to voting. Tr. 921:10-11 (Burch).
- 46. She also works on issues of race and ethnic politics, which is the broad study of racial group interactactions. Dr. Burch's studies also focus on discrimination, public opinion about race and racial issues, how public opinion and

political behavior vary by race, and the history of race and racial politics. Tr. 922:17-24 (Burch).

- 47. Dr. Burch is widely regarded as an expert on political behavior and political participation. ECF No. 608-5 at 1 (Burch Rpt.). This is Dr. Burch's sixth engagement as an expert witness and the fourth such engagement for which she has testified at trial. Tr. 926:5-6 (Burch); see also ECF No. 608-5 at 2 (Burch Rpt.). Dr. Burch previously testified at trial and in a deposition in a case in *Jones v. DeSantis* (Consolidated Case No. 4:19-cv-300 (N.D. Fla.)); at trial and in a deposition in North Carolina state court (*Community Success Initiative v. Timothy K. Moore* (Case No. 19-cv-15941, N.C. Superior Court, Wake County)); and at trial and in a deposition in *People First of Alabama v. John Merriti*, Case No. 2:20-cv-619 (N.D. Ala.). ECF No. 608-5 at 3 (Burch Rpt.). The trial courts relied on Dr. Burch's expert testimony, and she was cited in the opinions in both *Jones* and *People First. See* ECF No. 608-5 at 3 (Burch Rpt.).
- 48. At trial, Professor Burch was accepted by the Court as an expert in political science and social policy, particularly race and ethnic policies, legislative processes and political behavior and discriminatory barriers to voting. Tr. 927:24-928:7 (Burch).

3. William S. Cooper

- 49. Dr. William Cooper is an independent demographic expert and private consultant. He received his B.A. in Economics from Davidson College. Tr. 584:21-22 (Cooper). Mr. Cooper has 35 years of experience in demographic analysis, including the evaluation of U.S. Census Bureau data (including the decennial Census, the American Community Survey, and other data). Tr. 578:20-579:5, 580:18-21; 583:1-6 (Cooper). He also has expertise in data regarding socioeconomic characteristics, disparities, and potential barriers to voting among racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic groups. Tr. 583:10-584:20; 586:24-587:7 (Cooper).
- 50. Mr. Cooper has testified at trial as an expert witness in approximately 45 cases, dating back to 1987, and has given expert deposition testimony or provided an expert report in dozens more cases, including on behalf of the City of Quincy, Florida, defendants in a VRA Section 2 lawsuit. Tr. 585:14-586:7 (Cooper); see Baroody v. City of Quincy, 4:20-cv-217-AW-MAF (N.D. Fla. June 7, 2020). Mr. Cooper also served as a redistricting and demographic expert for the plaintiffs in Calvin v. Jefferson County Board of Commissioners, a one-person, one-vote suit in which Plaintiffs prevailed on summary judgment. Tr. 587:8-22, 588:14-22 (Cooper); see 172 F. Supp. 3d 1292, 1298, 1314-26 (N.D. Fla. 2016). Mr. Cooper has also provided expert reports or declarations in voting rights cases in Glades County, Florida, and DeSoto County, Florida. Tr. 587:23-588:4 (Cooper).

- 51. Mr. Cooper has provided demographic consulting services to many civil rights organizations, nonprofit groups, and state and local governments. Tr. 579:11-582:25 (Cooper). For example, in 2001 and 2011, Mr. Cooper served as one of several redistricting consultants to Miami-Dade County, advising its County Commission and School Board. Tr. 581:3-10 (Cooper). Mr. Cooper also provided demographic advice and developed voting plans for a number of counties and municipalities in Mississippi, Washington state, Virginia, and Utah, and provided expert demographic services to the State of Maryland and Governor of Pennsylvania. Tr. 581:14-25 (Cooper).
- 52. Courts have acknowledged Mr. Cooper as a leading demographic expert in voting rights and redistricting cases. *E.g., Caster v. Merrill*, consolidated with *Singleton v. Merrill*, Nos. 2:21-cv-1291, 2:21-cv-1530 2022 WL 265001, *33, *57-58 (N.D. Ala. Jan. 24, 2022) (three-judge district court) (finding Mr. Cooper's testimony "highly credible," noting that Mr. Cooper has "spent the majority of his professional life drawing maps for redistricting and demographic purposes," and crediting Mr. Cooper's reports and his live testimony as "clear," "consistent," and well-explained).
- 53. At trial, Plaintiffs tendered Mr. Cooper as an expert to testify concerning demographics and socioeconomic data, Tr. 588:5-7 (Cooper), and this

Court qualified Mr. Cooper as an expert based on his experience and his provision of information useful to the finder of fact. Tr. 593:5-594:13 (Cooper).

4. Dr. Sharon Austin

- 54. Dr. Sharon Austin is a Professor of Political Science at the University of Florida. She received a Ph.D. in political science from the University of Tennessee at Knoxville in 1993. ECF No. 608-18 at 1 (Ex. A to Austin Rpt.).
- 55. Since 1992, Dr. Austin's research has focused on various aspects of American politics and public policy, including minority voter participation and the barriers to such participation. She has authored numerous articles, books, and book chapters on the topic of minority voter participation. ECF No. 608-17 ¶¶ 6-7 (Austin Rpt.).
- 56. At trial, Dr. Austin was accepted by the Court as an expert on the history of voting rights and discrimination in Florida. Dr. Austin provided testimony about Florida's longstanding history of responding to Black and Latino voters' progress in exercising their right to vote by enacting laws that seek to disenfranchise them. Tr. 851:7-916:19 (Austin).

5. Dr. Daniel Smith

57. Dr. Smith is a Professor and Chair of Political Science at the University of Florida. He received his doctorate in Political Science from the University of Wisconsin-Madison in 1994. He is also President of ElectionSmith, a consulting

firm that specializes in empirical research on voting and election administration in the United States. Tr. 2341:3-4, 2342:25-2343:2 (Smith); ECF No. 467-7 \P 2 (Smith Rpt.).

- 58. For nearly thirty years, Dr. Smith has conducted research on electoral politics in the American states, focusing on the effect of political institutions on political behavior. Tr. 2343:24-3244:10 (Smith). He has written extensively on election administration in the American states, has published over 100 articles and book chapters, including many that have appeared in top peer-reviewed journals, as well as two books. ECF No. 467-7 ¶ 3 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2345:8-10 (Smith). Dr. Smith has taught undergraduate and graduate courses focusing on American political institutions, voting and election administration, and political behavior in the American states, including Florida: Tr. 2344:11-24 (Smith). A substantial portion of his academic research has focused on elections and voting in Florida, including research on efforts to strip voter registrations of potential non-citizens, restrictions on in-person voting, and wait-times at polling places. Tr. 2348:16-2350:8 (Smith). A substantial portion of his research has dealt with issues of voter access as they relate to race and ethnicity. Tr. 2351:9-11 (Smith).
- 59. Dr. Smith has testified before the U.S. Senate and state legislatures, including Florida, on voting and election issues. Tr. 2353:3-2354:5 (Smith). He has

also previously served as an expert in election-related litigation in multiple states, including Florida. ECF No. 467-7 ¶ 4 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2354:6-2356:23 (Smith).

- 60. At trial, Plaintiffs tendered, and the Court accepted, Professor Smith as an expert in election administration, voter access, and voter participation in the U.S. and the State of Florida, in particular. Tr. 2357:7-12 (Smith).
- 61. At trial, Dr. Smith testified that the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 impose severe burdens on voting by eligible Florida voters generally, and that those burdens will disproportionately impact Black and Latino voters and voters with disabilities.

B. Plaintiffs' Rebuttal Experts

1. Dr. Michael McDonald

- 62. Dr. Michael McDonald is a Professor of Political Science at the University of Florida. He received a Ph.D. in Political Science from the University of California at San Diego. ECF No. 461-23 at 1 (McDonald CV).
- 63. For over 20 years, Dr. McDonald's work has focused on election administration, election data, and political methodology. He has authored numerous books, book chapters, peer-reviewed articles, law review articles, and reports in these fields. Tr. 3581:15-19; 3582:18-24 (McDonald); ECF No. 461-23 at 2-12. His extensive experience in elections administration includes work advising the U.S. Election Assistance Commission, the Department of Defense, and several state

elections administrators. Tr. 3584:14-3585:18 (McDonald); ECF No. 461-23 at 10-12; 14-16 (McDonald CV); ECF No. 634-3 at 2-3 (Decl. of Michael McDonald). He has also previously served as an expert in election-related litigation in multiple states. Tr. 3587:5-3588:8 (McDonald); ECF No. 461-23 at 14-15 (McDonald CV).

- 64. Dr. McDonald's publications include work in the areas of election administration and typology analyses—including 50-state comparisons—and process tracing. Tr. 3582:13-3584:9 (McDonald).
- 65. At trial, Dr. McDonald was accepted by the Court as an expert in election administration, comparative election administration, and political science methodologies with respect to the opinions he offers in his expert report. Tr. 3589:9-22 (McDonald). He provided rebuttal testimony in response to Dr. Kidd. In particular, Dr. McDonald testified that Dr. Kidd's expert report is unreliable because of analytic deficiencies and inconsistencies in the methodologies that Dr. Kidd used to conduct his analysis. Tr. 3590:16-3591:22 (McDonald); ECF No. 634-3 at 3-5 (Decl. of Michael McDonald). As a result, Dr. Kidd's report provides incomplete and misleading comparisons of Florida's election laws to those in other states. Tr. 3590:16-24 (McDonald); ECF No. 634-3 at 3-5 (Decl. of Michael McDonald).

III. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TO SB 90

- A. Florida's History of Racially Discriminatory Voting Laws and Practices Prior to the Voting Rights Act of 1965
- 66. Throughout Florida's history, and dating back to Reconstruction, racial and ethnic minorities have faced discriminatory barriers to voting. *See* Tr. 934:13-935:2 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 8-19 (Burch Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 902:21-22 (Austin); Tr. 1692:24-1693:5 (Kousser).
- 67. In 1865, as part of its attempt to rejoin the United States after the Civil War, Florida proposed a new constitution limiting the right to vote to only "free white males." Tr. 851:12-17; 857:22-24 (Austin). Congress rejected this constitution and required Florida to allow Black males to register and vote, leading to significant Black voter participation. *Id.* at 851:23-852:8; 858:1-4 (Austin). By 1867, the number of Black voters surpassed the number of white voters. *Id.* at 852:8-14 (Austin).
- 68. During its 1868 Constitutional Convention, Florida attempted to dilute the Black vote using various means, including by ensuring white control of the legislature and giving the governor authority to appoint county officials, thereby guaranteeing white citizens would control positions of power. Tr. 853:24-853:11 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 20 (Austin Rpt.).

- 69. Despite these efforts to dilute the Black vote in Florida's 1868 Constitution, Black citizens managed to achieve some representation, due to the federal government's oversight of elections at that time. In 1870, Josiah Walls, a former slave and Union soldier, became Florida's first Black member of Congress, and 19 Black people were elected to the Florida legislature. Tr. 853:14-17 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 21 (Austin Rpt.). Even in the 1880s, there was a vigorous Republican party in the state, which captured over 40 percent of the statewide vote in 1888. Tr. 1695:22-1696:4 (Kousser).
- 70. Examination of how Florida achieved disenfranchisement after this period of Black political participation reveals strategies that have recurred throughout Florida's history, including in the passage of SB 90. One such strategy was to implement seemingly small, incremental changes in voting laws that ultimately result in substantial disenfranchisement. Tr. 1694:9-21 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 30-34 (Kousser Rpt.)); see also Tr. 934:13-935:2 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 8-19 (Burch Rpt.).
- 71. For example, efforts to enact a poll tax in Florida's 1885 Constitutional Convention failed, as did an effort to pass it by legislation in 1887. Tr. 1696: 22-25;

¹ Such efforts included, for example, the governor being given authority to appoint county officials, thereby guaranteeing white citizens would control positions of power. Tr. 853:24-853:11 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 20 (Austin Rpt.).

1697:9-11 (Kousser). However, the 1887 legislature did succeed in passing a bill that required voters to re-register to vote every year and to present their registration certificate when they voted – similar to a voter ID requirement. Tr. 1697:11-16 (Kousser). The 1887 legislature also passed an intercensal gerrymander of the state legislature. Tr. 1697: 9-24 (Kousser).

- 72. These barriers to voting and political participation, combined with efforts to reject Black voters' ballots for small mistakes and other irregularities, successfully disenfranchised voters and resulted in a major change in the composition of the Florida legislature in the 1888 election. It became overwhelmingly Democratic, with the number of Republican and Independent legislators dropping from 31 in 1887 to 14 in 1889. Tr. 1701: 8-9 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 33 (Kousser Rpt.). The new 1889 legislature then was finally able to pass a poll tax as a suffrage requirement, along with an "eight-box" law that disfranchised illiterate voters by requiring them to deposit separate ballots for each office in a different ballot box. Tr. 1698:22-25, 1699: 1-8 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 33 (Kousser Rpt.); see also ECF No. 608-5 at 8-9 (Burch Rpt.).
- 73. After seizing control, white Democrats continued making changes in voting laws to entrench their power. In 1901, Florida adopted the runoff primary in response to fears that Black candidates might win elections in multi-candidate fields. At that time, Black people made up 44 percent of the population. ECF No. 608-17

- ¶ 30 (Austin Rpt.). Under a runoff primary, if no candidate received a majority of the vote in the first primary, the top two vote-getters would compete in a runoff. Even Black and Latino candidates who had received the most votes in the first primary often lost runoff elections when competing against White candidates. Tr. 859:22-25 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 30 (Austin Rpt.).
- 74. White Democrats further entrenched their power by enacting lengthy residency requirements and, in 1915, a literacy test with a grandfather clause exempting most white citizens. Only white people were permitted to vote in primaries. Tr. 855:1-9 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 22 (Austin Rpt.); ECF No. 608-7 at 9 (Smith Rept.).
- 75. These measures had their intended effect. Between 1888 and 1892, Black male turnout in Florida dropped from 62 percent to 11 percent. Tr. 855:17-23 (Austin); ECF No. 467-12 ¶ 23; Tr. 1699:15-19 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 33 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 76. Florida similarly made efforts to dilute the vote of Latino people, including through language discrimination, resulting in disproportionately less representation. Tr. 859:4-8 (Austin). In 1822, Florida elected its first Latino as a territorial delegate to Congress, Joseph Marion Hernandez, who served until March 1823. Tr. 856:5-10 (Austin). After Hernandez, no Latino was elected to Congress from Florida until 1989. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 27 (Austin Rpt.). Moreover, as of 1980,

Florida had only one Latino in the state legislature, Elvin Martinez. *Id.* at 856:22-25 (Austin).

- 77. In the Jim Crow era of the 20th Century, violence—often state-sanctioned—limited Black voter registration and turnout. ECF No. 608-5 at 9-10 (Burch Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 955:10-14 (Austin). For example, in 1920 in Ocoee, Florida, a man was lynched, "an estimated 30–60 people were killed," and "[n]early all Black homes and churches . . . were burned to the ground" after a Black man attempted to vote earlier that day. ECF No. 608-5 at 9-10 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 935:6-936:3 (Burch); *see also* Tr. 955:10-14 (Austin); Tr. 707:7-11 (Kousser) ("During a lot of the period, . . . there were lynchings that took place.").
- 78. Also during this time, Florida did not elect a single Black state legislator between 1888 and 1969. Florida had no Black member of Congress between 1877 and 1993. Tr. 1705:15-20 (Kousser).
- 79. Political campaigns during this period made overt appeals to racism as a winning tactic. George Smathers used racial appeals to defeat Claude Pepper in 1950. Particularly after *Brown v. Board of Education*, campaigns for governor revolved around racial issues. For example, in 1964, Haydon Burns charged that Robert King High, who was his major opponent in the Democratic primary, was the "candidate of the NAACP." Tr. 1705:18-25, 1706: 1-6 (Kousser).

- 80. Appeals to race were so pervasive in Florida elections that even LeRoy Collins, widely viewed as a moderate, said when he took office in 1965 that Florida was "just as determined as any other Southern state" to maintain racial segregation. Collins toed the line on appeals to segregation at that time, even though he was widely viewed later as more liberal on racial matters. Tr. 1706: 1-15 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 35-36 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 81. Segregation in all public accommodations was widespread at the time, but in schools it was uniform and universal. No public university or college in Florida desegregated before 1958 (the same year as Alabama). Even in 1970, the first Republican governor of Florida since Reconstruction, Claude Kirk, closed the Manatee public schools rather than integrate them. Tr. 1706:20-25, 1707:1-14 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 36 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 82. The U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, a commission created by the Civil Rights Act of 1957 to study allegations of discrimination, made several findings that few Black citizens were registered to vote in Florida. *Id.* at 861:3-13 (Austin). For example, the Commission found that few Black voters were registered to vote in Gadsden, a predominantly Black county. *Id.* at 861:19-23 (Austin). In 1958, only seven out of over 10,000 voting-age Black citizens were registered to vote in Gadsden County, and in 1960 again only seven out of over 12,000 voting-age Black citizens were registered in the county. *Id.* at 861:24-862:5 (Austin). The

Commission concluded that the low number of registrants was, in part, the result of an environment of terror and other intimidation tactics taking place in the county to prevent voter registration. *Id.* at 862:8-11 (Austin).

B. Voting Discrimination After the Voting Rights Act of 1965 Through the 2000 General Election

- 83. The Voting Rights Act of 1965 outlawed overt discriminatory voting practices that had prevented Black and Latino people from voting in states like Florida. *Id.* at 862:13-25 (Austin). To comply with the VRA, Florida was required to amend its 1885 Constitution, and Florida thereafter ratified a new constitution in 1968 permitting Black and Latino people to vote, *Id.* at 862:15-25 (Austin). After the VRA's enactment, the statewide Black voter registration rate increased, growing to almost 60 percent in 1971. *Id.* at 863:9 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 38 (Austin Rpt.).
- 84. In response to this progress, the Florida legislature once again took steps to dilute the votes of Black and Latino voters. Tr. 938:23-939:3 (Burch). One example was the use of gerrymandering tactics. The 1968 Constitution required that redistricting take place every decade based on population changes. *Id.* at 864:3-6 (Austin). Beginning in 1970 and in subsequent decades thereafter the legislature attempted to draw districts to prevent Black and Latino voters from electing minority representatives. ECF No. 608-17 ¶¶ 39-41 (Austin Rpt.); ECF No. 608-5 at 12-13

(Burch Rpt.). In 1977, Florida's 160-person legislature had only three Black representatives and no Black senators. Tr. 864:17-20 (Austin).

- 85. In 1975, five counties in Florida—Collier, Hardee, Hendry, Hillsborough, and Monroe Counties—were brought under the preclearance requirements of the Voting Rights Act because fewer than half of the adults were registered to vote and more than 5 percent of the population was non-English speaking. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 44 (Austin Rpt.); ECF No. 608-5 at 10 (Burch Rpt.).
- 86. The use of at-large elections for local governing bodies in Florida also was a continued strategy of discrimination to exclude Black and Latino candidates from holding elected office after the 1965 Voting Rights Act. ECF No. 608-5 at 13-14 (Burch Rpt.). At-large elections typically required runoffs. Tr. 859:17-18 (Austin). Additionally, at-large elections were run citywide or countywide, thereby requiring more resources for a campaign and placing Black and Latino candidates at a disadvantage. Tr. 860:3-7 (Austin).
- 87. The 1965 Voting Rights Act was strengthened in 1982, but racial discrimination in voting continued in Florida. From 1983 through 2020, there have been some 133 voting rights legal actions of all sorts, at least 64 of which have resulted in findings of discrimination or settlements that acknowledged discrimination; *see* ECF No. 608-5 at 11-15 (Burch Rpt.). At least five of these cases were decided not only under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, but also under the

Fourteenth or Fifteenth Amendments, indicating a finding of intentional discrimination. Tr. 1708:19-25, 1709:14-22 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 39 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 88. At-large elections also continued to account for many post-1983 court findings of voting discrimination. Tr. 1710:5-25, 1711:1-23 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 40-43 (Kousser Rpt.); ECF No. 608-5 at 13-14 (Burch Rpt.). A notable example was litigation over at-large elections in Miami-Dade where the Southern District of Florida found in 1992 that Dade County's at-large structure discriminated against Black and Latino voters by making it more difficult for them to elect representatives of their choice. The court ordered the commission to change from an at-large structure to thirteen single-member districts. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 46 (Austin Rpt.). See Meek v. Dade County, 805 F. Supp. 967, 994 (S.D. Fla. 1992), aff'd in part, rev'd in part on other grounds, 985 F.2d 1471 (11thCir. 1993). Among numerous additional examples was litigation in Bradford County, where a federal court in 1989 ruled that "the at-large election system currently in place in Starke is driven by racial bias and that the at-large system will continue to deny [Black citizens] equal access to the City's political process." ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 40 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 89. Florida's criminal legal system also perpetuated some of Florida's Jim Crow practices which disenfranchised persons with felony convictions. A 1974

effort to allow individuals to have their voting rights restored after completing their sentences was ruled unconstitutional under the Florida Constitution. Two subsequent governors, Reuben Askew and Bob Graham, took it upon themselves to grant executive clemency to thousands of people during their time in office, but this was drastically reversed by the subsequent two governors, Bob Martinez and Lawton Chiles. Tr. 1707:15-25-1708:1-17 (Kousser).

- 90. Litigation to create majority-minority districts in the 1990 redistricting cycle resulted in the election of three Black representatives to Congress—the first Black representatives from Florida to serve in Congress since Reconstruction. It also allowed the election of two Latino representatives to Congress. *Id.* at 869:7-14 (Austin); *see DeGrandy v. Wetherell*, 794 F. Supp. 1076 (N.D. Fla. 1992). In addition, Black and Latino representation increased to ten Black and nine Latino state legislators in the late 1930s and early 1990s. Tr. 869:7-14 (Austin).
- 91. In response to the increased representation, Florida took numerous steps to dilute the votes of Black and Latino people leading up to the 2000 election. Tr. 869:18-21 (Austin). Florida purged its voter rolls in ways that disproportionately eliminated voters of color. *Id.* at 869:22-23 (Austin); *see* ECF No. 608-5 at 15-16 (Burch Rpt.). For example, in Miami-Dade County 65 percent of names purged were Black even though Black citizens made up only 20 percent of the population. *Id.* at 870:9-11 (Austin); ECF No. 608-5 at 15 (Burch Rpt.).

- 92. While Florida's 2000 election was most notorious for its close count and the chaotic recount that followed, Florida also ran the 2000 general election in a way that disadvantaged Black and Latino voters. In 2000, the Secretary of State hired a company to attempt to match persons with felony convictions in other states with persons on the voting rolls in Florida. The matching procedure was deeply flawed, leading to large numbers of erroneous purges. A study by the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, ECF No. 608-24, called Florida's purge process a "recipe for disenfranchisement" and found that Black yeters were ten times more likely to be placed on the purge list than white voters. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 44 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1712:22-25-1713:1-14 (Kousser).
- 93. In April 2001, the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights issued a report highlighting many issues with Florida's operation of the 2000 general election. The Commission found, *inter alia*, that:
 - Officials did not ensure that all precincts received adequate resources, especially thhose precincts catering to Black and Latino voters;
 - Police sweeps and roadblocks in Black neighborhoods intimidated many Black voters;
 - Old and defective election equipment was found in poor precincts;
 - Language assistance when required and requested was not provided;
 - Persons with disabilities faced accessibility problems at polling sites;
 - Insufficient funds were appropriated for voter education.

ECF No. 608-24 at 1.

- 94. In June 2001, the Commission issued another report adopting and expanding upon these findings titled "Voting Irregularities in Florida During the 2000 Presidential Election." *Id.* This June 2001 report found credible evidence of violations of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act and the disenfranchisement of people of color, in addition to those with disabilities or limited English proficiency. *Id.* The report also noted that voters in low-income and minority areas waited in line for hours waiting for confirmation of their registration status; long waits did not exist in high-income areas. *Id.* at 8.
- 95. In February 2001, the National Opinion Research Center began its own review, commissioned by a media consortium, of thousands of uncounted ballots cast in Florida during the 2000 election. *Id.* at 2. The media consortium, like the Commission, found widespread voter disenfranchisement, including that Black, Latino, and older voters were significantly more likely to have their votes rejected than white voters. *Id.*

C. Recent Developments

1. Recent Developments in Absentee Ballot Usage

96. Until 2020, Republicans in Florida were more likely to use absentee ballots than Democrats. This trend began after the 1988 election, when vote-by-mail ballots made the difference in a narrow victory by the Republican candidate for U.S. Senator. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 52 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1715:8-15 (Kousser).

- 97. Before 1997, only those who planned to be out of town, were sick or had a disability, could vote using absentee ballots. A few months after a legal challenge expanded the allowable reasons for voting "absentee," absentee ballots became central to a scandalous mayoral election in Miami. A federal judge threw out the election results and reversed the outcome of the election. In response, the legislature approved a bill in 1998 that restricted applications for and deposits of absentee ballots. But the same law explicitly recognized the right of the two major political parties (unlike nonpartisan volunteers) to appoint up to 40 "absentee ballot coordinators," who could apply for and witness the ballots of an unlimited number of citizens. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 53 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 98. As white Floridians continued to vote by mail in larger numbers, the legislature, far from restricting it because of "fraud" concerns, expanded it. The Florida legislature passed SB 1118 (Florida Election Reform Act of 2001), which introduced no-excuse absentee ballot voting. Tr. 877:11-17 (Austin). SB 1118 eliminated the requirement that a voter had to be out of town or sick or disabled to cast an absentee ballot. Essentially, absentee ballots became vote-by-mail ballots at that point. Tr. 1716:3-12 (Kousser). The change to no-excuse absentee ballot voting

was expected to favor white voters more than Black or Latino voters. Tr. 879:2-13 (Austin).²

- 99. In a June 2002 report, the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights stated that the Florida Election Reform Act of 2001 had failed to address several of the Commission's recommendations from its June 2001 report, including the following:
 - Remove the burden from the voter to prove registration status;
 - Allow automatic restoration of voting rights to former felons who satisfied their sentences;
 - Enhance services to give complete access to the voting booth to individuals with disabilities.

ECF No. 608-24 at 14.

100. In 2004, Florida also promulgated SB 2566, which had several provisions designed to encourage voting by absentee ballot, such as eliminating a previous requirement that signatures on absentee ballots had to be witnessed. Tr. 879:17-23 (Austin); CF No. 608-17) ¶ 63 (Austin Rpt.). The Republican-majority legislature also passed a law that facilitated the daily tracking of absentee ballots by candidates and political parties, which allowed campaigns to pursue absentee voters to encourage return of the absentee ballots. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 57 (Kousser Rpt.);

^{1.} Additionally, SB 1118 mandated a voter responsibility statement that required voters to study the candidates and the relevant issues. *Id.* at 877:25-878:2 (Austin). The Florida legislature repealed the voter responsibility statement in response to a lawsuit challenging the provision and equating the requirement to a literacy test. *Id.* at 878:3-9 (Austin); *Major v. Sawyer*, No. 4:01-cv-10088 (S.D. Fla. 2001).

Tr. 1717:6-13 (Kousser). A report for the State Senate found that "voters casting absentee ballots in the 2006 election were predominantly Republican, with 55.5% voting absentee while only 33.3% of Democrats voted absentee." Tr. 1717:14-19 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 59, 63, n. 56 (Kousser Rpt.).

- County, would send out tens of thousands of absentee ballot request forms to areas they thought likely to vote Republican. Political operatives would then call people who had sent in applications, knock on their doors, and send mailers, to get them to return the absentee ballots. Tr. 1716:17-25 (Kousser). For example, Republican Miami-Dade County Mayor Carlos Gimenez sent out 50,000 absentee ballot request forms during his 2012 reelection campaign. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 57 (Kousser Rpt.). Republicans promoted the practice of permanent absentee voting, comprising 45% of the permanent absentee voters in Miami-Dade, even though they represented only 30% of registered voters in the county. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 57 (Kousser Rpt.).
- and Democratic usage of vote-by-mail (VBM), compared to early in-person voting (EIP), in general elections from 2014-2020. In other words, the table examines overall pre-election voting by party, and compares how VBM usage compared to EIP usage, by party. As Table 1 shows, the number of votes cast by mail for Republicans prior to 2020 generally grew and was higher as an overall percentage

of "convenience voting," than for Democrats. ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 59-60 & Table 1 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 103. In contrast, in 2020, for the first time, VBM voting was markedly higher among Democrats than Republicans as a percentage of convenience voting. Despite COVID-19, the percentage of Republican pre-Election Day voters rose only about six percentage points, and the percentage of Republican pre-Election day voters using VBM remained steady in 2020, compared to 2016. By contrast, among Democrats, pre-election day voting rose by nearly ten percentage points, and of those, VBM usage jumped by 21 percentage points. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 61 & Table 1 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 104. The Florida legislature made no changes in vote-by-mail requirements between 2013 and 2020. Tr. 1722, 13-22 (Kousser).
- 105. Demographic breakdowns of VBM usage between 2016 and 2020 similarly show a very large increase in the percentage of Black voters using VBM in 2020 compared to 2016, and a somewhat smaller, but still very large increase in the percentage of Latino voters using VBM in 2020 compared to 2016. Tr. 1724:4-9 (Kousser) (referencing ECF No. 608-6 (Smith Rpt.), Table 5).
- 106. Because the core of the Republican party in Florida is white, the implication in comparing Table 1 of Dr. Kousser's report and Table 5 of Dr. Smith's report is that the increase in the proportion of white persons who voted by mail in

2020 compared to 2020 was almost entirely among white Democrats. Tr. 1723:19-25–1725:1-12 (Kousser). "So a big ethnic effect, a racial effect, and a big partisan impact of voting by mail in 2020." Tr. 1725:13-14 (Kousser).

2. Recent Developments in Early In-Person Voting

- 107. Early in-person voting (EIP) was imported from Texas to Florida in 1994 by Ion Sancho, a long-time Supervisor of Elections in Leon County. Tr. 1727:14-20 (Kousser).
- 108. In 1998, the legislature authorized voters to deliver absentee ballots to the offices of county elections supervisors. In 2004, the legislature authorized Supervisors of Elections to expand EIP to public libraries or city halls. It could be provided for up to 12 hours per day and for up to 15 days. Tr. 1727:21-1728:1-4 (Kousser).
- 109. In 2005, the same year that the Florida legislature facilitated the partisan exploitation of VBM, the legislature limited EIP voting to governmental buildings and for only eight hours per day and a total of eight hours on weekends. Tr. 1728:5-9 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 63-64 (Kousser Rpt.). Before the party-line vote on the bill limiting EIP voting (HB 1567), the bill attracted fiery debate from Democrats, mainly in the Black Caucus. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 64 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 110. In 2008, Barack Obama led a spirited campaign in Florida, and particularly emphasized EIP. The EIP rate in 2008 was 32%, nearly double that of

2004, even though turnout in those two elections was roughly similar. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 66 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1729:15-25 (Kousser). A report by the Florida Senate noted that Democrats cast 52 percent of EIP ballots in the 2008 election. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 66 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1729:1-5 (Kousser). In 2008, more than half of Black votes were cast using EIP. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 66 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 111. A Republican crackdown on EIP voting soon followed. In 2011, then-Rep. Dennis Baxley (R), who later became the chief sponsor of SB 90, sponsored HB 1355, which cut the required number of days of EIP voting from 12-14 down to eight days, and particularly banned EIP on the weekend before Election Day, when Black churches, especially in 2008, had made "Souls to the Polls" widespread. ECF No. 608-5 at 11-12, 17-20 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 944:20-947:4 (Burch); Tr. 885:6-18, 886:1-3, 886:24-887:8 (Austin). Studies showed that minority voters were more likely to go to the polls on the Sunday that HB 1355 eliminated and that the law would disproportionately affect minority voters. ECF No. 467-7 at 10-12 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 944:20-947:4 (Burch).
- 112. HB 1355 capped total EIP hours at 96, and allowed local supervisors to offer EIP voting for as few as 48 hours. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 67 (Kousser Rpt.). Florida sought to justify HB 1355 as preventing "fraud"; however, there was no evidence of widespread fraud in the 2008 Florida election. *Id.* at 885:19-24 (Austin).

- 113. HB 1355 also made the work of volunteer voter registration groups more difficult. It sought to reduce the amount of time third-party voter registration organizations ("3PVROs") had to submit voter registration applications from 10 days to 48 hours. Tr. 885:8-14 (Austin). According to testimony in 2012 before a subcommittee of the Senate Judiciary Committee, 3PVROs at that time registered twice the percentage of Blacks and Latinos as they did white voters. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 69 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 114. Rep. Michael Caldwell (R) declared that he favored disenfranchising anyone who did not vote in the new, reduced period. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 71 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 115. Although HB 1355 clearly constituted a change in many election laws, Florida did not submit it to the Department of Justice for preclearance until compelled by a federal lawsuit. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 72 (Kousser Rpt.). Legislators also expressed concerns in debate about minority voter suppression and that the bill would not receive preclearance. ECF No. 608-5 at 18-20, 57-58 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 947:13-956:16 (Burch).
- 116. The legislative history of HB 1355 is particularly noteworthy because the legislator who sponsored both HB 1355 and SB 90, Senator Baxley, offered statements reflective of racial resentment in justifying the need for the bills. ECF

No. 608-5 at 19-20, 55-59 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 945:6-17, 949:13-954:12, 1041:24-1046:21 (Burch); ECF No. 461-98.

- 117. Racial resentment is characterized by the beliefs "that Blacks do not try hard enough to overcome the difficulties they face and that they take what they have not earned." ECF No. 608-5 at 19-20, 55-59 (Burch Rpt.). Racial resentment is distinct and distinguishable from a generic belief in the value of self-reliance or independence; it can be inferred when these beliefs are brought up specifically in the context of a discussion about race and policy preferences that affect a particular race. Tr. 953:9-20, 1041:24-1045:4 (Burch).
- 118. Importantly, racial resentment is not simply an expression of a particular trope or stereotype: attitudes of racial resentment are shown to affect behavior. Tr. 952:2-953:7, 1041:24-1046:21, 1083:19-1084:24 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 19-20, 58-59 (Burch Rpt.). Scholarly literature and research "links racial resentment [and] attitudes of racial resentment to policy preferences." *See id.*
- 119. "[S]everal members of the Florida legislature justified their support of H.B. 1355 by stating that voting should be more difficult, and that a convenient form of voting rewards the politically inept." ECF No. 608-5 at 19-20 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 949:13-954:12, 1042:24-1046:21 (Burch).

120. For example, during the debate over HB 1355, State Rep. Erik Fresen (R) criticized the existing system, which he said "coddles" voters, while Sen. Mike Bennett (R) declared:

Do you read stories about the people in Africa? The people in the desert, who literally walk two and three hundred miles so they can have the opportunity to do what we do, and we want to make it more convenient? How much more convenient do you want to make it? Do we want to go to their house? Take the polling booth with us? This is a hard-fought privilege. This is something people die for. You want to make it convenient? The guy who died to give you that right, it was not convenient. Why would we make it any easier? I want 'em to fight for it. I want 'em to know what it's like. I want them to go down there, and have to walk across town to go over and vote.

ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 71 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 121. With respect to HB 1355, then-Representative Baxley made statements invoking a lack of initiative, which is indicative of racial resentment ECF No. 608-5 at 58(Burch Rpt.).
- 122. As with SB 90, significant changes to HB 1355 were put into the bill through a strike-all amendment "the day before the amendment was taken up by the Senate Rules Committee, such that there was less time to analyze and prepare comments regarding the proposed changes." ECF No. 608-5 at 19-20 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 953:24-956:16, 957:17-958:8 (Burch).
- 123. Once HB 1355 was submitted for preclearance, a three-judge court for the District of Columbia found that minority voters would be disproportionately

affected by the changes in EIP. It also found a discriminatory effect in the elimination of the first five days of EIP voting. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 73 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 886:12-21 (Austin).

- 124. A separate lawsuit was filed challenging the restrictions on third party voter registration in HB 1355. The district court invalidated this provision, finding that the 48-hour requirement placed an undue burden on 3PVROs. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 69 (Austin Rpt.).
- 125. Despite the constraints on EIP voting in 2012, the Obama campaign encouraged a method of voting that rarely had been used before urging supporters to deposit VBM ballots at the offices of county supervisors. Because it was not technically "early voting," Supervisors could extend the hours of "in-person absentee voting," and demand was so heavy that the Miami-Dade supervisor of elections allowed people to use the method on both the Sunday and Monday before election day. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 77 (Kousser Rpt.). The long lines for people attempting to use this method of voting stretched around the block at many polling places, and supervisors' websites in Broward and Miami-Dade posted wait times of as long as six hours. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 76 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1739:23-25–1740:1-6 (Kousser). When 400 people were still in line to vote at 5 p.m. on Sunday in Doral, workers passed out water and granola bars to people in line. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 77

(Kousser Rpt.). Nevertheless, the long lines helped to reduce EIP voting by 225,000 in 2012 compared to 2008. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 78 (Kousser Rpt.).

126. The outcry over long lines created by HB 1355 convinced the legislature to reinstate two weeks of EIP voting in 2013. Tr. 893:1-8 (Austin). At the same time, the legislature ignored nearly all the recommendations made by a grand jury recommendation to add restrictions to VBM ballots, although the 2012 election had found some instances of VBM frauds or irregularities. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 78 (Kousser Rpt.). The legislature continued to ignore most of these recommendations for the next eight years, until Democrats adopted VBM in larger proportions than Republicans. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 79 (Kousser Rpt.).

3. Recent Developments in Felon Disenfranchisement

127. Despite the positive changes HB 7013 brought to early voting, Florida, again continued to take action that negatively impacted minority voters. This court, for example, found Florida's signature matching statute unconstitutional in 2018. *Democratic Exec. Comm. of Fla. v. Detzner*, 347 F. Supp. 3d 1017, 1031-32 (N.D. Fla. 2018); ECF No. 608-5 at 12 (Burch Rpt.). This litigation was filed against the backdrop of Black and Latino voters being more likely to have their ballots rejected than White voters because the signatures did not match. Tr. 897:3-8, 898:19-20 (Austin); ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 85 (Austin Rpt.).

- 128. The legislature's response to Amendment 4 provides another recent illustration of Florida's racially discriminatory voting practices. Prior to 2019, the Florida constitution permanently disenfranchised any citizen convicted of a felony offense unless their voting rights were restored by executive clemency. The policy was adopted in the post-Civil War era as a means of disenfranchising former slaves, and it continued to disproportionately affect Black and Latino Floridians given racially disparate rates of felony convictions. ECF No. 608-5 at 17 (Burch Rpt.).
- 129. In the two decades leading up to the 2018 adoption of Amendment 4, the legislature strongly resisted efforts to change Florida's disenfranchisement laws. Fifty-three bills were introduced over 20 years, almost none of which received a committee hearing. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 47 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 130. In 2018, Florida's citizens voted overwhelmingly to end the discriminatory policy by passing Amendment 4. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 87 (Austin Rpt.). But almost immediately upon its passage, the Florida legislature took steps to limit Amendment 4's impact and to preserve felony disenfranchisement to the greatest extent possible through SB 7066, which required former felons to pay fees owed to the State before having their voting rights restored. Tr. 899:3-11 (Austin); ECF No. 608-5 at 17-20 (Burch Rpt.).
- 131. The requirement to pay all fines and fees as a condition of restoring the franchise that was subsequently imposed by SB 7066, according to Dr. Daniel Smith,

meant that Black individuals with felony convictions would be "less likely to be able to re-gain their voting rights, as compared to comparable white individuals with felony convictions, as a result of the amount of outstanding legal financial obligations ("LFOs") tied to a felony conviction." ECF No. 608-5 at 17-18 (Burch Rpt.). This disparity stems from the fact that Black returning citizens are more likely to owe money on LFOs and are more likely to owe more than \$10,000 than white returning citizens. *See id.* As a result, about 15 percent of Florida's Black votingage population is disenfranchised due to a conviction history, compared to about 6 percent for the State's non-Black population. Tr. 899:14-18 (Austin).

- 132. Florida also continued to repeatedly seek to purge its voter rolls in ways that disproportionately impacted voters of color.
- an inaccurate list that overrepresented Black voters. In 2012, Governor Rick Scott attempted to purge 2,700 supposed noncitizen voters, who were overwhelmingly minorities. The vast majority of the individuals on the list turned out to be citizens. ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 44-45 (Kousser Rpt.); Tr. 1713:15-20–1714:5-25 (Kousser). As Dr. Kousser noted, "The series of purges, one after another 2000, 2004, 2011, '12, is an indication of continued problems with voting discrimination differentially affecting minority groups in Florida." Tr. 1714:22-25 (Kousser).

4. Other Recent Developments

- 134. Additional instances of voting discrimination specifically targeting Florida's growing Latino population have included:
 - As Osceola County saw growing numbers of persons of Puerto Rican origin, the county voted to replace single-member districts with at-large elections, to forestall election of Latinos to the County Commission. The U.S. Department of Justice filed and won a lawsuit in 2006 finding this change violated the Voting Rights Act. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 41 (Kousser Rpt.).
 - Osceola County also entered into a consent decree in 2002 requiring the County to take numerous steps to ensure that Latinos had access to Spanish-language voting materials, including the appointment of bilingual coordinators before each election to investigate allegations of poll worker hostility toward Latino voters. *Id.* at ¶ 42.
 - In 2018, Puerto Rican plaintiffs in 32 counties successfully sued under Section 4(e) of the Voting Rights Act because the counties had failed to provide required election materials in Spanish. *Id.* at ¶ 43.

D. Effects of Racial Discrimination in Florida

- 135. The history of racial discrimination in voting in Florida is useful in assessing whether SB 90 will have a discriminatory effect. It is important to understand, however, that as described supra at Section III, racial discrimination in voting is not something that stopped long ago during Reconstruction or the passage of the Voting Rights Act, but carries through almost up to the present. Tr. 1828:18-25–1829:1-8 (Kousser).
- 136. As Dr. Burch explained during her trial testimony, Florida's long history of racial disenfranchisement in voting is relevant for a number of reasons.

Tr. 936:7-938:17 (Burch). First, these historical practices can affect the present in the form of path dependence, *i.e.*, the notion that current laws and policies are not made in a vacuum. Second, past politics can set up the politics of the present, including opening or closing avenues of thinking and shaping ideology; particularly for those members of Florida's electorate who were born before 1965. In these ways, the practices and politics within Florida, even dating back many decades, can affect ideologies and ways of thinking in the present. Tr. 936:7-938:17 (Burch).

- 137. Racial discrimination in Florida election law has had tangible effects in Florida's Black and Latino communities.
- 138. As previously mentioned, in terms of representation in elected office, between 1889 and 1993, no Black person served in Congress; between 1823 and 1989, no Latino person served in Congress. Only two Black persons have held statewide office in Florida's history: Supreme Court Justice Joseph Hatchett, who had previously been appointed to the office, in 1974; and Republican Jennifer Carroll, who was elected lieutenant governor in 2010. Between 1823 and 1989, no Latino person served in Congress. There have been four Cuban-American Republicans elected to statewide office, two to the U.S. Senate and two to lieutenant governor. Tr. 1834:14-1835:18 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 162 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 139. Additionally, Florida is often unresponsive to the particularized needs of minorities. One example is Florida's refusal to expand Medicaid under the

Affordable Care Act. Florida's rate of uninsured adults is high for a large modern state, and the percentage of uninsured children is considerably higher for Blacks and Latinos than for non-Hispanic whites. Also, Black Floridians have their drivers' licenses suspended at 1.6 times their proportion in the population, which makes it more difficult to get to work or get a good job. And, the "War on Drugs" has resulted in systematic discrimination against minorities in Florida. Tr. 1835:21-1836:19 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶163-64 (Kousser Rpt.).

140. Minority groups in Florida also bear the effects of past discrimination that hinders their ability to participate in the political process. As Dr. Kousser noted, racial and ethnic minorities in Florida have less access to personal transportation. They tend to work at jobs with less flexible schedules. There is statistical evidence that Blacks in particular, and Latinos to an extent, are less likely to have drivers' licenses than non-Hispanic whites. Past discrimination has resulted in lower levels of education and lower income for Blacks and Latinos than non-Hispanic whites. As Dr. Kousser noted, "greater amounts of [education and income] make it easier to be flexible to get to places, to read through materials and have access to computers and all of the things that you might have to do if the election law's changed, even just to download forms." Tr. 1833:2-25; 1834:1-10; ECF No. 608-25 ¶160-61 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 141. Indeed, voters of color in Florida continue to face a number of socioeconomic disadvantages that make it especially difficult to access the right to vote. Tr. 598:2-12, 599:6-600:11 (Cooper); Tr. 2391:17-25 (Smith); ECF No. 608-16, ¶¶ 22-25, 31-34 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 598:2-12 (Cooper). Based on demographic statistics from the U.S. Census Bureau's 2019 American Community Survey ("ACS"), it is clear that non-Hispanic Whites outpace Blacks and Latinos in the state of Florida across "almost all key variables of socioeconomic status" and across a "wide range of data points." ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 10 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 591:9-12, 597:5-22, 598:4-9 (Cooper). This includes metrics such as levels of educational attainment, poverty, income, and economic security, telecommunications access (e.g., broadband Internet), and vehicle access. Tr. 598:6-9; (Cooper) ECF No. 608-16 ¶¶ 23, 33, Exs.D-1 & D-2 (Cooper Rpt.). These state-level disparities by race and ethnicity "are, in general, replicated at the county level in Florida." ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 25 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 631:22-632:10 (Cooper).
- 142. With respect to economic standing, there is a substantial poverty gap between non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, and Hispanic/Latino Floridians. The overall White poverty rate is 9.2%, about half the 19.5% Black poverty rate and less than two-thirds of the 17.5% Hispanic/Latino poverty rate. Further, White median household income in Florida is 46.7% higher than Black median household income and about a quarter higher than Hispanic/Latino median household income.

Per capita income disparities in Florida are even more pronounced, with White per capita income nearly twice that of Black per capita income and Hispanic/Latino per capita income. The disparity in poverty rates persists across subgroups, including the subpopulations of persons ages 18-64, persons ages 65 and over, and femaleheaded households with children. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(a) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 614:15-616:9 (Cooper).

143. With respect to levels of educational attainment and English-language proficiency, White Floridians ages 25 and over are substantially more likely to have a high school diploma or a bachelor's degree as compared to Black and The percentage of White Floridians who have not Hispanic/Latino Floridians. completed high school by age 25 is 6.9%, compared to 15.3% and 20.4% of their Black and Hispanic/Latino counterparts, respectively. And the percentage of White Floridians with at least a bachelor's degree by age 25 is 34.5%, compared to just 19.6% and 25.7% of their Black and Hispanic/Latino counterparts, respectively. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(b) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 618:25-620:9 (Cooper). Only a small fraction of White Floridians (1.7%) and Black Floridians (5.9%) speak English "very well"; however, lack of English-language proficiency jumps more than one-third (35.6%) of Hispanics/Latinos Floridians. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(b) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 620:12-21 (Cooper).

- 144. With respect to employment, the Black unemployment rate in Florida (7.2%) is substantially higher than the White unemployment rate in Florida (4.1%). ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(c) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 621:8-16 (Cooper). Moreover, Black (48.5%) and Hispanic/Latino (48.4%) Floridians in the workforce are, relative to their White counterparts (33.2%), overrepresented in economic sectors that require workers to work late shifts or work inflexible hours (e.g., service occupations; natural resources, construction, and maintenance; and production, transportation, moving). ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(c) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 622:19-22 (Cooper). In contrast, Black (28.9%) and Hispanic/Latino (28.3%) Floridians in the workforce are, relative to their White counterparts (42.5%), underrepresented in white-collar management and professional occupations. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(c) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 622:4-13 (Cooper).
- 145. With respect to transportation access, only 4.8% of White households in Florida lack a vehicle; by contrast, 10.4% of Black households and 7.3% of Hispanic/Latino households lack a vehicle. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(d) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 629:3-11 (Cooper). This percentage differential equates to a 134,000-household vehicle access deficit for Black and Hispanic/Latino households relative to White households in Florida. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 33-34 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 629:12-630:4 (Cooper).

- 146. Patterns of transportation to work also show disparities: "About 7.7% of Whites carpool (7.0%) or take public transportation (0.7%) to work, while 13.2% of Black workers carpool (9.2%) or take public transportation (4.0%) and 14.2% of Latino workers carpool (12.4%) or take public transportation (1.8%) to their place of employment." ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 23(d) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 630:9-18 (Cooper).
- 147. Travel times to work also reflect a racial disparity, with 4.0% of White citizens of voting age having round-trip commutes of 2 hours or more, compared to rates of 6.6% and 4.9% for their Black and Hispanic/Latino counterparts, respectively. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 24 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 630:19-631:12 (Cooper).
- 148. With respect to telecommunications, nearly 9 in 10 White households in Florida (88.8%) have a broadband internet subscription, while only 80.1% Black households and 84.7% of Hispanic/Latino households in Florida have broadband access. ECF No. 608-16, ¶23(d) (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 628:18-23 (Cooper). Black households also trail Latino and white households in terms of having a computer, smartphone or tablet. Tr. 623:9-20 (Cooper).
- 149. Voter registration rates in Florida reflect a racial/ethnic gap. Votereligible Black and Hispanic/Latino citizens in Florida are registered to vote at lower rates than non-Hispanic/Latino White citizens in Florida—about 12 percentage points lower for Black citizens and about 18 percentage points lower for

Hispanic/Latino citizens. ECF No. 608-16 ¶¶ 17-18 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 607:17-608 (Cooper).

- 150. Another factor useful in assessing the likely effect of SB 90 is the existence of racially polarized voting in Florida, described at Sections III.A-B.. Trial Tr. 1829:9-12. As discussed above, Florida has used practices or procedures that tend to enhance the opportunity for discrimination, such as at-large elections. Tr. 1829:13-22 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶¶ 157-159 (Kousser Rpt.). And as already noted in discussing the racial climate of Florida politics. Florida has a continuing pattern of racial appeals in political campaigns. *Supra* at Section III.
- 151. The "constant back and forth" of progress and then backlash has not made it easier for Black and Latino voters to vote today compared to four decades ago:

When Black and Latino elected officials are made, when Black and Latino registration increases, there always is a response that—even with legislation that has some positive aspects, there always ends up being some type of response to make it hard for African-Americans and Latinos to register and to turn out. So I can't honestly say that 40 years later that it's easier to register to vote because African-Americans and Latinos are constantly fighting these barriers.

Tr. 916:11-19 (Austin).

152. Dr. Kousser testified to the importance of considering the impact of changes in election law as a whole, rather than determining impact only by analyzing each provision in isolation. Tr. 1694:22–1695:12 (Kousser). The anticipated impact

of each of SB 90's challenged provisions was discussed at length by the legislature. The restrictions on VBM were anticipated to make it more difficult to use just after the first election in which Black voters dramatically increased their reliance on VBM. Similarly, limiting the hours and availability of drop boxes was expected to particularly hurt people who work irregular hours, have more than one job, or otherwise have more difficulty taking time off. The restrictions on activities of 3PVROs were anticipated to make it more difficult for Black, Latinos and other minorities to register to vote. The new definition of "solicit" as applying to efforts to provide food, water and other assistance to persons standing in line to vote was predicted to have a more onerous impact on Black and Latino voters who are more likely to have lengthy wait times, based on Florida's election experience. Just as combining the new 8-box law with a poll tax in the late 19th century magnified the discriminatory impact of each, the discriminatory effect of implementing all of SB 90's restrictions at once is likely to be greater than the effect of any one of them taken singly. Tr. 1824:12-1825:11 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 145 (Kousser Rpt.).

153. The legislature heard repeated statements emphasizing the likely discriminatory effect of SB 90. *See generally* Appendix J. For example, on April 22nd in Senate floor debate, Senator Lori Berman (D) said: "The restrictions in this legislation, including those related to drop box and access to voter assistance, will

have a disparate impact on Black voters." Tr. 1826:10-15 (Kousser); ECF No. 461-98 at 100:11-13.

- 154. In the same floor debate, April 22, Senator Shevrin Jones (D) was talking about the third-party voter registration provision, and said "you and I both know that this will likely have a chilling effect on the willingness of potential electors [to] participate in voter registration drives . . . Members, we know that minorities are more likely to register to vote through third-party voter organizations." Tr. 1826:19-25 1827:1 (Kousser); ECF No. 461-98 at 15:4-8; 17:7-12.
- 155. In the floor debate on April 29, Representative Patricia Williams (D) said that the drop box provision "deters people of color from voting, number one, because we work more, our hours are longer, we have more people living in home with us. So the number of ballots that we can drop off deters us from voting. The numbers of hours we work, because the drop box that would not be there 24 hours as it normally would be, that deters us from voting." Tr. 1827:5-15 (Kousser); ECF No. 462-29 at 65:15-21.

IV. FLORIDA'S ELECTION LAWS PRIOR TO SB 90

A. Voter Registration

- 156. It has been stipulated in this case that "between 2009 and November 5, 2021, 2,149,709 voter registration applications were received by Florida's Supervisors of Elections from 3PVROs." ECF No. 402 at 34, ¶ 30.
- 157. 3PVROs play an important role in registering voters. Tr. 3501:16-17 (Earley); Tr. 3215:12-13, 3241:25-3242:3 (Doyle). 3PVROs help reach voters who might not otherwise register to vote with their county supervisor of elections. Tr. 1162:12–15 (Scott; Tr. 1343:3–6 (White); Tr. 2666:6-11 (Earley).
- statewide voter registration form. ECF No. 464-13; Tr. 2778:22-2779:8 (Matthews). Florida voters may also register using an online voter registration system. Tr. 2780:8-10 (Matthews). This online voter registration system has previously crashed right before crucial deadlines. For example, it crashed right before book closing in the 2018 general election, and there were voters who were unable to access it right before book closing. Tr. 2803:5-10 (Matthews). The system also malfunctioned in 2020 on the final night prior to book closing for the general election, resulting in voters being unable to access it that night. *Id.* at 2780:11-24 (Matthews: stating the system "had some challenges" and that it is "not uncommon that there are a lot of people who will . . . try to register at the last minute").

- 159. Prior to 2006, Floridians could register to vote without providing a driver's license, social security number, or a state identification number. Tr. 2763:17-2764:2 (Matthews); ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 22).
- 160. Florida law permits 3PVROs to engage in voter registration. Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(1). 3PVROs are required to register with the Department of State. *Id.*; Tr. 2765:4-6 (Matthews). Plaintiffs FRT, UnidosUS, Equal Ground, Hispanic Federation, and Poder Latinx are all registered 3PVROs. ECF No. 466-82 at 43, 90, 103, 118.
- 161. Prior to SB 90, 3PVROs had to submit a voter registration application by the earlier of (1) 10 days after the application was collected or (2) the next book closing deadline. See League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning, 575 F. Supp. 2d 1298, 1304–05 (S.D. Fla. 2008); see also League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning, 863 F. Supp. 2d 1155, 1167–68 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (imposing 10-day deadline after invalidating HB 1355's 48-hour deadline); Tr. 2765:19-23 (Matthews). If a 3PVRO did not submit applications on time, the Department of State had the authority to fine the 3PVRO or refer the matter to the Attorney General for enforcement. Tr. 2766:10-2768:24 (Matthews).
- 162. Prior to SB 90, 3PVROs could return voter registration applications to any Supervisor of Elections, who could process the application and register the voter using the Florida Voter Registration System (FVRS). Tr. 3244:1-7 (Doyle); ECF

No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 174:11-175:1; ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 182:10-182:24; Tr. 3185:2-7 (White) (the Miami-Dade supervisor's office "for years" was able to handle the out-of-county registrations). If a 3PVRO submitted a voter registration after the deadline but before book closing, the office would still be able to register the voter. Tr. 2668:19-23 (Earley). Even if a registration is submitted after book closing, a voter may be able to vote using a provisional ballot. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 57:12-15.

163. Florida has processes in place to identify voters who have died and voters who appear on the voter registration list in multiple states. Tr. 2759:18-20, 2760:9-19 (Matthews); Tr. 1363:22-1364:16 (White). SB 90 did not change those processes. Tr. 2761:13-14 (Matthews).

B. Vote-by-Mail Application Process

- 164. Numerous existing safeguards ensure VBM integrity, including signature match requirements, ballot receipt deadlines, voter registration validation requirements, prohibitions on forwarding VBM ballots, and post-election vote-by-mail audits. Tr. 2200:3-2201:24 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 58 (Herron Rpt.).
- 165. Before SB 90, the Florida legislature had consistently made it easier for voters to vote by mail. In 2001, the legislature eliminated the "for cause" requirement for casting a vote-by-mail ballot. Tr. 877:11-17 (Austin).

- 166. Across Florida, voters had various ways to request a vote-by-mail ballot. Voters could register to vote even without a driver's license, state identification number or social security number on file. ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 22). After enactment of SB 90, such voters would not have an identification number in the system and would be unable to request a vote-by-mail ballot Tr. 2505:10-19 (Smith).
- 167. Prior to SB 90, a VBM request would be valid for up to two general election cycles. Most voters opted to receive VBM ballots for two general election cycles rather than a single election or election cycle. Tr. 1347:20-1348:5 (White).
- 168. For voters who had requested a VBM ballot, some Supervisors provided a check box on the return envelope so that the voter could re-request a VBM ballot. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 59:25-60:5; Tr. 1285:18-21 (Corley).
- 169. Counties in Florida that had "check-the-box" provisions on the back of a vote-by-mail envelope which allowed voters to request a VBM ballot continually had higher voter participation. Tr. 2492:5-21 (Smith). Higher voter participation has been seen not only in general elections but in municipal and special elections that do not have as high a turnout typically because they are off cycle. Tr. 2493:3-7 (Smith).

C. Use of Drop Boxes

- 170. Some counties in Florida have offered drop boxes since the mid- to late-2000s, and the availability of drop boxes has increased over time. Tr. 2396:7-19, 2396:24-2397:2 (Smith); ECF No. 608-14 ¶ 24 (Smith Suppl. Rpt.).
- 171. Drop boxes may have first been employed in Florida in 2008 by long-time Pinellas County Supervisor of Elections Deborah Clark, a Republican. Supervisor Clark deployed 14 drop boxes in the 2012 election at libraries, tax collectors branch offices, and elsewhere. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 82 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 172. Faced with constraints on EIP voting in 2012, the Obama campaign urged supporters to deposit VBM ballots at the offices of county supervisors. Because it was not technically "early voting", Supervisors could extend the hours of "in-person absentee voting", and demand was so heavy that the Miami-Dade supervisor of elections allowed people to use the method on both the Sunday and Monday before election day. Tr. 1739:8-25 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 77 (Kousser Rpt.). When 400 people were still in line to vote at 5 p.m. on Sunday in Doral, workers passed out water and granola bars to people in line. *Id.* The success of this method of voting may be considered the inspiration for the more widespread adoption of drop boxes in Florida. *Id.*
- 173. In November, 2013, when Secretary of State Ken Detzner issued a directive attempting to limit drop boxes to elections offices or branches, Supervisor

Clark and other SOEs protested, and Secretary Detzner backed down. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 82 (Kousser Rpt.).

174. In 2019, Florida expressly authorized the use of drop boxes for the return of vote-by-mail ballots. That provision stated:

The supervisor shall allow an elector who has received a vote-by-mail ballot to physically return a voted vote-by-mail ballot to the supervisor by placing the envelope containing his or her marked ballot in a secure drop box. Secure drop boxes shall be placed at the main office of the supervisor, at each branch office of the supervisor, and at each early voting site. Secure drop boxes may also be placed at any other site that would otherwise qualify as an early voting site under s. 101.657(1); provided, however, that any such site must be staffed during the county's early voting hours of operation by an employee of the supervisor's office or a sworn law enforcement officer.

Fla. Laws ch. 2019-162 § 20.

175. During the 2020 election cycle, every county in Florida made drop boxes available to voters. Tr. 2791:17-2792:4 (Matthews). In several counties, drop boxes were monitored by video surveillance. Tr. 2800:5-7 (Matthews). Approximately 485 drop boxes were offered throughout the state. Tr. 2453:17-2454:25 (Smith); see also ECF No. 467-1 at Table 24 (Herron Rpt.).

176. Several counties made drop boxes available outside of early voting hours. Tr. 2812:11-17 (Matthews). For example, Miami-Dade County offered drop boxes on the Monday before election day and on election day itself, including at locations other than the Supervisor's offices. Tr. 1366:18-1367:1 (White).

According to Supervisor White, "thousands of people deliver their ballots in those final days" before an election. *Id.* at 1370:1-7.

177. Prior to the 2020 election, the Department of State suggested to Supervisors that *all* drop boxes had to be "staffed" in person and that drop boxes other than the ones at Supervisors' offices could only be open during early voting hours. ECF No. 608-98; ECF No. 608-11. That letter, however, was not legally binding. *See* Tr. 2798:14-2799:21 (Matthews). Many counties made drop boxes more broadly available using only video surveillance. Tr. 2251:2-4, 2291:7-13 (Herron); ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 138-39 (Smith Rpt.).

D. Polling-Place Assistance

During the 2012 election, more than 200,000 Floridians did not cast their ballots due to long lines at the polls, and Florida voters waited for an average of 39 minutes. Tr. 2541:3-5 (Smith). Black and Hispanic/Latino voters in Florida wait in line longer than white voters: for example, one study of elections from 2008 to 2014 found that Black voters waited about twice as long as white voters; another study found that polling locations with larger numbers of Hispanic/Latino voters were more likely to close late. ECF No. 608-17 ¶¶ 73-74; Tr. 2541: 3-11, 2548:30-2549:21 (Smith).

179. These trends continue today, particularly in certain communities. Tr. 1371:20-1372:5 (White) (voters in Miami-Dade County have sometimes waited

many hours to vote; some precincts did not close until after 1 a.m. in 2012); Tr. 3507:6-25 (Earley) (reduction in early voting in 2011 resulted in "chaos" in 2012 on election day); Tr. 1235:8-20 (Scott (in 2020 voters in a "problematic" vehicle line in Broward County could not cast a ballot after 7 p.m. even if they were on line at 7 p.m.).

- 180. Organizations, including several Plaintiffs, have historically been allowed to provide food, water, umbrellas, chairs, and other items to individuals waiting in line to vote to make the experience more comfortable. Tr. 422:4-15, 400:10-401:8 (Burney-Clark); Tr. 741:25-742:1 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 2045:13-2046-10 (Mercado); Tr. 515:14-21, 516:11-15 (Brown); Tr. 1957:18-1958:24, 1959:6-192 (Slater).
- 181. Prior to SB 90, Florida law prohibited the "solicitation" of voters within 100 feet of a polling place. The law defined "solicitation" as "including, but not limited to, seeking or attempting to seek any vote, fact, opinion, or contribution; distributing or attempting to distribute any political or campaign material, leaflet, or handout; conducting a poll except as specified in this paragraph; seeking or attempting to seek a signature on any petition; and selling or attempting to sell any item." Fla. Stat. § 102.031(b) (2020).
- 182. Miami-Dade County claims to have barred *all* activity (other than exit polling) within 150 feet of a polling place before SB 90 took effect. Supervisor

White explained that she believes two statutory provisions authorize this "rule": (1) the non-solicitation provision and (2) Fla. Stat. § 102.031(1), which provides that "[e]ach election board shall possess full authority to maintain order at the polls and enforce obedience to its lawful commands during an election and the canvass of the votes." Tr. 1373:16-1375:2 (White). Notwithstanding, multiple Plaintiffs have provided food and water to voters in Miami-Dade County within the 150-foot zone. Tr. 2046:11-2047:3 (Mercado); Tr. 7 742:16-743:24, 784:8-13, 810:9-25 (Velez Burgos).

V. THE 2020 GENERAL ELECTION

- A. Unprecedented Turnout and Use of Vote-by-Mail, Particularly Among Black and Latino Voters
- 183. Approximately 14.2 million Floridians are active registered voters. Tr. 2763:10-16 (Matthews).
- 184. The 2020 general election had the highest voter turnout ever reported in Florida. *See* Tr. 1339:13-23 (White); *accord id.* Tr. 2604:25-2605:1 (Earley) (testifying a "record" number of votes—about 159,000-160,000—were cast in Leon County). More than 11 million ballots were cast, including more than 1.3 million and 1.7 million ballots by Black and Latino voters, respectively. ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA Nos. 4-8); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 84 (Kousser Rpt.).

- 185. Of the over 11 million ballots cast in the 2020 general election, 4.8 million were VBM ballots—more than in any prior election. ECF No. ¶¶ 37-38 (Joint Stip.); ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA Nos. 9-10); Tr. 2763:1-3 (Matthews).
- 186. Numerous Supervisors of Elections confirmed the popularity of VBM. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 55:20-23; Tr. 1171:13-14 (Scott); Tr. 1339:13-1340:21, 1347:5-7 (White); *see also* ECF 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 19:16-20; Tr. 1285:15-17, 1263:4-6 (Corley). In Leon County, about 40 percent of all votes cast during the election were by VBM, a record for the county. Tr. 2604:17-2605:4, 2624:13 (Earley). Leon County also experienced a record in the number of vote-by-mail requests in 2020. *Id.* at 2624:16.
- 187. The number of VBM ballots cast by Latino and Black voters increased far more dramatically than the increase for white voters from 2016 to 2020, with the number of Black VBM ballots cast increasing nearly 100 percent, from a rate of 19% to 41%. Tr. at 2409:1-13, 2407:16-2408:5 (Smith); Tr. 960:22-961:15, 1083:19-1084:24 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 21-22 (Burch Rpt.). By contrast, white voters increased their use of mail voting by only about 53% (from 29% to 44.5%). ECF No. 608-6 at Table 5 (Smith Rpt.).
- 188. This shift to increased VBM voting for Blacks and Latinos was not an aberration due to the unique circumstances of 2020, since voters, once they grow accustomed to a new form of voting, tend to continue using it. Tr. 2417:13-2418:14;

2414:6-2415:21 (Smith); *see also* Tr. 2605:8-15 (Earley) ("[P]eople that hadn't been introduced to vote-by-mail saw that it was easy and secure and something they felt comfortable doing."); Tr. 1169:7-11 (Scott (noting voters who vote by mail for the first time "plan to continue voting by mail in the future because they've discovered how convenient it is"). This is particularly true when the method lowers the overall cost of voting. *See* Tr. 2416:24-2417:11 (Smith); Tr. 2157:23-2158:13 (Herron).

- 189. During the 2020 election, more than 500,000 and 700,000 VBM ballots were cast by Black and Latino voters, respectively—more than in any prior election, and twice the rate of prior VBM voting. ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA Nos. 11-16); ECF No. 467-7 ¶¶ 53-54; 112; Tab.5 (Smith Rpt.).
- 190. Several Florida counties in particular saw large numbers of Black and Latino voters taking advantage of VBM and early voting. Tr. 900:1-2, 900:13-19, 901:24-902:11 (Austin). In Palm Beach County, for example, 53.6% of Black voters voted early in person and 33.4% of Black voters voted by mail. ECF No. 608-17 ¶ 90 & tbl. 2. In Lee County, 30.7% of Latino voters voted early in person and 60.9% of Latino voters voted by mail. *Id.* ¶ 92 & tbl. 3.
- 191. Of the more than 4.8 million VBM ballots cast in the 2020 Florida general election, more than 1.5 million—approximately 29 percent—were returned to a drop box. Tr. 2410: 22-25 (Smith); ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 17); ECF

No. 467-7 at 85; Tr. 2159: 4-5 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 123 (Herron Rpt.); ECF No. 402 ¶ 43.

- 192. In Miami-Dade County, 31% of voters who voted by mail (nearly 162,000 voters) used a drop box to return their ballots. ECF No. 608-80; Tr. 1340:17-1342:7 (White).
- 193. Black voters were less likely than other racial groups to return their VBM ballots to the post office and were more likely than other racial groups to return their ballots to drop boxes. Tr. 2159:20-25, 2256:11-13, 2256:17-21 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶¶ 177, 215(Herron Rpt.); Tr. 960:17-961:8 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 22-23 (Burch Rpt.); ECF No. 467-7 ¶ 137 (Smith Rpt.).
- 194. According to the 2020 Cooperative Election Study ("CES"), an estimated 56.2 percent of Black Floridian respondents who voted by mail reported returning ballots to the post office, a U.S. mailbox, or their mailman, compared with 58.9 percent of white respondents and 75.8 percent of Latino respondents. ECF No. 608-5 at 23 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 960:17-961:8 (Burch); *see also* Tr. 2412:17-2413:8 (Smith). These statistics are in-line with documented concerns about the reliability and timeliness of mail delivery and disproportionately higher VBM rejection rates among minority voters in Florida as compared to white voters in the state. ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 135, 137 (Smith Rpt.).

195. Black respondents in one county also reported dropping their VBM ballots off at drop boxes or at the main election office at the highest rates. ECF No. 608-5 at 23 (Burch Rpt.). Furthermore, based on available data, voters of color dropped off VBM ballots in drop boxes outside of the early voting period, which the Drop Box Provision significantly restricts, at higher rates than other racial groups. Tr. 2482:1-10, 2483:4-9 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 223 (Smith Rpt.).

B. Absence of Voter Fraud

- 196. There is no evidence of systematic voter fraud relating to the 2020 elections in Florida. Tr. 2207:2-5, 2210:18-21, 2217:7-12 (Herron); ECF No. 608-5 at 36-38 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 2420:23-2421:1 (Smith).
- 197. There is no evidence that states that conduct elections fully by mail have increased rates of voter fraud. Tr. 2218:11-23 (Herron).
- 198. A majority of SOEs did not report any concerns regarding voter fraud occurring in the 2020 General Election in Florida. Tr. 2221:16-2222:25 (Herron). Of the 11 SOEs who did report concerns regarding voter fraud incidents, the most common incident reported involved double voting, which is not something SB 90 addresses. Tr. 2223:1-7 (Herron).
- 199. With regard to the safety of drop boxes, the SOEs unanimously admitted that they "did not detect, or receive reports of, any tampering or voter fraud involving Drop Boxes, including 24/7 Drop Boxes, in [their] county in connection

with the 2020 general election." *See* Appendix E; Exs. 882–948 SOE Responses to NAACP Plaintiffs' Requests for Admissions No. 1; *see also* Tr. 2420:18-2421:21 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6¶139 (Smith Rpt.). SOEs also communicated to the House Public Integrity and Election Community following the 2020 General Election that they found no substantiated evidence of ballot harvesting or other voter fraud associated with drop boxes. *See* ECF No. 608-6¶139 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2421:2-12 (Smith). At trial, SOEs acknowledged the absence of vandalism or tampering incidents involving drop boxes. *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. 2664:8-13 (Earley); Tr. 1204:5-8 (Scott.

- 200. According to the Heritage Foundation's database, of the 108 million ballots cast in statewide elections in Florida from 2004 to 2020, there are only 15 incidents of voter fraud. Tr. 2220.14-15 (Herron). That is a rate of .0000139. *See id*.
- 201. Supervisors confirmed the absence of voter fraud in the 2020 election. *See* Appendix C (SOE RFA 1–3) (vast majority of SOEs admitting the 2020 elections were secure). For example, Supervisor Corley testified that the 2020 elections in Pasco County were "secure" and that he was not aware of any widespread fraud in the county. Tr. 1261:6-7, 1261:14-16 (Supervisor Corley). After the 2020 election, Supervisor Corley wrote a December 2020 statement stating that he "learned through research and speaking to [his] colleagues that true voter

fraud is isolated and infrequent." ECF No. 608-27. Furthermore, he stated that most discrepancies are not the result of fraud:

Research has also confirmed that most "anomalies" and "irregularities" are the result of clerical errors by elections' staff who are taxed by extremely long hours in high stress environments, and the fact that elections' administration is highly dependent on temporary staff with steep learning curves in short time frames.

Id. He agrees with those statements even now. Tr. 1268:23, 1269:9 (Supervisor Corley).

2020 election and testified to "no real big problems." Tr. 2606:1-2, 2606:12-19 (Earley). Supervisor Earley also was not aware of any widespread vote fraud in Leon County in 2020 related to VBM ballots, and he believed that any voting related fraud is "minimal," "very isolated," and "a one-off." *Id.* at 2607:18-20, 2608:5-8. He also testified that voter fraud related to VBM ballots is "very rare" in Florida. *Id.* at 2608:21. Supporting his belief is the fact that he has never submitted an election fraud complaint related to VBM voting even with the significant number of college students (roughly 90,000) in Leon County. Tr. 3506:12-23 (Earley).

203. Supervisor Latimer likewise believed that the 2020 election, in both Hillsborough County and all of Florida, was secure and successful due to the "secure physical premise," cybersecurity, logic and accuracy tests, and the post-election audit. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) 95:8-25. He was not aware of any widespread

fraud in Hillsborough County in any prior election since 2010. *Id.* at 177:16-17. Nor was he aware of any fraud in Hillsborough County related to drop boxes. *Id.* at 107:1.

- 204. Supervisor Hays also was not aware of any widespread voter fraud in Lake County or Florida in the 2020 elections relating to VBM ballots. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 62:14-21. He was satisfied with the security of the VBM process in the 2020 elections in Lake County. *Id.* at 60:8-13. Furthermore, due to existing safeguards, he had not seen any instances of voter fraud with respect to voters who have moved but were voting from their previous address. *Id.* at 151:17-21.
- 205. Defendant White could not identify any instance of voter fraud in Miami-Dade County in 2020. Tr. 1334:10-24 (White). Supervisor White credits drop boxes with improving voter confidence in the election. *Id.* at 1341:21-1342:7 (White).
- 206. Likewise, the Secretary of State has admitted that during legislative hearings, she testified to not being aware of any instance of fraud in 2020 where a voter voted using someone else's VBM ballot. ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 45).
- 207. The Florida Office of the Attorney General testified to having no view on whether the 2020 elections were successful in Florida or whether VBM was secure in the 2020 election because the Office does not administer elections and instead deferred to what has been said by election officials. ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo

Dep.) at 29:18-24, 37:12-17, 37:21-38:1. Elizabeth Guzzo, the Director of Legislative Affairs at the Office of the Attorney General, was unaware of any Attorney General prosecutions related to drop boxes in 2020 or any unlawful voting conduct relating to assistance provided to persons with disabilities in 2020. *Id.* at 38:2-6, 62:4-8.

208. During the legislative debate on SB 90, there were many instances where the lack of voter fraud in the 2020 election was discussed. *See generally* Appendix I. Indeed, the sponsors of SB 90 were unable to identify evidence of fraud related to drop boxes, ECF No. 461-34 at 8:23-9:9, 16:24-17:16, VBM ballots, *id.* at 15:22-16:6; ECF No. 461-98 at 64:5-10, or solicitation of voters waiting in line, *id.* at 87:23-88:6.

C. Absence of Issues with Voter Registration Organizations

209. The Supervisors of Elections testified to the absence of any issues with 3PVROs during the 2020 election. *See* Appendix (SOE Responses to League Plaintiffs' RFA 10) (vast majority admitting that they are unaware of any voter who was unable to vote in 2020 as a result of 3PVRO returning voter registration late). For example, Supervisor Scott testified he was not aware of issues or problems with 3PVROs in Broward County, the second largest county in Florida, or any pending complaints or pending problems with such organizations. Tr. 1158:17-18, 1162:24-

1163:10 (Scott). He was also not aware of anyone who was unable to vote because of 3PVROs turning in their registrations late. Tr. 1163:11-14 (Scott).

- 210. Similarly, Supervisor Earley testified that the vast majority of registration forms sent by 3PVROs are received on time. Tr. 2666:12-16 (Earley). Though acknowledging a few instances of issues related to 3PVROs in the past, Supervisor Earley nevertheless testified that "in general, they're a big aid in our outreach efforts." Tr. 3501:16-17 (Earley).
- 211. Defendant White could not identify any voter in Miami-Dade County who has been prevented from voting because a 3PVRO turned in the voter's registration form late. Tr. 1343:7-12 (White). She testified that no voter has ever complained to her office about a late-delivered voter registration form, or about a 3PVRO's alleged failure to submit completed voter registration forms. *Id.* at 1343:13-16, 3184:2-15 (White). There were also no complaints of the sort from voters in Lake County. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 129:4-14.
- 212. Director Matthews noted the distinction between election fraud complaints and complaints about 3PVROs, testifying about referrals to law enforcement of only the former type for the 2020 election cycle. Tr. 3478:16-25 (Matthews). Director Matthews did not identify any specific voter who was unable to vote in an election in which they wished to vote because of a 3PVRO turning in their form late. *See generally* Tr. 2756:22–2837:18, 3391:13–3481 (Matthews). She

also did not identify any specific voter who faced any obstacle or barrier in updating their address in order to vote because of a 3PVRO turning in their form late. *See generally* Tr. 2756:22–2837:18, 3391:13–3481 (Matthews).

- 213. The Florida Office of the Attorney General has pursued no enforcement actions against 3PVROs since 2012. ECF No. 402 at ¶ 17. Director Guzzo also testified to being unaware of any instances in which the Attorney General has pursued injunctive relief against 3PVROs or any restraining orders. ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo Dep.) at 69:9-15.
- 214. Furthermore, Senator Gary Farmer (D) testified that the proponents of SB 90 did not cite issues with 3PVROs as a rationale for the bill.
- 215. Instead, Senator Farmer testified about "Senator Baxley claiming that he was doing this to comply with a federal court order." Tr. 1567:4-10 Senator Farmer. Senator Farmer further stated that Senator Baxley's explanation for the 3PVRO provision suggested that he "just didn't know why he was doing these things or what his amendment or his bill was going to fix." *Id.* at 1567:12-18 Senator Farmer.

D. Widespread Praise of 2020 Election and Florida Election Code

216. Notwithstanding the unpredictability caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the surge in voters casting VBM ballots, the administration of the 2020 election in Florida was a resounding success, and was praised as safe and

secure by federal, state, and local officials. *See* ECF No. 402 ¶ 44; Tr. 1262:6-25 (Supervisor Corley); Tr. 1204:6-12 (Scott); Tr. 1333:18-19 (White); Tr. 1450:23 (Thompson); Tr. 965:3-966:8, 969:3-12 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 21-22 (Burch Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 1747:2-10, 1750:9-25, 1751:24-1752:8, 1752:15-20, 1752:22-1753:9, 1760:2-14, 1760:18-24 (Kousser).

- 217. SOEs also praised the success of the 2020 election in Florida. For example, Supervisor Corley was "beyond highly confident" that the results of the 2020 election were correctly determined and agreed that Pasco County "ran a good election." Tr. 1263:1-3, 1264:8-9 (Supervisor Corley).
- 218. Supervisor White testified that the 2020 elections in Miami-Dade County were successful for several reasons: "the integrity of the election was upheld throughout the entire process," "voting was made accessible and convenient to our voters," "all of our policies and procedures were carried out accurately," "the results were tabulated accurately, reported to the state on time, [and] certified on time," the county's "post-election audit was accurate," and "voters had a pleasant experience." Tr. 1333:18-1334:3 (White); *see also* ECF No. 608-78 ("the election was conducted successfully and without error"); Tr. 1381:11-14 (White) ("Our state, my county, was revered as having a near flawless election cycle; record voter turnout; no irregularities, as we've talked about; results substantiated, submitted on time. It was all around a very well-run election.").

- 219. Supervisor Earley agreed that the 2020 general election in Leon County and all of Florida was "definitely" a success even when it was "the hardest election [he had] ever encountered in all [his] years helping with elections." Tr. 2605:16-18, 2606:5-11 (Earley).
- 220. In noting that the 2020 elections in Florida were secure and successful, SOEs described using extensive security measures, such as physical security, cybersecurity, and the "logic and accuracy test." ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 95:8-23, 97:16-98:9; ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 39:12-41:3. In fact, no elected official testified to problems in the 2020 General Election in Florida. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 99:11-29; *see also* ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 38:19-20, 41:10-18

 221. In an April 30, 2021 statement, the Florida SOEs praised the 2020
- 221. In an April 30, 2021 statement, the Florida SOEs praised the 2020 election and noted widespread praise from other elected officials:

As Supervisors of Elections, we are unwavering in our commitment to keeping our elections both secure and accessible. We did that in 2020, to universal acclaim. Elections ran smoothly, voters participated in record numbers, and election results were verified with audits in every count in Florida, as provided for in our current election law . . .Indeed, after the 2020 General Election, Governor DeSantis said that we had 'finally vanquished the ghosts of Bush vs. Gore,' praising our ability to count 11 million votes quickly and holding Florida up as an example for other states to follow. Throughout this legislative process, legislators who supported and opposed the bill commended our performance in 2020, over and over.

ECF No. 608-48 (April 30 Statement from Craig Latimer).

- 222. The Secretary of State has admitted that Secretary Lee testified to the legislature shortly after SB 90 was introduced that the 2020 General Election in Florida "ran as smoothly as possible and inspired confidence on the part of Florida's voters." ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 33).
- 223. The Secretary of State has also admitted that Governor DeSantis stated the 2020 General Election in Florida was "the smoothest, most successful election of any state in the country." *Id.* (SOS RFA No. 34).
- 224. Following the election, Secretary of State Lee stated, "[A]ll Florida voters, no matter how they chose to cast a ballot, or who they voted for, could be confident in the integrity of Florida's elections system and security of their vote." ECF No. 402 ¶ 45. She further praised the election as "safe, secure and orderly" and asserted that in 2020 the state was "prepared to meet any challenges we faced during the elections." ECF No. 608-101 at 1-2.
- 225. Governor DeSantis described Florida's 2020 election as "perhaps the most transparent and efficient election in the nation in 2020." ECF No. 608-108.At trial, Director Matthews reiterated that all voters should be confident in the integrity of the election system and the security of their vote in the 2020 election, no matter how they cast their ballots. Tr. 2759:2-8 (Matthews).

- 226. Director Guzzo testified that if the Secretary of State's office concluded that the 2020 elections were successful, safe, and secure, the Attorney General's office would not disagree. ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo Dep.) at 30:9-14.
- 227. In 2020, Florida counties generally saw shorter lines than in previous elections. Tr. 1372:6-7 (White). Supervisor White agreed that the shorter lines resulted in part from the fact that more voters voted by mail than in previous years. *Id.* at 1372:8-13.
- election. *See generally* Appendix H. Even several Florida legislators—including the very legislators who would go on to sponsor SB90—praised the 2020 election as an "exception," a "model for the nation," "one of the smoothest elections," and as "the standard on how elections should be run across the United States." *See also* ECF No. 461-54 at 2:5, 2:15-18, 19:8-11, 46:21-22; ECF No. 461-45 at 2:40:42-2:48:11; ECF No. 461-36 at 2:9-11; ECF No. 461-78 at 9:7-10; ECF No. 461-92 at 2:10-12; ECF No. 462-9 at 2:23-3:3; *see also* ECF No. 608-5 at 24-25 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 965:3-966:8, 969:3-12 (Burch).
- 229. Legislators who testified at trial similarly praised the election. Tr. 1517:8-13 (Farmer); Tr. 1907:2-8 (Eskamani) ("Florida's 2020 election cycle was very well managed across the state.").

230. Florida voters also expressed confidence in the 2020 election. Data from the COVID States Project, a joint project from scholars at Northeastern University, Harvard University, Rutgers University, and Northwestern University, shows that 78.4 percent of Florida voters were "mostly or "very" confident that their "ballot will be counted accurately in the 2020 presidential election." Tr. 980:9-984:22 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 22 (Burch Rpt.). More than two-thirds of Floridians were "mostly" or "very" confident that the presidential election would be fair. Tr. 980:9-981:3 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 22 (Burch Rpt.).

VI. CHALLENGED PROVISIONS OF SB 90

A. VBM Application Requests

231. Section 24 of SB 90 amended Fla. Stat. § 101.62(1)(a)-(b). In pertinent part, Section 101.62(1)(a) now provides:

[t]he supervisor shall accept a request for a vote-by-mail ballot from an elector in person or in writing. One request is deemed sufficient to receive a vote-by-mail ballot for all elections through the end of the calendar year of the next regularly scheduled general election, unless the elector or the elector's designee indicates at the time the request is made the elections within such period for which the elector desires to receive a vote-by-mail ballot.

Fla. Stat. § 101.62(1)(a).

232. Section 24 of SB 90 cuts the lifespan of VBM requests by, eliminating standing requests to vote by mail and requiring voters to submit new VBM applications every general election cycle. *See* ECF No. 402 at 23 (Joint Stip.).

B. Vote-by-Mail Application Restriction

233. Section 24 of SB 90 also amended the provision of Florida law that governs requests for VBM ballots. The law now provides:

If an in-person or a telephonic request [for a VBM ballot] is made, the elector must provide the elector's driver license number, the elector's Florida identification card number, or the last four digits of the elector's social security number, whichever may be verified in the supervisor's records.

Fla. Stat. § 101.62(1)(b).

- 234. Similarly, a "written request" must "include the elector's Florida driver license number, the elector's Florida identification card number, or the last four digits of the elector's social security number." id.
- 235. Under SB 90 Section 24. Supervisors must match the required identification number provided on the VBM request to a number in their records or they are prohibited from sending an application. In its guidance and training materials presented at the June 2021 Supervisors' summer conference, Secretary Lee stated that there are "no exceptions" to the identification match requirement. ECF No. 608-64 at 17.
- 236. SOEs confirmed that there are "no exceptions" per the Secretary's guidance and that the identification number provided in a VBM request must match the number on file. Tr. 1184:22-1185:21 (Scott); *see also* Tr. 2649:9-16 (Earley). Supervisor Earley testified that under SB 90, his offices may not send a voter a VBM

ballot even if they provide the office with the correct identification number if that number is not on file with the office. Tr. 2651:2-11 (Earley).

- 237. Due to SB 90's identification requirement, SOEs are no longer offering check boxes for voters to re-request VBM ballots. *See, e.g.*, ECF 549-3 at 84:5-10 (Latimer Dep.); Tr. 1286:5-18 (Corley); Tr. 2625:19-2626:14 (Earley); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 126:6-17.
- 238. Almost no other state has adopted a similar identification requirement to request a mail ballot. Defendants' expert, Dr. Quenum Kidd, claimed to have looked at the laws of all 50 states, and only identified four others that were purportedly comparable to Florida in requiring a voter to provide their driver's license number or Social Security number to request an absentee ballot. ECF No. 634-5 ¶58 (Minnesota, Georgia, Montana) & Tab. 6 (Indiana) (Kidd Rpt). At trial, however, Dr. Kidd conceded that he cited the mail ballot receipt (as opposed to mail ballot application) statutes for Montana, Minnesota, and Georgia, and that providing such information in Indiana was optional. Tr. 2991:16-3000:16 (Kidd).

C. 3PVRO Compelled Disclaimer

239. Section 7 of SB 90 requires 3PVROs to:

notify the [voter registration] applicant at the time the application is collected that the organization might not deliver the application to the division or the supervisor of elections in the

county in which the applicant resides in less than 14 days or before registration closes for the next ensuing election[.]

Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(3)(a). In addition, the provision requires 3PVROs to "advise the applicant that he or she may deliver the application in person or by mail[,]" and to "inform the applicant how to register online with the division and how to determine whether the application has been delivered." *Id*.

- 240. The Secretary of State has authority to refer violations of the disclaimer provision to the Attorney General for further action. Tr. 2777:8-20 (Matthews); *see* Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(4).
- 241. No other state has adopted a compelled disclaimer requirement comparable to Florida's. Defendant's expert, Dr. Quentin Kidd, claimed to have looked at the laws of all 50 states and could not identify any other state with a comparable oral disclaimer requirement for 3PVROs. Tr. 3048:3-3052:4 (Kidd). Plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Michael McDonald, has confirmed that no other state has a comparable disclaimer requirement for 3PVROs. Tr. 3607:9-16 (McDonald).

D. Voter Registration Delivery Restriction

242. Section 7 of SB 90 requires 3PVROs to:

ensur[e] that any voter registration application entrusted to the organization . . . must be promptly delivered to the division or the supervisor of elections in the county in which the applicant resides within 14 days after the application was completed by the applicant, but not after registration closes for the next ensuing election.

Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(3)(a).

- 243. Section 7 fines 3PVROs if they fail to deliver registration applications to the "supervisor of elections in the county in which the applicant resides" within 14 days. *Id.* This section does not fine, or have repercussions for anyone else that delivers out-of-county registration applications to a supervisor's office. *See* Tr. 3244:2-15 (Doyle) (Supervisor Doyle will still forward out-of-county registrations dropped off by individual voters to their respective supervisors).
- 244. Under Section 7 of SB 90, Supervisors will no longer be processing the out-of-county registration applications. *See e.g.*, ECF No. 549-2 at 175:7-17 (Hays Dep.) (Supervisor Hays will "send [the out-of-county registrations] back to the third-party organization.").

 245. The Defendants did not offer any evidence that any other state requires
- 245. The Defendants did not offer any evidence that any other state requires a voter registration organization to deliver registration applications to the county of residence. This is not a point that Defendants' expert, Dr. Quentin Kidd, analyzed. ECF No. 634-5 at 26 (Table 5) (Kidd Rpt.).

E. Drop Box Restrictions

- 246. Section 28 of SB 90 amended Florida Statute Sections 101.69(2) and (3) which now provide:
 - (2)(a) The supervisor shall allow an elector who has received a vote-by-mail ballot to physically return a voted vote-by-mail ballot to the supervisor by placing the return mail envelope containing his or her marked ballot in a secure drop box. Secure

drop boxes shall be placed at the main office of the supervisor, at each permanent branch office of the supervisor, and at each early voting site. Secure drop boxes may also be placed at any other site that would otherwise qualify as an early voting site under s. 101.657(1). Drop boxes must be geographically located so as to provide all voters in the county with an equal opportunity to cast a ballot, insofar as is practicable. Except for secure drop boxes at an office of the supervisor, a secure drop box may only be used during the county's early voting hours of operation and must be monitored in person by an employee of the supervisor's office. A secure drop box at an office of the supervisor must be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the supervisor's office when the drop box is accessible for deposit of ballots.

(3) If any drop box is left accessible for ballot receipt other than as authorized by this section, the supervisor is subject to a civil penalty of \$25,000.

ECF No. 402 at 21-22 (Joint Stip.) (showing additions in underlined text).

247. Accordingly, drop boxes at locations *other* than SOE offices can only be open during the hours and days of early in-person voting, which extends for between eight and fourteen days and is set by each county SOE, and must be monitored by an employee of the SOE office when accessible for ballot delivery. Tr. 2423:1-18 (Smith). Drop boxes at SOE main or permanent branch offices, can be open for the full 40-day period from when VBM ballots are first mailed to voters through Election Day, but must be continuously monitored by an employee of the SOE office when they are accessible for ballot deposit. Tr. 2423:11-18. *See also* ECF No. ECF No. 467-1 at ¶¶ 117-20 (Herron Rpt.).

- 248. Through the Division of Elections, the Secretary of State is responsible for enforcing compliance with the Drop Box Restrictions, including by subjecting Supervisors of Elections to the aforementioned \$25,000 penalty for violations. Fla. Stat. § 101.69(3).
- 249. The Defendants did not offer any evidence that any other state requires in-person monitoring by employees of their election authorities (as opposed to video monitoring); imposes fines on election administrators who fail to do so; or restricts drop boxes to local election administrators' offices or early voting locations. Defense expert Dr. Kidd did not address this point. ECF No. 634-5 at 19 (Table 3) (Kidd Rpt.); Tr. 3026:7-3027:13 (Kidd).

F. Polling-Place Assistance Restriction

250. Section 29 of SB 90 amended the definition of "solicit" or "solicitation" under Section 102.031(4)(b), for purposes of the prohibition under Section 102.031(4)(a). As amended, Section 29 of SB 90 provides:

For the purpose of this subsection, the terms "solicit" or "solicitation" shall include, but not be limited to, seeking or attempting to seek any vote, fact, opinion, or contribution; distributing or attempting to distribute any political or campaign material, leaflet, or handout; conducting a poll except as specified in this paragraph; seeking or attempting to seek a signature on any petition; and selling or attempting to sell any item; and engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter. The terms "solicit," or "solicitation" may not be construed to prohibit an employee of, or a volunteer with, the supervisor from providing nonpartisan assistance to

voters within the no-solicitation zone such as, but not limited to, giving items to voters, or to prohibit exit polling.

ECF No. 402 at 26 (Joint Stip.) (showing additions in underlined text).

- 251. Section 29's broad language appears to criminalize the provision of nonpartisan relief to voters waiting in line. *See* Tr. 222:14-20 (Garces); Tr. 402:12-16 (Burney-Clark); Tr. 746:3-9 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 1961:7-14, 1962:17-22 (Slater); Tr. 2047:4-8 (Mercado). As a result of this threat of criminal sanction, Section 29 directly impairs and limits Plaintiffs' civic engagement work. This includes the work of the Florida NAACP, FRT, Poder Latinx, Equal Ground, and Hispanic Federation. Tr. 223:13-16 (Garces); Tr. 517:4-11 (Brown); Tr. 402:17-403:19 (Burney-Clark); Tr. 774:5-16 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 2047:7-20 (Mercado).
- 252. Section 29 has caused Plaintiff NAACP, and other groups, to determine that they can no longer provide certain forms of voter support in Florida. Plaintiff NAACP will no longer provide water, food, and other items of support to Florida voters waiting in line out of fear that their traditional line relief activities will be criminalized. Tr. 529:4-10 (Brown); Tr. 1963:11-16; 1976:22-1977:7 (Slater). As a consequence, voters in need of relief may leave long lines and forgo voting altogether. Tr. 1958:13-1959:2; 1963:17-1964:5 (Slater).
- 253. Poll deputies at each individual polling place are responsible for enforcing the Line Relief Provision. Tr. 1376:8-14 (White).

254. No other state has adopted a prohibition on "engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter." Defendant's expert, Dr. Kidd, claimed to have looked at the laws of all 50 states and could not identify any other state with a comparable restriction as broad as Florida's. ECF No. 634-5 ¶ 67 (Kidd Decl.); Tr. 3019-3022 (Kidd).

VII. THE PASSAGE OF SB 90

255. This section summarizes key aspects of the legislative proceedings on SB 90. First, it traces the evolution of the bills in the Senate and the House, noting the points at which key provisions were added to the bill. Second, it describes the contemporaneous rationales that SB 90's sponsors offered for the bill. As this discussion illustrates, the sponsors repeatedly disclaimed any interest in preventing fraud and instead offered justifications that made little if any sense and/or were disingenuous or pretextual. *Third*, this section describes the evidence that legislators knew the law would place significant burdens on Florida voters' ability to vote and that the burden would disproportionately fall on Black and Latino voters. Fourth, the section describes irregularities in SB 90's legislative process, including the opposition of the Supervisors, the limits on public testimony, the limits on debate, and the unusual use of a late-night strike-all amendment. Fifth, the section describes proposed amendments that would have ameliorated the discriminatory impact of SB 90 but were summarily rejected by the legislature.

A. SB 90's Introduction and Evolution in the Senate and House

256. This section provides an overview of the introduction, consideration, and enactment of SB 90. This discussion illustrates two key points. First, SB 90 did not originate with the Supervisors of Elections, a substantial departure from the Florida legislature's typical approach to election law reform. Second, because the Challenged Provisions were repeatedly rewritten during the legislative process, legislators and interested parties had minimal or no opportunity to provide input on critical aspects of the Challenged Provisions that will made it substantially harder for Floridians to vote.

1. The Origins of SB 90

257. Representative Geraldine Thompson (D), a member of the House Public Integrity and Elections Committee, explained at trial that election legislation typically originates with the SOEs, *i.e.*, "the individuals who administer our elections" and are therefore "on the ground." Tr. 1446:24-1447:17 (Thompson). She explained that SOEs normally share their "concerns" and "needs" with elected leaders in the legislature, and the legislature responds to those needs. *Id.*; *see also* Tr. 1029:20-1033:19 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 47 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 1515:14-24 (Farmer) (explaining why it is important to hear from SOEs). Supervisor Earley provided similar testimony, explaining that the legislature would "[n]ormally . . . try to reach out . . . ahead of time" about election bills. Tr. 3523:21-24 (Earley).

- 258. In contrast, the approach to election legislation followed with SB 90 was abnormal: "[The SOEs] did not ask for any of the provisions that are a part of the legislation." Tr. 1446:24-1447:17 (Thompson). Accordingly, unlike most election legislation that originates "from the bottom up," SB 90 was imposed "top down" by the legislature. *Id*.
- 259. Every SOE who testified at trial confirmed that they were not consulted by the legislature prior to the introduction of SB 90. Tr. 1380:10-13 (White) (agreeing that "Senate Bill 90 appears to have been written without consulting Supervisors of Elections"); Tr. 3194:14-16 (White) ("Q. To your knowledge, was [the Florida Supervisors of Elections ("FSE")] involved in the legislative process leading up to SB 90? A. Leading up to SB 90, no."); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 43:8-11 (confirming he was not consulted in his capacity as a Supervisor about SB 90 or HB 7041 before it was released); Tr. 2611:16-19 (Earley); Tr. 1212:4-10 (Scott) (agreeing he was not consulted by the legislature before SB 90 was introduced); Tr. 1274:3-14 (Corley) (same); see also Appendix C, at RFA 24
- 260. Indeed, the Supervisors were caught "off guard" by the introduction of a major election reform bill just after the "flawlessly" administered 2020 election cycle. Tr. 1381:11-1382:5 (White). As he wrote in an email at the time, Supervisor Corley was mystified by the bill:

I'm literally befuddled as to why we would tweak a system that performed exceedingly well. The current Vote By Mail (VBM) statutes (e.g. policies

and procedures), as well as the established security procedures with regards to VBM "Drop Boxes" worked extremely well in Pasco County and to my knowledge, all of Florida.... As such, I can think of no legitimate reason to make the sweeping and arbitration changes contained in SB 90!

ECF No. 608-28.

- 261. Supervisor Corley criticized the lack of consultation prior to filing the draft legislation, noting that the Supervisors "are the subject matter experts who actually administer elections." ECF No. 608-30.
- 262. The legislature also did not consult the Secretary of State or the Office of the Attorney General prior to introducing SB 90, despite those agencies' roles in enforcing 3PVRO regulations and other election laws. Tr. 3456:23-3457:13, 3462:14-3463:11 (Matthews); ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo Dep.) at 39:20-23, 44:10-13, 53:22-24.

2. Consideration of SB 90 by Senate Committees

- 263. Senator Dennis Baxley (R) filed SB 90 in the Senate on February 3, 2021.
- 264. Senator Gary Farmer (D), the former Minority Leader of the Florida Senate, explained the typical process for filing legislation. Ordinarily, a bill's sponsor "take[s] an idea concept" to the independent, nonpartisan "bill drafting" office of the Senate. The sponsor "work[s] on the bill with them," and officially files the bill once the sponsor feels the bill is "complete and accurate." Tr. 1513:5-15 (Farmer). After it is filed, the bill is referred to committees of reference for

consideration; the first committee of reference is typically the "subject matter substantive committee on the [bill] topic." *Id.* at 1513:16-20 (Farmer).

- 265. Here, Senator Baxley introduced a version of SB 90 that was not "complete" and, in fact, bears no resemblance to the final bill. As introduced, SB 90 had only four sections. ECF No. 461-57 at 10-11. The only substantive provision was a version of the VBM Application Provision, which provided that a VBM request would only be valid for elections within one year of the request. *Id*.
- 266. Because the bill did not include any of the Challenged Provisions other than a version of the VBM Application provision, the Senate Ethics and Elections Committee—the Senate Committee with the greatest subject matter expertise—had no opportunity to engage with the law that ultimately became SB 90. They could not provide input on provisions that did not yet exist.
- 267. The Ethics and Elections Committee held a hearing on February 16, 2021. ECF No. 461-33 (portion of transcript on SB 90). At that hearing, Secretary Lee testified generally about the 2020 election, *id.* at 2, but was not asked to (and did not) testify about SB 90 specifically. *Compare* ECF No. 461-33 (portion of transcript on SB 90). Secretary Lee did not testify to the Legislature about any of the Challenged Provisions.
- 268. The only amendment accepted during the February 16 committee hearing was a technical amendment offered by Senator Baxley. The amendment

made VBM requests valid until the end of the calendar year of the next ensuing general election—*i.e.*, for a maximum of two years. ECF No. 461-33 at 12:24-20:11 (portion of transcript on SB 90).

- 269. The bill then passed to the next committee of reference, the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee. That committee held a hearing on a proposed committee substitute on March 10, 2021. ECF No. 461-34; ECF No. 461-65 at 17-22. The proposed substitute made changes to SB 90 and doubled the number of provisions to a total of eight. ECF No. 461-65 at 14-22; *see also* ECF No. 461-61 at 9 (summarizing the differences following the March 10 committee substitution). The relevant changes included:
 - Prohibiting the use of drop boxes entirely. ECF No. 461-34 at 4:18-21.
 - Requiring VBM requests to include the voter's driver's license number, identification card number, or the last four digits of the voter's social security number. ECF No. 461-61 at 9. In introducing the amendment, Senator Baxley did not discuss the provision and there was no debate or discussion about it. ECF No. 461-65. Unlike the Challenged Provision of SB 90 Section 24, the March 10 version of the provision did not require the additional identification number to be matched against an identification number in the Supervisors' records. *Id*.
- 270. Even as amended, the bill did not include any version of Challenged Provisions SB 90 Section 7 (changing the rules for 3PVROs) or Section 29 (changing the definition of "solicitation"). Accordingly, neither committee members nor members of the public could provide input on those changes. Nor

could they provide input on the final versions of the drop box restrictions or mail ballot identification requirements that were inserted into the bill at a later stage.

- 271. During the hearing, Lake County Supervisor Alan Hays (R) and Leon County Supervisor Mark Earley (D) testified against the bill. ECF No. 461-34 at 18-30. Supervisor Hays criticized the failure to consult with election experts, noting that "nothing in the bill is in [the Supervisor's] list of [10] suggestions"; the drop box provisions would wreak "havoc" for voters; and the reduction in the VBM request period would cost SOEs \$14 to \$16 million to notify voters. *Id.* at 19-23. Supervisor Earley testified that he had "heard of no Supervisors who are in support of this bill" and the provisions are "setting us up for another 2012 where we had long lines and chaos and confusion." *Id.* at 28. Representatives from Plaintiffs League of Women Voters, Florida Rising Together, the NAACP and four other witnesses testified against the bill, and no members of the public supported the bill. *Id.* at 30-40.
- 272. At the conclusion of the March 10 hearing, the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee approved the proposed substitute despite the concerns raised by legislators, SOEs, and the public. ECF No. 461-34 at 49:3-6.
- 273. SB 90 then passed to the next committee of reference, the Senate Rules Committee. The day before the Rules Committee hearing, Senator Baxley filed a

delete-all amendment to SB 90 that differed from the previous version in several important respects. ECF No. 461-90 (Senate Amendment for SB 90). These changes included:

- Requiring 3PVROs to notify applicants that their voter registration applications might not be delivered on time and that they could either register online or choose to submit their own applications to the Supervisors. ECF No. 461-90 at 9:223-232 (Senate Amendment for SB 90).
- Requiring 3PVROs to deliver each voter registration application to the county in which the applicant resides. *Id.* at 9:215-223.
- Permitting drop boxes but imposing substantial restrictions on their availability. In particular, drop boxes could only be used during early voting hours and had to be monitored in person by employees of the Supervisors. *Id.* at 26:726-730.
- Revising the definition of "solicitation" to prohibit "giving or attempting to give any item to a voter." **Id. 27:759-28:771. Thilanguage is different than the Challenged Provision of SB 90 Section 29, which prohibits "any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter."
- The April 14 version of the Senate bill still did not require that a voter requesting an absentee ballot provide an identification number to be matched against an identification number in the SOEs records. *Id.* at 20:559-562 & 565-568.
- 274. The Senate Rules Committee held a hearing on this version of SB 90 on April 14, 2021. ECF No. 461-37.
- 275. While the entire April 14 hearing ran for 3 hours and 15 minutes, opportunity for public comment during the April 14 hearing was very limited, as most of the hearing consisted of debate over proposed amendments to the bill. Approximately 20 members of the public signed up to comment by filling out

appearance cards, and an additional 70 individuals wanted to speak, but only one hour was allotted to hear public comments. ECF No. 461-37 at 119:23-120:11. Rather than extend the hearing, the committee chair informed members of the public that the committee would "cut the testimony off at one minute." ECF No. 461-37 at 120:12-17.

- 276. In the end, only 18 members of the public were permitted to provide comments at the April 14 hearing, and eight of them were cut short. ECF No. 608-5 at 52 (Burch Rpt.).
- 277. Because of the time restrictions imposed by the committee, numerous individuals waived their opportunity to speak at the April 14 hearing. Instead, their positions were merely summarized as "against." ECF No. 461-37 at 130:4-17.
- 278. The Senate Rules Committee reported the bill favorably at a 15-minute hearing on April 20, 2021. ECF No. 461-94 at 11:10-11. At this stage, the bill had grown to 27 provisions. Of the Challenged Provisions, only the VBM Application Provision had been considered by the Senate Ethics and Elections Committee, the Senate's subject matter experts on elections. Most of the Challenged Provisions (the Line Relief Provision, the Registration Disclaimer Provision, and the Registration Delivery Provision) were only considered at the highly truncated Rules Committee hearing. ECF No. 461-96 at 20. Moreover, the versions of the VBM Request

Identification and the Line Relief Provisions considered in Senate Committees were materially different from those in the final bill.

279. The bill then proceeded to the Senate floor for debate; those debates are summarized at greater length below.

3. Introduction of HB 7041 in the House and Consideration by House Committees

- 280. The House bill was also considered by three separate committees. As in the Senate, however, the substantial revisions to the bill over time meant that the subject matter experts—the members of the House Public Integrity and Elections Committee—did not consider or provide input on critical provisions of the bill. *See* Tr. 1446:15-21 (Thompson) (explaining that this committee "deals with the administration of elections in the state of Florida").
- 281. The House first considered SB 90's counterpart on March 22, 2021. That day, Representative Blaise Ingoglia (R) presented proposed Committee Bill (PCB) 21-05 to the Public Integrity and Elections Committee. ECF No. 461-68 at 27-70. The proposed bill had 26 sections, including some, but not all, of the Challenged Provisions. Among the provisions the bill included were:
 - The requirement that 3PVROs provide a disclaimer to voter registration applicants ECF No. 461-68 at 34:214-223;
 - The requirement that certain VBM requests made by telephone include an additional identification number. ECF No. 461-68 at 49:578-581. In addition to being limited to phone requests, the bill did not require that a

- voter requesting an absentee ballot provide an identification number to be matched against an identification number in the Supervisors' records;
- The provision that VBM requests would be valid only through the end of the calendar year of the next general election, with a grandfather provision that requests received after the 2020 Election would be valid through year end 2024, *i.e.*, no retroactive termination of requests. ECF No. 461-68 at 48:560-567;
- An expanded definition of "solicitation" that prohibited "giving or attempting to give any item" to a voter and "interacting or attempting to interact with any voter," ECF No. 461-68 at 64:959-960; and
- Some restrictions on drop box availability, including (1) a provision stating that drop boxes at early voting sites and other discretionary drop boxes could only be open during early voting hours and (2) a requirement to monitor all drop boxes, including by video surveillance (at the supervisor's offices) or by persons other than supervisor office employees, such as law enforcement officers. ECF No. 461-68 at 62:905-920. During the March 22 hearing, witness testimony was limited to two minutes per speaker, and nine total witnesses testified. ECF No. 461-67 at 65:7-8. Representatives from Plaintiffs League of Women Voters and Florida Rising Together testified against the bill, *id.* at at 65:10-66:6, 72:4-73:9. At the conclusion of the March 22 hearing, the Public Integrity and Elections Committee favorably reported the bill. *See id.* at 106:17-20. The following day, Representative Ingoglia filed HB 7041, which mirrored PCB 21-05 with the exception of certain technical amendments.
- 282. On April 7, 2021, Representative Ingoglia filed a strike-all amendment to HB 7041 prior to the House Appropriations Committee hearing. ECF No. 461-74. The Appropriations Committee held a hearing on the bill the following day. ECF No. 461-36.
- 283. This amendment made numerous changes to the bill. Among other things, the strike-all:

- Required the additional identification number that voters provide in a VBM request to be "verified in the supervisor's records." ECF No. 461-74 at 24:567-71. Like the prior version of the bill, this requirement was limited to mail ballot requests made by telephone. *See id.* This provision was added despite legislative staff's contemporaneous acknowledgment that "a voter could not be expected to know which number they provided at registration." ECF No. 608-65 at 2.
- Required 3PVROs to submit each voter registration application to the applicant's county of residence. ECF No. 461-74 at 8:187-88. This provision was added despite the absence of any evidence that 3PVROs' submission of unsorted forms created any actual problem for Supervisors. See supra ¶273.
- Proposed new language for the amended Line Relief Provision. Rather than directly prohibiting giving items to voters, the new definition (which was eventually enacted) would prohibit "engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter." ECF No. 461-74 at 38:939-940.
- 284. Despite the significant changes introduced by the strike-all amendment, opportunity for public comment was very limited at the April 8 Appropriations Committee hearing. Speakers were asked to "be as brief as possible." ECF No. 461-36 at 27:24-28:2. Several speakers were limited to thirty seconds. *Id.* at 30:23, 43:14. Members of the public expressed surprise and frustration at the limits on their testimony. *Id.* at 43:13-17, 47:11-19.
- 285. At the end of the hearing, the Appropriations Committee favorably reported a committee substitute based on Representative Ingoglia's strike-all. ECF No. 461-36 at 58:25-59:5.

- Affairs Committee, which held a 97-minute hearing on April 19, 2021. ECF No. 461-38; ECF No. 461-92. The bulk of the hearing was spent considering amendments, many from Representative Ingoglia. ECF No. 461-92 at 25-77. Although many people asked to testify at the April 19 hearing, the committee refused to permit any public testimony. Rather, the committee chair, Representative Ralph Massullo (R), read aloud a summary stating whether individuals who were present supported or opposed the legislation. ECF No. 461-92 at 77:5-78:4. Representatives from Plaintiffs League of Women Voters, NAACP, and Florida Rising Together were all present and were not allowed to testify. *Id*.
- 287. The time for legislative debate was similarly truncated; each member was given only thirty seconds to speak. ECF No. 461-92 at 78:7-8. The entire debate lasted only a few minutes. *Let.* at 78-82.
- 288. Despite the limited opportunity for debate, the State Affairs Committee favorably reported Representative Ingoglia's strike-all at the conclusion of the April 19 hearing. ECF No. 461-92 at 85:117-183. The bill then passed to the House floor.

4. Floor Debates and Additional Revisions to the Bill

289. The debates in the Senate and House began on April 22 and April 27, respectively. The 2021 legislative session was scheduled to adjourn on April 30. *See* Trial Tr. 1453:12-17 (Thompson). Given this timing, "there was little or no

opportunity for discussion or to try to find common ground or to improve the product before there was a vote." *Id.* .

- 290. The Senate debated SB 90 on April 22 and April 26, 2021. On April 26, the Senate passed a version of the bill that included some, but not all, of the Challenged Provisions. ECF No. 462-8.
- 291. In the House, Representative Ingoglia filed a strike-all amendment, Amendment 107453, at 1:33 a.m. on April 27, 2021—the day the House was scheduled to begin debating the bill. ECF No. 462-28. The timing of the strike-all—after the bill was out of the Committee and on the floor—was "very unusual." Trial Tr. 1453:18-24 (Thompson); see infra ¶433.
- 292. The strike-all amendment contained more than 1,300 lines of changes and was substantially different from both the prior House version of the bill and the materially different version of SB 90 that had just passed the Senate. ECF No. 462-28.
- 293. Specifically, the strike-all amendment made last-minute changes to the drop box and VBM provisions. For example, it required even those drop boxes at Supervisors' offices (as opposed to early voting sites) to be continuously monitored *in person* at all times while the drop boxes were accessible. ECF No. 462-28 at 37:900-904. In addition, the strike-all extended the requirement to provide an additional identification number on VBM requests to *all* such requests, regardless of

whether they were made in person, by phone, or online. ECF No. 462-28 at 26:632-636.

- 294. Although the strike-all did not change the definition of solicitation, compare ECF No. 461-74 at 38:939-940 with ECF No. 462-28 at 41:992-993, when questioned by Representative Davis (D), Representative Ingoglia stated incorrectly: "[W]e took that portion out, about giving items to voters in lines. We changed it to making sure there is no campaigning going on in the line." ECF No. 462-9 at 20:21-21:6.
- 295. The use of this strike-all amendment the night before the House floor debate was highly unusual. As Representative Thompson explained, "[n]ormally a strike-all would be offered during committee so that you have the best product and the product is complete and almost final by the time it reaches the floor." Tr. 1451:13-24 (Thompson). Indeed, Dr. Burch analyzed all bills considered that session and found that only 7 of 227 were introduced such a short time before the floor session where they were considered. ECF No. 608-5 at 7 (Burch Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 1453:8-11 (Thompson) (testifying that she could not recall a single other instance in the last session where a strike-all amendment was introduced on the floor).
- 296. Because the strike-all amendment was introduced on the floor, there was no opportunity for public testimony on its provisions.

- 297. Several legislators voiced concerns over the late-night strike-all amendment. In particular, they expressed concern that the timing impaired their ability to review and provide input on the legislation. ECF No. 462-9 at 15:7-9, 29:5-7 (statements of Representative Davis (D) and Driskell (D)).
- 298. Debate over the strike-all amendment was also limited during the April 27, 2021 hearing. Again, legislators expressed concern about permitting only truncated debate on significant elections legislation. ECF No. 462-9 at 59:22-60:6 (statement of Representative Hardy (D)).
- 299. On April 28, 2021, the House passed the strike-all. ECF No. 462-29 at 115:16-21.
- 300. On April 29, 2021, Senator Hutson (R) filed a 33-provision delete-all amendment shortly before the Senate floor debate. ECF No. 462-45; ECF No. 462-40 at 5:5-16.
- 301. The delete-all amendment differed from the prior Senate version of the bill in significant respects. For example, it once again amended the definition of "solicitation." Rather than prohibiting giving items to voters, the bill broadly prohibited "engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter." ECF No. 462-45 at 38:1073-74
- 302. In addition, the delete-all amendment was the first time the Senate version required the additional identification number provided in a VBM request to

be "verified in the supervisors's records." ECF No. 462-45 at 27:756. *See* also ECF No. 462-40 at 24:14-16.

- 303. Because Senator Hutson's delete-all amendment was introduced on the floor, there was no opportunity for public comment following its introduction.
- 304. In a 79-minute session, the Senate passed SB 90 at the conclusion of the April 29 floor debate. ECF No. 462-40 at 51:4-5.
- 305. The bill then returned to the House, where the bill's text was amended to reflect the changes in the Senate. The House floor debate on the final bill took place late in the evening on April 29, and lasted barely more than an hour. ECF No. 462-31. Representative Geller (D) expressed concern that the representatives were debating the bill "after 8:00 at night with this massive change." *Id.* at 13:23-14:1. He called the bill a "last minute attempt to try and get something through at all costs whether it's good or bad." *Id.* at 39:20-22. He voiced concern that "people barely know what's coming back" from the Senate, and stated, "This process at 9:00 at night on day 59 is not how we should be revising our election laws." ECF No. 462-31 at 38:10-15.
- 306. At the same April 29 debate, Representative Davis (D) described feeling "rushed" and limited in her ability to prepare for the floor debate. She noted that "there are a lot of things that have changed in this bill" and stated she had "less than an hour or two to prepare adequately." *Id.* at 15:24; 30:21-24. Similarly,

Representative DuBose (D) felt that he was being "censored" due to the lack of time to discuss the bill and remarked that it was a "really unfortunate" way "to handle something that's so important." ECF No. 462-31 at 40:1-4. Representatives also expressed confusion as to what was included in the final bill. ECF No. 462-31 at 39:15-20.

307. Despite these concerns, the House passed SB 90 at the conclusion of the April 29 debate. ECF No. 462-31 at 46:5-6.

B. Sponsors' Inability to Justify Major Election Law Changes or the Specific Challenged Provisions

- 308. SB 90 was introduced against the backdrop of the 2020 election—an election that the bill's own proponents described as the smoothest election Florida had ever experienced.
- 309. Plaintiffs have identified dozens of instances where legislators praised the administration of the 2020 election in Florida. *See* Appendix H. Secretary Lee similarly testified to the legislature in February 2021 that the election "ran as smoothly as possible and inspired confidence on the part of Florida's voters." ECF No. 461-54 at 2:16-18. *See also* ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 41).
- 310. During the legislature's consideration of SB 90, none of the bill's proponents justified the bill by reference to any reported problems or concerns about the integrity of Florida's elections or by a lack of confidence in that election among Florida voters.

- 311. Florida legislators were uniformly unable to identify any instances of widespread voter fraud or any other election integrity purpose justifying the Challenged Provisions. *See* Appendix I.
- 312. For example, Senator Baxley stated that he was not aware of "widespread complaints" concerning VBM. *See ECF* No. 461-54 at 7:11-21, 11:23-12:12. Secretary Lee similarly told the legislature that there are already "safeguards in place to ensure that vote-by-mail ballots are going to voters who are on the voter registration rolls," and that she was not aware of "any instance of fraud where people received the mailed ballot and voted even though it wasn't intended for them." ECF No. 461-54 at 16:6-8, 17:2-7.
- 313. Indeed, when asked about the purpose of several Challenged Provisions, SB 90's sponsors denied that they were meant to address fraud or voter harassment:
 - **Drop boxes:** When asked "is there fraud with drop boxes," Senator Baxley said "I don't know that I would have the evidence chain to present to you for that case." ECF No. 461-34 at 8:23-9:3 & 16:24-17:16.
 - **VBM ballots:** When asked whether he believed "there was vote-by-mail fraud in the last election," Senator Baxley responded: "That's not the purpose of our bill. It's not in the bill." ECF No. 461-98 at 64:5-10.
 - **Solicitation:** When asked whether there were reports of "solicitation near drop boxes," Senator Baxley said "I'm not aware of that." ECF No. 461-98 at 87:23-88:6.

- 314. Multiple legislators confirmed at trial that no evidence of voter fraud was presented to the legislature. Tr. 1456:9–23 (Thompson) (explaining that the SOEs "had reported no problem with the security of the voting process" and that there was "no evidence of voter fraud" at the time the legislature considered SB 90); see also Tr. 1517:8–13 (Farmer) (explaining that there were not "any problems with how the 2020 election ran"); Tr. 1907:2–4 (Eskamani) ("Florida's 2020 election cycle was very well managed across the state.").
- 315. The legislature also provided no justification for imposing new burdens on third-party voter registration organizations. Director Matthews did not recall the Division of Elections providing any information to the legislature about 3PVROs during the consideration of SB 90. Tr. 2795:13-2796:4 (Matthews).
- 316. During debates and at trial, legislators repeatedly described the bill as a solution in search of a problem. Tr. 1457:10–16 (Thompson) (explaining that SB 90 "address[ed] a problem that did not exist").
- 317. The legislators testified that any attempt to justify SB 90 as an election integrity measure made no sense. Tr. 1456:9–23 (Thompson); *see also* Tr. 1517:14–1518:2 (Farmer).
- 318. Rather than point to any election integrity issues, SB 90's sponsors identified confusing and contradictory justifications for the Challenged Provisions.

1. Purported Justification for the 3PVRO Restrictions

- 319. Representative Ingoglia stated that the purpose of the restrictions on third-party voter registration organizations was to "clean[] up statutes that have been ruled unconstitutional." ECF No. 461-67 at 4:22–5:4. When challenged to explain the provision, Senator Baxley similarly represented that the changes "ha[ve] to do with codifying a federal court order into our statute." ECF No. 461-78 at 89:5–89:23.
- 320. Representative Ingoglia and Senator Baxley were presumably referring to this Court's 2012 decision in *League of Women Voters of Florida v. Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d 1155 (N.D. Fla. 2012), which enjoined the provision of HB 1355 requiring 3PVROs to submit voter registration forms within 48 hours, *id.* at 1160–63, 1168. There is nothing in *Browning*, however, requiring 3PVROs to make the compelled disclosure or send applications to the applicant's county of residence.

2. Purported Justifications for the VBM Application Provision

321. During the legislative process, two justifications were offered for the VBM Application Provision. Tr. 1008:19–1010:25 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 38–40 (Burch Rpt.). First, Senator Baxley claimed the provision was needed to keep voter files accurate when voters move. ECF No. 461-37 at 17:17–18:3. Second, Senator Baxley, in response to a question as to why there was a need for "any limitation" on VBM request renewal, stated that the change was to enable voters to

"be able to choose each year how they want to vote" between in-person and vote-by-mail. *Id.* at 110:15–111:15.

- 322. However, neither of these justifications was substantiated. When SB 90 was passed, the legislative record contained no evidence that SOEs had difficulty maintaining the accuracy of voter files; indeed, Secretary Lee herself indicated that SOEs already had safeguards in place to ensure that VBM ballots go only to voters who are on the voter registration rolls. Tr. 1011:2–1013:2 (Burch). In addition, the legislature shot down multiple proposed amendments which would have updated voters' addresses automatically once it was changed on their driver's license and thus would have helped to address this concern. *Id.*; ECF No. 461-98 at 12:18-13:4, 14:15; ECF No. 608-5 at 38–39 (Burch Rpt.).
- 323. The second justification regarding allowing voters the choice between in-person and vote-by-mail was also illusory. This choice was *already the law* prior to SB 90. Tr. 1013:5–1014:4 (Burch). Indeed, the fact that voters already had the choice as to how they voted each year was brought up during the legislative process by Secretary Lee and legislators such as Senator Farmer. *Id.*; ECF No. 461-37 at 110:15-111:15; ECF No. 608-5 at 39–40 (Burch Rpt.).

3. Purported Justifications for the Drop Box Provision

324. Regarding the Drop Box Provision, there were three justifications offered: (1) that the provision would address drop box security deficiencies and

prevent tampering, (2) that Supervisors of Elections were not administering drop boxes properly, and (3) that the provision was necessary to ensure the chain of custody of each ballot. Tr. 1015:10–1016:23 (Burch); ECF No. 461-98 at 66:21–67:1, 73:23–74:20; ECF No. 462-9 at 43:2-14; ECF No. 461-37 at 108:19–109:1; ECF No. 608-5 at at 40–44 (Burch Rpt.).

- 325. The claims about drop box security and tampering were unsubstantiated: no evidence of any incident of tampering or other security issues was cited anywhere in the legislative record. Tr. 1016:25–1021:5, 1082:15–1083:18; ECF No. 608-5 at at 41–42 (Burch Rpt.). When pressed, Senator Baxley was unable to give any specifics and simply said "I assure you, that this is a regular phenomenon that happens." ECF No. 461-98 at 73:23–74:2. At other points, Senator Baxley stated that he has "never made the case that there's [drop] box tampering." ECF No. 461-37 at 108:22–23. Regardless of how these seemingly contradictory statements are interpreted, the fact remains that no evidence is cited anywhere in the legislative record that supports the notion that drop boxes lacked proper security.
- 326. This justification is also contradicted by the fact that VBM ballots can be dropped off in USPS boxes, which Florida law does not subject to any sort of surveillance (either in-person or via video). This raises the question as to why extremely restrictive security measures should apply to one particular method of

returning VBM ballots while another method is not subject to any such safeguards. This contradiction was raised in the legislative record by Supervisor Hays and others. ECF No. 461-34 at at 24:7-11.

- 327. Likewise, no evidence or support was offered for the justification regarding SOEs improperly administering drop boxes. Tr. 1016:25–1021:9 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 41–42 (Burch Rpt.). This lack of evidence was noted by Supervisor Hays, who stated that nobody had brought forward any concrete evidence of SOEs violating drop box rules regarding monitoring. ECF No. 461-34 at 23:22-24:5; ECF No. 608-5 at 41–42 (Burch Rpt.).
- 328. The so-called chain-of-custody distification was similarly lacking in factual foundation. Tr. 1023:12–1025:10 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at . at 42-44 (Burch Rpt.). First, as Rep. Hinson (D) noted in the legislative record, the ballots already contain a tracking ID number and "if they make it into the box you will know." ECF No. 461-38 at 17:7–13; ECF No. 608-5 at 42 (Burch Rpt.). Second, this justification is further called into question when considering that no such measures to ensure chain of custody are taken with USPS boxes. Tr. 1024:1–1025:10 (Burch). Representative Bartelman (D) noted this contradiction in the legislative record, stating that it was a "loophole" in the argument that anybody could take another voter's ballot and drop it off in any USPS box without producing any ID. *Id.*; ECF No. 461-34 at 24:7-11.

4. Purported Justifications for the Line Relief Provision

- 329. When explaining the purpose of Line Relief Provision, Representative Ingoglia stated that his concern was with candidates "giving and soliciting voters in the line," since voters are "more apt to think about voting for [those candidates]." ECF No. 461-67 at 101:23–102:7. Representative Ingoglia later stated that the changes to the solicitation definition "boil[ed] down to" a prohibition on "campaigning on line." ECF No. 461-92 at 24:6–14; ECF No. 462-9 at 54:24–55:2 ("My only worry is people trying to influence voters while they are standing in line waiting to vote.").
- 330. Senator Baxley also emphasized the purpose of the line warming provision was to prevent electioneering—*i.e.*, "[t]o protect voters from unwanted solicitation or intimidation as they approach the polls." ECF No. 461-98 at 4:12–23. He further stated that the provision would "ensure, unlike other states, that a glass of water given in sincerity is not a violation of the law." ECF No. 461-94 at 9:12–14.
- 331. The supposed issue addressed by this provision was already addressed under the previous law; "the existing Florida statute before the change already banned the solicitation of voters within 150 feet of the polling place and giving them campaign materials and the like." Tr. 1026:1–20 (Burch); ECF No. 458-6 at 44 (Burch Rpt.). Notably, this contradiction was raised in the legislative record with

legislators, including Senator Farmer, noting that this was already the law. ECF No. 461-37 at 43:13–43:16.

5. Purported Justifications for the VBM Request Identification Provision

332. Senator Baxley initially denied that the provision would preclude registered voters who do not have a driver's license, Florida identification card, or social security number. When Senator Brandes (R) challenged that assertion noting that there were 28,000 voters in Pinellas County who would be affected, Senator Baxley responded (falsely) that these voters would be "exempt." ECF No. 461-78 at 74:21–75:9. Senator Baxley also claimed that individuals could use "whatever identifying numbers" they had and the intent of the provision was to "broaden the number of things you could use" to request a mail ballot. *Id.* at 23:13-23. None of those assertions are correct.

6. Purported Justifications for the Registration Delivery Restriction

333. The sole Challenged Provision that was actually requested by any SOE was the VBM Registration Delivery Restriction. Mr. David Ramba, a lobbyist for the FSE, testified at trial that the FSE asked the legislature to require 3PVROs to submit voter registration forms to the county where the applicant resides. Tr. 3119:8–19 (Ramba).

- 334. However, Mr. Ramba did not claim to have presented evidence to the legislature about any problems created by the pre-SB 90 practice of delivering forms to the nearest SOE office. He simply said the SOEs did not feel "it was [their] responsibility to be their assistant and separate out their files for them." *Id.* at 3120:6–18 (Ramba).
- 335. Accordingly, the legislative record is devoid of any evidence that justified any of the Challenged Provisions.

7. Failure to Address Actual Candidate Fraud in the 2020 Election

- 336. While the legislative record of SB 90 was rife with rhetoric about alleged voter fraud, SB 90 failed to address the only well-known example of election fraud in the 2020 election: third-party sham candidates. As Representative Thompson explained, the 2020 election in Florida brought to light a problem of "stealth candidates who can as individuals with no party affiliation and siphoned votes away from Democrats," enabling Republicans to win Senate seats. Tr. 1456:19–23 (Thompson).
- 337. Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith (D) proposed an amendment on April 19 seeking to prevent sham candidates from running in future elections. ECF No. 461-92 at 68:23–69:16. Representative Smith's amendment would have made it a third-degree felony to "knowingly and willfully solicit and influence a third-party sham candidate to run in a race that has no intention of winning that race." *Id.*

at 69:4–16. He explained that it was "really, really important to crack down on the actual election fraud that of course resulted in the indictment of former GOP State Senator Frank Artiles and has also implicated Congressman Matt Gaetz." *Id.* 69:13–16.

- 338. Representative Robin Bartleman spoke in favor of the Smith amendment, emphasizing that it was "the one amendment that is addressing the only true documented case of voter fraud, where an arrest has been made, where there is a federal indictment, where there are other investigations." *Id.* at 72:17–20, 73:3–5. The amendment, however, was voted down. *Id.* at 77:4–5.
- 339. Representative Ingoglia urged members of the committee to vote down the bill because it was "drafted poorly." *Id.* at 71:3–14. Yet Representative Smith's offer to narrow or revise the language of the amendment was not accepted, and there was no attempt to address the undelrying issue of sham candidates. Tr. 1873:16–1874:22 (Smith).
- 340. Senator Bobby Powell (D) similarly introduced an amendment that "would make it a crime to bribe, threaten, or influence someone into running a campaign." ECF No. 462-40 at 15:8–10. The aim was to "eliminate or put a halt to sham candidates who do not use their best efforts and skill to win an election." *Id.* at 15:10–12. This amendment also failed. *Id.* at 16:13–15.

341. The legislature's failure to meaningfully address a prominent instance of fraud in the 2020 election strongly supports an inference that any interest in preventing fraud was pretextual.

C. Legislators' Awareness That SB 90 Would Burden Voters

342. The legislative record is replete with evidence indicating legislators knew that SB 90 would burden voters and result in the suppression of voter turnout. *See* Appendix K (summarizing statements from legislators and stakeholders about the burdens imposed by SB 90).

1. Statements of Other Legislators and Stakeholders

- 343. Numerous Florida legislators were vocal regarding their concerns about SB 90's burdens on voters during debate. For instance, Senator Perry Thurston (D) expressed his concern that SB 90 will deprive individuals of their opportunity to vote." ECF No. 462-8 at 10:12–13. Other opponents of SB 90 shared specific concerns about how the bill's provisions would impede Floridians in casting their ballots. *See* ECF No. 461-34 at 43:4-12 (Drop Box Provision); ECF No. 461-35 at 52:22–53:11 (VBM Request Identification Provision); ECF No. 462-29 at 42:17–23 (Line Relief Provision); ECF No. 461-98 at 15:4-17:9 (Registration Disclaimer Provision).
- 344. Several stakeholders also raised their concerns to the Senate Government and Accountability Committee during the March 10 hearing. Trish

Neely from the League of Women Voters told the committee that "[t]aking away safe and secure drop boxes makes absolutely no sense unless you're looking for ways to suppress the vote." ECF No. 461-34 at 31:5-21. She further stated that "changing the vote-by-mail process, especially following a major election, makes no sense unless you're looking for ways to confuse voters into not voting, or to make it harder, so they don't vote." *Id.* at 31:15–18. Likewise, Jonathan Webber from Florida Conservation Voters warned that the drop box restrictions "will only lead to less people voting." *Id.* at 32:12–14, 33:14–16. And Brad Ashwell from All Voting is Local similarly criticized the bill as likely to "confuse voters" and "create less options for them after record turnout in November." *Id.* at 34:10–11, 34:19-23.

2. Information from the Secretary of State's Office

- 345. The legislature also received information from the Division of Elections making it clear that SB 90 would impose significant burdens on voters.
- 346. First, the legislature was made aware that the VBM Request Identification would prevent thousands of voters from casting VBM ballots. In February 2021, the Division of Elections calculated that 681,481 Florida voters had no valid identification number on file, and over 2.85 million voters only had one form of identification on file and were at risk of a mismatch. ECF No. 608-68; Tr. 2791:2–7 (Matthews).

- 347. The Secretary of State's office provided this data to the legislature after the legislature identified the issue and requested the information. Tr. 2794:14–2795:12 (Matthews).
- 348. Correspondence between the legislature and the Secretary of State's office demonstrates that the legislature understood the burden the identification requirement would impose on these voters. On April 6, a legislative staffer, Don Rubottom, wrote to a Division of Elections employee, Pierce Schuessler, about potential problems created by the VBM identification provision. ECF No. 608-65 at 2. He wrote: "Our bill attempts to add two factor identity verification for VBM requests and registration changes. Problem is that Supervisors cannot verify DL# or SSN if not previously provided." *Id.*: see also ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA Nos. 160-61).
- 349. Rubottom twice acknowledged that "a voter could not be expected to know which number they provided at registration." ECF No. 608-65 at 3; *see id.* at 2 ("But if I send in writing with DL but they have ssn on file, they can't verify."). And he asked whether the Department of State would be able to verify a voter's identity when SOEs could not. *Id.* at 3.
- 350. Despite Rubottom's concerns, the final bill required the additional identification number in a VBM request to be "verified in the supervisor's records." Fla. Stat. § 101.62(b).

351. In addition to the information about voters without identification in the supervisors' records, the Division of Elections made available to the legislature an "election recap report" that included data on all Florida voters in the 2020 election. Tr. 2826:4–10 (Matthews). The data provided in the report included information about the number of voters who voted by mail, early in person, and on election day. Tr. 2826:11–13 (Matthews). Although the data was available to the legislature during its consideration of SB 90, Tr. 2827:9–14 (Matthews), there is no evidence that SB 90's proponents made any effort to assess how many voters would be affected by SB 90.

3. Information from Supervisors of Elections

- 352. Supervisor Earley testified during legislative hearings, relaying concerns from Leon County voters regarding the ability to request VBM ballots, including the VBM Request Identification provision. Tr. 2615:3–5, 2615:21–2616: 11 (Earley).
- 353. On April 13, Supervisor Julie Marcus emailed every member of the Senate Rules Committee to inform them that 28,000 voters in Pinellas County did not have an identification number on file because they were "not legally required to have this information to register to vote." ECF No. 608-68 at 2. Senator Jeff Brandes (R) referenced Supervisor Marcus's letter at the Rules Committee hearing. ECF No. 461-37 at 85:8-12. Senator Brandes went on to share his concern that the

VBM Request Identification requirement did not create an exception for "those who don't have a Social Security number or driver's license." *Id.* at 85:12–18.

354. SB 90's proponents offered conclusory responses when confronted with evidence that the provisions of the bill would disenfranchise voters.

D. Legislators' Awareness That SB 90 Would Have a Discriminatory Impact

355. The legislature was repeatedly made aware that SB 90's provisions would have a discriminatory impact on Black and Latino voters. The bill's proponents did not dispute these assertions or offer any evidence showing that the bills would *not* have a racially disparate impact. Instead, SB 90's proponents offered statements dismissive of these concerns and passed SB 90 anyway.

1. Statements of Other Legislators

- 356. Senator Farmer, the Minority Leader during SB 90's consideration, testified that he had "many discussions" with the Republican Senate President and Chair of the Rules Committee regarding SB 90's discriminatory impact. Tr. 1531:12-20 (Farmer). Although none of the Republicans he spoke to "ever dispute[d] that the bill would have a negative impact on minority voters," *id.* at 1550:23-1551:2, they took no steps to address his concerns. *Id.* at 1534:7-12.
- 357. Many legislators made statements during debate affirming the discriminatory impact that SB 90 would have. Indeed, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith testified that "concerns about the potential discriminatory impact

of" SB 90's restrictions was a "theme throughout the process." Tr. 1877:15-1879:1 (Guillermo Smith). A chart compiling the citations to the legislative record where the bill's discriminatory impact was discussed is attached as Appendix J.

358. For example, during the April 26 Senate floor debate, Senator Farmer cited statistical evidence demonstrating the likely discriminatory impact of the bill:

There are provisions in this bill that would place an inordinate burden on minority low income and young voters who are less likely to possess certain types of identification. According to a 2012 National Election Studies, 13 percent of black respondents, 10 percent of Latino respondents but only 5 percent of white respondents lacked photo identification.

ECF No. 462-8 at 32:14-19.

359. Other concerned legislators brought data about SB 90's disparate impact to their colleagues' attention during debates. During the April 22 Senate floor debate, for example, Senator Lori Berman referenced a study by the Stanford-MIT Healthy Elections Project. That study examined Florida's voting data from the 2020 general election and found the racial group that had the greatest increase in voting by mail from the last presidential election was Black voters. ECF No. 461-98 at 100:6-13. Senator Berman asked the sponsor, Senator Baxley, whether he was aware that SB 90's provisions would "have a disparate impact on Black voters." *Id.* In response, Senator Baxley sidestepped the question about disciminatory *impact* and merely denied that anything in the bill would "disenfranchise[] anyone," while failing to address the statistics that Senator Berman had cited. *Id.* at 100:15-22.

- 360. Representative Thompson, an African-American woman, made the following statement about the drop box restrictions on the House floor: "[B]ecause it was people like me who used drop boxes in the last election more than they ever had and who made their voices heard, we are here today considering a bill that would restrict use of drop boxes." ECF No. 462-29 at 83:1-4. Representative Thompson conveyed to her colleagues that "African-Americans had used drop boxes in the 2020 elections in higher numbers" and that restrictions on drop boxes would "curtail that kind of involvement." Tr. 1461:5-12 (Thompson).
- 361. Similarly, Representative Anna Eskamani (D) testified that she made her "concerns about the bill's disparate impact on voters of color" known to the legislature. Tr. 1910:4-9(Eskamani). Representative Eskamani specifically spoke in the legislature about "Florida's dark history when it comes to Jim Crow." *Id.* at 1910:13-15. She further testified that she was "not alone" in "calling attention to the discriminatory impact of the bill on minority voters and disabled voters." *Id.* at 1914:22-25. Representative Eskamani never heard the proponents of SB 90 dispute the disparate impact that the bill would have on voters of color. *Id.* at 1916:14-1917:3.

2. Information from Stakeholders

362. The legislature also received statistics and other evidence of SB 90's anticipated discriminatory impact from stakeholders. For example, Senator Farmer

testified that, while the bill was being debated, he "was presented with evidence and statistics and studies that showed that people of color and minorities were going to be impacted by [SB 90] more than white voters." Tr. 15228:9-14 (Farmer).

- 363. Senator Farmer specifically recalled receiving a letter from the Florida NAACP and NAACP Legal Defense Fund (LDF) providing evidence about the disparate impact that certain provisions of SB 90 would have. *Id.* at 1529:8-16; *see also* ECF No. 608-100.
- 364. The letter outlined why these organizations were "deeply concerned that the enactment of S.B. 90 will impose unnecessary barriers and burdens that will disproportionately impact the rights of Black voters and other voters of color, voters with disabilities, the elderly, and low-income voters." ECF No. 608-100 at 1.
 - 365. With respect to the VBM restrictions, the NAACP letter explained:
- 366. S.B. 90's assault on voting by mail is especially concerning because it comes immediately after an election in which Florida's Black voters cast VBM ballots at unprecedented levels. In the 2020 general election, 522,038 Black voters cast VBM ballots, more than double the number of VBM ballots cast by Black voters in previous years. Moreover, the proportion of VBM ballots that were cast by Black voters has increased by over 28% since the 2016 election. There has been no evidence of fraud in VBM balloting that provides any justification for these

provisions of S.B. 90. Passage of S.B. 90's novel restrictions at this moment appears, instead, to be a reaction to increased Black participation in voting by mail.

Id. at 2.

367. The letter also described "S.B. 90's significant restrictions on drop boxes" as "deeply concerning":

For many voters—especially voters with personal or professional commitments that limit their availability during normal voting hours, elderly voters, and voters with disabilities or other medical conditions—casting an in-person ballot during advance voting or on Election Day may be an untenable option, and broadly available drop boxes are an essential alternative Black voters are less likely to be able to take time off work and are therefore more likely to return their VBM ballot to a drop box in the evening, early morning, or weekend—options that would no longer be as widely available under S.B. 90.

Id. at 6.

- 368. The letter also explained that the ban on line warming activities would "disproportionately burden Black voters and other voters of color" because "Black and Latino voters in Florida tend to encounter longer lines when voting in person and therefore are more likely to need water and food to make the longer waits tolerable." *Id*.
- 369. The NAACP letter was sent to "all the members of the Florida Senate." Tr. at 1530:24-1531:8 (Farmer); ECF No. 608-100.
- 370. In addition, the Division of Elections made available to the legislature an "election recap report" that included data on all Florida voters in the 2020

election. The data provided in the report included demographic information such as race, ethnicity, and party, as well as information about the number of voters who voted by mail, early in person, and on election day. Tr. 2826:4-16 (Matthews). Although the data was available to the legislature during its consideration of SB 90, Tr. 2827:9-14 (Matthews), there is no evidence that SB 90's proponents made any effort to assess whether the provisions would have a discriminatory impact on voters.

3. Bill Sponsors' Response to Discriminatory Impact

371. Senator Farmer testified that, in his discussions with the Senate President, he proposed "many" specific ideas "about ways that the discriminatory impact of the bill could be reduced." Tr. 1542:10-17 (Farmer). For example, he recalled asking "to take out the provisions that made it more burdensome, particularly on minority voters, with regard to the driver's license number and the last four of your social security number." Id. at 1542:19-24. Senator Farmer also "offered numerous alternatives" to the "onerous provisions of the bill requiring 24hour in-person supervision [of] drop boxes" because he "didn't think any supervision was necessary" when "nobody's monitoring mailboxes when vote-bymail ballots are dropped in." Id. at 1543:18-24. Senator Farmer confirmed that he had reduced those requests to the Senate President in writing and "gave a copy to the president's office and to the president so that he would have it for ease of reference." Id. at 1544:1-12.

- 372. However, as Senator Farmer testified, "none of the concepts [he] offered were adopted." Tr. 1544:23-24 (Farmer). In particular, none of the amendments Senator Farmer offered "that would have reduced or mitigated the discriminatory impact of the challenged provisions of SB 90" was enacted. *Id.* at 1545:18-22.
- 373. Moreover, Senator Farmer testified that none of the Republicans he spoke to "ever dispute[d] that the bill would have a negative impact on minority voters." Tr. 1550:23-1551:2 (Farmer). For instance, in the Senate Rules Committee, Senator Bobby Powell asked Senator Dennis Baxley: "An analysis of the recent election indicated that Black voter turnout . . . doubled . . . during the last election ... Do you think that by putting these measures in place, it would be helpful to reduce that Black voter turnout?" ECF No. 461-37 at 93:21-94:12. Rather than addressing this concern about discriminatory impact, Senator Baxley merely responded, "I don't buy the whole Jim Crow story." *Id*.
- 374. Rather than dispute the warnings given about disparate effects on minority voters, SB 90's proponents often responded to these warnings with statements like Senator Baxley's quoted above that were indicative of racial resentment. For example, in response to concerns about the disparate impact of the bill, Senator Hutson (who was referred to as part of the "team" behind SB 90) replied by stating that "[t]he only excuse you have is that you're lazy if you do not vote."

ECF No. 462-8 at 29:6-20; Tr. 1045:11-1046:1 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 58 (Burch Rpt.). Other proponents, including Senator Baxley himself, made similar statements consistent with racial resentment in the response to these warnings. ECF No. 608-5 at 55-59 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 1041:24-1046:21 (Burch); ECF No. 461-98 at 100:15-22; ECF No. 462-8 at 26:23-27:8.

375. Representative Eskamani also emphasized that she never heard the proponents of SB 90 dispute—with evidence or argument—the potential disparate impact that the bill would have on voters of color. Tr. 1936:14-1917:3 (Eskamani).

E. Procedural and Substantive Departures from the Ordinary Legislative Process

1. Limited Role of the Supervisors of Elections

- 376. As explained, the SOEs were not consulted prior to SB 90's introduction. Legislators repeatedly expressed surprise that the SOEs had not been consulted before SB 90's introduction. *See generally* Appendix L ("Discussion of Supervisors of Elections Opposition").
- 377. The FSE is an association of all 67 SOEs. At the time SB 90 was under consideration, Supervisor Latimer served as President of the FSE, Supervisor Earley served as the Vice President, and Supervisor Hays served as the chair of the legislative committee. David Ramba was the lobbyist for the FSE.
- 378. The FSE did not believe there was a need for SB 90. Tr. 3504:11-13 (Earley). On the contrary, the FSE issued multiple statements during the legislative

process opposing the bill. ECF No. 608-36 (April 23, 2021 statement: "Florida Supervisors of Elections (FSE) does not support SB90 or HB7041 in their current form"); ECF No. 634-19; ECF No. 608-48 (April 30, 2021 statement: "[T]his legislation still makes requesting Vote By Mail ballots and returning those ballots harder.").

- 379. Supervisor Hays, a former Florida senator, confirmed that the FSE's official position on SB 90 near the end of the legislative process was that the FSE did not support SB 90 in its present form. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 43:12-19. This statement also "[a]bsolutely" represented Supervisor Hays' own views at the time. *Id.* at 47:13-18.
- 380. The FSE never issued a statement in support of SB 90. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 111:4-6; Tr. 2670:20-2671:1 (Earley) ("I think we said repeatedly it was not [a necessary bill]").
- 381. Individual SOEs similarly opposed the bill at every stage of the process. Shortly after its introduction, Supervisor Earley sent an email stating: "Yes, it was very partisan and very little of the true reasoning behind the bill was actually stated. All SOEs are strongly against this bill. Even ex-Sen Hayes [sic] is extremely against it." ECF No. 608-35 at 1).
- 382. Supervisor Scott was also "very vocal" about his opposition to SB 90 throughout the legislative process. Tr. 1215:5-7 (Scott). After the bill was

introduced, he spoke with several legislators, including members of the Broward County legislative delegation, to express his concerns. Tr. 1212:11-24; *see also* ECF No. 608-99) (March 16, 2021 email summarizing meeting with Broward County legislative delegation and stating he was "asking the Florida Senate to vote no on SB-90").

383. Supervisor Corley sent an email on April 14, 2021 to members of the Pasco County legislative delegation to express his disappointment in the bill:

Ordinarily, I would reach out to you all to relay my in depth analysis/ thoughts on the above referenced legislation. However, I will keep it brief. There are no words to fully express my disappointment in the provisions contained in both the House and Senate bills. ECF No. 608-30 at 1. He continued to oppose the bill until its final passage. During the debate on the Senate floor, Senator Burgess (R) sent a text message to Supervisor Corley indicating he wanted to relay Supervisor Corley's support for SB 90 on the floor. Supervisor Corley responded "hell no" to the request. Tr. 1279:3-17; see also ECF No. 608-31 at 1-2. On April 30, 2021, after SB 90 had passed, Supervisor Corley wrote in an email to other SOEs: "I have so much I want to say about the motives, intent and content of this election bill but to be honest, beyond disillusioned so I'll keep my pie hole shut!"

ECF No. 608-32 at 1.

- 384. While SB 90 was being considered in the Senate, several legislators raised concerns over SOE opposition to the bill.
- 385. For example, Senator Loranne Ausley (D) noted that the lack of consideration of SOE opposition was unusual, given the fact that "[i]n past elections we all typically listened to these experts and worked hard to fix what was broken—

except for this year. This year something is different because, instead of listening to those voices, those experts we're doing exactly the opposite of what they're suggesting." ECF No. 462-8 at 12:3-11.

- 386. Senator Annette Taddeo (D) also expressed dismay at SOE opposition to the bill, particularly in light of the success of the 2020 election and the \$25,000 fine SOEs would face if drop boxes were left unattended for any amount of time. ECF No. 462-40 at 46:1-22.
- 387. And in an April 20, 2021 Senate hearing, Senator Brandes explained that the lack of SOE support was the reason he did not support the bill:

I need to put on the record that, to my knowledge, not one Republican supervisor of elections in the State of Florida supports this bill in its current form. I need to put on the record that even our good friend, Senator Hays, who had left here to become a supervisor of election, one of the most staunch conservatives that had run through this chamber, has strongly opposed this piece of legislation and believes that it will not work and will frankly hurt the voting process.

ECF No. 461-94 at 7:16-8:2.

- 388. Likewise, when the bill was being considered in the House of Representatives, legislators expressed concerns that SOEs' views were not given adequate weight.
- 389. During House floor debate on April 28, 2021, Representative Dan Daley (D) noted the overwhelming opposition from SOEs throughout the state: "I also defer to folks like the supervisors of elections across the state because they're

the experts. The overwhelming majority of them are opposed to the changes in this bill." ECF No. 462-29 at 32:12-15.

- 390. Similarly, at the April 28, 2021 House session, Representative Dotie Joseph (D) noted: "We know that the supervisors of election throughout the state are opposed to this version of the bill." ECF No. 462-29 at 67:19-20.
- 391. The legislative record also indicates that the bill's sponsors, Senator Baxley and Representative Ingoglia, were aware of the nearly uniform opposition of the SOEs.
- 392. For instance, during a March 10, 2021 hearing, Senator Victor Torres (D) informed Senator Baxley that "the response that I received was 66 out of the 67 don't like your bill. That's what I got. The cost factor to the SOEs is going to be monumental to follow the guidelines of this bill." ECF No. 461-34 at 14:5-15:1.
- 393. Representative Ingoglia erroneously stated during an April 19, 2021 hearing that "I also want to highlight that the SOEs have said that they supported the bill. I don't think your SOEs would be on record saying that they would support a bill that dealt with voter suppression." ECF No. 461-92 at 83:8-11.
- 394. However, later, at the April 27, 2021 House floor debate following the introduction of his late-night strike-all amendment, Representative Ingoglia acknowledged that SOE concerns were not accommodated. ECF No. 462-9 at 31:14-32:2.

395. Later, at an April 28, 2021 hearing, Representative Fentrice Driskell also clarified the lack of SOE support for the bill after receiving an unclear response from the bill's sponsors about SOEsupport:

I didn't get a clear answer, but I got a general impression that maybe [the SOEs] don't oppose the bill. Well, members, to eliminate any confusion, let me read you a statement from a local supervisor of elections that was made on behalf of all 67 of them: Florida Supervisors of Elections does not support SB90 or HB7041 in their current form, but continue to share information with the Legislature.

ECF No. 462-29 at 78:3-10.

396. Legislators recalled the SOEs' opposition to the bill at trial. Representative Geraldine Thompson testified that she personally communicated with Supervisor Cowles (Orange County), Supervisor Earley (Leon County), and Supervisor Hays (Lake County) about SB 90. Tr. 1447:18-25 (Thompson). These SOEs told her that "they were opposed to the proposed legislation" and that "they were particularly concerned about restrictions on the use of drop boxes which had been used very, very effectively prior to [SB 90]." *Id.* at 1449:6-13. Representative Thompson recalls Supervisor Hays calling the proposed legislation "a travesty." *Id.* at 1449:14-17. This is consistent with Supervisor Hays' own testimony stating that he reached out to legislators to express "what a travesty certain parts" of SB 90 were. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 43:24-44:7; *see also* Tr. 1897:1-16 (Eskamani)

(testifying that the SOEs "overwhelmingly said that the changes within this [new] law were unnecessary").

- 397. Senator Farmer testified that he found the "unanimous" opposition among SOEs "extremely significant." Tr. 1520:25-1521:21 (Farmer). He could not recall another time when all 67 SOEs from Florida's diverse counties unanimously agreed on a bill. *Id.* at 1521:6-11.
- 398. Senator Farmer also identified the SOEs as "particular stakeholders that would be important to hear from in . . . the legislature's consideration of a voting-related bill." Tr. 1515:14-24 (Farmer). Senator Farmer testified: "I think all of us want to hear from the Supervisors of Elections because they are the ones that actually conduct the elections and deal with this stuff on a day-to-day basis. They are really the subject matter experts for us." *Id.* at 1515:20-24.
- 399. At trial, Supervisors confirmed that they remained opposed to multiple provisions of SB 90, including many of the Challenged Provisions. Supervisor Earley testified that "significant parts of the bill . . . are troublesome, especially with regards to our voters and their confidence in being able to use vote-by-mail." Tr. 2617:11-14 (Earley). Supervisor Scott similarly testified that he did not support the final bill despite the improvements that had been made. He explained:
 - [E]ven though there were some improvements made, but there's still so many problems with it in the way that it makes it harder for us to use drop boxes, the fact that it makes it harder for third-party groups, for grassroots groups, to go out and do voter

registration drives, those problems made it so that that was not a bill that I could support, even after ... the changes that were made.

Tr. 1213:21-1214:5 (Scott).

- 400. The Supervisors were not given an adequate opportunity to voice their concerns about SB 90. Senator Farmer testified that some senators "asked specifically for the Supervisors of Elections to be allowed to appear in person" to provide comment on SB 90, but that request was denied. Tr. 1519:22-1520:15 (Farmer). The denial of this request was striking because "during the . . . spring 2021 legislative term . . . public officials [were] allowed in other committee hearings on other legislation." *Id.* at 1520:16-24.
- 401. The SOEs did not believe their views on SB 90 were taken into consideration. Supervisor Corley had little faith that any input would be properly considered. He wrote: "It's apparent that the bill (with or without amendments) is certain to pass and no matter what input I were to provide, it would be moot." ECF No. 608-30 at 1. Supervisor Latimer stated that he "[doesn't] know that [the Supervisors' concerns] were listened to." ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 28:23-24.
- 402. During the legislative proceedings, SOEs expressed dismay that their views had not received adequate consideration. For instance, during a March 10, 2021 Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee hearing,

Supervisor Hays expressly "ask[ed] each member of the legislature to seek the opinions and take the advice of the elections professionals of the State of Florida before making significant changes in tinkering with our statutes." ECF No. 461-34 at 19:17-22.

403. Supervisor Hays went on to note before the Senate Governmental Oversight and Accountability Committee that

Perhaps it might clarify if I just stated that nothing in this bill is on our list of suggestions, with the exception of that one section giving us the authorization to begin canvassing the vote-by-mail ballots after the logic and accuracy testing is completed. That's the only thing that we are in favor of in this bill.

Id. at 23:6-13.

- 404. Supervisors also expressed their opposition to specific provisions of the bill throughout the legislative process.
- 405. For example, Supervisor Hays noted that "Page 11, Line 309" and the following lines, proposing restrictions on drop boxes, were "a travesty":

All of us are aware of the perils, perceived or actual, of trusting the United States Postal Service to deliver ballots on time. Last year in the general election, 4.9 million Floridians returned their vote-by-mail ballot for tabulation. Out of those 4.9 million, one and a half million were placed in drop boxes. If you allow Section 5 of this PCS to stand as it is currently worded, you will have outlawed the use of those drop boxes, and you have just played havoc in the lives of one and a half million Floridians, not to mention the burden that you've added to the Supervisors of Elections. Is that really your intention?

ECF No. 461-34 at 20:14-21:2; *see also id.* at 21:3-21 (describing Supervisor Hays' opposition to the bill's proposal to require voters to request a new mail ballot each year).

- 406. Supervisor Earley also made clear his opposition to the bill's provisions restricting the use of drop boxes during the March 10, 2021 Senate hearing: "The key points that I'm very concerned about are the prohibition of the use of drop boxes. Supervised drop boxes are the gold standard of the chain of custody for receiving voter ballots. I mean, that's plain and simple." ECF No. 461-34 at 28:14-25; *see also id.* at 29:14-30:8 (describing Supervisor Earley's opposition to the bill's proposal to require voters to request a new mail ballot each year).
- 407. Several Supervisors later testified about their opposition to SB 90 at trial.
- 408. Supervisor Scott was very vocal about [his] opposition to Senate Bill 90 throughout the legislative process. Tr. 1212:15-24; 1215:5-7 (Scott); *see also* ECF No. 608-99.
- 409. Supervisor Corley shared his opinion that he "wasn't a fan of some of the contents" of SB 90 during a phone call with Representative Ingoglia after SB 90 was introduced. Tr. 1275:2-1276:1 (Corley). Even after Supervisor Corley shared his concerns on the call, Representative Ingoglia continued to promote the merits of the legislation; the conversation did not change Supervisor Corley's view of the bill.

Id. at 1278:21-1279:2. Supervisor Corley also communicated with Senator Burgess over text message while SB 90 was on the floor of the Senate. *Id.* at 1279:10-12. Senator Burgess wished to relay Supervisor Corley's support for SB 90, but Supervisor Corley responded "hell no" to the request. *Id.* at 1279:13-17. Supervisor Corley also communicated with Senators Simpson (R), Brandes, and again with Representative Ingoglia; he did not express support for SB 90 in any of these communications. *Id.* at 1280:2-8.

- 410. Supervisor Earley testified that the reasoning provided for the bill during committee discussions "didn't really make much sense" and that "the true reasoning -- if that was the reasoning . . . was, frankly, nonsense." Tr. 2614:4-10 (Earley). He offered testimony during legislative hearings on problems with portions of the bill based on concerns from Leon County voters regarding the ability to request vote-by-mail ballots, including the identification provision, which influenced his testimony and position on SB 90. *Id.* at 2615:22-2616:-11.
- 411. Supervisor Corley sent an email on April 14, 2021 to members of the Pasco County legislative delegation to express his disappointment in the bill:

Ordinarily, I would reach out to you all to relay my in depth analysis/thoughts on the above referenced legislation. However, I will keep it brief. There are no words to fully express my disappointment in the provisions contained in both the House and Senate bills.

ECF No. 608-30).

- 412. Although Mr. Ramba estimated that 75 to 80 percent of SB 90's provisions were altered based on the SOEs' recommendations, Tr. 3100:21-3101:4 (Ramba), the legislature notably did not make changes to any of the Challenged Provisions other than the drop box restrictions and the delivery requirement in response to SOE concerns.
- 413. Accordingly, SOEs did not support the bill even when it was enacted. Despite making their concerns and objections known, the SOEs did not believe their views were properly taken into consideration. Supervisor Corley had little faith that any input would be properly considered: "It's apparent that the bill (with or without amendments) is certain to pass and no matter what input I were to provide, it would be moot." ECF No. 608-30; see also ECF No. 608-29 ("My dream is that once just once, those in Tallahassee crafting legislation relating to elections would confer with those who actually administer elections in lieu of solely conferring with political parties"). Just a few days before SB 90 was enacted, Supervisor Corley believed it was "a horrible piece of legislation." ECF No. 608-31. Then again on April 30, 2021 after SB 90 had passed, Supervisor Corley wrote in an email to other SOEs: "I have so much I want to say about the motives, intent and content of this election bill but to be honest, beyond disillusioned so I'll keep my pie hole shut!" ECF No. 608-32.

- 414. Supervisor Latimer stated that despite expressing his and other Supervisors' input to the Legislature, he "[doesn't] know that [they] were listened to." ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 28:23-24. Similarly, Supervisor Earley stated that even though certain earlier portions of the bill were stricken, "there are still...certainly some significant parts of the bill that are troublesome, especially with regards to our voters and their confidence in being able to use vote-by-mail." Tr. 2617:9-14 (Earley); *see also id.* at 2621:5-8 (testifying the final statute is "not as troubling, but there are still problems, without a doubt."). Supervisor Scott testified that despite the improvements made to the bill, he did not support the final bill. Tr. 1213:21-1214:5 (Scott).
- 415. The legislative record makes clear that not one of the sixty-seven Supervisors of Elections supported the final version of SB 90 when it was passed. See generally Appendix L (Discussion of Supervisors of Elections Opposition"). The legislators also testified to the Supervisors' opposition to the final bill. See generally id.
- 416. The limited role of the Supervisors was a substantial departure from the ordinary process for passing election legislation. *See supra* ¶¶ 380-92.

2. Limitations on Witness Testimony

417. Public comment in the committees was extremely limited, and in some instances, was completely foreclosed. ECF No. 608-5 at 7 (Burch Rpt.). The

legislative record has several examples of how witness testimony was limited. *See generally* Appendix M ("Truncated Debate & Limited Public Comments"); *see also* Tr. 1521:25-1522:19 (Farmer); ECF No. 608-5 at 52-54 (Burch Rpt.); ECF No. 461-36 at 47:12-19; ECF No. 461-37 at 120:7-17, 130:5-6; ECF No. 461-38 at 91:25-92:4, 93:10-13, 93:17-94:2; Tr. 1037:17-1039:8 (Burch); Tr. 1813:19-1814:19 (Kousser); Tr. 1889:20-1890:13 (Smith); 1904:20-1905:5 (Eskamani); Tr. 2615:3-23 (Earley).

- 418. For instance, in an April 14, 2021 Senate Rules Committee hearing to consider Senator Baxley's delete-all amendment, which changed the bill in several respects, opportunity for public comment was very limited.
- 419. At the April 14, 2021 hearing, members of the public were only allotted one minute each to speak. ECF No. 461-37 at 120:12-14. In fact, members of the public were told specifically that "we're going to cut the testimony off at one minute." ECF No. 461-37 at 120:17.
- 420. Approximately twenty members of the public signed up to comment by filling out appearance cards, and an additional seventy individuals wanted to speak, but only one hour was allotted to hear public comments. ECF No. 461-37 at 119:23-120:11.
- 421. Out of the nearly ninety members of the public who sought to provide comment, only eighteen members of the public were given the opportunity to do so

at the April 14, 2021 hearing, and eight of them were cut short. ECF No. 608-5 at 52 (Burch Rpt.).

- 422. A number of individuals, after witnessing the constraints placed on public comments, waived their opportunity to speak at the April 14, 20201 hearing. ECF No. 608-5 at 53 (Burch Rpt.). Instead, their positions were merely summarized as "against." ECF No. 461-37 at 130:4-17.
- 423. And during the April 19, 2021 House State Affairs Committee hearing on HB 7041, the companion bill to SB 90, no public comment was permitted. ECF No. 608-5 at 52 (Burch Rpt.).
- 424. House State Affairs Committee Chair Ralph Massullo apologized to the members of the public who had traveled to offer their comments, stating "Now, we're going to go to public testimony on the bill as amended, and for the sake of time, and I apologize to the individuals that have made the trip here, but we're just going to read into the record your position on the bill." ECF No. 461-92 at 77:5-8.
- 425. Representative Dotie Joseph voiced her opposition to the lack of witness testimony:

I just wanted to state for the record my objection. People come to these public meetings for an opportunity to be heard. There was a prior bill that was not as important as this one but the bill sponsor took up a lot of time with that we didn't need to. I think a lot of us have articulated our positions on this particular bill but I object to this process, I object to how some of these things have been limited so that we don't fully get a chance vet the bills.

Id. at 78:9-16.

- 426. And at an April 8, 2021 House Appropriations Committee hearing to consider a strike-all amendment filed the day prior by Representative Blaise Ingoglia, the opportunity for public comment was very limited.
- 427. For example, those participating in the public comment period were asked to "be as brief as possible." ECF No. 461-36 at 27:24-28:2.
- 428. Several speakers were limited to thirty seconds. ECF No. 461-36 at 30:23, 43:14; see also id. at 47:12-19; Tr. 1038:13-20 (Burch); Tr. 1814:25 (Kousser).
- 429. In response to being asked to keep his public testimony to thirty seconds, one speaker responded "Thirty seconds? Holy cow. Okay." ECF No. 461-36 at 43:13-17.
- 430. One member of the public was asked to keep his testimony to ten seconds, to which he responded "You know, I'll take this final ten seconds to urge the Committee to put time limits on public speakers in the beginning of the meeting. Because some of these people spoke for three or four minutes, and we've been sitting here and we've traveled over five hours, and we deserve the same amount of time." ECF No. 461-36 at 47:12-18.

- 431. In total, the Chair of the House Appropriations Committee interrupted eight people who came to offer public comments in the interest of time. ECF No. 608-5 at 53 (Burch Rpt.).
- 432. There was no opportunity for public comment after significant changes were made to the bill.
- 433. For example, Representative Ingoglia proposed a strike-all amendment, Amendment 107453, which was submitted on April 27, 2021 at 1:33am. ECF No. 462-28. The strike-all amendment contained more than 1,300 lines of changes, including last-minute changes to the drop box and VBM provisions. ECF No. 608-5 at 50 (Burch Rpt.). Because committee nearings were over, there was no opportunity for public comment following Representative Ingoglia's strike-all amendment.
- 434. And on April 29, 2021, Senator Hutson filed a delete-all amendment shortly before the Senate floor debate. The amendment lengthened the bill to thirty-three provisions. ECF No. 462-45; ECF No. 462-40 at 5:5-16.
- 435. The amendment differed from the prior version of the bill in significant respects. For example, it once again amended the definition of "solicitation." Rather than prohibiting giving items to voters, the bill broadly prohibited "engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter." ECF No. 462-45. In addition, the amendment for the first time required the additional

identification number provided in a VBM request to be "verified by the supervisors." ECF No. 462-40 at 24:14-16. There was no opportunity for public comment following Senator Hutson's delete-all amendment.

- 436. Legislators later testified about the lack of sufficient witness testimony.
- 437. For instance, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith commented on the unusual lack of public testimony in the State Affairs Committee hearing on April 19, 2021. Tr. 1890:4-13 (Guillermo Smith). He stated:

I don't recall any members of the public testifying because we really took up all of the time in consideration of the bill on the 11 amendments that came from the sponsor, Representative Ingoglia, plus the amendments from members of the committee, and there was not sufficient time. Although there were a number of speaker cards that were presented from the public that were read into the record whether they were in favor or in opposition, my recollection is that there was no — there was no allowance for time for public testimony on the bill in this committee. *Id*.

- 438. Several legislators testified as to their surprise and dismay that opportunity for public comment was extremely limited.
- 439. Senator Gary Farmer noted that "there was a high level of interest in [SB 90]" and that "a dozen different groups that had indicated their interest . . . wanted to testify . . . against the bill." Tr. 1521:22-1522:7 (Farmer). But "rather than extend time for the committee consideration of the bill" to accommodate the level of interest in testifying, "people were limited in their testimony to a minute." *Id.* 1522:8-16. "In some instances," Senator Farmer testified, "people only had about

30 seconds to testify on this bill." *Id.* at 1522:18-19. Senator Farmer further noted that Senators' ability to ask witness questions was "extremely limited" because "the chair was trying to move this thing along." *Id.* at 1523:4-12.

- 440. Critically, Senator Farmer believed that the "limited . . . time to testify impact[ed] the Senate's consideration of the bill . . . because it's impossible to stand up and talk about all the different aspects of SB 90 in a minute or two minutes." *Id*. at 1522:20-24.
- 441. Representative Anna Eskamani was also struck by the lack of public testimony on SB 90. Initially, she testified that, because voting is "a constitutional right . . . you really shouldn't pass policy without [public] feedback being integrated." Tr. 1897:4-8 (Eskamani). But Representative Eskamani also noted:

[I]n particular, when this bill was heard in the State Affairs Committee, there were, I think, upwards of 11 amendments considered on this bill, which also took away a lot of time for public testimony. And instead of temporarily postponing the bill to allow that public testimony to be heard, those who came to speak, who traveled to testify in front of this committee, were just read into the record as waiving for or against the bill. And, you know, that — that demonstrates an effort to really not only try to fast track this bill, but to not hear those concerns. You know, my understanding is some of the stakeholders who were there wanted to speak to Florida's history of Jim Crow laws and their concerns that this reflected that; this would impact the demographics that they identify with and so forth. And so it definitely seems like this process was just, you know, pushed forward in an aggressive fashion to silence that public feedback.

Id. at 1898:12-1899:3.

442. Supervisor Earley found several aspects of the legislative debate of SB 90 to be unusual:

[W]e've had a pretty good history of being consulted when — especially when a bill has this many changes coming through to an election statute that have many unexpected consequences potentially, so that was unusual that we weren't allowed to — we weren't brought into the conversation earlier. And also our ability to provide testimony during committee meetings was unusual — or a lack of ability, and really the reticence about even hearing what we had to say.

Tr. 2616:14-22 (Earley). In particular, he believed that he and other Supervisors who testified in legislative hearings for SB 90 were given limited opportunity to be heard:

But even given [measures taken in light of COVID concerns], we made every effort, myself and a few other Supervisors of Elections, Senator Hays in particular — Alan Hays, Lake County Supervisor of Elections — and our time was often extremely restricted. I would get interrupted frequently and get cut off and — maybe I'm wrong, but it certainly seemed sometimes I didn't even get my full three minutes to speak.

Tr. 2615:14-20 (Earley).

3. Truncated Legislative Debates

443. The legislative record reveals how time to debate SB 90 was unusually shortened. *See generally* Appendix M ("Truncated Debate & Limited Public Comments").

- 444. Overall, the Senate curtailed debate and passed SB 90 less than three months after it was introduced. Tr. 1523:6-18 (Farmer) (referring to the accelerated consideration of SB 90 as a "rocket docket").
- 445. And in the House, some hearings were expressly limited. For instance, at the beginning of the April 19, 2021 House State Affairs Committee hearing, Chair Ralph Massullo indicated: "Members, we're going to be limiting questions and debate. We have a lot of people who want to testify and we may be limiting those times as well." ECF No. 461-92 at 2:3-5; *see also* Tr. 1933:20-1034:9 (Burch); Tr. 1898:11-1899:3 (Eskamani).
- 446. Final debate on the bill in House State Affairs Committee hearing on April 19, 2021 was limited to thirty seconds per member. ECF No. 461-38 at 93:14-15; Tr. 1034:2-4 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 49 (Burch Rpt.).
- 447. Chair Massulle later apologized for imposing these time constraints, stating "I'm sorry we're moving so fast. The time crunch is 15 minutes left. Less than 15 minutes left." ECF No. 461-92 at 55:1-2.
- 448. Several legislators were dismayed by this limitation. For example, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith noted that "Because we're so rushed for time for such an important bill I mean we have ten minutes left at this committee we can't properly vet these amendments. I want to point out that I have a concern." ECF No. 461-92 at 51:22-52:1; see also ECF No. 462-31 at 15:24, 30:23-24, 38:10-

15; 39:15-20, 40:1-4; Tr. 1036:19-1037:15 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 49-51 (Burch Rpt.).

- 449. During the April 19, 2021 hearing, Representative Robin Bartleman opined "Why can't we just follow the normal process? Why is there a rush to make it happen right away? There is only one situation I could think of that would lead you to want to do that." ECF No. 461-92 at 64:1-4.
- 450. The House floor debate on April 27, 2021 was also unusually limited, despite the fact that Representative Ingoglia had filed a strike-all amendment at 1:33 AM that day. Specifically, only ninety minutes were allotted to discuss eighteen different amendments to the strike-all. In total, this restriction resulted in five minutes of discussion per amendment. ECF No. 462-9 at 59:7-14.
- 451. Representative Omari Hardy was surprised by the lack of opportunity for debate on amendments to the bill after the strike-all, and noted:

It's very interesting that we should be given just five minutes to open, question, debate, and close amendments on this bill which is about the heart of our democracy in this state, one of the most important states in the United States of America. I can't begin my discussion of this amendment without expressing how I feel about having this debate essentially canceled or truncated because we happened to have filed lots of amendments on this very objectionable piece of legislation.

ECF No. 462-9 at 59:22-60:6.

452. Throughout the legislative debate, legislators made several statements conveying that their responses were rushed.

- 453. For example, in an April 14, 2021 hearing, Senator Randolph Bracy (D) ended his remarks abruptly: "I'm going to end this, because I know we've got to move on, and we've got many speakers, but I would just say that I asked you that water question because it's gotten a lot of attention with Georgia and their law that they passed, and this, as I read this amendment, it sounds very similar to what Georgia has passed." ECF No. 461-37 at 81:3-9.
- 454. And during floor debate in the House on April 29, 2021, Representative Bobby DuBose stated "Man, I know we only have a few minutes left. It's really unfortunate with something that's so important how we are being handled. I feel like I'm being censored." ECF No. 462-31 at 40:14.
- 455. Legislators later testified that there had not been time to adequately debate SB 90.
- 456. For example, Representative Geraldine Thompson emphasized that the process used to pass SB 90 was rushed and "highly unusual." Tr. 1449:20-1450:6 (Thompson). Specifically, Representative Thompson testified:

[S]ince I serve on Public Integrity and Elections, it was presented to that committee and we discussed it; we debated it, and I did not see it again, which is unusual because there are generally a number of committees of reference where you have an opportunity to weigh in on legislation. And we did not see the bill again until a couple of days before the legislature was set to adjourn. And to do something this important in terms of setting out procedures for elections, that was highly unusual.

Id. at 1449:23-1450:6.

- 457. The rushed process was particularly surprising to Representative Thompson because there was "no reason that the legislature had to pass SB 90 . . . before the end of the legislative session." Tr. 1450:22-1451:2 (Thompson).
- 458. Representative Thompson further testified that the process used to pass SB 90 was even more rushed than the process used to pass HB 1—another controversial bill that was passed during the 2021 legislative session. Tr. 1454:1-14:55:1 (Thompson).
- 459. In his testimony, Senator Gary Farmer characterized the passage of SB 90 as a "rocket docket situation." Tr. 1523:13-18 (Farmer). He further testified that "the expedited procedure . . . did adversely impact our ability to gain knowledge and make an informed decision" *Id.* at 1525:19-22. Senator Farmer also found that the expedited procedure amplified the challenges of the pandemic to the extent that Senators "were already limited in [their] ability to get information about the bill because of the fact that the capitol was closed." *Id.* at 1525:9-18. Senator Farmer stated that the expedited consideration of the bill made it "challenging" to prepare and submit amendments. *Id.* at 1525:23-25.
- 460. Specifically, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith spoke to how "the way that the proceedings went in the House State Affairs Committee" was "abnormal in a number of ways." Tr. 1884:3-9 (Guillermo Smith). He stated:

We had started off the presentation of this bill in particular with the chair saying right out of the gate, before the bill presentation

was done, that this bill in particular he would be limiting questions from members on the committee; he would be limiting debate and would be limiting public comment as well. Then what was also abnormal in the committee was we had -11amendments were brought forward by the bill sponsor in one committee, which took an exceptional amount of time, and throughout this hearing on state affairs where the bill was heard, the chair of the committee either stopped questions from members and just said things like, [w]e're going to move on, and did not allow for additional questions on the bill, or there was even an instance — there was even an instance where a member of the committee was mid-question on the bill and her questions were interrupted by the chair. She was not able to finish asking her question, and the committee abruptly moved on and rushed through the proceedings without a proper vetting of the legislation.

Id. at 1884:10-1885:3.

461. Representative Anna Eskamani also testified about the lack of adequate time for debate. For instance, she recalled that "many" representatives who had questions about the strike-all amendment "were not given the time" to ask them. Tr. 1942:6-23 (Eskamani). Therefore, Representative Eskamani did not think "the overall time that was allotted to debate or discuss the strike-all [was] sufficient." *Id*.

4. Unusual Use of Strike-All Amendments

462. The legislative record makes clear that the use of strike-all amendments on the House and Senate floors was unusual. *See generally* Appendix M ("Truncated Debate & Limited Public Comments"). Several legislators commented on unusual use of strike-all amendments during the legislative process.

- 463. For instance, as described below, several legislators were vocal about their inability to prepare for floor debate following Representative Ingoglia's strikeall amendment introduced on April 27, 2021 at 1:33 AM, hours before the floor debate scheduled to take place later that morning and only one day after the Senate had passed SB 90.
- 464. The April 27, 2021 strike-all amendment contained more than 1,300 lines of changes and was substantially different from the version of SB 90 that had recently passed in the Senate, specifically with respect to drop box and VBM provisions. ECF No. 608-5 at 50 (Burch Rpt.).
- 465. Additionally, there were changes made to the solicitation provisions. For example, at an April 19 House hearing, Representative Chambliss (D) asked if the bill would address nonprofits handing out items or providing language assistance within the 150-foot no solicitation zone, to which Representative Ingoglia responded "We are not planning on addressing that in this bill." ECF No. 461-92 at 21:7-23:7.
- 466. Only one hour was allotted for questions on the strike-all during the April 27, 2021 floor debate, which precluded any meaningful debate. ECF No. 462-9 at 8:10-13.
- 467. There was no opportunity for public comment following the introduction of April 27 strike-all, nor did legislators feel they had adequate opportunity to adequately vet the provisions of the strike-all.

- 468. During the April 27, 2021 floor debate in the House, Representative Dotie Joseph remarked on the use of the late night strike all: "You know the Senate sent over a version. This is the version that we have in the strike all that was dropped at almost 2:00 this morning." ECF No. 462-9 at 111:22-24.
- 469. During the April 27, 2021 hearing, Representative Tracie Davis asked a clarifying question about the bill's drop box provisions, as she was unclear on the bill's provisions given the limited time to prepare for debate: "In Section 11 of this bill, that we only had four hours to probably process because we received it at 1:33am, why are you referring to the drop box site as a site? Why are we referring to the drop box as a site in Section 11, I think, of the strike all? Are you doing sections or are you doing page numbers now?" ECF No. 462-9 at 15:7-12.
- 470. During the April 28, 2021 floor debate in the House, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith expressed how the rushed process did not leave adequate time to prepare:

And I do want to talk about the process. This bill is a case study in democracy in the dark. Strike all amendments at 1:33 a.m. The sponsor repeatedly said yesterday, well, if you read the strike all, if you read the strike all. Who had time to read the strike all? It was filed at 2:00 in the morning. No one. All rushed. Yesterday [during the April 27, 2021 House floor debate] I couldn't even debate on the strike-all because there was no more time. No more questions.

ECF No. 462-29 at 17:23-18:6.

- 471. During the final floor debate over the bill in the House on April 30, 2021, Representative Tracie Davis explained that she was "disappointed because there are a lot of things that have changed in this bill. But the problem that I'm having is that we have less than an hour or two to prepare adequately." ECF No. 462-31 at 30:20-24.
- 472. Representative Davis also commented on the unusual use of last minute strike-all amendments in the context of election laws, underscoring that "You have allowed a caucus less than three hours to prepare for something that will change Florida's election law for over millions of voters." ECF No. 462-31 at 34:3-5.
- 473. She also commented on the unusual use of last-minute strike-all amendments for bills as lengthy as SB 90: "You gave us less than three hours to go through— how many pages is this? A 48-page document to see the good stuff that you say is in here." ECF No. 462-31 at 34:12-20.
- 474. Moreover, although strike-all amendments themselves are not generally unusual, the timing of this strike-all amendment, which made significant substantial changes to the bill, was highly unusual when compared with other strike-all amendments. Tr. 1034:12-1036:16 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 49-51 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 1899:4-9, 1902:8-1903:9 (Eskamani); Tr. 1451:15-24, 1453:8-24 (Thompson).
- 475. Dr. Burch confirmed that the use of a strike-all amendment in this instance was "unusual given its length of more than 1300 lines and the substantial

changes it made to the Senate version that was just passed." ECF No. 608-5 at 50 (Burch Rpt.).

- 476. In fact, Dr. Burch "examined the histories of the 227 bills that appeared at least once on the Senate calendar for April 21st and 22nd (after day 50) or the House calendar for April 26th or 27th (after day 55). Among those 227 bills, major strike-all amendments were submitted less than 24 hours before the bill was to be discussed in only 7 other instances." ECF No. 608-5 at 50 (Burch Rpt.).
- 477. In light of the unusual use of a strike-all amendment, legislators noted how difficult it was to keep track of the bill's changing provisions, including with respect to significant provisions such as drop box restrictions. For instance, Representative Joseph Geller (D) commented:

We could talk about individual provisions of this bill for a long time. But most of the people sitting here, members, if we had a quiz tonight on where we're at on drop boxes, on attestation, on where we're at tonight, on who can sign for when and how many drop boxes you can have and where, I got to tell you I suspect most of these people in this room - maybe me included - would flunk that quiz. Please vote down on this last minute attempt to try and get something through at all costs whether it's good or bad."

ECF No. 462-31 at 39:14-22.

478. At trial, the legislators confirmed that the use of strike-all amendments to pass SB 90 was out of the ordinary.

- 479. Representative Thompson testified that "rarely is there a strike-all offered once a bill is on the floor to be taken up for a vote." Tr. 1451:18-21 (Thompson). "Normally," Representative Thompson explained, "a strike-all would be offered during committee so that you have the best product and the product is complete and almost final by the time it reaches the floor." *Id.* at 1451:21-24. Indeed, Representative Thompson could not recall another time "ever" where "a strike-all amendment was introduced on the floor". *Id.* 1453:8-11.
- 480. Representative Thompson also found it "very unusual" that the April 27th strike-all amendment was introduced "around 1:30AM." Tr. 1453:18-24 (Thompson).
- 481. Not only was the strike-all amendment's timing unusual to Representative Thompson, but the also testified that she was "stunned" and "surprised" when Representative. Ingoglia waived close on the strike all amendment on April 27th. Tr. 1458:2-13 (Thompson). That is, she recalled what happened "very vividly because it was such an unusual behavior" to the extent that "[g]enerally the close gives you an opportunity to really hone in on your specific points and it is the last opportunity to be persuasive and to ask other members to vote favorably on the legislation." *Id.* at 1458:2-9.

482. Senator Farmer also testified that the use of the strike-all made it "challenging" to prepare and submit amendments. Tr. At 1525:23-25 (Farmer). He emphasized:

[O]ur bill drafting office is just amazing in what they do, you know, on a turnaround basis under normal circumstances. But in this instance, I mean, I remember the House big strike-all amendment came out and it was like 1:30 in the morning when that came out. You know, bill drafting wasn't here. We were all home. And some people are night owls, may have seen it late. I'm a night owl, but I didn't see it that night. You know, so then we come in in the morning and all of a sudden it's there and we have to try to prepare amendments.

Id. at 1526:1-9 (Farmer).

483. In his testimony, Representative Carlos Guillermo Smith agreed that the use of the strike-all during the passage of SB 90 was "different from other strike-all amendments." Tr. 1875:25-1876:17 (Guillermo Smith). The representative identified a "few ways" that the strike all was different: first, "[I]t was different in the fact that it was on the House floor as opposed to presented in committee because it was a substantial change." *Id.* at 1876:4-6. This was unusual to the extent that "a strike-all is when you completely replace the original bill with a new legislative product." *Id.* at 1876:6-8. "It was also out of the ordinary," according to Representative Smith, "because of the fact that it was such a consequential piece of legislation . . . [and] was about 54 pages long." *Id.* at 1876:9-12. "[F]inally, it was out of the ordinary due to the fact that it was filed around 1:30 in the morning the

day that the bill was being presented on the House floor which really did not give members of the House an opportunity to review the strike-all." *Id.* at 1876:13-17. Strike-all amendments "are usually filed sometime in the evening . . . the day before the bill is presented[,] . . . which is an adequate amount of time, certainly, to review the language. *Id.* at 1876:20-23. Indeed, Representative Smith could not "recall another time when [the strike-all] was used on the House floor with the same length of the strike-all that this one was, which was longer, even, than the original bill . . . or the fact that it was introduced in the middle of the night in this way." *Id.* at 1877:1-5.

484. Similarly, Representative Anna Eskamani testified that the strike-all amendment on the House floor was unusual:

[I]t is pretty rare to see a strike-all on the floor because that means the public really hasn't been given an opportunity to share feedback. In the case of lawmakers, we were not given ample time to even read and process this bill. And due to House rules, an amendment to a bill doesn't — well, it sets time restrictions on our ability to amend that amendment, so our ability to implement changes were limited. And during the strike-all presentation, only an hour was given to even ask questions, consider these potential amendments, and then vote on the new bill.

Tr. 1899:7-17 (Eskamani).

485. Representative Eskamani characterized the use of the strike-all amendment as "out of the norm." Tr. 1899:18-19 (Eskamani). She further stated that the strike-all amendment "deprive[d her] and [her] colleagues of adequate time

to consider and respond to the bill before it was passed." *Id.* at 1901:18-22. Indeed, Representative Eskamani described her response to the strike-all in the following way:

I actually do remember printing out the strike-all and, you know, feverishly reading over and trying to contact my Orange County Supervisor of Election official, trying to contact different stakeholders that are impacted with changes to elections. It was a very rushed moment. And again, you know, asking questions to the bill sponsor can be very limited, especially when it's a strike-all, because then if there's a time certain, that's very explicit when it comes to your ability to ask questions, amend the amendment, and so forth.

Id. at 1901:18-1902:7.

486. Further, Representative Eskamani restified that "[a] strike-all on the House floor is pretty rare because the point of something like a strike-all is you're dramatically changing something in the committee process." Tr. 1902:17-21 (Eskamani). Indeed, she had never seen a strike-all amendment on the floor with a bill as consequential as 8B 90. *Id.* at 1903:5-7. This is because, according to Representative Eskamani, "[w]hen you have a strike-all on the floor, you're kind of nullifying all the feedback that was heard in those committee stops because you're not giving a space for any more public feedback to actually be heard on the record." *Id.* at 1902:22-25. Therefore, Representative Eskamani understood the strike-all as "a tactic designed to kind of pass a bill because you can, not necessarily one that is putting into consideration those voices of concern." *Id.* at 1903:1-3.

- 487. Supervisors also did not have adequate time to review the changes being made to the bill. Tr. 2616:23-2617:5 (Earley) ("especially the most dramatic changes often happened late at night with less than a day to review it before they were being heard in their first committee, so that made it very tough"). As a result, Supervisor Earley believed that there are problems in the final bill. *Id.* at 2617:6-8 (Earley).
- 488. Dr. Burch testified that, in particular, with respect to the April 27, 2021 strike-all filed by Representative Ingoglia at 1:33 AM, the "short, truncated time frame in which people had the chance to consider and digest the changes before the debate is unusual." Tr. 1035:14-16 (Burch).
- 489. And given the legislator reaction to the use of the late-night strike-all, Dr. Burch "took it as another indication that this was at least a violation of expectations and norms because people talked about this timing specifically in the record." Tr. 1036:1-3 (Burch).

5. Rejection of Nondiscriminatory Alternatives

490. Throughout the legislative process, the Florida legislature rejected 57 amendments that would have ameliorated the discriminatory impact of the challenged provisions. ECF No. 6608-26 ¶¶ 37-39 & Table (Kousser Rebuttal Rpt.). This included ten amendments addressing the Section 7 voter registration provisions (Appendix G) ("Amendments that Would Have Made It Easier to Register to Vote"),

eight amendments addressing the Section 24 vote-by-mail provisions (Appendix G) ("Amendments that Would Have Made It Easier to Vote by Mail"), twelve amendments addressing the Section 28 drop box provisions (Appendix G) ("Amendments that Would Have Made It Easier to Use Drop Boxes"), and three amendments addressing the Section 29 line relief provisions (Appendix G) ("Amendments that Would Have Made it Easier to Offer In-Person Assistance to Voters in Line").

- 491. These proposed amendments were all opposed by SB 90's sponsors and all failed. In rejecting these provisions, the bill sponsors gave nonsensical or pretextual reasons for rejecting the amendments. For example:
 - In opposing Republican Senator Brandes' amendment to allow drop boxes to have video monitoring, Senator Baxley stated that he opposed it because the "chain of custody . . . may be impacted." ECF No. 461-98 at 51:19-23. In opposing Senator Powell's similar amendment, sponsors represented (falsely) that the Supervisors of Elections "think that they" could provide in-person staffing "before normal business hours and after normal business hours." ECF No. 462-40 at 17:17-18:2.
 - Senator Baxley similarly opposed Senator Farmer's amendment to allow nonpartisan organizations to provide assistance at the polls arguing that it was necessary to "protect this sacred act" of voting "as a private and individual thing." ECF No. 461-78 at 37:16-38:2. Representative Eskamani's similar amendment was voted down by the House without anyone saying anything against it. ECF No. 462-31 at 9:4-18.
 - Representative Ingoglia opposed Representative Hardy's amendment to allow a person to request a vote-by-mail ballot by providing their name, address, and date of birth saying in sum "I would ask you to vote it down. Also this takes away a lot of the voter integrity provisions that we have in the underlying bill." ECF No. 462-9 at 72:20-22.

VIII. IMPACT OF SB 90 ON FLORIDA VOTERS

492. The Challenged Provisions will have a substantial impact on voters as illustrated by the testimony at trial and when considered under the cost of voting framework.

A. Calculus of Voting Framework

- 493. The calculus of voting framework is "an analytical framework used by political scientists, and it describes the voter decision [to vote as] a comparison of costs and benefits." Tr. 2225:17-19 (Herron); *see also* ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 11 (Herron Rpt.). This framework is the dominant framework for understanding voting behavior. Tr. 2375:15-18 (Smith). When the costs of voting exceed the benefits, a voter may not vote. Tr. 2225:22-25 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 12 (Herron Rpt.); ECF No. 608-8 ¶ 21 (Smith Rpt.).
- 494. Benefits of voting include the instrumental benefit of possibly changing the outcome of an election, and the expressive benefit of participating in the democratic process, and the value that one places on the right to vote. Tr. 2227:5-25 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶¶ 13-14 (Herron Rpt.).
- 495. A "cost" of voting is any "burden associated with the actions that voters have to take . . . and [anything] that they have to expend . . . in order to vote." Tr. 2155:11-18 (Herron). This includes transportation, time, information, financial, and

health costs. Tr. at 2228:3-2229:8 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶¶ 15-19; Tr. 2378:2-2380:8 (Smith).

- 496. When the cost of a particular voting method is decreased, turnout increases, and voters will take advantage of this method in future elections. Tr. 2157:4-2158:3, 2227:1-4 (Herron); Tr. 2388:5-10 (Smith).
- 497. Conversely, increased costs mean lower turnout. Tr. 2226:17-22 (Herron); Tr. 2387:16-22 (Smith). Increased costs can also decrease the likelihood that voters turn-out in future elections. Tr. 2382:1-15 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 21 (Smith Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 2619:1-11 (Earley) ("Just vote-by-mail in general, if you impact that, then you increase demands on the other voters voting and potentially . . . dissuade people from voting if that's the method they want to use and it's difficult.").
- 498. According to the Schraufangel, Pomante II & Li "Cost of Voting in the American States"—a national cost of voting index—Florida ranked 40th out of 50 states in 2020, prior to the passage of SB 90. Tr. 2385:2-22 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 23 (Smith Rpt.). Only ten states have higher costs of voting than Florida even before SB 90. Tr. 2385:14-22 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 23 (Smith Rpt.). The restrictions put in place by SB 90 will move Florida further down the list of states with the greatest barrier to voting. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 23 (Smith Rpt.).

- 499. Voting costs are not borne equally across the electorate. *See* ECF No. 467-1 ¶21 (Herron Rpt.). For example:
 - Voters with fewer resources, who are required to take public transportation, and who have disabilities are more burdened by transportation costs. Tr. 2231:3-16 (Herron).
 - Voters who have rigid work schedules, who may not be able to easily take time off to vote are more burdened by time costs. Tr. 2231:17-24 (Herron).
 - Voters without internet access, vision impairments, and a lack of familiarity with interacting with government officials will be more burdened by time costs. Tr. 2232:4-18 (Herron).
 - People who are of lower socio-economic status, who don't have access to resources, who may not be as familiar with interacting with governmental officials, and who have lower levels of educational attainment may be disproportionately affected by administrative changes to requesting VBM ballots. Tr. 2205:12-21 (Herron).
- 500. Additionally, Black voters in Florida generally face higher costs of voting than white voters. Tr. 2391:17-2392:4 (Smith). As do Latino voters, and voters with disabilities. Tr. 2392:5-25 (Smith).

B. The Challenged Provisions Burden All Florida Voters

- 501. The Challenged Provisions burden all voters in Florida by raising the costs of voting. Tr. 2151:12-22,2204:8-15, (Herron).
- 502. In particular, the Drop Box Provision increases the cost of voting via drop box by limiting the availability, locations, and hours for voters to deposit their VBM ballots in drop boxes. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 26 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2486:1-10 (Smith).

- 503. The Line Relief Provision increases the cost of voting by adding barriers to those who must wait in line to vote. Tr. 2394:14-20 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 27 (Smith Rpt.). Florida has "the broadest scope of what may be prohibited within the . . . exclusion zone around polling locations" when compared to other states. Tr. 3610:5-10 (McDonald).
- 504. The VBM Ballot Request Provision increases the cost of voting by adding informational and time taxes to the process of requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 2230:15-25 (Herron); Tr. 2493:8-11 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 25 (Smith Rpt.).
- 505. The VBM Request Identification Provision increases the cost of voting by adding time, transportation, and information taxes to the process of requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 2503:4–2505:3 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 25 (Smith Rpt.).
- 506. The Registration Disclaimer Provision and the Registration Delivery Provision increase the cost of voting by adding time, transportation, and information taxes to the process of registering to vote. Tr. 2294:25 2296:15; 2299:21 2300:1 (Herron); ECF No. 608-6 \P 24 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 467-5 $\P\P$ 250 & 291 (Herron 2d. Am. Rpt.).
- 507. The costs of voting as they relate to the Challenged Provisions' specific burdens on the Plaintiffs and individual members of the Plaintiffs are discussed in Section X below, *see infra*. ¶¶620-740.

508. The Challenged Provisions will disproportionately burden voters of color because these voters are more likely to (1) register to vote through 3PVROs, (2) vote via drop box in high numbers; (3) rely on line relief support due to longer lines in their communities; (4) maintain standing VBM requests, and (5) be unable to provide an identification number in requesting a VBM ballot that exactly matches their information on file. Tr. 2159:20-25; 2163:6-24 (Herron); Tr. 2478:6-10, 2479:9-2482:24, 2494:7-2495:4, 2498:4-13; 2533:10-18; 2565: 3-12; 2574:23-3575:16 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 15-18, 20, 22, 24-25, 27-30 & 32 (Smith Rpt.).

509. The Challenged Provisions will disproportionately burden voters with disabilities. As reported in the American Community Survey, approximately 2.7 million voting age individuals in Florida have one or more disabilities, including voters with vision difficulty³ (799,988 individuals), cognitive difficulty⁴ (922,905 individuals), ambulatory difficulty⁵ (1,522,812 individuals), self-care difficulty⁶

 $^{^3}$ A vision difficulty is defined by the Census Bureau as "blind or having serious difficulty seeing, even when wearing glasses." ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.).

⁴ A cognitive difficulty is defined by the Census Bureau as "having difficulty remembering, concentrating, or making decisions." ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.).

⁵ Ambulatory difficulty is defined by the Census Bureau as "having serious difficulty walking or climbing stairs." ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.)

⁶ Self-care difficulty is defined by the Census Bureau as "having difficulty bathing or dressing." ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.).

(536,621 individuals), and independent living difficulty⁷ (1,037,535 individuals). ECF No. 456-10 ¶¶ 26, 28, Figure 5 (Cooper Rpt.). Approximately 20.5% of voting age Floridians with a disability live alone. *Id.* ¶ 29.

because (1) drop boxes provide accessible means of voting for voters with disabilities; (2) they rely on line relief support to accommodate medical needs while waiting in line; and (3) may have difficulty requesting VBM ballots. Tr. 465:17-466:2, 466:19-25; Tr. 454:104-455:19 (DePalma); Tr. 2743:16-2744:13 (Babis); see also Tr. 1100:13-1101:8 (Rogers) (legally blind voter); Tr. 1608:13-20 (Brigham) (incontinent voter); Tr. 2099:11-18 (Zukeran) (voter with anxiety, depression, and PTSD); Tr. 2083:19-2084:12 (Slaughter) (voter with anxiety and agoraphobia); Tr. 1591:22-1593:4 (Teti) (voter with mobility issues); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 32 (Smith Rpt.).

1. Vote-by-Mail Identification Provision

511. SB 90's VBM Request Identification Provision will increase the costs of voting for several categories of voters: (1) those who are registered to vote, but do not have a driver's license, state ID or the last four of a Social Security number

 $^{^7}$ An independent living difficulty is defined by the Census Bureau as "having difficulty doing errands alone such as visiting a doctor's office or shopping." ECF No. 467-10 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.).

on file; (2) those who have a form of ID on file other than the one that they currently possess; (3) those who have an incomplete or incorrect ID on file; (4) those who cannot remember which ID they provided when they registered to vote; and (5) those who are simply reluctant to provide their personal information every time they request a VBM ballot. Tr. 2503:4-2505:3 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 9, 16 & 57-61 (Smith Rpt.).

- 512. SB 90 makes it more difficult to request a VBM ballot than it is to register to vote or vote in person, since federal law does not require a driver's license, Social Security number or a state ID to be registered to vote, and the types of identifications accepted to vote in person are much broader. Tr. 2505:7-15; 2508:14-2509:5 (Smith).
- 513. In practice, SB 90's VBM Request Identification Provision may be even more onerous than is apparent from the bill itself. For example, the Palm Beach Supervisor VBM request form asks voters to provide their driver's license and the last four digits of their Social Security number, warning that although voters are only required to provide one, if they "only provide one of the above and it results in [the SOE's] inability to verify [the voter's] record, [the voter's] request will be deemed invalid and will not be filled." Tr. 2510:11-2513:8 (Smith); ECF No. 608-8 Fig. 2. According to Dr. Smith:

[T]he point . . . is that not only are not both forms of ID required and millions of people in Florida do not provide both forms of

ID when they properly register to vote — neither of those forms of ID are required to register to vote in Florida, and yet the Supervisor, because she wants to help voters to be able to have a vote-by-mail ballot sent to them, is asking people to provide both forms. So, it is highly problematic, in my mind, that you're asking an individual to provide both forms of ID when no forms of ID are required to register to vote.

Tr. 2512:24-2513:8 (Smith).

- 514. At the time SB 90 passed, a total of 681,481 Florida voters did not have a valid ID number on file with the Division of Elections. Tr. 2514:7-10 (Smith); see also ECF No. 608-68 at 1; ECF No. 608-67 at 1; ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 23) (The Secretary of State admits that as of May 2021, 622,998 registered voters in the Florida Voter Registration System did not have a driver's license, state identification number or social security number on file with the FVRS). 587,207 Florida voters had no identification on file with the state; 92,032 had an incomplete driver's license on file; 2,258 had a driver's license on file that started with a number instead of a letter; and 1,125 had a social security number on file that ended in four zeros, totaling 681,481 voters with no ID or an invalid ID on file. Tr. 2514:18-2515:9 (Smith). This number still stands at more than 480,000. Tr. 2785:12-16 (Matthews); Tr. 3408:2-6 (Matthews). Under SB 90, these voters with neither ID on file cannot request a VBM ballot at all, "no exceptions." ECF No. 608-64 at 17.
- 515. More than three million voters had a valid driver's license number or the last four digits of their social security number on file, but not both. Tr. 2516:10-

20 (Smith); see also ECF No. 608-67; ECF No. 608-68 (emails from the Division of Elections identifying more than 3.5 million voters who lack one or both forms of ID or who lack a valid form of ID, as of February 2021). TAs noted above, the Secretary of State has admitted that when applying for a VBM ballot, "a voter could not be expected to know whether they provided a driver's license number or social security number at the time of registration." ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 163). Legislative staff identified the same concern that "a voter could not be expected to know which number they provided at registration." ECF No. 608-65 at 2. The more than 3.5 million who only have one form of identification on file are "basically taking a random shot of being able to get the correct information" when they request a VBM ballot. Tr. 2515:23-2516:1; 2517:1-9 (Smith).

516. When analyzing the racial and ethnic demographics of these sets of voters, Dr. Smith distinguished between voters who registered pre- and post-2006, the year that the Help America Vote Act ("HAVA") allocated money to improving election systems across the country, making it easier for the Division of Elections and individuals Supervisors to verify voter information. Tr. 2522:15-2523:6 (Smith). Although the majority of registered voters registered pre-HAVA, post-HAVA trends in voters' ability to successfully register to vote without a driver's license or social security number are a better "guidepost of thinking about how future individuals who are successfully going to be able to register to vote under federal law may be

affected by SB 90" with respect to requesting a VBM ballot, as the post-HAVA regime is the one currently in place. Tr. 2529:25-2530:21 (Smith).

- 517. For post-2006 registrants in Florida, 30.21 percent of voters who lacked both a driver's license and or social security number on file were Black, 21.53 percent were Latino, 34.26 percent were of another racial/ethnic group or unknown, and only 13.65 percent were white. Tr. 2525:3-19 (Smith). Dr. Smith applied a similar analysis to voters who had an incomplete or invalid ID on file, and also found that Black and Latino voters were disproportionately affected. Tr. 2531:9-2532:14 (Smith).
- 518. The percentage of Black voters registered without a driver's license or social security number on file with the division of elections who registered to vote after 2006 was about 2.5 times greater than the overall rate of Black individuals registered in Florida; in contrast, the percentage of white voter registrations overall (55 percent) was several times greater than the percentage of white voters registered after 2006 without a driver's license or social security number on file with the division of elections. Tr. 2526:1-21 (Smith).
- 519. Dr. Smith also testified to voting registration trends across 2016, 2018 and 2020, finding that Black and, to a lesser extent, Latino voters were more likely than white voters to not have a driver's license or social security number on file with

the division of elections, and yet successfully register to vote post-2006. Tr. 2527:7-2529:24 (Smith).

- 520. SB 90's VBM Request Identification provision will prevent "hundreds of thousands of individuals" from being able to request a VBM ballot, despite being "correctly and properly registered." Tr. 2532:19-2533:9 (Smith). Additionally, among voters who registered since 2006, Black and Latino voters will be disparately affected by SB 90, since they are "more likely to be individuals who successfully registered to vote but do not have a driver's license or a social security number on file." Tr. 2533:10-18 (Smith).
- 521. SB 90's VBM Application Provision will interact with its VBM Requestion Identification Provision by making it impossible for Supervisors—as some counties' supervisors were in the practice of doing previously—to allow voters to renew their VBM requests with a simple checkbox on the back of their ballot return envelope. Tr. 2533:19-2534:23 (Smith).

So these do interact, these two provisions of Senate Bill 90 in Section 24, and I probably underappreciated that interaction when analyzing them separately in my report, but, you know, the more I think about it, the more pernicious it is with respect to vote-by-mail ballot access.

Tr. 2534:24-2535:3 (Smith).

522. Many of these voters without one of the required identification numbers on file were able to cast a VBM ballot in the 2020 general election. ECF No. 608-6

- ¶¶ 70, 72, 74, 82 (Smith Rpt.). In Pinellas County, for example, 14,448 voters cast a VBM ballot in the election—even without any of those three forms of identification on file with the FVRS. Tr. 2521:7-2522:8 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 94 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 24). But under SB 90, according to Dr. Smith, "none of those individuals would be able to request, much less cast, a vote-by-mail ballot in subsequent elections because they do not have the requisite data on file for the Pinellas County Supervisor to verify." Tr. 2521:7-2522:8 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 94 (Smith Rpt.).
- 523. SOEs for Broward and Pasco County have testified that where voters do not have both a driver's license and a social security number on file, the voter will have to separately submit a new registration form with the proper identification information before requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 1173:14-1174:8 (Scott); Tr. 1287:3-13 (Corley); Tr. 1364:21-1365:6 (White). Supervisor Latimer likewise testified that this legislation will make requesting VBM ballots more difficult, and the mismatch between Supervisor records and what the identification number the voter provides is "going to lead to confusion." ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 25:14-26:6, 111:7-23.
- 524. Hundreds of thousands of voters in Florida will thus have to submit a new voter registration form separately if they wish to request a VBM ballot. In Broward County, approximately 70,000 people do not have either a driver's license

number or social security number on file. Therefore, they will have to separately update their voter registration information before requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 1175:22-1176:10 (Scott). In Pasco County, "approximately 10 to 11,000 voters" do not have an identification number on file with the office. Tr. 1287:3-9 (Corley). In Leon County, over 13,000 voters, more than half of whom are frequent VBM voters, do not have the requisite identification numbers on file. Tr. 2649:17-20, 2650:1-10 (Earley). Additionally, about 31,000 voters in Leon County have only one of the required forms of identification on file. Tr. 2650:13-13 (Earley). Finally, about 22,000 voters in Miami-Dade County do not have an identification number on file. Tr. 1364:21-25 (White).

525. Numerous plaintiffs also testified about the burden posed by Section 24's identification requirement. For example, Mr. Garces testified that it will be a hurdle for the Latinx commenty to provide the voter identification information that SB 90 requires. Tr. 215:20-216:17 (Garces). Other plaintiffs identified other impediments, including individuals who lack the required form of identification, Tr. 450:1-8 (DePalma), 2050:14-19 (Mercado), or those who are reluctant to provide the identification, Tr. 450:1-8 (DePalma), Tr. 1607:22-1608:2 (Brigham), or do not remember which identification number they provided when they registered to vote, Tr. 1486:8-16 (Nordlund), Tr. 1590:2-5 (Teti).

- 526. As previously mentioned, the Division of Elections specifically identified the issue of voters without identification to the legislature while SB 90 was under consideration. On April 13, 2021, Pinellas County Supervisor Marcus raised this issue to legislators, including the members of the Senate Rules Committee. ECF No. 608-68. At the legislature's request for more information regarding the lack of identification, the Secretary provided data on the number of voters without identification. *Id.*; Tr. 2794:14-2795:11 (Matthews). The Secretary of State has admitted that Don Rubottom, the Staff Director of the House Public Integrity and Elections Committee, consulted the Secretary's employees about the pending legislation. ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 159).
- 527. The Secretary of State has admitted that Don Rubottom wrote to the Secretary's legislative director Pierce Schussler on April 6, 2021 regarding this issue, writing that one "problem is that Supervisors cannot verify DL# or SSN if not previously provided." ECF No. 608-65 at 2; ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA Nos. 160-61).
- 528. Rubottom added in his email: "a voter could not be expected to know which number they provided at registration." ECF No. 608-65 at 2.
- 529. SOE Earley testified that voters do not know what identification number they provided when they originally registered to vote and that he himself would not normally remember what number he provided when he registered to vote

had he not checked his own record. Tr. 2650:18-24 (Earley). The Secretary of State has admitted that "a voter could not be expected to know whether they provided a driver's license number or social security number at the time of registration." ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 163).

- 530. Nevertheless, where voters do not recall which form of identification they have on file, Supervisor Scott testified that the voter must recall which one they used. Tr. 1174:21-1175:3 (Scott). Otherwise, the Supervisors will not be able to process the VBM request. Tr. 1175:4-9 (Scott). Further, even if they knew, for example, that their driver's license number is on file, many voters do not know their driver's license number, which would lead to confusion. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 26:1-6.

 531. There are no feasible alternatives to verifying the information.
- 531. There are no feasible alternatives to verifying the information. Supervisor Earley testified that though the relevant identification information may be validated through, for example, the DAVID system, that system is "not a good workaround" because it was not intended for such use and would be a "convoluted" "extra step." Tr. 2651:20-2652:6 (Earley). Additionally, not every staff member has access to DAVID. *Id.* 3522:18-21. Furthermore, the Supervisors do not have access to the Social Security Administration database to look up social security numbers. *Id.* 2653:2-5. And though driver's license numbers may be calculated based on data available in the public domain, the law does not permit Supervisors to

look up the relevant information online to calculate the identification information. *Id.* 3504:20-3505:25.

- 532. The Division of Elections does not intend to send notices to voters who have incomplete information in the Florida Voter Registration System. Tr. 2816:23-2817:25 (Matthews).
- 533. According to Director Matthews, whether to conduct such outreach is in the "discretion" of the individual Supervisors. Tr. 2816:23-2817:25 (Matthews). But Supervisor outreach to voters for the required identification information has been uneven, and the Secretary of State has not required such outreach. Although SOEs Hays and Doyle have reached out to yeters, SOEs Earley and Latimer have not. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 162:17-163:1; Tr. 3208:4-16 (Doyle); Tr. 2649:17-2650:10 (Earley); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 180:2-9, 19-23. And the evidence in the record suggests that the limited outreach conducted (*e.g.*, by SOEs Hays and Doyle) to cure the issue, to date, has targeted overwhelmingly white voters. The majority of registered voters (at least 75 percent) for the 2020 general election in Lake and Lee County were White. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 20, Ex. B (Cooper Rpt.).
- 534. Moreover, Supervisors have expressed concern that efforts to reach out to voters for the additional information could cause more confusion because voters may become concerned that requests for such information could be used for identity

- theft. Tr. 2652:7-19 (Earley). Supervisor Earley testified that this requirement will "disenfranchise[e]" voters and "undermin[e] trusted elections by making it harder to vote-by-mail when people are used to doing that." Tr, 2654:17-22 (Earley).
- 535. Supervisor Earley testified that this provision does not add any "real security" to the VBM request process because driver's license numbers are easily calculated based on information in the public domain and are therefore not information that only the voter possesses. Tr. 3504:15-24, 3521:19-25, 2654:11-14 (Earley).
- 536. Moreover, because requests made during the 2020 election for VBM ballots are still valid, much of the provision's impact will be seen in 2023 when those requests expire, and voters will have to re-request a VBM ballot. Tr. 1252:7-17 (Scott).
- 537. Election officials also testified that the reduction in the period of time for which a VBM request is valid will decrease turnout. Tr. 1350:1-8 (White) (explaining that voters have told her office that they did not know an election was coming up until they received their VBM ballots)
 - i. Testimony About the Impact on Third-Party Voter Registration Efforts
- 538. Plaintiffs and election officials alike confirmed at trial that the disclaimer and delivery restrictions will severely impede third-party voter registration efforts.

- 539. These 3PVRO restrictions will increase the costs of voting, most heavily on Black and Latino voters. ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶ 8, 15, 50 (Smith Rpt.).
- 540. For example, SOE Scott testified that the requirement could hinder 3PVRO efforts by discouraging volunteers from helping the 3PVRO:

So because of the nature of the groups and the way this is done, this is done by people who are volunteering, who are looking to do something positive in their community, so whenever you make . . . it so that they could be confused and that they are scared that they might do something wrong and get fined or otherwise have some sort of legal action taken against them people just are far less likely to volunteer . . . doing something that could potentially get them into trouble.

Tr. 1164:20-1165:3 (Scott). SOE Scott also testified to the disclaimer "absolutely" eroding trust between a 3PVRO and a potential voter:

You know, if you're . . . telling people that you are conducting a voter registration drive and your whole intent is to help people in your community to get registered to vote, but now you are required to say to them that you might not turn in the form, that . . . obviously that would . . . erode trust.

Tr. 1168:2-10 (Scott).

- 541. In fact, SOE Scott testified that he was aware that it had been a "very common occurrence" for voters to decline to register to vote with 3PVROs after hearing the compelled disclaimer, and thus 3PVROs have been "less effective" at registering voters as a result of SB 90. Tr. 1236:13-1237:11, 1238:6-10 (Scott).
- 542. Supervisor Earley similarly testified to the detrimental impact the disclaimer requirement will have on the voter registration process: "Asking you to

fill out a form that has a lot of sensitive information and then say, You shouldn't trust that I'm going to do the right things with it, that would not help my cause of registering voters." Tr. 2668:12-15 (Earley). Such restrictions will thus impact the number of voters registered overall, as 3PVROs are able to reach voters that Supervisor offices may not. *See id.* at 2666:8-11 (testifying that 3PVROs provide about 100 registrations per week to Leon County for outreach efforts that Leon County are missing). As a result, this provision will "make[] it more difficult [for 3PVROs] to do their job." *Id.* at 3501:13-15.

- 543. Plaintiffs also testified extensively about the impact the Section 7 will have on their registration efforts. Numerous witnesses testified that it undermines the trust they have with their communities. Tr. 49:7-49:19, 52:15-53:14, 103:1-7 (Scoon); Tr. 266:18-268:12 (McCoy); Tr. 206:7-207:23 (Garces); Tr. 388:18-389:5 (Burney-Clarke); Tr. 794:2-4, 771:10-772:16 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 1423:20-25 (Nordlund); Tr. 2038:7-20 (Mercado).
- 544. Plaintiffs also testified that providing the disclaimer makes interactions with voters take longer, has caused volunteers and canvassers to quit, and has caused some potential voters to turn away. Tr. 159:20-160:23, 162:1-163:2 (Scoon); Tr. 206:14-22 (Garces); Tr. 268:13-269:10 (McCoy); Tr. 819:7-20 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 1130:23-1132:17 (Nash); Tr. 1423:11-19, 1436:12-1437:11 (Nordlund); Tr. 2039:9-17, 2044:9-14 (Mercado).

545. Plaintiffs also repeatedly testified about the important role that 3PVROs play in registering Black and Latino voters. For example, more than 85% of the voters that the New Florida Majority Education Fund registered were people of color. Tr. 2035:20-21 (Mercado); *see also id.* at 2034:12-19 ("[I]t is part of [FRT's] mission as an organization to expand democracy to have a voting population that represents the diversity of our communities in our state.").

ii. Testimony About the Impact on Voters

- 546. It has been stipulated in this case that "between 2009 and November 5, 2021, 2,149,709 voter registration applications were received by Florida's Supervisors of Elections from 3PVROs." ECF No. 402 at 34, ¶ 30 (Joint Stip.).
- 547. Several experts testified as to the chilling effect the disclaimer will have on individuals registering with 3PVROs. Tr. 2299:21-2300:1, 2332:21-2333:7 (Herron); Tr. 3608:9-21 (McDonald).
- 548. Dr. Smith's report and testimony related to the Registration Disclaimer and Delivery Provisions focused specifically on which groups of voters are likely to register with third-party voter registration organizations. Tr. 2565:23-2566:11 (Smith). To perform his analysis, Dr. Smith relied on an August 2021 snapshot of the Florida statewide voter file provided by the Division of Elections showing that 763,240 individuals had their most recent registration method recorded as through a 3PVRO. Tr. 2566:16-2567:23 (Smith). Based on the likely possibility that many

individuals who register initially with a 3PVRO and subsequently update their registration through a different method (thus updating the method of registration recorded in the Division of Elections system), Dr. Smith testified that 763,240 is likely just a "baseline number" of how many people register through 3PVROs. Tr. 2568:9-2569:8 (Smith).

549. The snapshot also included the racial/ethnic data for these 763,240 individuals, from which Dr. Smith calculated that, as of August 2021, 10.86 percent of Black registrants, 9.57 percent of Latino registrants, and 9.63 percent of "Other" registrants had most recently registered with a 3PVRO. Tr. 2569:13-2570:25 (Smith). In contrast, only 1.87 percent of white registered voters (*i.e.*, 173,616 out of close to 9 million) had most recently registered through a 3PVRO. Tr. 2570:25-2571:3 (Smith) (referencing ECF No. 608-6 at Table 2 (Smith Rpt.)). As Dr. Smith summarized:

[W]hile one out of ten Black, Hispanic, and Other individuals who are registered in the state of Florida as of August 2021, registered through 3PVROs, it's one out of fifty white individuals who have registered through a 3PVRO, so five times less likely than Black, Hispanic, and Other.

Tr. 2571:4-9 (Smith).

550. Dr. Smith also analyzed how voters in individual counties registered through 3PVROs. ECF No. 608-6 at Table 4 (Smith Rpt.); Tr.2571:17-22 (Smith). In Alachua County, Black and white voters constituted similar percentages of

3PVRO registrants; however, Black registrants made up 33 percent of 3PVRO registrants despite making up only 17 percent of all registrants in the county. Tr. 2572:5-2573:6 (Smith). Similarly, Latino and "Other" voters registered with 3PVROs at a higher rate than the county's overall rate of Latino and "Other" voter registration. Tr. 2573:7-10 (Smith). In contrast, White registrants made up 65 percent of overall registrants in the county, while only making up about 35 percent of 3PVRO registrants. Tr. 2573:7-13 (Smith). Similarly, in Hillsborough, 34.62% of the more than 59,000 voters who registered through 3PVROs are Black voters, and 27.37% are Latino voters. ECF No. 465-72 (Latimer RFA No. 2).

551. Overall, Dr. Smith testified that of the 16 largest counties he analyzed, Black voters in 15 counties and Latino voters in 12 counties were disproportionately more likely to register through 3PVROs than their share of the electorate. Tr. 2574:4-13 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 at Table 4 (Smith Rpt.). In contrast, white voters in all 16 counties registered through 3PVRO's disproportionately *less* than their share of the electorate. Tr. 2574:14-16 (Smith). As to the impacts of what this data reveals about the impact of the Registration Disclaimer and Delivery Provisions, Dr. Smith testified:

There is no question that Black and Hispanic and voters of other racial and ethnic identities rely more heavily on being registered by 3PVROs than White individuals in this state, that we see that pattern across counties and that the effects of putting regulations and restrictions on 3PVROs are likely to affect the ability of individuals who rely heavily on these to do so in the future. I

would also note that this is likely the tip of the iceberg with respect to this impact. We would need to have other snapshots from the Division of Elections produced in different time periods. And I suspect these rates would actually be much higher if we looked at people who initially registered to vote in election years, as I discussed in another part of SB 90's impact. If we looked at the snapshot from the Division of Elections, say, in January of 2013 or 2017, we would have a higher rate of Black and Hispanic and individuals of Other races registering with a 3PVRO as opposed to what we are seeing here which is undercounting, likely, those who at one point used the 3PVRO to register.

Tr. 2574:23-2575:16 (Smith).

- 552. Supervisors confirmed that 3PVROs would typically submit registration applications to their offices in person. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 54:1-5. Supervisor Latimer testified to handling "thousands" of out-of-county registrations during the 2020 general election. *Id.* at 183:11-14.
- 553. Now, because of SB 90's delivery restriction, at least one Supervisor will now "send [the out-of-county registrations] back to the 3PVRO" instead of processing the registration. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 175:7-17.

2. Drop Box Restrictions

554. The Drop Box Provision will burden voters by reducing the availability of drop box access across Florida. This provision increases the cost of voting for voters in terms of time, transportation, and information. Tr. 2420:9-15, 2486:1-10 (Smith).

- 555. The drop box restrictions will reduce the availability of at least one in four of the 485 drop boxes provided during the 2020 General Election. Tr. 2453:17-2454:25, 2455:7-11 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 125 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 608-1 Table 24 (Herron Rpt.). Hundreds of thousands of voters may be impacted by this change, given that approximately one in ten ballots (or 12% of all ballots) cast in the 2020 General Election were cast via drop box in the majority of counties in Florida. Tr. 2254:16-23 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 123-24 (Herron Rpt.); see also ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 123, 220-21 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2471:5-7 (Smith) (citing that during the 2020 General Election, approximately one-third of the VBM ballots cast in Florida were deposited into drop boxes). Tr. 2458:20-2459:13 (Smith); see also id. at 2469:25-2470:19; ECF No. 608-1 at Table 10 (Herron Rpt.).
- 556. The Drop Box Restrictions will deprive voters of "a minimal estimate [of] tens of thousands of hours" of drop box availability, as compared to the 2020 General Election. ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶127-30 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2462:11-2463:7 (Smith).
- 557. At least 65 round-the-clock ("24/7") drop boxes that were available to voters during the 2020 General Election and were not continuously monitored are

 $^{^8}$ The State of Florida does not track the locations, days, and hours of drop boxes or maintain data on which voters have used drop boxes in recent elections. ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 122 (Herron Rpt.); Tr. 2453:14-16 (Smith). Accordingly, both experts relied upon data produced in discovery by the Supervisors of Elections.

now in jeopardy, given the Drop Box Provision's in-person monitoring requirement. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 127-29 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2455:12-16, 2472:4-24, 2476:14-2478:3 (Smith); Tr. 2291:1-6 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 210 (Herron Rpt.). This will impact dozens of counties, particularly counties where a substantial number of VBM ballots were deposited after-hours, such as Okeechobee County, Indian River County, and Manatee County. Tr. 2475:14-2476:2 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 155, 161, 195 (Smith Rpt.).

- 558. The Drop Box Provision's elimination of drop boxes at non-SOE locations before and after early in person voting will further reduce drop box availability. In certain counties, ballots cast in drop boxes outside of early voting days accounted for between 38.5% and 72% of ballots cast in drop boxes. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 146, 160, 164, 167, 178, 186, 189, 192, 195, 198 (Smith Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 2466:6-2469:1 (Smith); ECF No. 608-1 at Table 22 (Herron Rpt.).
- 559. Now, at least 57 drop boxes that were available during the 2020 election, and that accounted for over 11,000 hours of drop box availability, will likely be eliminated under SB 90 because they were accessible at non-SOE locations outside of early in person voting. Tr. 2455:17-19 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶130-31 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2285:18-25; 2286:2-2287:25 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶¶ 187-90 (Herron Rpt.); *see also* ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 182 (Smith Rpt.).

- 560. SOEs admitted that they plan to reduce drop box availability—at least a third of counties will reduce the availability of outdoor drop boxes, 60% of counties that previously offered 24/7 drop boxes will eliminate them, and some will restrict the days on which voters may access drop boxes. *See* Tr. 2460:1-2461:21 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶ 201-18 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2292:21-2293:7 (Herron); ECF No. 608-1 ¶¶ 214-15 (Herron Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 1367:9-12 (White); ECF No. 464-56 (White RFA No. 14); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 222 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 463-80 (Marcus ROG No. 3); ECF No. 608-6 No. ¶¶ 182, 222 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 1251:23-1252:1 (Scott); *see generally* Appendix D.
- 561. Some of the outdoor drop boxes will be moved indoors to SOE offices or inside other locations, *see* ECF No. 463-31 (Baird ROG No. 3); ECF No. 463-23 (Anderson ROG No. 4), or will be removed altogether, *see* ECF No. 463-32 (Chambless ROG No. 3); ECF No. 463-58 (Hays ROG No. 3); ECF No. 463-86 (Oakes ROG No. 3).
- 562. Restrictions on drop boxes will increase the cost of voting in numerous ways. First, transportation costs will increase because voters will have to drive farther to deposit their VBM ballots if the number of drop boxes decreases by virtue of the new requirements and the resulting decrease in drop boxes offered by SOEs. In addition, individuals who have less flexibility due to their employment or other constraints will be disproportionately affected by decreases in drop box hours. Tr.

- 2293:22-2294:17 (Herron); ECF. No. 608-83 ¶¶ 11, 21 (Cowles Decl.). These restrictions also limit a safe, secure option for returning VBM ballots. Tr. 2655:23-2656:5, 2656:6-2657:5 (Earley); see also ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 52:1-15, 56:4-10, 79:14-15, 97:6-7, 97:15-18, 102:10-12, 103:18-104:1; ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 125:3-5; Tr. 1340:22-1342:7 (White); ECF. No. 608-83 ¶¶ 11, 21 (Cowles Decl.). ECF No. 608-80 at 1; see also ECF No. 608-77 at 1.
- 563. SB 90's restrictions on drop boxes will affect all voters but will disproportionately burden voters of color, given their high rates of drop box usage.

 Tr. 2483:4-9 (Smith); Tr. 2283:5-9 (Herron).
- 564. During the 2020 election, Black voters deposited their ballots in drop boxes at much higher rates than white voters. Tr. 2159:20-25, 268:19-2269:2, 2270:5-14, 2276:20-2277:11, 2280:17-2281:4, 2282:17-21 (Herron); *see also* ECF No. 608-1 ¶¶ 137, 158, 165, 169, 177 (Herron Rpt.). Counties that had more Black VBM voters also had greater drop box usage rates, suggesting that Black voters used drop boxes more frequently than voters of other races. Tr. 2256:4-21 (Herron); *see also* ECF No. 608-1 ¶ 127 (Herron Rpt.).
- 565. Black voters tended to use drop boxes during the days and times that are restricted by SB 90 at greater rates than white voters. Tr. 2479:11-2480:4, 2482:1-13 (Smith); *see also* ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 147-48, 155 (Smith Rpt.). Souls to the Polls, a voter mobilization event previously held at drop box sites in Black

communities, can no longer be held at certain sites because of SB 90 reducing drop box availability. Tr. 397:12-23 (Burney-Clark). NAACP members in the Indian River Branch, for example, who work as farm laborers with inflexible hours may be unable to cast their ballot during the limited drop box hours available due to SB 90. Tr. 527:6-16 (Brown). Other voters with similarly inflexible schedules are also likely to be impacted by limited drop box availability. *See* Tr. 696:24-697:9, 697:12-25 (Madison); Tr. 215:18-217:11 (Garces) ("There's some major employers in this area – Disney, Universal and the airport – and a lot of times our folks work a third shift, and they get off at 3 in the morning, 4 in the morning and they have odd hours.").

566. Limiting the availability of outdoor drop boxes will affect voters with disabilities who have depended on dropping a vote-by-mail ballot in an outdoor drop box or using a drive-through drop box. Tr. 2462:2-10, 2485:7-20 (Smith); Tr. 465:17-466:2, 21-25 (DePalma); Tr. 2738:15-2739:25 (Babis). It will also impact voters with anxiety disorders or other disorders that make interacting with SOE employees intimidating and challenging. Tr. 2097:13-2099-13 (Zukeran); Tr. 1626:23-1627:4 (Sauers); Tr. 2048:22-2049:9 (Mercado). Indoor drop boxes are less accessible to many voters with disabilities, especially those with limited mobility. Tr. 2743:8-9 (Babis); Tr. 457:13-458:6, 459:2-19, 461:24-463:10 (DePalma); Tr. 2737:9-2738:11 (Babis); Tr. 2740:3-2742:4 (Babis). Ms. Babis,

DRF's senior public policy analyst and a part-time powerchair user, herself has had difficulty navigating different voting locations. Tr. 2741:8-16, 2740:22-24, 2742:5-8 (Babis).

- 567. Moving some drop boxes indoors at SOE offices "would prohibit" some persons with disabilities "from being able to access the facility to put their ballot in the drop box," such as persons who find it difficult or impossible to open doors, or to navigate pathways that are not clear and stable. Tr. 2742:25-2743:8-9 (Babis). Voters with other disabilities, such as anxiety, PTSD, and incontinence, may also be burdened by needing to access indoor drop boxes. Tr. 2099:11-18 (Zukeran); Tr. 1607:6-13 (Brigham).
- 568. Voters with disabilities who use after-hours drop boxes will also be impacted, as this option may no longer be available to them. *See* Tr. 2484:6-14 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 156 (Smith Rpt.).
- 569. Similarly, these restrictions will also burden voters with disabilities for whom casting an in-person ballot during early voting or on Election Day remains difficult (*e.g.*, because of difficulty seeing, walking, or dressing), and further compound the many ongoing accessibility burdens voters with disabilities continue to face in utilizing VBM ballots despite longstanding accessibility requirements under Fla. Sta. § 101.662. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 622:19-22 (Cooper); Tr. 2095:3-2097 (Zukeran); Tr. 2742:25-2743:7 (Babis).

3. Line Relief Provision

- 570. Long lines serve as a "tax" on voters' time, potentially leading to balking (when a voter sees how long a line is and decide not to join it in the first place) or reneging (when a voter leaves the line because it is too slow). Tr. 2536:10-2537:13 (Smith). Furthermore, a voter's experience with long lines in one election can lead to "downstream effects" in the next election, meaning that voters who experience long lines are less likely to vote in subsequent elections. *Id.* at 2537:14-20.
- 571. Black and Latino voters, in general, are disproportionately affected by long lines at polling locations. For example, recent studies show that majority-minority polling locations were more likely to have longer check-in times compared to mostly white precincts; that voters in majority Black precincts both faced longer wait times than voters in majority white precincts and were more likely to leave the line; and that predominantly Black neighborhoods were about 74 percent more likely to wait in lines longer than 30 minutes than voters in predominantly white neighborhoods. Tr. 2542:7-2543:10 (Smith).
- 572. According to a study Dr. Smith co-authored regarding wait times during early voting in the 2012 general election, Black and Latino voters were much more likely to face longer wait times, and voters who faced long lines in 2012 were less likely to vote in future elections and less likely to vote in person again. Tr. 2543:17-

1544:44 (Smith). Another study Smith co-authored regarding wait times in Florida showed that:

[T]he 2012 general election in Florida did not treat all voters equally. Minority voters in 2012 faced disproportionately long lines, thus disproportionately high cost of voting, and then in some cases a small downstream effect in 2014 and 2016 of decreased propensity to vote. Our results illustrate how administrative aspects of elections, in particular resource allocation decisions that affect whether the elections will have lines at the polls or not, should not only be understood as administrative in nature, but also as indicative of the underlying fairness of the electoral process and the extent to which all voters are treated equally under the law.

Id. at 2547:12-23 (Smith) (quoting David Cottrell et al., Voting Lines, Equal Treatment, and Early Voting Check-In Times in Florida, 21 State Politics & Policy Quarterly 109, 131 (2021)).

573. Data provided by the SOEs from the 2020 election further demonstrates that Black and Latino voters are more likely to vote in a polling location with longer wait times. In Miami-Dade, 24.8 percent of Black voters who cast ballots during a 5-day period across 33 polling locations had wait times of 30 minutes or greater, compared to 21.2 percent of Latino, 16.9 percent of "Other" voters and 15.2 percent of white voters. Tr. 2557:2-2559:4 (Smith); ECF No. 608-10 (Smith Revised Table 19); ECF No. 608-11 (Smith Revised Figure 8). Furthermore, nearly 75 percent of white voters faced wait times of less than 15 minutes, as compared to 70.8 percent of Black voters and 66.1 percent of Latino voters. Tr. 2559:19-2560:4 (Smith); see

also ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶ 248-250 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. No. 608-13 (Smith Corrected Figure 10) (finding that a greater percentage of minority voters identified as needing assistance to vote, and that minority voters seeking assistance to vote waited longer in line than white voters seeking assistance).

- 574. Data from Orange and Lee Counties similarly show that longer wait times disproportionately affecting Black and, to a lesser degree, Latino voters. Tr. 2560:15-2561 (Smith). Notably, the Winter Park Library location in Orange County had estimated wait times of up to three hours at one point. **Id. at 2561:3-9
- 575. These results likely *underestimated* the disproportionate impacts of long wait-times for Black voters, based on media reports about Lee County that "showed very clearly, long lines, particularly in Black—heavily Black precincts" on the first day of early in-person voting, which fell outside of the five-day window for which Dr. Smith conducted his analysis. Tr. 2562:2-18 (Smith).
- 576. Such long wait times were not unique to the 2020 general election. Voters experienced similarly long wait times in the 2008 and subsequent elections. Tr. 2564:18-23 (Smith).
- 577. Historically, nonpartisan organizations provided assistance to voters waiting in line and at polling locations that the government does not provide. *See e.g.*, ECF No. 549-3 at 48:3-6 (Latimer Dep.) (describing that the Hillsborough County SOE office does not provide food, water, or umbrellas to voters waiting to

vote, and provides chairs to voters with disabilities only "up by the door," relying on other voters waiting in line to "let us know when they get up there."); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 196:24-197:5; Tr. 1379:9-11 (White) (poll workers in Miami-Dade County do not provide food or water to voters waiting in line); Tr. 2046:1-2047:8 (Mercado) (describing predecessor organization's practice of providing water, food and umbrellas to voters with 150 feet of polls before SB 90); Tr. 218:5-17 (Garces) (describing organization's practice of providing language assistance within 150 feet of polls); Tr. 402:5-403:4 (Burney-Clark).

- 578. Such non-partisan, non-disruptive provision of food, water, chairs, umbrellas, or other items to voters waiting in line has not disrupted orderly election administration in the past. *See e.g.*, ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo Dep.) at 62:4-11 (testifying that the Florida Attorney General's Office was unaware of "any unlawful voting conduct relating to assistance provided to persons with disabilities" in 2018 or 2020).
- 579. Florida has over 6,000 polling places staffed by many different people, including many temporary employees. Tr. 2815:12-23 (Matthews).
- 580. Supervisors confirmed that under the Solicitation Provision of SB 90, they will not permit line relief activities in the form of providing food, water, chairs, or other items to voters waiting in line. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 170:9-18 (all activity, including a "nonpartisan volunteer provid[ing] a bottle of water to a

voter on his or her way into the polling place" is unlawful solicitation because he does not "have any idea what that person is talking to the voter about"); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 197:15-20 ("But inside the 150-foot zone, there's no solicitation, there's no appearance of solicitation. The only people allowed to interact there are the voters themselves and . . . exit polling.");

- 581. Supervisor Scott testified that SB 90's non-solicitation provision could intimidate volunteers and prevent them from assisting in their line warming volunteer activities due to fear of repercussions. Tr. 1234:23-1235:5 (Scott); *see also* Tr. 773:19-12 (Velez Burgos) (describing SB 90's "chilling effect" on volunteers who are now afraid to do line warming work).
- 582. At least one Supervisor has testified that SB 90's non-solicitation provision will not be preventing any alleged fraud or voter intimidation. Supervisor Latimer admitted in discovery that he was not aware of any unlawful voting conduct, attempts to unduly influence voters, to intimidate voters, or attempts to harass voters after January 1, 2014 that would have been prevented by SB 90's Line Warming Ban. ECF No. 462-74 (Latimer RFA Nos. 14-17).
- 583. Voters with disabilities, especially those with underlying medical conditions or mobility impairments who may have difficulty standing in line for long periods of time, benefit from line relief activities in the form of chairs or water. Tr. 2744:4-13, 2745:5-20 (Babis); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 233 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 1629:3-8,

1629:12-17 (Sauers). Without this assistance, it will be more difficult for voters with disabilities to vote in-person and some may elect not to vote this way. See Tr. 1629:3-8, 1629:12-17 (Sauers); Tr. 2745:5-20 (Babis).

584. Voters with disabilities rely on voting-line relief activities because they are not guaranteed access to chairs while waiting in line or being moved to the front of a line at polling places. Tr. 488:18-25 (DePalma). SOEs are not legally obligated to provide disabled voters waiting in line chairs or allow them to move to the front of a line. *Id.* And at times, SOEs have failed to provide assistance to voters with disabilities. For example, Ms. Babis testified that she has observed a voter with disability request and be denied assistance from a SOEs' office staff. Tr. 2745:2-12 (Babis). This particular voter left without voting. *Id.* at 2745:13-20.

4. VBM Application Provision

585. The changes to the VBM Application Provision "increase[] the procedural complexity associated with . . . voting" and introduce an informational cost as voters must now learn about the change in law in order to request a VBM ballot. Tr. 2230:15-25 (Herron); *see also* Tr. 2493:8-15 (Smith). The VBM Application Provision severely burdens the right to vote by dramatically reducing the timeframe during which a standing VBM ballot request is valid from one to two election cycles. Tr. 2490:11-2491:25 (Smith).

- 586. Experts have also questioned the justifications for requiring voters to request VBM ballots more frequently. There is no basis in political science literature to support the proposition that it is more secure to require people to more frequently decide how they vote, as now required by this provision. Tr. 2202:22-2203:2 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 59 (Herron Rpt.).
- 587. In fact, counties in Florida that had "check-the-box" provisions on the back of a VBM envelope which allowed voters to request a VBM ballot continually, had higher voter participation. Tr. 2492:5-21 (Smith). Higher voter participation has been seen not only in general elections but also in municipal and special elections that do not have as high a turnout typically because they are off cycle. Tr. 2493:3-7 (Smith).
- 588. Moreover, the VBM Application provision was not needed to allow for voter choice. Prior to SB90, a voter could already request a VBM ballot and later decide to vote in person. Tr. 2206:6-13 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 59 (Herron Rpt.).
- 589. Numerous existing safeguards ensure VBM integrity, including signature match requirements, ballot receipt deadlines, voter registration validation requirements, prohibitions on forwarding VBM ballots, and post-election VBM audits. *See* Tr. 2200:8-2201:24 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 58 (Herron Rpt.); Tr. 2761:21-2762:2 (Matthews).

- 590. The new requirement will burden the millions of voters in Florida who have relied on standing requests to have ballots mailed to them. Tr. 2500:15-22 (Smith); Tr. 2624:17-2625:5 (Earley); Tr. 1285:18-25 (Corley); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 135:7-14. This provision eliminates a safe, reliable method for obtaining a VBM ballot and makes it more likely that some voters may forget to request a VBM ballot in time to vote. Tr. 1286:5-1286:18 (Corley); Tr. 2625:19-2626:14 (Earley); ECF No. 461-13 (Earley ROG No. 9); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 125:6-126:17; ECF No. 608-61 ¶ 26 (Link Decl.); Tr. 360:22-1361:11 (White); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 134:25-135:6, 137:23-138:1; Tr. 759:20-760:19 (Velez Burgos) (testifying that because of SB 90, even "SuperVoters" will need to be contacted more often to remind them to request a VBM ballot).
- 591. The costs of this restriction will "fall most heavily on racial and ethnic minorities," senior citizen voters and voters with disabilities, because these groups have become increasingly more reliant on VBM ballots; Black and Latino voters in particular are more likely to have standing requests as compared to white voters. ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 10, 105, Table 13 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2494:7-18 (Smith). These voters will face added burdens due to this provision. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 10 (Smith Rpt.).
- 592. Voters of color will face added barriers to requesting VBM ballots twice as often, given the 8 percentage point gap in broadband Internet access of

Black households in Florida relative to white households, and the more than 4 percentage point gap in broadband Internet access of Latino households relative to white households. Tr. 628:18-23 (Cooper).

- 593. Voters with disabilities will also face new burdens in "procuring, filling out, or returning a VBM ballot request application" twice as often. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 105 (Smith Rpt.); see also Tr. 2633:20-2634:6 (Earley); Tr. 1361:15-1362:4 (White).
- 594. Amongst the subset of voters with disabilities, older voters with memory issues and blind voters who "have difficulty interacting with forms and contacting government officials . . . are also disproportionately affected[.]" Tr. 2204:8-25 (Herron). In addition, voters with disabilities who require specialized equipment to read or fill out forms may have difficulty filling out a vote-by-mail application. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.); see also Tr. 2494:21-2495:4, 2500:1-14 (Smith).
- 595. SOE's websites may present a range of accessibility barriers and may not be equipped to integrate assistive technology. Tr. 454:14-455:19 (DePalma); *see also* Tr. 450:15-17 (DePalma). For example, Ms. Rogers, a legally blind woman, testified that the Pinellas County's SOE website is difficult for her to navigate. Tr. 1100:18-1101:8 (Rogers).

- 596. In addition, requesting a VBM ballot on the phone may not be a viable option for voters with disabilities either. Tr. 493:21-494:8 (DePalma); Tr. 1096:14-1100:12 (Rogers); Tr. 2083:22-2084:3 (Slaughter).
- 597. Multiple senior citizens and disabled people testified that they are concerned that they will forget to request a VBM ballot more frequently as required by SB 90. *See* Tr. 1608:13-20 (Brigham); Tr. 1591:14-21 (Teti); Tr. 1102:9-1103:5 (Rogers); Tr. 1623:14-17 (Sauers); Tr. 2086:1-11 (Slaughter); Tr. 528:3-15 (Brown).
- 598. Approximately 20.5 percent of voting age Floridians with a disability live alone. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 29 (Cooper Rpt.). Thus, while in-person assistance may be possible at a polling location, such assistance may not be available at home to complete the new VBM application requirements. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.).
- 599. Many voters with disabilities testified that they may have difficulty or be unable to vote in person if they cannot obtain a VBM ballot. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 1591:22-1593:4 (Teti) (testifying that she would "wear out very shortly" waiting inline); Tr. 2079:6-8, 2080:10-13 (Slaughter) (testifying that voting in person is "literally an impossibility for me" because of agoraphobia); Tr. 2095:3-12 (Zukeran) (testifying that voting in-person is "anxiety provoking").
- 600. Meanwhile, SOEs testified that existing Florida law was sufficient to ensure that the voter rolls are up to date. Tr. 1190:12-22 (Scott) (testifying that the

list maintenance system works "very well"); Tr. 1362:16-19 (White) (testifying that the "voter rolls have never been more accurate and up to date"); Tr. 2643:7-19 (Earley) (testifying that the current procedures for maintaining voter rolls has been "proven very effective").

601. Some elections officials stated that they are not aware of any VBM ballot fraud in Florida. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 62:18-21, 151:17-22; see also Appendix C, at RFA 12 (numerous SOEs admitting they are not aware of voter fraud that would have been prevented by the VBM Application Provision). Similarly, the Florida Attorney General's Office testified that it was unaware of "any unlawful voting conduct . . . relating to the four-year duration of requests for vote-by-mail ballots" in 2018 or 2020. ECF No. 549-1 (Guzzo Dep.) at 61:22-62:3.

5. Cumulative Impact

- 602. While each Challenged Provision raises the cost of voting individually, taken together, the provisions work together to compound the increase in costs of voting caused by SB 90 and produce even more severe burdens on Florida voters.
- 603. When it is harder to vote by mail or when drop boxes are made more difficult to access, voters can be expected to vote by other methods. If voters who would vote by mail use drop boxes shift back to in-person voting because of the increased cost of voting via mail ballots or drop boxes, then this change will burden individuals who vote in person. Tr. 2159:9-15 (Herron).

- 604. The converse is also true. "Allowing voters to [vote using mail ballots or drop boxes] actually takes pressure off the Supervisors and for fellow voters who want to vote during early in-person voting or on election day. Because you have shifted people to that other modality and made it convenient, it actually makes it convenient for all voters." Tr. 2419:23-2420:3 (Smith); *see also* Tr. 2618:22-2619:11 (Earley). And in fact, there is evidence that voters experienced shorter wait times in 2020 as a result of the expanded use of VBM. Tr. 1372:6-13 (White).
- 605. Altogether, the challenged provisions of SB 90 will "without question ... increase the cost on all Florida voters but particularly racial and ethnic minorities, Black and Hispanic voters, as well as those who have disabilities." Tr. 2395:19-25 (Smith). SB 90 not only disproportionately impacts Black and Latino voters in their ability to vote by mail, but also increases the likelihood of long lines for those voters, thus creating a "multiplying effect" on minority voters. Tr. 2545:5-2546:2 (Smith).
- 606. These effects are compounded by disparities in access to transportation and technology that are faced by Black and Latino voters in Florida. Tr. 598:4-8 (Cooper). Based on the most recent data from the American Community Survey:

[t]here is no question that non Hispanic Whites outpace African-Americans and Latinos in the state of Florida across almost all key variables of socioeconomic status. That would include things like education levels, poverty rates, household income, access to broadband Internet, access to vehicles. There's a wide range of data points.

Tr. 598:4-9 (Cooper); see also Tr. 595:6-24 (Cooper).

- 607. Dr. Kousser testified to the importance of considering the impact of changes in election law as a whole rather than determining impact only by analyzing each provision in isolation. Tr. 1694:22-1695:9 (Kousser). Just as combining the Eight Box Law law with a poll tax in the late 19th century magnified the discriminatory impact of each, the discriminatory effect of implementing all of SB 90's restrictions at once is likely to be greater than the effect of any one of them taken singly. Tr. 1824:12-1825:11 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶145 (Kousser Rpt.).
- Provisions. Supervisor Earley testified that if it becomes more difficult to vote using mail ballots or the drop box, there is a "ripple effect": "[I]f you impact [vote-by-mail], then you increase demands on the other voters voting and potentially have [to] dissuade people from voting if that's the method they want to use and it's difficult." Tr. 2618:22-2619:11 (Earley); *see also* Tr. 3507:6-25 (Earley) (stating that the reduction in early voting in 2011 resulted in "chaos" in 2012 on election day).
- 609. Supervisor Latimer concurred that changing one method of voting will have repercussions for other methods. ECF No. 608-51 (Latimer Talking Points) ("Encouraging Vote By Mail is one of the ways we avoid lines at in-person voting, so if fewer voters vote by mail, that could affect wait times during in-person voting."). Supervisor Scott testified that when more voters vote by mail, lines at polling sites are shorter. Tr. 1210:12-17 (Scott).

610. SOEs testified that these provisions collectively will make it harder for voters to vote. *See* Tr. 1216:14-18 (Scott); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 25:17-25; *see also* ECF No. 608-47. In fact, SOEs concur that some voters will be prevented from voting entirely because they will not be able to register under SB 90. Tr. 1216:5-18 (Scott).

IX. INJURIES TO PLAINTIFFS

A. Florida NAACP

- 611. The Challenged Provisions of SB 90 will severely burden or deny the right to vote of the Florida NAACP's members by severely limiting where, when, and how drop boxes can be used; imposing restrictions for standing VBM applications; and potentially imposing criminal penalties on individuals who provide free food and water or other assistance to in-person voters. Tr. 526:14-529:11, 530:21-25 (Brown).
- 612. SB 90's limitations on when, where, and how drop boxes may be utilized will result in reduced drop box availability, thus making it extremely difficult for many members to vote. *Id.* at 526:14-527:5.
- 613. Many Florida NAACP members work in service-oriented jobs that have inflexible hours and they have relied on drop boxes as a reliable and available method of returning their VBM ballots. *Id.* at 527:1-5. For example, one member of the Florida NAACP who is a farm labor worker may be unable to use drop boxes

that are only available during early voting hours due to his 12-hour work schedule. *Id.* at 527:6-16.

- 614. In addition, Cecile Scoon, a lifelong member of the Bay County Branch of the Florida NAACP and President of the League of Women Voters of Florida, has voted using a drop box outside of the Bay County Supervisor of Elections office for the last five to ten years. Tr. 32:7-16; 33:16-17; 77:4-7 (Scoon). Ms. Scoon also used this drop box to transmit voter registration forms. *Id.* at 78:2-6. Ms. Scoon is not comfortable using USPS to transmit her VBM ballot due to mail delays. *Id.* at 77:15-16.
- 615. Ms. Scoon has not seen anyone monitoring the drop box outside of her local SOE office, which she described as being about 15 to 20 feet from the front door of the office. *Id.* at 78:2-6; 78:13-15.
- 616. As a result of SB 90, the Bay County SOE removed the outdoor drop box Ms. Scoon previously used. *Id.* at 82:14-25; 83:6-14; ECF No. 608-84 at 2; Appendix D, at ROG No. 3). Ms. Scoon will now have to modify how she casts her ballot. Tr. 86:21-23 (Scoon).
- 617. In addition, many members are confused about whether they will need to request a VBM ballot in the upcoming elections because of SB 90's VBM Application Request modification. Tr. 528:10-15 (Brown).

- of its civic engagement efforts, the Florida NAACP regularly engages in line relief work for voters, particularly in minority communities across the state, where lines tend to be longer. *Id.* at 515:14-21; 516:11-15; Tr. at 1957:18-1958:24; 1959:6-19 (Slater). The Florida NAACP provides water, snacks, fans during hot weather, umbrellas and ponchos during rainy weather, and chairs to voters with disabilities and elderly voters. Tr. 1954:17-1955:8 (Slater). The Florida NAACP has done this work for decades, in service of its civic engagement mission. *Id.* at 1956:2-5.
- 619. This activity is designed to "ensure that [voters] stay in line" and to communicate that their vote matters. *Id.* at 1954:15-16; Tr. 517: 4-11 (Brown). The Florida NAACP provides this non-partisan relief to any voter waiting in line, often at their request, and within the 150-feet no-solicitation zone. Tr. 1956:13-24; 1959:3-1960:2 (Slater). Voters are relieved to see the Florida NAACP providing this support at polling places. *Id.* at 1960:22-1961:2.
- 620. Under SB 90's Line Relief Provision, this expressive conduct may now be a crime. Tr. 528:19-529:10 (Brown); Tr. 1961:7-8 (Slater). As a result, the Florida NAACP will no longer engage in line relief work. Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater).

- 621. Therefore, voters will be forced to remain in long lines without much-needed support, and some may even forego voting altogether rather than remain in long lines without such support. Tr. 1963:17-1964:5 (Slater).
- 622. Additionally, all the Challenged Provisions make it substantially more difficult for the Florida NAACP to engage in its civic engagement mission, as the Florida NAACP has been forced to divert resources to respond to this new law. Tr. 531:8-533:10 (Brown).
- 623. Because the Florida NAACP is responding to the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 by assisting and educating its members and other Florida voters to ensure they can vote, SB 90 will require the Florida NAACP to divert time, money, and resources away from other activities, such as programming, and initiatives concerning the school-to-prison pipeline and eliminating academic, and educational inequities and mass incarceration. *Id*.
- 624. Indeed, the Florida NAACP has already started creating educational materials to inform its members about the new requirements under SB 90, including preparing to print and distribute flyers to its members to educate them about SB 90's changes. *Id.* at 532:10-15.
- 625. In addition, the Florida NAACP has dedicated significant portions of its executive leadership meetings to discussing and planning efforts it will need to undertake to educate its members about SB 90. *Id.* at 531:6-15.

B. Common Cause

- 626. The Drop Box and VBM Application Provisions of SB 90 have injured Common Cause by causing the organization to divert resources from its other programs.
- 627. Common Cause has already spent \$10,000, and plans to spend more to create educational resources for Florida voters to ensure that they understand the changes that SB 90 makes, and to ensure that each voter understands how to obtain and cast their ballot. Tr. 544:10-24 (Albert).
- 628. In addition, Common Cause anticipates having to hire at least five community organizers—at least two more than the organization employed during the 2020 General Election—to interact with voters and educate them on their options for voting after SB 90. *Id.* at 544:25–545:21, 556:25-557:25 (Albert). The additional community organizers will cost Common Cause at least \$100,000.
- 629. In the absence of SB 90, Common Cause would have used these resources to fund its ethics and redistricting campaigns. *Id.* at 558:4-8, 559:4-13 (Albert).

C. Disability Rights Florida

- 630. As a Protection and Advocacy ("P&A") organization for individuals with disabilities, DRF is charged with advocating for and protecting the rights of all individuals with disabilities in Florida. Tr. 434:18-436:21, 437:12-15 (DePalma).
- or more disabilities, including voters with vision difficulty (799,988 individuals), cognitive difficulty (922,905 individuals), ambulatory difficulty (1,522,812 individuals), self-care difficulty (536,621 individuals), and independent living difficulty (1,037,535 individuals). ECF No. 456-19 ¶ 26, 28, Figure 5 (Cooper Rpt.). Approximately 20.5% of voting age Floridians with a disability live alone. *Id.* ¶ 29.
- 632. DRF works to increase the political participation of individuals with disabilities, including by addressing barriers to voting that voters with disabilities face and by increasing opportunities for people residing in a range of congregate facilities to vote. Tr. 441:22-442:2 (DePalma). DRF engages in legislative and public advocacy on these issues, directly engages with and trains election officials and voters on expanding voting accessibility, promotes robust voter registration, and engages in voter hotline and voter education efforts. *Id.* at 442:6-10, 442:19-443:6.
- 633. DRF is concerned about the ways the Challenged Provisions will make it more difficult for voters with disabilities to vote. For example, limiting where,

when, and how drop boxes can be used reduces the availability of a mode of voting that is accessible for people with disabilities. Tr. 465:17-466:2 (DePalma).

- 634. DRF has concerns that many SOEs' websites are not accessible for people with visual and cognitive impairments, and believes that requesting VBM ballots on such websites twice as frequently due to SB 90's changes to standing requests will impose a burden on voters with disabilities. Tr. 454:14-455:5 (DePalma).
- 635. As a result, DRF has commissioned an accessibility audit, which will cost approximately \$82,000, to review all 67 SOE websites to assess whether they are compatible with screen readers and accessible for people with disabilities now that voters will have to attempt to utilize these websites twice as often to request VBM ballots. Tr. 468:23-469:15, 472:21-473:10, 474:7-24 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:5-7, 2731:11-13 (Babis).
- 636. Requesting vote-by-mail ballots by calling SOE offices is also burdensome for some voters with disabilities, and they will be burdened by having to make these requests twice as often as well. Tr. 493:21-494:8 (DePalma).
- 637. Imposing potential criminal penalties for individuals who provide relief, such as free food and water or other assistance to people standing in line to vote will also burden voters with disabilities who rely on this assistance. *See* Tr. 2743:16-2744:13 (Babis).

- 638. DRF has also developed new educational resources explaining SB 90's changes, which will cost between \$5,000 and \$9,000 dollars. Tr. 475:14-476:1, 476:8-477:5 (DePalma). DRF will distribute these materials to ADA coordinators at the city and county level, SOEs' offices, and not-for-profit organizations. *Id.* at 476:190-22.
- 639. To educate its constituents about SB 90, and to seek to minimize the impact of the Challenged Provisions, DRF has been forced to divert time, money, and resources away from other activities. Tr. 474:20-24 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:24-2736:15-2737:3 2734:18-2736:3, 2733:11-24, 2734:3-6, 2733:4, Specifically, DRF would have focused its voting-related efforts on lobbying legislators and working with election officials to increase supervised facility voting, Tr. 2732:17-2733:4 (Babis); engaging with election officials to implement and increase awareness of accessible VBM balloting that allows a blind individual to cast a ballot in a confidential and private manner, id. at 2735:18-2736:3 (Babis); and producing videos demonstrating how to use accessible in-person voting machines, which would have cost approximately \$30,000, id. at 2735:14-24 (Babis). Instead, the time and resources that would have been used for those programs and efforts have been reallocated to work addressing the effects of SB 90 on voters with disabilities. *Id.* at 2734:3-6.

- 640. In addition, DRF approved a new Voting Outreach Specialist in its 2021-2022 budget. The position was intended to help implement fully accessible VBM balloting in the state, but the individual who fills the role will now focus on addressing the ramifications of SB 90, including distributing information and conducting outreach to SOEs. Tr. 483:11-484:5 (DePalma).
- 641. Individuals with disabilities, who are constituents of DRF, testified to the burdens imposed by the Challenged provisions of SB 90. *See* Tr. 1100:18-1101:8 (Rogers); Tr. 1608:13-20 (Brigham); Tr. 2099:11-18 (Zukeran); Tr. 2083:22-2084:8 (Slaughter); Tr. 1591:22-1593:4 (Teti).

D. Florida Rising Together

- 642. Andrea Mercado is the Executive Director of FRT. Tr. 2032:7-10 (Mercado). She previously was Executive Director of New Florida Majority Education Fund, which merged with Organize Florida Education Fund to form FRT. *Id.* at 2032:11-17, 2032:23-2033:1.
- 643. FRT's efforts to expand democracy include voter registration, voter education, and election protection. *Id.* at 2034:5-8 (Mercado).
- 644. FRT began registering voters in October 2021, recognizing that there are many people in FRT's communities, specifically many Blacks and Latinos, who are eligible to vote but are not voting and are registered to vote at lower rates than their white counterparts. FRT aims to expand democracy by having a voting

population that represents the diversity of the communities in Florida. *Id.* at 2034:12-23. FRT has registered more than 2,000 individuals. *Id.* at 2034:24-2035:1. FRT has been registering voters in Miami-Dade, Broward, Orange, Osceola, Gadsden, and Duval Counties. *Id.* at 2036:11-13.

- 645. FRT's predecessors, New Florida Majority Education Fund and Organize Florida Education Fund Majority Education, each registered over 100,000 Florida voters. Tr. 2035:2-15 (Mercado). Over 85% of the people that New Florida Majority Education Fund registered were people of color. *Id.* at 2035:20-21 (Mercado).
- 646. FRT hires and trains professional voter registration canvassers or democracy organizers, who may register potential voters at their homes or at high-density sites such as laundromats, bus stops, carnivals, and Departments of Motor Vehicles, specifically targeting African-Americans and Latinos. *Id.* at 2035:23-2036:8.
- 647. Due to SB 90, the training that FRT provides its canvassers, which was previously conducted by New Florida Majority Education Fund, has increased in length from two to three hours because FRT had to add a new component concerning delivery of the required disclaimer. *Id.* at 2036:14-2037:10. FRT's canvassers must also be trained on a new procedure: After completing a voter registration form the

voter is asked to sign a note confirming receipt of the disclaimer as proof that FRT's canvassers are complying with the new law. *Id.* at 2037:16-24.

- 648. The Registration Disclaimer Provision has lengthened the time that a canvasser has to spend with a registering voter. Tr. 2037:25-2038:6 (Mercado). The disclaimer requirement also interferes with canvassers' interactions with the individuals they are registering and undermines trust in and the credibility of FRT. *Id.* at 2038:7-24. FRT has had some canvassers quit out of frustration over the disclaimer, *id.* at 2038:25-2039:8, and while canvassers previously collected approximately 300 registration forms during a 29-hour work week, in the wake of SB 90 that number has dropped to just 100 per week. *Id.* at 2039:9-17.
- 649. In addition, in view of SB 90, canvassers receive an hour of retraining if they turn in a registration form without a signed acknowledgement of the disclaimer. Also because of the Registration Delivery Provision, registration forms completed by residents of other counties have to be identified and mailed to the SOEs of their counties of residence. *Id.* at 2040:16-2041:7. Otherwise, FRT submits the forms to the SOEs' offices in person. *Id.* at 2041:19-2042:5.
- 650. FRT conducts a quality control review of collected registration forms and tracks the applications to ensure they are submitted to the SOEs in advance of applicable deadlines. Tr. at 2042:6-2043:3 (Mercado). FRT has not submitted any forms late since it began registering voters in October 2021. *Id.* at 2043:4-6.

- 651. Owing to SB 90, FRT will have to hire more canvassers just to collect the same number of registration forms, and FRT has hired three part-time quality control managers to conduct quality control checks and retraining. *Id.* at 2043:12-2044:2.
- 652. FRT aims to register 100,000 voters by October 2022. The requirements imposed by SB 90 have increased the resources that FRT must expend to get the same number of voters registered. *Id.* at 2044:3-14.
- 653. Moreover, because the registration process has been extended by SB 90, FRT has stopped its practice of using the registration interaction to provide vote-by-mail education. And because voter registration is taking more time and resources, FRT has focused less on other subjects such as housing justice. *Id.* at 2044:15-2045:9.
- 654. During the 2020 election, FRT provided assistance, such as food and water, to voters waiting in line at polling places. According to FRT's Ms. Mercado, given that long lines have at times been used to dissuade people from voting and given that election day in Florida may be hot or rainy, FRT endeavors to make waiting voters feel more comfortable. That in turn will cause some voters to decide to stay and vote. *Id.* at 2045:16-2046:10.
- 655. In 2020, the New Florida Majority Education Fund provided assistance to voters in Miami-Dade, Broward, Palm Beach, and Duval Counties. FRT also

partnered with Organize Florida Education Fund and others in Orange, Osceola, Hillsborough, Pinellas Counties and others. Tr. 2046:11-21 (Mercado).

- 656. In 2020, FRT provided aid to voters waiting in line within 150 feet of the polls. *Id.* at 2046:22-2047:3.
- 657. Ms. Mercado testified that she understands that the Line Relief Provision bars providing assistance to voters within 150 feet of polling places. *Id.* at 2047:4-8. FRT is concerned that the 150 foot zone imposed by SB 90 will not be enforced precisely and consistently. *Id.* at 2047:18-2048.2. FRT is responding by investing in more visible signage and tents or canopies to inform voters where assistance is available. *Id.* at 2047:9-17. These new investments will diminish FRT's ability to pursue its other initiatives such as housing justice. *Id.* at 2044:15-2045:9, 2051:19-2052:15.
- 658. FRT has spent an estimated 80 staff hours educating voters about SB 90 which could have been spent on other FRT activities. Tr. 2048:18-21 (Mercado).
- 659. Ms. Mercado also expressed concern, based in part on comments by FRT members, about the fact that the by limiting the availability of drop boxes and by requiring supervision of drop boxes that some voters may find intimidating, the Drop Box Provision will impact FRT members who have used drop boxes after their working day concludes. *Id.* at 2048:18-2049:9.

- 660. Ms. Mercado also pointed to the fact that, per the VBM Request Identification, vote-by-mail requests require identification in the form of a Florida driver's license or a Social Security Number. Blacks and Latinos are less likely to have either. *Id.* at 2050:7-24.
- 661. Before SB 90, FRT's predecessor produced extensive materials in three languages about vote-by-mail being a good option for people who want to vote from the comfort of their home. *Id.* at 2050:25-2051:6. The predecessor sent out 14,000 vote-by-mail applications, but FRT has abandoned that effort as a consequence of SB 90 and the change to the renewal requirement. *Id.* at 2050:25-2051:15.
- 662. The resources and energy that FRT is devoting to responding to SB 90 could otherwise have been used to further FRT's other interests such as vaccine education, educating members on how to participate in democracy, and supporting families facing eviction. FRT also would have preferred to devote its resources to hiring more frontline organizers to interact with community members. *Id.* at 2051:19-2052:15. Ms. Mercado expects that SB 90 will make "even more difficult" and "more challenging" FRT's mission of expanding democracy. *Id.* at 2052:18-20.

E. Poder Latinx

663. Esteban Garces is a founder and Co-Executive Director of Poder Latinx ("PL"). Tr. 186:23-25 (Garces).

- 664. PL's civic engagement programs include voter registration, voter education, voter turnout, and voter protection. *Id.* at 191:19-22. It carries out these programs in Orange, Osceola, Seminole, Lake, Polk, Lee, Palm Beach, and Volusia Counties. *Id.* at 193:12-16.
- 665. PL began registering voters in September 2019. *Id.* at 191:23-192:3. Its voter registration program is at the core of its mission to expand the Latinx electorate and increase its political participation. *Id.* at 193:25-194:16. In 2020, PL registered 33,000 voters in central Florida, exceeding its goal to register 30,000 voters. *Id.* at 191:9-13.
- 666. PL trains its canvassers on how to engage with voters in the field, including their legal obligations, and supervises their activities. *Id.* at 196:6-198:8. Its canvassers aim to educate and register voters in high-density areas where there is high foot traffic for the Latinx community, including supermarkets, libraries, and concerts. *Id.* at 194:19-195:16. PL engages in these in-person voter registration activities because doing so is more effective than registering voters online. *Id.* at 195:17-196:5.
- 667. Before SB 90, PL conducted a quality control review of collected registration forms to ensure the voter information it collected was accurate and the forms are submitted to the SOEs on time. *Id.* at 198:9-199:14. It would then drive the forms to deliver them to the SOE offices in Osceola and Orange Counties—the

latter of which would collect voter registration forms regardless of the county in which the voter lived. *Id.* at 201:2-14.

- 668. Since PL began registering voters in 2019, there have been two instances when it did not submit voter registration forms to Supervisors within the required time period—one involving 5 registrations and the other involving 50 registrations. *Id.* at 201:18-202:3. These 55 voter registrations were not submitted after book closing and constitute about "one-tenth of 1 percent" of the 40,516 total voter registrations that PL has submitted on behalf of Florida voters since it was founded. *Id.* at 202:17-19; 233:25-235:16. In response, PL improved its quality control process and has not submitted any late registration forms since it made those improvements. *Id.* at 202:4-22.
- 669. Since SB 90 took effect, PL has registered between 1,800 and 1,900 voters. *Id.* at 203:1-6.
- 670. The Registration Delivery Provision has increased the resource demands on PL's quality control process. First, because of SB 90, registration forms must be checked to make sure that it matches with the county that the voter has placed on the form. *Id.* at 207:24-208:11. It implemented this change in response to one occasion where PL was threatened with a fine by an SOE because a voter had listed the wrong county on their registration form. *Id.* at 209:1-15. Second, PL must now sort all voter registrations it submits by county to make sure they will be

delivered to the appropriate Supervisor. *Id.* at 208:12-15. Third, it must now either pay to mail or drive voter registrations to the appropriate Supervisors' offices. *Id.* at 208:16-22.

- 671. Over an eight-week voter registration program in 2021, it cost PL over \$4,500 to comply with SB 90's delivery restriction—\$476 in mail costs and \$4,100 in staff time. *Id.* at 210:6-21. In 2022, PL expects that cost to be between \$40,000 and \$50,000. *Id.* at 210:22-211:3.
- 672. The Registration Disclaimer Provision has lengthened the voter registration training that PL's canvassers receive. **Id.* at 203:12-24. Owing to SB 90, PL also now requires its canvassers to obtain signed acknowledgement forms from voters as a method of confirming the disclaimer has been delivered. **Id.* at 204:6-15.
- because it implies that the organization is not trustworthy. *Id.* at 206:23-207:23. Indeed, PL suffers "reputational harm . . . every time [it has] a conversation with a voter." *Id.* at 205:11-206:13. Though PL has only registered 1,800 to 1,900 voters since SB 90 took effect, it expects that reputational harm to be "ten times or more" that amount when it expands its program in the future. *Id.* at 206:7-13.
- 674. The Registration Disclaimer Provision also interferes with PL's ability to register voters. *Id.* at 207:8-16. First, it has lengthened the time that a canvasser

spends on each voter registration, taking away time to register another potential voter. *Id.* at 206:14-22. Second, PL has already seen two voters refuse to register with their organization because of the disclaimer. *Id.* at 205:11-206:1. Moreover, about one-to-three applicants a week express serious concerns and questions about the disclaimer. *Id.* at 205:21-206:6.

- encourage the Latinx community to vote, particularly low-propensity Latinx voters. *Id.* at 211:24-214:7. In 2020, PL's voter education program reached out by phone and by text to voters across the state. *Id.* at 193:17-24. Its voter turnout program also knocked on 105,000 doors ahead of the 2020 election. *Id.* at 191:9-18. Depending on how much time remained before the 2020 election day, it encouraged voters to vote by mail, by drop box, or in person, and provided information to voters on how to do so. *Id.* at 214:14-215:4.
- 676. PL expects that the VBM Request Identification will constitute a barrier to voting for the Latinx community it serves, because the voter identification requirement makes it a more onerous process than it was pre-SB 90. *Id.* at 215:20-216:17. PL has decided to forego helping its voters vote-by-mail as a result. *Id.*
- 677. PL expects that the Drop Box Provision, and the corresponding loss of 24/7 availability of drop boxes, will result in longer lines at polling places for the Latinx community the organization serves. *Id.* at 216:18-217:11. Owing to SB 90's

restrictions on drop boxes, PL plans to start a transportation program to get voters to the polls—for which it has allocated \$15,000. *Id.* at 217:3-11; 217:24-218:4. PL staff will also need to perform additional research on drop box availability for its voters. *Id.* at 217:12-23.

- 678. In 2020, PL's voter protection program provided language assistance to voters at polling places in Orange and Osceola Counties. *Id.* at 218:5-17; 219:20-220:18; 222:8-10. In 2020, PL provided these services to voters waiting in line within 50 feet of the polls. *Id.* at 218:7-17.
- 679. Mr. Garces testified that the Line Relief Provision bars providing language assistance to voters within 150 feet of polling places, because it would encourage voters to stay in line. *Id.* at 222:14-20. Due to the 150-foot distance, PL is responding by investing in other channels—such as social media or a \$20,000 one-hour segment on television—to let voters know they are present to provide language assistance. *Id.* at 222:21-223:16.
- 680. The resources and energy that PL is devoting to responding to SB 90 could otherwise have been used to invest in the future growth of its organization and to hire additional, dedicated staff members for its current programs. *Id.* at 223:20-224:10. In addition to increased costs and staff time, Mr. Garces testified that SB 90 is "really harmful" for PL's civic engagement mission in that it will impose reputation harms and decrease voter turnout. *Id.* at 224:11-25.

F. Equal Ground

- 681. As a result of SB 90, Equal Ground ("EG") has halted its voter registration program and did not conduct one of its main voter mobilization efforts, "Souls to the Polls," during the 2021 Florida municipal elections. Tr. 392:8-13; 398:3-24; 399:22-24 (Burney-Clark).
- 682. EG founder and consulting director, Jasmine Burney-Clark, testified that Registration Disclaimer Requirement "directly harms" EG's voter registration program, as sharing the disclaimer would "tarnish the reputation" of EG and erode trust in the communities where EG is known as a "refiable resource." Id. at 388:15-389:5. SB 90 was "ultimately the factor" behind EG's decision to stop registering voters, as the organization decided it could not provide a service that would "harm [its] community or [its] reputation as an organization." *Id.* at 392:8-13. Furthermore, the Registration Delivery Provision's requirement that voter registration applications be delivered to the voter's county of residence made it "almost cost prohibitive" for EG to deliver registrations, since EG, being headquartered in a tourist hotspot, frequently registered voters from counties across Florida. Id. at 392:24-393:13. SB 90 also caused EG to discontinue the "Souls to the Polls" events that EG had previously held in 20 Florida Counties. *Id.* at 393:14 -398:24.
 - 683. According to EG's Ms. Burney-Clark:

Souls to the Polls actually was started in the '90s and became much more mainstream in the 2000s. It is a tool that was used by the Black church. Because of the Black church's reach, they used it to harness their power by sort of breaking down barriers to the elections process and creating more accessible ways for people to be able to make it to their polling sites. So Black pastors use it to shepherd their members into church on Sunday. Members would hear messages of hope and inspiration, but — and then they'd be able to then from there pray over their members, pray over their ballots, and then pray over the process or process of a caravan, a march or a walk to the polling places.

Id. at 393:22-394:9.

684. Ms. Burney-Clark explained:

We launched our Souls to the Polls program because we know how deeply connected and rooted Black churches are in the South, Black churches are in Florida, and our relationship to the Black church is paramount. Black leaders are the backbone of the community. Again, churches have been used as a safe haven for organizing within the civil rights community, and so we found that, again, they had a reach that was quite monumental. . . . So we work with a faith network of pastors across the state of Florida. This network consists of pastors who are leaders of Christian clergy networks. So those clergy networks can range from either 50 to 100 churches in each of those 20 counties, and we estimate that there are about 60,000 parishioners who belong to the 50 to 10 -- or 100 churches per county that we work in. So we believe about 60,000 individuals.

Id. at 394:21-395:2; 395:13-19.

According to Burney-Clark, the choice of event locations and the proximity of drop boxes was key to EG's Souls to the Polls program:

[W]e wanted to work in predominantly Black communities; we wanted to work in the best proximity to where a church was in coordination to where a drop box or early vote site was, and we

also wanted to make sure that it was in one of the most highly visible and accessible areas for the Black community. And so we used those as factors to determine where these drop boxes would either be placed or where we would go to host our events. . . . So we worked with the pastors by hosting the Souls to the Polls events. We did the coordination with the Supervisors of Elections on their behalf to make sure that the drop boxes were at the location.

Id. at 396:8-15; 396:17-20.

685. The Drop Box Provision has thus made EG's Souls to the Polls effort impractical:

So I explained Souls to the Polls earlier as, you know, an event or a celebration that provided joy to folks, but it also does not happen without the presence of a drop box. We are not hosting parties and events for the sake of hosting them. We are creating tools of mobilization to help voters vote. And so these drop boxes and the elimination of them from the sites where we previously were able to hold Souls to the Polls means that we are removing the very tool that we had been using to help people be able to vote. So without that or the absence of a drop box, we are now removing the ability for a person to be able to vote in community with the folks that they've been doing that with since the '90s.

Id. at 397:12-23.

686. Additionally, EG held 80 percent of its 2020 "Souls to the Polls" events within 150 feet of a polling place or drop box, and, as an extension of "Souls to the Polls," provided line relief assistance, such as providing voters with waters, fans and seating. *Id.* at 422:4-15; 400:10-401:8. Due to the Line Relief Provision, EG is no longer able to provide this assistance. *Id.* at 402:12-22. SB 90 has also caused EG

to terminate its efforts, conducted in Orange, Volusia, Seminole, and Pinellas Counties to assist voters, waiting in lines outside of polling places. *Id.* at 402:5-403:4; 411:15-17. As Ms. Burney-Clark explained:

[W]e have been able to go to the polls, provide folks with food, water, fans, and seating and sometimes even entertainment. And we've done this as a way to ensure voters stay in line and commit to voting as opposed to choosing between some of their bodily needs that could be affected by the weather while they are standing in those long lines. And so if we could give them some assistance while they're there, our hope is that they will not have to decide between casting their ballot or taking care of some of their personal needs.

Id. at 400:24-401:8.

687. Such aid is of particular importance in Black neighborhoods where the lines tend to be long:

[I]n Black communities there are oftentimes polling place

[I]n Black communities there are oftentimes polling place changes during either early voting or on election day, whether that has to do with capacity or shifts in sizes of the community. And what we've really seen during early voting is that there are some historical sites in Black communities where folks are known to be able to go and vote at. And because they are known, they've been there for a little while, those lines tend to be much longer than some of the other polling places in the community. What we also know is that some of those polling places are smaller in size, just based off of where the Supervisor has chosen to place that polling place and/or resource that polling place. So if they are smaller in size, staff size could also be a result of why that polling place may have long lines. So those are some of the things that we've seen in our community that have been a factor that has contributed to the time frame a person could be standing in a line within the Black community.

Id. at 401:12-402:4.

- 688. However, Ms. Burney-Clark understands SB 90 to prohibit such activities: "I'm aware that we, as a third-party organization, are no longer able to provide people with food, water, fans, umbrellas, while they are standing in long lines at the polling place." *Id.* at 402:14-16.
- 689. While EG has canceled certain programs owing to SB 90, EG has also expended significant resources to adapt to the changes imposed by the bill. In light of the bill, EG has hired two new staffers, a program manager and a political director who spend about 75% and 60% of their time, respectively on SB 90-related work. *Id.* at 418:22-419:3. As Ms. Burney-Clark testified:

[W]e have had to divert resources. More specifically, we have had to hire a program manager whose job was to determine what the impacts of SB 90 would be on the community, develop a tool of resources that we could get to the community, and also attend events that were hosted throughout the community so we could educate people on SB 90. In addition to the program manager position, we also decided to hire a political director for the organization as well. This is more of a higher level role that could think more strategically and long term about its impacts, as well as have conversations with the Supervisor of Elections to ensure that we are properly interpreting and communicating to the community what and how this impacts us.

Id. at 391:16-392:3. The positions are funded from monies that would, absent SB 90, have been spent on voter registration and "Souls to the Polls," and from EG's reserves. *Id.* at 409:15-18.

690. EG is also doubling its spending on voter education, largely because of SB 90. *Id.* at 403:16-19; 405:18-406:10; 406:23-407:6. As Ms. Burney-Clark

testified: "[W]e have had to mass produce, again, voter education content that would explain to people what SB 90 means, how it impacts them, how it impacts our programming, and we've had to, again, pay for the fees and costs associated with going into the community at events, festivals, back-to-school drives, things of that nature." *Id.* at 403:20-25. This education includes materials notifying community members that Equal Ground can no longer provide line relief activities as a result of SB 90, as well as palm-sized handouts to break down how SB 90 affects voters in an easily digestible format. *Id.* at 403:5-15; 405:1-14.

691. SB 90 has thus ended EG's plans to expand its voter registration efforts and its "Souls to the Polls" program, and has diverted resources from other organizational goals, including increasing outreach to churches and potential voters, managing misinformation in the community, and expanding EG's staff. *Id.* at 411:21-412:21. In fact, Ms. Burney-Clark stated that SB 90 has created financial burdens for EG that raise serious questions about the future of the organization and the prospect of layoffs or other cutbacks. *Id.* at 407:21-408:4.

G. Hispanic Federation

- 692. Frederick Velez, III, Burgos is the National Director of Civic Engagement of Hispanic Federation ("HF"). Tr. 716:12-13 (Velez).
- 693. HF's civic engagement program includes voter registration, "Get Out The Vote" ("GOTV"), and voter education. *Id.* at 719:11-720:4.

- 694. HF's voter registration program engages in canvassing targeted towards Latino voters at places like churches, supermarkets, salons, and special events, in addition to digital campaigns. *Id.* at 724:1-725:10. In 2020, HF budgeted nearly \$1 million for its program in Florida. *Id.* at 728:24-729:2. HF's in-person program registers voters in Hillsborough, Polk, Osceola, Orange, Seminole, Lake, Volusia, Miami-Dade, and Broward Counties. *Id.* at 722:8-17. At special events, however, it is common for HF to register people from 20 to 30 counties who have traveled to Orlando for a festival, for example. *Id.* at 725:16-23.
- 695. HF also supports the civic engagement activities of its member agencies—all of which are nonprofit organizations. *Id.* at 780:14-17. HF assists its member agencies through technical capacity building and by providing subgrant funding. *Id.* at 780:20-23.
- 696. In 2020, HF's budget for its civic engagement program in Florida was about \$2 million—of which the principal components were pay for staff and canvassers, voter outreach, transportation, and printing costs. *Id.* at 718:16-17. The principal components of its budget were pay for its staff and canvassers, voter outreach, transportation, and printing costs. *Id.* at 718:18-25. In 2020, HF had seven full-time staff members and about 70 canvassers in Florida. *Id.* at 722:2-7.
- 697. HF registered over 60,000 voters during the 2016 election cycle. *Id.* at 726:3. Comparatively, it registered about 18,000 voters during the 2020 election

cycle. *Id.* at 726:17-21. In addition to the pandemic, Mr. Velez Burgos attributed a portion of this decrease to HF's temporary shift to remote-only voter registration techniques, which are less effective in getting voters to register than in-person canvassing. *Id.* at 726:22-728:23.

698. Before SB 90, HF trained its voter registration canvassers with an initial two- to three-hour training session and shorter weekly refresher trainings. *Id.* at 729:9-20. HF then conducted a quality control review to verify each voter registration form it collected and to ensure the accuracy of the information. *Id.* at 729:21-730:10; 730:21-23. In 2020, HF had three full-time staff members working on quality control. *Id.* at 729:21-24. An HF staff member would then drive to either the Orange County or Osceola County Supervisor of Elections' office to deliver the forms in-person and within the required ten-day period. *Id.* at 730:11-18; 731:2-12. HF did not mail forms because of the confidential information they contain and the assurance that hand-delivery provides. *Id.* at 731:16-732:1.

699. Mr. Velez Burgos was aware of one occasion in 2017 when HF discovered it had misfiled a voter registration form and did not submit it to the SOE's office within the ten-day time period. *Id.* at 732:2-11. HF investigated the issue, self-reported the late submission to the Supervisor's office, and worked with the voter to register them in time for the election. *Id.* at 732:11-19; 792:25-793:5. In

response, HF improved its quality control process and has not since had any issues since 2017. *Id.* at 732:22-733:5.

- 700. HF will restart its in-person voter registration activities in late February or early March 2022. *Id.* at 729:3-8.
- 701. The Registration Disclaimer Provision will increase the time and resource demands of HF's quality control process. *Id.* at 769:18-770:1. For example, HF will need to hire an additional quality control staff member to comply with SB 90—an additional \$30,000 to \$40,000 per year that it would otherwise have allocated to hiring more canvassers. *Id.* at 770:2-9. HF also now plans to use its quality control staff to hand-deliver voter registration forms to Supervisor's offices in the voters' counties of residence. *Id.* at 769:24-770:1. When its staff members cannot drive to Supervisors' offices due to prohibitive distance, HF will now mail voter registration forms to the correct Supervisors' offices—an estimated "couple of thousand dollars more" in expenses. *Id.* at 776:3-14.at 776:3-14.
- 702. The Registration Disclaimer Provision interferes with HF's ability to register voters, because it forces HF's canvassers to imply that the organization is not trustworthy. *Id.* at 768:10-769:2; 794:2-4. HF has also consulted with outside counsel and has determined that it will print the disclaimer to comply with SB 90—incurring new legal and printing costs. *Id.* at 765:2-766:7; 789:17-19; 794:5-795:2. The disclaimer requirement will also harm HF's reputation in the communities it

serves, which will diminish the organization's ability to pursue other core parts of its mission (e.g., public health initiatives). *Id.* at 771:10-772:16. Furthermore, each voter that decides after receiving the disclaimer to instead rely on an online registration tool that HF provides will cost the organization \$1.70 per registration—or an estimated additional cost of \$4,000 to \$5,000. *Id.* at 770:10-771:9; 776:8.

- 703. Some HF member agencies may "refrain from registering voters" altogether "because they also fear that using that disclaimer will harm the trust that people have in them." *Id.* at 772:3-7.
- 704. Owing to both the Registration Delivery and Disclaimer Provisions, the cost of HF's voter registration program in 2022 will increase by about \$150,000 to \$200,000 in order to reach a similar 20,000-voter goal as the 2020 election. *Id.* at 775:7-23. As part of that adjusted cost, HF will need to hire three more canvassers to reach its voter registration goal—totaling about \$60,000 in additional expenditures. *Id.* at 775:24-776:2. It will also spend additional staff time to retrain its canvassers to comply with SB 90's requirements. *Id.* at 800:6-16.
- 705. HF's voter education programs seek to advance and empower Hispanic communities by providing voters with information via text, phone, social media, television, and radio campaigns in both English and Spanish. *Id.* at 733:22-735:1. HF's voter education program reaches voters in every county in Florida. *Id.* at 723:4-8. HF's GOTV program also informs Latino voters on how to obtain VBM

ballots and the hours and locations of drop boxes. *Id.* at 735:15-736:20; 784:25-785:1.

706. During the 2020 election cycle, HF's voter education and GOTV programs engaged with about 520,000 voters, of which 226,000 voted by mail. *Id.* at 737:23-738:1. HF spent about \$300,000 on its voter education and GOTV programs. *Id.* at 735:8-14.

707. In response to the VBM Request Identification and VBM Application Provision, HF will create new voter educational materials including more spending on TV and radio media, to inform and follow-up with voters on how these changes will affect them. *Id.* at 757:2-21; 762:23-763-75; 801:2-8. For example, the VBM Application Provision will cause HF to conduct more outreach to "SuperVoters"—or someone who has voted in each of the past four election cycles—to alert them to the need to renew their VBM requests or changes to a drop box location and availability. *Id.* at 758:21-760:19. Each new interaction with these voters costs HF six cents per text message and/or staff time to make phone calls. *Id.* at 760:20-761:25.

708. HF also incorporates assisting voters with requesting VBM ballots in its voter registration program. *Id.* at 726:4-14; 757:22-25. The VBM Application Provision will lengthen the amount of time its canvassers spend on each voter interaction because they will need to explain why they are asking for sensitive

information, which will result in a decreased production rate for HF's voter registration program. *Id.* at 758:1-20. HF also expects a further decrease in the number of Latino voters it is able to register because SB 90 requires them to provide a canvasser with confidential information. *Id.* at 767:20-768:9.

709. Owing to the cumulative consequences of the Registration Disclaimer and Delivery Provisions, VBM Request Identification, and Drop Box Provision, HF plans to decrease its communications budget to accommodate hiring additional canvassers and quality control staff for its voter registration program—thus decreasing the amount of voters HF reaches despite these voters' increased need for information about SB 90's changes. *Id.* at 761:1-762:8. As a result, HF expects to reach about 150,000 fewer voters than it planned to in 2022. *Id.* at 778:21-24. Moreover, SB 90's increased demand on HF's resources also means it will have to consolidate satellite offices or forego the opportunity to reach voters in additional counties. *Id.* at 762:9-22; 778:25-779:14; 817:7-18.

710. HF provides polling place assistance to Florida voters, including language assistance to Latino voters and providing food, water, and phone chargers to voters waiting in long lines. *Id.* at 741:12-742:1. It also assists disabled voters in reaching the polling booth and provides disabled and elderly voters with rides to the polls—dropping them off inside the non-solicitation zone. *Id.* at 742:1-8; 744:18-745:8. HF provides these services in Orange, Osceola, Miami-Dade, and Broward

County. *Id.* at 722:23-723:3. Before SB 90, HF provided both language assistance and comfort items like refreshments and phone charges to voters waiting in line within 150 feet of the polls. *Id.* at 742:16-743:24; 810:9-25. During the 2020 election, HF provided subgrant funding for its member organizations to conduct "line warming" activities. *Id.* at 784:8-13; 810:13-17.

- 711. When HF provides voters waiting in line with food, water, and phone charges, it encourages voters to "[p]lease stay in line until you exercise your right to vote." *Id.* at 744:5-15. When lines are long, HF staff members go to replenish their food and water supplies to "make sure that people stay in line" to vote. *Id.* at 743:25-744:4.
- 712. HF only provides polling place assistance to voters that requested that assistance from their organization. *Id.* at 747:1-13; 811:16-22.
- 713. Mr. Velez Burgos testified that the Line Relief Provision bars HF from handing out food within the non-solicitation zone, as it had done in the past. *Id.* at 746:3-9. It is unclear to HF whether handing out a bottle of water or dropping off a voter within 150 feet of the polling place constitutes "an attempt to influence a voter" prohibited by SB 90. *Id.* at 746:10-21. Some of HF's veteran canvassers are already fearful that providing these services may violate the law. *Id.* at 746:22-25; 773:3-13. Indeed, HF has already observed a "chilling effect" on its staff members' desire

to engage in this work, including language access and assisting disabled voters. *Id.* at 773:19-774:4.

- 714. Mr. Velez Burgos also testified about the "domino effect" increase of the length of lines at polling places that HF observes when vote by mail or drop box availability is restricted, which ultimately discourages eligible voters from voting. *Id.* at 738:6-15; 773:14-18. He also expects SB 90's restrictions on polling place assistance will also discourage voters from voting in-person. *Id.* at 774:5-16.
- 715. If HF cannot raise an additional \$200,000 to comply with SB 90's requirements, it will need to divert its general operating funds which are used to fund the organization's infrastructure, staff needs, and expansion into new states. *Id.* at 776:15-777:11; 807:19-808:13. Doing so would result in HF forgoing expansion of its civic engagement program into Pennsylvania. Id. at 777:12-19; 816:18-24. It would also diminish HF's capacity to provide support to its member agencies when an emergent need arises. *Id.* at 777:9-11.

H. UnidosUS

- 716. Jared Nordlund is the Florida state advocacy director of UnidosUS. Tr. 1403:15-16 (Nordlund).
- 717. UnidosUS's civic engagement program includes voter registration, voter education, and Get Out The Vote ("GOTV"). *Id.* at 1406:16-19.

- 718. UnidosUS engages in community-based canvassing in high-traffic commercial areas in densely populated Latino precincts, as well as online programs. *Id.* at 1406:20-1407:6, 1409:4-10. Since 2012, it has registered over 300,000 voters in Florida, including 72,000 voters in 2020. *Id.* at 1409:11-15, 1413:8-13. It carries out its voter registration program principally in Miami-Dade, Broward, Palm Beach, Osceola, Orange, Lake, Seminole, and Volusia Counties. *Id.* at 1409:22-25.
- 719. UnidosUS's budget for its 2020 Florida voter registration program was between \$3 and \$3.5 million. *Id.* at 1413:14-16. Its voter registration team in 2020 included three quality control managers and 50 canvassers. *Id.* at 1414:3-7. UnidosUS prepares and delivers training on voter registration to its staff members, including its quality control managers and canvassers. *Id.* at 1414:7-1415:1.
- 720. Since 2016, UnidesUS has also supported the in-person voter registration programs of its affiliate organizations. *Id.* at 1407:7-12, 1411:14-24. UnidosUS provides its Florida affiliates with both funding and training for their voter registration efforts. *Id.* at 1411:25-1413:3. These affiliates are based in Miami-Dade, Broward, Orange, Osceola, Brevard, and Hillsborough Counties. *Id.* at 1413:4-7.
- 721. UnidosUS conducts a quality control review of the voter registration forms it collects for completion and accuracy. *Id.* at 1415:2-12, 1416:5-21. Its process involves multiple layers of review and contacting at least 20% of voters,

which altogether takes about eight days. *Id.* at 1416:5-1417:2. It would then deliver the voter registrations it collected—including out-of-county registrations—to the Miami-Dade or Orange County Supervisors of Elections' office. *Id.* at 1417:6-1418:2. For example, Mr. Nordlund estimated that half of the forms UnidosUS delivered to the Orange County Supervisor's office in 2020 were from Osceola County residents. *Id.* at 1504:4-15. Before SB 90, UnidosUS did not deliver voter registrations to Supervisors via mail because: (i) it wanted to ensure that they would arrive within the ten-day time period; and (ii) the Supervisors' offices would forward out-of-county registrations to the appropriate county offices. *Id.* at 1418:3-1419:1.

722. Mr. Nordlund was aware of one instance in 2018 in which UnidosUS did not submit five voter registration forms within the required time period. *Id.* at 1419:6-13. Only two of the five voter registration forms were turned in after the book closing deadline. *Id.* at 1420:25-1421:18. In response, UnidosUS paid a fine, conducted an internal investigation to identify the cause, and improved its quality control process to make sure it did not happen again. *Id.* at 1419:14-1420:6, 1420:20-1421:24. Since 2012, UnidosUS has turned in five registration forms late out of an approximate total of 300,000 voter registrations it has submitted. *Id.* at 1420:8-16.

- 723. UnidosUS intends to resume in-person voter registration campaigns in Spring 2022. *Id.* at 1422:12-15. It is currently preparing its voter registration program for compliance with SB 90's provisions. *Id.* at 1496:6-13.
- 724. Due to the Registration Delivery Restriction, UnidosUS will implement new quality control processes to sort the registration forms by the voter's county of residence. *Id.* at 1424:13-1425:12. It will also now require canvassers to collect that information during each voter interaction, which will increase the time each new registration takes. *Id.* at 1427:5-1428:1. After its quality control process, UnidosUS will incur new expenses either: (i) to mail out-of-county registration forms to the correct Supervisors' offices or the Division of Elections; or (ii) to have staff drive registration forms to the correct Supervisors' offices to deliver them by hand. *Id.* at 1429:4-12, 1429:16-1430-1, 1430:12-1431:24, 1433:8-16.
- 725. Complying with the Registration Disclaimer Provision will also lengthen the amount of time UnidosUS's canvassers expend on each voter registration, thereby lowering its production to rates below pre-SB 90 levels. *Id.* at 1423:11-19. It will also expend resources and staff time to produce new training materials for its canvassers and field staff on how to comply with the law. *Id.* at 1424:4-12, 1425:13-18. UnidosUS also expects the disclaimer to undermine its reputation and trust in the community by giving voters the inaccurate impression that it habitually delivers voter registrations late. *Id.* at 1423:20-1424:3.

- 726. Though it typically tries to register the same number of voters every election cycle (i.e., 70,000 voters in 2020), UnidosUS expects to register about 20,000 less voters in the 2022 election cycle due to the additional time and expense it will incur to comply with SB 90's delivery and disclaimer provisions. *Id.* at 1434:17-1435:14, 1436:8-18. Mr. Nordlund projects that the cost per voter registration to UnidosUS will increase from \$30-35 to \$40-45 due to the cost of compliance with SB 90. *Id.* at 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17.
- The Registration Delivery and Disclaimer Provisions will also cost UnidosUS at least \$100,000 between hiring an additional 2-4 quality control staff and accounting for additional staff time to retrain canvassers. *Id.* at 1437:12-1438:5. If UnidosUS cannot fund this additional \$100,000 expense through additional fundraising, it will either need to pare down its voter registration program or reallocate resources currently dedicated to its voter education, GOTV, and issue advocacy campaigns to make up the difference. *Id.* at 1439:7-1441:3.
- 728. UnidosUS affiliate organizations' voter registration programs will also incur additional resources to comply with SB 90, such as for retraining staff and mailing voter registration forms to out-of-county Supervisors' offices. *Id.* at 1428:9-24. UnidosUS's affiliates with similarly affected in-person voter registration programs include: the Mexican American Council in Miami-Dade County; Hispanic Unity of Florida in Broward County; Hispanic Services Council in Hillsborough

County; and Latino Leadership in Orange, Broward, and Osceola Counties. *Id.* at 1434:6-12.

- 729. UnidosUS's voter education and GOTV programs provide Latino voters in Florida with information and assistance on how to request vote-by-mail ballots through its in-person voter registration efforts and via its paid digital mediums (e.g., website, ads). *Id.* at 1407:13-1408:12, 1484:22-1485:15. These programs reach voters statewide. *Id.* 1484:4-7. During the 2020 election cycle, UnidosUS helped about 25,000 Florida voters vote by mail. *Id.* at 1485:16-21.
- 730. UnidosUS expects that VBM Request Identification will result in voters submitting a higher rate of incomplete VBM applications than before. *Id.* at 1486:2-16. In response, UnidosUS plans to spend more staff time and money on additional efforts to educate voters on the requirements of the VBM application process. *Id.* at 1486:17-24, 1488:20-1489:21. It also expects to provide additional training to its canvassers on SB 90's requirements. *Id.* at 1488:5-11. UnidosUS's capacity to accommodate the additional cost of compliance with the VBM Request Identification will likewise be contingent upon securing additional funding or reducing funding for its other programs. *Id.* at 1489:22-1490:7.
- 731. UnidosUS is devoting additional resources to complying with SB 90—including staff and fundraising time—which will ultimately interfere with both the organization's ability to fulfill its mission of registering all eligible Latino voters and

its ability to pursue its complementary programs like its issue advocacy campaigns. *Id.* at 1490:8-21.

X. THE DEFENDANT'S CASE

A. Witnesses

732. In their case, Defendants called two expert witnesses, Dr. Quentin Kidd and Dr. Dario Moreno. Defendants also recalled Director of Elections Maria Matthews and Miami-Dade Supervisor Christina White, as well as Lee County Supervisor Tommy Doyle and the FSE contract lobbyist David Ramba.

1. Defendants' Experts

i. Dr. Quentin Kidd

733. Dr. Quentin Kidd is a Professor of Political Science at Christopher Newport University. He received a Ph.D. in Political Science from Texas Tech University. ECF No. 634-5 at (Kidd Rpt.). He has no training as a lawyer and has never been qualified as an expert in election laws, election administration, election mechanics, or comparative election laws. Tr. 2906:14-2907:21 (Kidd). His testimony has been excluded in multiple election law cases in which he was offered as an expert. Tr. 2909:8-2911:11 (Kidd).

⁹ Defendants initially disclosed Brad Lockerbie as an expert witness but did not call him to testify at trial. Because he did not testify, his expert report is not in evidence.

- 734. Dr. Kidd's testimony was offered to "place Florida into some context nationally" by comparing Florida's election laws to those in other states. Tr. 2906:5-11 (Kidd). Dr. Kidd also purported to provide a "comparison of certain aspects of SB 90 with . . . 49 other states and the District of Columbia." Tr. 2915: 8-12 (Kidd).
- 735. Dr. Kidd did not offer any opinion about how SB 90 (or any specific provision of SB 90) impacts Florida voters. Tr. 2904:21-2905:2 (Kidd). Dr. Kidd also testified that he did not analyze whether unique features of Florida law render Florida more or less restrictive "in terms of different modalities of voting." *Id.* at 2967:3-11.
- 736. Dr. Kidd's report was developed using a fundamentally flawed analysis, including conflating basic legal concepts such as "rules" with "recommendations" and "prohibited" with "unregulated." His original report lacked citations, and his supplemental report included widespread incorrect citations that did not support his classification of particular statutes. These incorrect citations are so numerous as to render his report unreproducible, and unreliable. Tr. 3535:24 3536:7, 3536:25-3537:13, 3542:20- 3544:17 (Mayer). *See also* ECF No. 634-3 at 4 (McDonald Rpt.) ("Since [Dr. Kidd] provides no description of his methodology, I am unable to reanalyze his work to ascertain if I can reproduce his results.")
- 737. Based on the considerable flaws in Dr. Kidd's analysis, including widespread citation to incorrect statutes, misclassification of states, and focusing on

issues that were not changed by SB 90, the Court should find Dr. Kidd's work is unreliable and his analysis is not credible. The Court should not rely on Dr. Kidd's analysis in any way. Among other flaws in Dr. Kidd's work:

- In opining that Florida's mail ballot application verification requirements were "largely average," Dr. Kidd mischaracterized the requirements of numerous states for requesting mail ballots, including representing that certain states require application when they automatically mail ballots to all registered voters (Tr. 2978-79 (Kidd)), insisting that states required signature matching to request mail ballots when he was reviewing statutes that concerned returned ballots (*id.* at 2980-2990), and insisting that Minnesota, Georgia, Montana, and Indiana (like Florida) require provision of a driver's license or social security number to request a mail ballot when the evidence he considered shows that he was looking at ballot return verification statutes and/or the identification provision in these states was optional. *Id.* at 2991-3000.
- In opining that Florida "stands among a small group of states that require [drop boxes] to be widely available," Dr. Kidd mischaracterized numerous states where drop boxes are widely available as prohibiting them. ECF No. 634-5 at Table 3 (Kidd Rpt.). In so doing, Dr. Kidd failed to consider that drop boxes are authorized in numerous states by regulation or directive or are simply unregulated, Tr. 3028-30, 3034-38 (Kidd), and he opined incorrectly that several states with statutes expressly permitting drop boxes had "no enabling statute," *Id.* at 3031-34. And in grouping Florida with other states such as Virginia, Maryland, and New Jersey, Dr. Kidd failed to consider that these states provide considerably more availability of drop boxes on or before Election Day and more flexibility in security measures (such as allowing video surveillance). *Id.* at 3038-3044.
- In opining that Florida's 3PVRO disclaimer requirements "are not unique among states that require them," Dr. Kidd treated states that provide guidance recommending such disclaimers as equivalent to Florida's statutory requirement that such disclaimers be provided. Of the five states whose disclaimer "rules" Dr. Kidd purported to analyze in his report, ECF No. 634-5¶¶ 49-53 & Table 5 (Kidd Rpt.), four only have recommendations published in the form of non-mandatory guidance. Tr.

- 3048-3051 (Kidd). And the fifth state Dr. Kidd analyzed in his report Iowa did not concern voter registration at all; the provision cited concerned a pre-printed disclaimer provided on an absentee ballot request form. *Id.* at 3051-3054; ECF No. 634-14. Dr. Kidd continued to insist that this form could be used to register voters even after confronted with it at trial.
- 738. In addition to these fundamental methodological flaws, Dr. Kidd did not analyze key provisions of Florida law that were changed by SB 90, and accordingly his observations about SB 90 are irrelevant.
- 739. In particular, Dr. Kidd testified that he did not review the laws of other states with respect to any of the challenged provisions of SB 90 related to drop boxes: security requirements, staffing, locational constraints or penalties. Tr. 3026: 7-19; 3027: 2-13 (Kidd).

 740. Dr. Kidd testified that he did not look at whether any state has a
- 740. Dr. Kidd testified that he did not look at whether any state has a provision of law like SB 90 that invalidates VBM requests after a voter has already made a request. *Id.* at 3023:14-3024:4.
- 741. Dr. Kidd testified that his analysis of 3PVROs examined five elements completely unrelated to the changes in law made by SB 90. *Id.* at 3046: 8-25.
- 742. With respect to SB 90's change to the definition of "solicitation," Dr. Kidd testified that he did not compare Florida to other states with respect to the definition of prohibited conduct. *Id.* at 3018:21-3019:13. Dr. Kidd also testified that he did not review any state's law to see if it banned activity which has the effect of influencing a voter. *Id.* at 3022:1-23.

- 743. Dr. Kidd's testimony was also characterized by methodological inconsistency. For example, he testified that despite confining his analysis only to statutes when analyzing SB 90's restrictions on drop boxes (and expressly testifying that Secretary of State guidance should not be considered), he reviewed guidelines and policy when reviewing state practices with respect to 3PVROs. *Id.* at 3054:14-3055:9.
- 744. Dr. McDonald did review the no-solicitation language of the states identified by Dr. Kidd, and concluded that the language added by SB 90 rendered Florida the most restrictive of the states reviewed by Dr. Kidd. Tr. 3609:10-3610:10 (McDonald).
- 745. Contrary to Dr. Kidd's analysis, both Dr. Smith and Dr. Mayer cited to a study by Schraufnabel, Pomante and Li showing that Florida is among the most restrictive states—40th out of 50—with respect to the administrative burden of voting. Tr. 3541:9-3542:11 (Mayer); *See also*, Tr. 2383:8-2386:1 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 at 15, Figure 1 (Smith Rpt.).

ii. Dr. Dario Moreno

746. Dr. Dario Moreno is an associate professor of politics at Florida International University. Tr. 3276:8-12 (Moreno). He earned his Ph.D at the University of South California in 1987. *Id.* at 3277:12-15. He has written two books on Central America. *Id.* at 3277:23. He helped edit two other books, one on

Florida's different media markets and the other, edited with two former congressmen, on political polarization. *Id.* at 3277:23-24. He has also written book chapters on Latino politics in Florida. *Id.* at 3279:25–3280:1-25.

- 747. Dr. Moreno was proffered as an expert with respect to Latino political behavior in Florida but not with respect to African American political behavior. *Id.* at 3292:1-25 3293:1-7, 3293:24-25–3294:1-10.
- 748. Dr. Moreno does not consider himself a statistician. *Id.* at 3294:24-25–3295:1-3.
- 749. Dr. Moreno offered no testimony with regard to most of the provisions of SB 90 challenged in this case. He opined solely on SB 90's VBM provisions, and his testimony on mail ballots focused on ballot collection (as opposed to procedures for applying for absentee ballots). He offered no opinions on the intent or effect of SB 90's restrictions on 3PVROs; its restrictions on drop boxes; or its changes to the definition of "solicitation" at polling places. *Id.* at 3295:4-22.
- 750. Dr. Moreno was not asked to respond to any of the plaintiffs' expert reports in this case, other than Dr. Kousser's. *Id.* at 3295:23-24. At the time he prepared his expert report, Dr. Moreno was unfamiliar with the Arlington Heights factors relevant to assessing intentional discrimination in election legislation. Tr. 3296:5-8 (Moreno).

- 751. Large portions of Dr. Moreno's testimony and expert opinion focused on the activities of *boloteros* who had engaged in so-called "ballot harvesting" (collection of absentee ballots) in Miami-Dade, and why Dr. Moreno viewed the *bolotero* system as harmful. Tr. 3306–3309, 3313:4-25–3314:1-8, 3316:17-25–3317:1-14, 3332:13-23. Dr. Moreno identified the provisions of SB 90 that compare to Miami-Dade's 2011 restrictions on ballot collection as "the most significant part" of SB 90. *Id.* at 3325:12-19. The claims challenging SB 90's provisions on ballot collection, however, have been dismissed and are no longer at issue in this case. ECF No. 274.
- 752. Dr. Moreno also testified as to past incidents in which, he alleged, candidates or their representatives went door-to-door in Hialeah and Palm Beach urging elderly people to turn in their absentee ballots, in a manner perceived as threatening. Tr. 3309:17–3311:14 (Moreno). However, SB 90 does nothing to prevent campaigns from continuing to visit voters to urge them to turn in their absentee ballots.
- 753. Dr. Moreno opined that Latino voters in Florida leaned Republican between 1980 and 2004, but leaned Democratic from 2008 to 2018, and then leaned more Republican in 2020. He sees them as a swing vote in Florida. Tr. 3331:5-13 (Moreno). However, Dr. Kousser's testimony showed that, according to exit polls

in 2020, the majority of Latinos in Florida supported the Democratic presidential candidate. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 93 (Kousser Rpt.).

754. Dr. Moreno predicted that SB 90's restrictions on voting by mail would not negatively affect Black or Latino voters in Florida. His only evidence for this conclusion was his analysis of absentee ballot usage in Miami-Dade as a whole after a 1998 Miami-Dade ordinance placed restrictions on absentee voting in the county. Dr. Moreno noted that absentee ballot usage in Miami-Dade as a whole between 2010 and 2020 had not declined markedly compared to absentee ballot usage in certain other urban counties in Florida. ECF No. 634-4. He concluded from this that SB 90 would not negatively affect absentee voting by Blacks or Latinos throughout Florida.

755. Dr. Moreno's prediction, however, was undermined by several

methodological problems. First, unlike SB 90, the Miami-Dade ordinance enacted in 1998 (and strengthened with criminal penalties in 2011) only restricted ballot collection by third parties. The Miami-Dade ordinance did not impose any new restrictions on the process of applying for an absentee ballot—such as providing a driver's license number, state identification number, or last four digits of the social security number—as SB 90 does. Tr. 3346:9-25–3347:1-3 (Moreno). The Miami-Dade ordinance did not require voters to renew their absentee ballot request every two years, as SB 90 does. ECF No. 634-4 ¶¶ 4-6. Therefore, Miami-Dade's

experience with restricting absentee ballot collection by third parties has no bearing on how voters will be affected by SB 90's ID matching requirement and requirement that absentee ballot requests be renewed every two years.

- 756. Second, even in Miami-Dade itself, Dr. Moreno was unable to reach any valid conclusions as to the impact of Miami-Dade's restrictions on ballot collection on African Americans. Because African Americans are only 18% of Miami-Dade's population, the behavior of Miami-Dade as a whole cannot be used to understand the behavior of African Americans even in Miami-Dade much less in Florida as a whole. Tr. 3356:15-25-3357:1-22 (Moreno). Dr. Moreno also acknowledged that South Florida is unique not only compared to the rest of Florida but unique in the nation as a whole. *Id*, at 3350:1-13
- 757. Dr. Moreno acknowledged that the two Florida U.S. Congressional seats and two state legislative seats that had swung Republican in 2020 were all centered in South Florida. *Id.* at 3361:22-25–3362:1-11.
- 758. Dr. Moreno further acknowledged that African Americans in Florida are overwhelmingly Democratic, that African-American turnout is an important variable in Florida elections given the closeness of statewide elections; and that it would provide political advantage to the Republican Party in Florida if voting were to decrease among African Americans. *Id.* at 3362:12-25.

B. Defendants' Defense of SB 90

759. In defense of SB 90, Defendants advanced a number of theories at trial:

(i) that SB 90 imposes little burden and it is still easy to vote in Florida, and (ii) that the Challenged Provisions are justified either simply as partisan measures or as antifraud or other election security measures.

1. Defendants' Expert Evidence as to Lack of Burden

- 760. Of Defendants' two experts, Dr. Kidd did not offer any opinion about how SB 90 (or any specific provision of SB 90) impacts Florida voters. Tr. 2904:21-2905:2 (Kidd).
- 761. Dr. Moreno's evidence concerning the impact of SB 90 was limited to the ballot collection provision in SB 90 Section 32. As noted above, however, Dr. Moreno's analysis had severe limitations that undermined any usefulness in drawing conclusions about the likely impact of SB 90 on Florida voters. *See supra* ¶ 759–768. In sum, Dr. Moreno's analysis was limited to examining total vote-by-mail numbers in Miami-Dade County following that County's adoption of an ordinance restricting ballot collection in 1998. Dr. Moreno did not provide any basis for extrapolating his findings concerning Miami-Dade to Black Floridians or the rest of the state, and he acknowledged under cross-examination that Miami-Dade is in many ways a unique jurisdiction. Tr. 3350:1-13 (Moreno). Dr. Moreno did not testify about any other provision of SB 90 or how they impact Florida voters.

2. Defendants' Non-Expert Evidence as to the Lack of Burden From SB 90

762. Defendants' non-expert testimony about the impact of SB 90 was limited to Director of Elections Maria Matthews. Of the various Challenged Provisions, Matthews testified about the VBM Request Identification requirement, Tr. 3427-3431 (Matthews), the VBM Application Provision, *id.* at 3431-3432, and the Line Relief Provision. *Id.* at 3439-3442.

763. With regard to the VBM Request Identification, Director Matthews testified that this provision can be waived if the voter appears in person to request a VBM ballot. Tr. 3428 (Matthews). But SB 90 Section 24 expressly provides that the identification requirement cannot be waived and specifically provides that the requirement that one of the three forms of identification that can be "verified in the Supervisor's records" applies to applications for a VBM ballot in writing, in person or by telephone. Fla. Stat. § 101.62(1)(b). Moreover, Director Matthews conveyed this position directly to Supervisors in a training on SB 90 and directed that the identification requirement was to be enforced with "no exceptions." ECF No. 608-64 at 17 ("All in-person or telephonic requests must include voter's Florida DL #, FL ID Card #, or last 4 of SSN (no exceptions) whichever may be verified in the supervisors' records."); see also ECF No. 608-91) (2021 Conference Q & A's) at 2 ("As such, the statute does not provide a generally applicable mechanism for an #, or the last four digits of his or her social security number.").

- 764. Director Matthews also testified that since SB 90 passed, the number of voters without any valid identification in the system was down 200,000 to just under 480,000. Tr. 2784-85, 2824 (Matthews). Director Matthews did not testify that there had been any reduction in the 2.85 million Florida voters who only have one form of identification number in the system and will not be provided a mail ballot if they provide the wrong number. ECF No. 608-68. Director Matthews also testified that the Division of Elections had not required Supervisors to send notices to voters who have incomplete information in the Florida Voter Registration System and will leave such outreach to the "discretion" of individual Supervisors. Tr. 2816:23-2817:25 (Matthews). Additionally, she did not acknowledge that the limited outreach conducted has been in predominantly white counties, such as Lake and Lee. ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 162:17-163:1; Tr. 3208:9-16 (Doyle).
- 765. Director Matthews also testified that this provision halved the timeframe for which VBM ballot requests are valid. Tr. 3431:13-20 (Matthews).
- 766. With regard to the Line Relief Provision, Director Matthews testified that she had "not heard that long lines are an issue" and the Secretary of State has "not had complaints about long lines." Tr. 3442:1-7 (Matthews). Contrary to Director Matthews' testimony, there is extensive evidence in the record that long

lines continue to be an issue in Florida elections, particularly in predominantly Black and Latino neighborhoods. *See, e.g., ee, e.g.*, Tr. 1210:7-9 (Scott); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 230 (Smith Rpt.), Feb. 8, 2022 (Herron) Tr. 2163:10-14; ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 296 (Herron Rpt.); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 130:12-15; ECF No. 608-15 ¶¶ 21-29 (Smith 2d Supp. Rpt.); Tr. 1917:14-19 (Eskamani); Tr. 1982:6-1983:9 (Albright); Tr. 516:11-23 (Brown).

- 3. Defendants' "The Supervisors Made Us Do It," Partisanship, Election Integrity, and Other Post Hoc Rationales for SB 90 Contradict the Legislative Record
- 767. At trial and in their summary judgment motion, Defendants offered a number of rationales for SB 90, including (i) that the Supervisors had requested the Challenged Provisions, (ii) that the Challenged Provisions are justified as partisan measures, and (iii) that the Challenged Provisions are necessary as anti-fraud provisions. These proffered rationales are contrary to the weight of the evidence, largely contradicted by the legislative record, and simply pretextual.
- 768. With regard to Supervisor alleged support for SB 90, there is ample evidence and testimony that the Supervisors did not support the bill. *See, e.g., supra* Findings of Fact, Section VII.E.1; Appendix L; ECF No. 608-36; ECF No. 634-19; ECF No. 608-48. Although Mr. Ramba estimated that 75 to 80 percent of SB 90's provisions were altered based on the Supervisors' recommendations, Tr. 3100:21-3101:4 (Ramba), his testimony notably did not discuss most of the Challenged

Provisions. For example, Mr. Ramba did not testify that the final bill reflected the Supervisor's input on the Registration Disclaimer Provision or the definition of solicitation in the Line Relief Provision. Tr. 3132. He did not testify about the VBM Request Identification at all. Additionally, Mr. Ramba acknowledged that although language prohibiting drop boxes, the Supervisors were still not happy with the final language in the Drop Box Provision. Tr. 3130, 3105 ("we had always a dispute over drop boxes").

769. Director Matthews also testified about several other interests in her testimony, including to address mail ballot fraud, to prevent voter harassment online or to maintain up-to-date voter information. Tr. 3423, 3428-29, 3432-3433 3439:22-3440:2. But Director Matthews acknowledged that Secretary Lee told the legislature she was not personally aware of mail ballot fraud, Tr. 2763:4-9. Director Matthews also admitted that the state already had robust procedures for tracking voter information, Tr. 3471:5-3474:1.

770. The legislative record confirms that mail ballot fraud is a post-hac rationale. When SB 90's sponsor, Senator Baxley was asked whether he believed "that there was vote-by-mail fraud in the last election," he responded "That's not the purpose of our bill. It's not in the bill, and I don't really have to answer that question." ECF No. 461-98 at 64:5-10.

- 771. Critically, SB 90's sponsors expressly and repeatedly disavowed that the bill's purpose was to address voter fraud. *See generally* Appendix I.
- 772. Defendants also argued that SB 90 can be justified as an "obvious" exercise in partisanship, ECF 245-1 (Defendants' Corrected Memorandum of Law in Support of Summary Judgment), at 34 (citing Rucho v. Common Cause, 139 S. Ct. 2484, 2503 (2019) for the proposition that "securing partisan advantage" is a "permissible intent"). SB 90's sponsors and supporters, however, never attempted to defend SB 90 as having partisan motivations during the legislative proceedings.
- 773. If anything, defendants' effort to defend SB 90 as a deterrent to voting by Democrats only underscores the racial discrimination at the heart of SB 90. As Dr. Kousser pointed out, Florida's elections are deeply racially polarized, with large majorities of Black voters supporting Democratic candidates and strong majorities of white voters supporting Republican candidates, both in presidential elections and state-level elections from 2004 present. Latino voters in Florida, although more of a "swing" vote, have also given a majority of their votes to Democratic candidates in the last four presidential elections from 2008 through 2020; they supported George Bush, the brother of then-Florida Governor Jeb Bush, over John Kerry in 2004. ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 93-94 (Kousser Rpt.). If SB 90 was a deliberate effort to disenfranchise Democrats in Florida, it was also a deliberate effort to disenfranchise persons of color in Florida. Tr. 1757:8-25 1759:10 (Kousser).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. PLAINTIFFS HAVE ESTABLISHED STANDING TO SUE.

774. Each of the NAACP and Florida Rising Plaintiffs—the Florida NAACP, Common Cause, Disability Rights Florida, Florida Rising Together, Poder Latinx, Equal Ground, Hispanic Federation, and UnidosUS—has established standing to sue.

an injury that is (2) traceable to Defendants and that (3) can likely be redressed by a favorable ruling. *See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992). Plaintiffs must establish standing as to each challenged statutory provision. *CAMP Legal Def. Fund, Inc. v. City of Atlanta*, 451 F.3d 1257, 1273 (11th Cir. 2006). However, "the presence of one party with standing is sufficient to satisfy Article III's case-or-controversy requirement." *Rumsfeld v. Forum for Acad. And Inst. Rights*, 547 U.S. 47, 53 (2006). For plaintiff organizations, either organizational or associational standing with respect to a challenged provision will satisfy Article III.

776. Scope of injury. The Supreme Court has held that even a small injury, "an identifiable trifle," is sufficient to confer standing. *United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures*, 412 U.S. 669, 689 n.14 (1973). Despite Defendants' suggestions otherwise, in a voting rights case, a "plaintiff need not have the franchise wholly denied to suffer injury. Any concrete, particularized,

non-hypothetical injury to a legally protected interest is sufficient." *Common Cause / Georgia v. Billups*, 554 F.3d 1340, 1351 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting *Charles H. Wesley Educ. Found., Inc. v Cox*, 408 F.3d 1349, 1352 (11th Cir. 2005)). "[A] denial of equal treatment is an actual injury even when the complainant is able to overcome the challenged barrier." *Id*.

777. <u>Injury – Organizational standing</u>. An organization can establish standing based on concrete injury to itself as an entity. One form of such concrete injury occurs "when a defendant's illegal acts impair the organization's ability to engage in its own projects by forcing the organization to divert resources in response." *Arcia v. Fla. Sec'y of State*, 772 F. 3d 1335, 1341 (11th Cir. 2014), see also Fla. Democratic Party v. Hood, 342 F. Supp. 2d 1073, 1079 (N.D. Fla. 2004). To demonstrate resource diversion, a party must explain what activities it "would divert resources away from in order to spend additional resources on combatting" the effects of the challenged law. *Jacobson v. Fla. Sec'y of State*, 974 F.3d 1236, 1250 (11th Cir. 2020).

778. The types of diverted resources that establish standing range from money, to staff time, to volunteer efforts. *See Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs v. City of Fort Lauderdale*, 11 F.4th 1266, 1287 (11th Cir. 2021) (diversion-of-resources standing established where challenged ordinance caused the organization "to expend resources in the form of volunteer time" and where "volunteers . . . had

to divert their energies to advocacy activities such as attending City meetings and organizing protests against the Ordinance."); see also Arcia v. Fla. Sec'y of State, 772 F.3d 1335, 1341 (11th Cir. 2014); Fla. State Conference of the NAACP v. Browning, 522 F.3d 1153, 1158, 1165-67 (11th Cir. 2008) (diversion-of-resources standing established where organizations "reasonably anticipate that they will have to divert personnel and time to educating volunteers and voters on compliance with [challenged law] and ... resolving the problem of voters left off the registration rolls on election day," where such resources "would otherwise be spent on registration drives and election-day education and monitoring (emphasis added); see also Georgia State Conf. of the NAACP v. Kemp, 841 F. Supp. 2d 1320, 1336 (N.D. Ga. 2012) (expenditure of "additional resources—such as staff and volunteer time" as a result of the challenged conduct "plainly satisfy the injury prong of the Article III test for standing.").

779. <u>Injury – Associational standing</u>. "Even in the absence of injury to itself, an association may have standing solely as the representative of its members." *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 511 (1975). An organization may sue "on behalf of its members when: (a) its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the organization's purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation

of individual members in the lawsuit." *Greater Birmingham Ministries v. Sec'y of State for State of Ala.*, 992 F.3d 1299, 1316 (11th Cir. 2021) ("GBM").

780. Generally, "[t]o establish standing under [a] theory [of associational standing], an organization must 'make specific allegations establishing that at least one identified member has suffered, or will suffer harm." Georgia Republican Party v. Securities & Exch. Comm'n, 888 F.3d 1198, 1204 (11th Cir. 2018) (citing Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 498 (2009)). But "where all the members of the organization are affected by the challenged activity," the organization need not name a specific member. Summers, 555 U.S. at 497-99. Moreover, "[w]hen the alleged harm is prospective," and at least one member is certain to be injured, the Eleventh Circuit has held that it is "not required that the organizational plaintiffs name names because every member faces a probability of harm in the near and definite future." Fla. State Conference of the NAACP v. Browning, 522 F.3d 1153, 1160 (11th Cir. 2008); see also Fla. Democratic Party v. Scott, 215 F. Supp. 3d 1250, 1254 (N.D. Fla. 2016) ("[P]olitical parties have standing to assert, at least, the rights of [their] members who will vote in an upcoming election. . . . That was so even though the political party could not identify specific voters that would be affected; it is sufficient that some inevitably would.").

781. In addition, "individual participation is not normally necessary when an association seeks prospective or injunctive relief for its members." *United Food and*

Commercial Workers Union Local 751 v. Brown Grp., Inc., 517 U.S. 544, 546 (1996) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting Hunt v. Washington State Apple Advertising Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977). This Court has already held that there is no need for individual member participation here. "[N]either the claims asserted, nor the relief requested requires the participation of the individual members in this lawsuit." Fla. State. Conf. of the NAACP v. Lee, No. 4:21-cv-187, 2021 WL 6071169 at *1 (N.D. Fla., Dec. 17, 2021).

- 782. In analyzing associational standing, courts need not elevate "form over substance." *Hunt*, 432 U.S. at 345. Organizations have associational standing when they possess indicia of membership, including representing a constituency and providing means by which constituents can express "their collective views and protect their collective interests." *Id*.
- 783. Traceability. To have standing, Plaintiffs must establish causation by showing that "their injuries are connected with [Defendants'] conduct." *Wilding v. DNC Servs. Corp.*, 941 F.3d 1116, 1125 (11th Cir. 2019) (cleaned up) (quoting *Trump v. Hawaii*, 138 S. Ct. 2392, 2416 (2018)). As this Court has acknowledged, traceability "is not an exacting standard," Plaintiffs need only show "that there is a substantial likelihood' that the of causation. *Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee*, No. 4:21-cv-187, 2021 WL 4818913 at *10 (N.D. Fla., Oct. 8, 2021)

(quoting Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Env't Study Grp., 438 U.S. 59, 75 n.20 (1978)).

784. Defendant Lee. As this Court previously held, Plaintiffs "asserted injuries, including the diversion of resources to respond to the new restrictions on drop boxes and the burdens such restrictions will place on voters who will have fewer drop box options, are traceable to Defendant Lee's enforcement authority under" SB 90. Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *10; 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 24 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Nothing that occurred at trial changes this conclusion. Defendant Lee, in her official capacity as Secretary of State, is responsible for enforcing compliance with the Drop Box Provision. Fla. Stat. § 101.69(3). Section 28 of SB 90 specifically empowers Defendant Lee to levy a \$25,000 civil penalty against any SOE who leaves a drop box "accessible for ballot receipt other than as authorized by this section." Fla. Stat. § 101.69(3). This Court's previous conclusion that Plaintiffs' injuries are traceable to Defendant Lee through her enforcement authority specifically provided for by Section 28 is the law of this case and should not be revisited. See Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP, et al. v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *10; FRT v. Lee, 4:21ev-20,1 ECF No. 201 at 24.

785. Similarly, "Plaintiffs' injuries under the disclaimer and delivery requirements are traceable to Defendant Lee's statutory authority to refer violations

to the Attorney General for investigation and subsequent enforcement proceedings." *FRT v. Lee*, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 25. Nothing at trial changes this conclusion. Defendant Lee, in her official capacity as Secretary of State, is responsible for referring suspected violations of the Registration Delivery and Disclaimer Provisions to the Attorney General for enforcement. Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(4). This Court's previous conclusion that Plaintiffs' injuries are traceable to Defendant Lee through her statutory authority is the law of this case and should not be revisited. *FRT v. Lee*, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 25.

786. In addition to these provisions, the Secretary sought to intervene as of right to defend "all provisions of Florida state law," including the VBM Application Provision, the VBM Identification Requirement, and the Line Relief Provision citing her interest in defending the State's election statutes, to obtain and maintain uniformity in the interpretation and implementation of the election laws. *FRT v. Lee*, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 337-1. The Court granted the Secretary's motion. *FRT v. Lee*, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 359. In making these arguments, the Secretary of State has conceded that she has a "direct, substantial, legally protectable interest in the proceeding," and her role in promoting uniformity in the interpretation and implementation of the election laws is sufficient to establish traceability and redressability for all of the Challenged Provisions. *See generally Chiles v. Thornburgh*, 865 F.2d 1197, 1212-13 (11th Cir. 1989) ("standing cases are relevant"

to the intervention question because "an intervenor's interest must be a particularized interest").

787. Supervisor Defendants. Similarly, nothing at trial calls into question this Court's previous finding that Plaintiffs' injuries from the Drop Box Provision, VBM Application Provision, VBM Request Identification, and the Line Relief Provision are traceable to Defendant Supervisors. See Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP, et al. v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *10. Defendant Supervisors are "directly responsible for offering drop boxes and complying with the statute limiting the locations, operating hours, and monitoring of such drop boxes"; "directly enforce the challenged provision requiring repeat requests"; "directly enforce the challenged provision requiring the submission of identification when requesting a vote-by-mail ballot", and "are responsible for designating the 'nosolicitation zone' and marking its boundaries." *Id.* at *11 (internal citation omitted); FRT v. Lee ECF No. 201 at 27; see also Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, No. 4:21-cv-187, 2021 WL 6071169 at *3 (N.D. Fla., Dec. 17, 2021) (noting that "Defendant Supervisors are statutorily tasked with enforcing the challenged provisions."); FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 293 at 6 (Order on Mot. for Summ. J.).

788. <u>Redressability</u>. Redressability "focuses . . . on whether the injury that a plaintiff alleges is likely to be redressed through the litigation." *Sprint Commc'ns*

Co. v. APCC Servs., Inc., 554 U.S. 269, 287 (2008) (emphasis omitted). Plaintiffs are not required to seek complete relief. Id. As this Court previously held, it does not matter that some Supervisors may choose to comply with some restrictions of the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 absent an order from a court because "Article III . . . does not demand that the redress sought by a plaintiff be complete." See Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *12 (quoting Moody v. Holman, 887 F.3d 1281, 1287 (11th Cir. 2018)); FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 29. The Court's earlier determination that Plaintiffs' injuries are redressable is still valid because nothing in the trial record suggests that any facts have changed.

789. Secretary Lee: "[E]njoining Defendant Lee from using her powers to impose a \$25,000 penalty" for violations of the Drop Box Provision would "go a long way towards redressing Plaintiffs and their members' injuries." See Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *12; FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201 ECF No. 201 at 28. Moreover, "enjoining Defendant Lee from referring suspected violations" for violations of the Registration Disclaimer and Delivery Provisions "removes the threat of enforcement against Plaintiffs and provides partial redress for their injuries," even if the Attorney General is ultimately authorized to prosecute violations of this section. FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 30. And as discussed above, the representations Secretary Lee made in her request to

intervene to defend "all provisions of Florida state law" is sufficient to establish redressability as to the other Challenged Provisions.

790. Supervisor Defendants: First, enjoining the Supervisors from complying with the Drop Box Provision would allow them to "no longer be limited to providing voters with drop boxes that must be always monitored in person and open only during early voting hours." Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *12; FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201 ECF No. 201 at 29. Second, "[a]n injunction against enforcing the 'repeat request' requirement would redress Plaintiffs' injuries involving having to request a vote-by-mail ballot twice as often as before." Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP. v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at Third, enjoining the Supervisors from enforcing the VBM Identification Requirement would "redress Plaintiffs' injuries of having to divert resources to educate voters about this new requirement and alleviate the alleged burden [it] has on voters who seek to request a vote-by-mail ballot." FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201, ECF No. 201 at 30. Finally, a "court order prohibiting enforcement of the new solicitation" restriction would prohibit the Defendant Supervisors from reporting Plaintiffs' members and volunteers who wish to engage with voters at drop boxes and polling places as they have done in the past." Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Laurel M. Lee, 2021 WL 4818913 at *12 (N.D. Fla., Oct. 8, 2021); FRT v. Lee, 4:21-cv-201 ECF No. 201 at 30.

- 791. In their Rule 52(c) motion, Defendants argued that the injuries stemming from the Line Relief Provision are not redressable because a separate statute, Fla. Stat. § 101.051(2), already prohibits Plaintiffs' activities. That is incorrect.
- 792. Section 101.051 affords voters who require assistance in voting "by reason of blindness, disability, or inability to read or write" the right to receive assistance in casting their votes from a person of their choice, other than an employer or union representative. The provision further explains that the person providing assistance may "read over" the ballot to the voter and "retire to the voting booth for the purpose of casting the elector's vote according to the elector's choice." Fla. Stat. § 101.051(1).
- 793. Section 101.051(2) makes it unlawful to "solicit any elector in an effort to provide assistance to vote pursuant to subsection (1)." (Emphases added.) In other words, that section prohibits persons from directly offering to provide assistance in casting a ballot inside the polling place. There is no evidence in the record that any Plaintiffs "solicit[ed]" any voter "in an effort to provide" the kind of direct assistance in casting a ballot inside a polling place as described in § 101.051. See infra ¶ 1110.
- 794. Moreover, to prevail on their redressability argument, Defendants would have to show that *all* of Plaintiffs' pre-SB 90 activities at polling places were

proscribed by that section. Defendants plainly cannot meet that burden, because Plaintiffs engaged in activities outside the scope of 101.051 and because voters requested that Plaintiffs provide language and disability assistance. See, e.g., Tr. 400:12-401:8 (Burney-Clark) (describing Equal Ground's efforts to provide food, water, fans, seating, and entertainment at the polls); Tr. 515:14-516:10 (Brown) (describing NAACP's efforts to provide food, water, chairs, umbrellas, and tents to people in line that require assistance); Tr. 1956:13-21 (Slater) (explaining that voters approach volunteers from her branch seeking relief items rather than being approached by the volunteers); Tr. 742:16-25 (Velez Burgos) (explaining that "people ask" Hispanic Federation staff to translate sample ballots); Trial Tr. 219:20-220:18 (Garces) (describing situations where Spanish-speaking voters approached Poder Latinx staff with questions about voting process); Tr. 2045:13-2047:3 (Mercado) (describing predecessor organization's provision of food, water, and umbrellas to voters in line).

795. Miami-Dade County's redressability argument similarly fails. The trial testimony demonstrated that Hispanic Federation directly conducted line warming activities in Miami-Dade County in 2018 and provided funding to other organizations to conduct such activities in 2020. Tr. 810:9-17 (Velez Burgos). For example, Mr. Velez Burgos testified that he was "sure" that Hispanic Federation handed out pizza within the 150-foot non-solicitation zone in 2018. *Id.* at 810:18-

811:4. He further testified that "at no point has any poll worker issued an order telling us that [Hispanic Federation] cannot, for example, give food or . . . provide line-warming activities like language assistance or . . . helping a person with disabilities." Tr. 811:10-15 (Velez Burgos). Ms. Mercado also testified that Florida Rising Together's predecessor handed out food, water, and umbrellas in several counties in 2020, including Miami-Dade County, and that they provided items to voters within 150 feet of the polls. *Id.* at 2046:11-24. SB 90, however, prevents Hispanic Federation, Florida Rising Together, and other organizations from providing exactly this kind of assistance.

A. NAACP Plaintiffs Have Established Standing.

- 1. Plaintiff Florida NAACP Has Both Organizational and Associational Standing to Sue.
- 796. With respect to Plaintiff Florida NAACP, the testimony of Anthony J. Brown, Cynthia Slater, and Cecelia Scoon established that the Florida NAACP has been harmed by SB 90 in both an organizational and an associational capacity, and therefore has standing to sue both as an organization and on behalf of its members.

i. Organizational Standing

797. As a result of SB 90, the Florida NAACP has had to divert, and will continue to divert, both time and money to combat the adverse effects of SB 90's Challenged Provisions on its members and on its mission, programs, and activities as an organization.

- 798. Since the passage of SB 90, approximately one-third of Florida NAACP's executive leadership time has been devoted to strategizing how to minimize the harm that SB 90 will impose on its members. Tr. 531:6-15 (Brown). Had SB 90 not passed, the leadership would instead be focusing that time on the organization's traditional priority focus areas, or "game changers," i.e., creating programming to address issues such as health care, criminal justice, education, environmental justice, and the economy. Tr. 531:18-24 (Brown).
- 799. The Florida NAACP also anticipates spending more than \$18,000 to develop educational flyers to communicate SB 90's changes to its members across the State, to help the members successfully vote. Tr. 531:25-532:23 (Brown). If SB 90 had not passed, the Florida NAACP would have instead focused those resources on pandemic-related health care and other "game changer" programming. *Id.* at 532:24-533:10 (Brown).
- 800. In sum, the undisputed trial evidence that the Florida NAACP has had to divert both time and money in responding to SB 90, and reasonably anticipates that it will continue to do so if the Challenged Provisions are not enjoined, has established its standing to sue as an organization on its own behalf.

ii. Associational Standing

801. The testimony of Anthony Brown, Cecile Scoon, and Cynthia Slater also established the Florida NAACP's associational standing, by demonstrating that

voting is central to the Florida NAACP's purpose; that its members would have standing to sue in their individual capacities; and that its members need not participate individually in this lawsuit because Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief. *United Food*, 517 U.S. at 546.

- 802. As this Court has previously acknowledged, political action and voting is central to the Florida NAACP's mission, as evidenced by the many voting-related activities the organization facilitates and hosts, including voter registration drives, voter training, voter education, political forums, and workshops. *Fla. State. Conf. of the NAACP v. Lee*, 2021 WL 6071169 at *1; Tr. 509:19-510:23 (Brown); Tr. 1951:8-1952:3 (Slater).
- 803. The record also shows that individual members of the Florida NAACP would have standing to sue in their individual capacities because the Challenged Provision of SB 90 will make it more difficult for some members to vote than other groups. See Common Cause/Georgia v. Billups, 554 F.3d 1340, 1351 (11th Cir. 2009) (citing Ne. Fla. Chapter of Assoc. Gen. Contractors of Am. v. City of Jacksonville, Fla., 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993).
- 804. The overwhelming majority of the Florida NAACP's members are African-American. Tr. 509:1-7 (Brown); Tr. 1952:8-14 (Slater). In addition, many members of the Florida NAACP are registered and plan to vote in the upcoming election. Tr. 510:4-8 (Brown); Tr. 1951:5-7 (Slater). As Professor Smith explained,

the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 will erect and exacerbate barriers that disproportionately affect minority voters, thereby disproportionately burdening their right to vote. ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶ 10, 12-13 (Smith Rpt.).

805. Section 28 of SB 90 mandates that drop boxes only be available during early voting hours and requires that an employee of the Supervisor continuously monitor each drop box in person. Fla. Stat. § 101.69. As described above, these provisions severely limit the availability of drop boxes. *See* Section IV.A. In addition, the Florida NAACP has many members whose jobs require them to work inflexible hours, often in 12-hour shifts that begin before drop boxes will be available and end after they close. Tr. 527:1-16 (Brown). Mr. Brown specifically identified one member of his Indian River County NAACP Branch who is a farm labor worker who will be burdened by the limited accessibility of drop boxes resulting from Section 28 of SB 90. *Id.* at 527:8-16.

806. In addition, Cecile Scoon, a member of the Florida NAACP, testified that the drop box located outside the Bay County SOE office that she used "all the time" has already been removed as a result of SB 90's new drop box requirements. Tr. 77:1-78:17 (Scoon); *see also* ECF No. 608-84 (Bay County, Fl. press release announcing that the "Drop Box outside the Supervisor of Elections office has been removed.").

- 807. As a result of the changes prompted by the Challenged Provisions of SB 90, many Florida NAACP members will be unable to cast their ballots using drop boxes. Tr. 527:6-16 (Brown).
- 808. Mr. Brown also explained that Section 24 of SB 90, which reduces the amount of time that a standing request is valid for VBM ballots, burdens the Florida NAACP's elderly members who have typically relied on the standing VBM request application to receive their ballots. Fla. Stat. § 101.62(1)(a). Mr. Brown explained that the elderly members worry that they will forget to request a VBM ballot on time, thereby depriving them of their "precious and priceless right to vote." Tr. 527:23-528:15 (Brown).
- 809. Finally, due to the potential that line warming activities may be criminalized under the Line Relief Provision of Section 29 of SB 90, Mr. Brown and Ms. Slater testified that the Florida NAACP will no longer engage in line warming. Fla. Stat. § 102.031(4)(a)-(b); Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater). In past elections, over 45 branches of the Florida NAACP provided relief and encouragement, in the form of water, fans, and snacks, for voters waiting in long lines. Tr. 1954:12-1955:8, 1960:8-18 (Slater). As Ms. Slater explained based on communications she has received from her SOE, because of Section 29 of SB 90 "there could be fines and penalties" for providing line relief in the future. *Id.* at 1961:17-1962:22. Consequently, voters, especially voters of color who tend to face longer lines to vote,

may be discouraged from turning out to vote. Tr. 529:4-530:25 (Brown); Tr. 1963:17-1964:5 (Slater). Mr. Brown explained that the changes "would seriously adversely affect voting" by many voters who are NAACP members. *Id*.

810. In sum, the evidence at trial has established that members of the Florida NAACP will suffer the kind of injury from the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 that would support their standing to challenge SB 90 in their individual capacity. Plaintiff Florida NAACP therefore has also established its standing to sue in an associational capacity on behalf of its members.

2. Common Cause Has Established Organizational Standing.

- 811. The testimony of Sylvia Albert, Common Cause's director of voting and elections, establishes that Common Cause has organizational standing to challenge the Drop Box and VBM Application Provisions of SB 90 (Fla. Stat. §§ 101.69, 101.62(1)(a)) because the organization has suffered concrete injury by having to divert resources from its other programs in responding to those provisions of SB 90.
- 812. In response to these Challenged Provisions, Common Cause has already spent \$10,000 to carry out its mission of educating voters about how they can vote in Florida after SB 90, to ensure that all voters have access to the franchise. Tr. 544:10-24 (Albert).

- 813. As a result of SB 90, Common Cause anticipates having to spend at least an additional \$100,000 in Florida to create additional educational materials and hire additional community organizers to interact with voters and educate them regarding their options for accessing the franchise despite the new restrictions SB 90 imposes. Tr. 544:25-545:21, 556:25-558:2 (Albert).
- 814. If Common Cause did not have to spend these resources to respond to the changes resulting from the Challenged Provisions of SB 90, it would have used these resources to fund its ethics and redistricting campaigns. *Id.* at 558:4-8, 559:6-11 (Albert). SB 90 has concretely impaired Common Cause's ability to carry out its mission in Florida. *Id.* at 558:9-14.
- 815. As a result, Common Cause has standing to sue in its organizational capacity.
 - 3. Plaintiff Disability Rights Florida Has Established Both Organizational and Associational Standing.
- 816. DRF is Florida's designated protection and advocacy ("P&A") system, established pursuant to a congressional mandate requiring each state to designate a P&A system that "shall have the authority to pursue legal, administrative, and other appropriate remedies or approaches to ensure the protection of, and advocacy for, the rights of" disabled individuals, "with particular attention to members of ethnic and racial minority groups." 42 U.S.C. § 15043(a)(2)(A)(i).

- 817. A P&A system has standing to bring suit to redress injuries to itself as an organization. *See Ala. Disabilities Advoc. Program v. J.S. Tarwater Dev. Ctr*, 894 F. Supp. 424, 427 (M.D. Ala. 1995), *aff'd on other grounds*, *Ala. Disabilities Advoc. Program v. J.S. Tarwater Dev. Ctr.*, 97 F.3d 492 (11th Cir. 1996) (holding that P&A organization had standing to sue facility to redress the injury to organization itself caused by the facility's refusal to provide those records to which P&A was entitled).
 - i. Organizational Standing.
- 818. As explained by Tony DePalma, DRF's Public Policy Director, and Olivia Babis, DRF's Senior Public Policy Analyst, both of whom testified at trial, DRF has diverted and will continue to divert significant organizational time and resources from other programs and activities as a result of SB 90.
- 819. Mr. DePalma and Ms. Babis both testified that, as a result of SB 90, DRF has altered its programming priorities by commissioning an accessibility audit to review all 67 SOE websites to assess their accessibility for voters with disabilities. Tr. 468:23-469:15, 472:19-473:10, 474:7-24 (DePalma). SB 90 greatly increased the urgency of conducting this audit and thereby displaced other programming priorities because, *inter alia*, many voters with disabilities rely on online access and will have to request VBM ballots more frequently under SB 90. The audit will cost DRF approximately \$82,000. *Id.* at 472:19-23 (DePalma); *see also* Tr. 2731:11-13 (Babis).

- 820. DRF is also developing new educational resources explaining the changes to Florida's voting laws created by SB 90, which will cost between \$5,000 and \$9,000. Tr. 475:14-476:1, 476:8-477:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:3-5, 2731:8-10 (Babis).
- 821. If DRF did not have to spend these resources to respond to the changes from the Challenged Provisions of SB 90, DRF would have used these resources to work on expanding supervised facility voting, implementing new accessible vote-by-mail programs, and producing equipment demonstration videos. Tr. 2731:24-2732:3, 2732:17-2733:4, 2734:18-2735:2, 2735:14-24 (Babis). DRF has significantly decreased, if not altogether halted, those efforts, instead focusing its activities on mitigating the impact of the Challenged Provisions on its membership. *Id.* at 2733:23-24, 2735:3-6, 2735:25-2736:3. DRF has had to take funds from the budget for these activities and reallocate them to the website accessibility audit and educational materials regarding changes under SB 90. *Id.* at 2734:3-6.
- 822. In addition, DRF has also shifted the focus of its annual Election Summit from accessible vote-by-mail to website accessibility, *Id.* at 2736:20-25, and modified the duties and responsibilities of its new Voting Outreach Specialist position. The position was originally intended to help implement fully accessible VBM balloting in the state but must now address ramifications of SB 90 including

by distributing information and conducting outreach to supervisors of elections. Tr. 483:11-484:5 (DePalma).

ii. Associational Standing.

- 823. As a P&A system, DRF also can have associational standing to serve as a representative body for the constituents that it serves. *Doe v. Stincer*, 175 F.3d 879, 884-89 (11th Cir. 1999) (holding that a P&A entity "may sue on behalf of its constituents like a more traditional association may sue on behalf of its members"); *accord Oregon Advocacy Center v. Mink*, 322 F.3d 1101-1110-11 (9th Cir. 2003). Although DRF refers to the individuals for whom it advocates as "constituents" instead of "members," it is undisputed that DRF advocates on behalf disabled individuals and provides a means for protecting its constituents' collective interests. Therefore, "this is a distinction without a difference," *Fla. State Conf. of the NAACP v. Lee*, 2021 WL 4818913 at *7 n.2, and DRF should be treated the same as a membership organization for associational standing purposes. *Hunt*, 432 U.S. at 345; Tr. 434:17-435:2, 437:12-15 (DePalma).
- 824. Further, as this Court previously acknowledged, DRF's "core purpose[] involve[s] . . . encouraging electoral participation and advocating for accessibility for Florida voters." *Fla. State. Conf. Of the NAACP v. Lee*, 2021 WL 6071169 at *1.

- 825. In addition, DRF constituents would have standing to sue in their individual capacities, because disabled individuals will be disproportionately burdened by the Challenged Provisions. *See Billups*, 554 F.3d at 1351 (*citing Ne. Fla. Chapter of Assoc. Gen. Contractors of Am. v. City of Jacksonville, Fla.*, 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993).
- 826. As a result of SB 90, several SOE's have indicated that they are going to reduce the availability of outdoor drop boxes and move some of them indoors. See, e.g., ECF No. 608-84 (Bay County, FL Press Release announcing drop box removal); see also Appendix D (showing that several counties including Bradford, Citrus, Clay, Gadsden, Jefferson, Liberty, and Marion intend to reduce the availability of outdoor drop boxes). Indoor drop boxes present accessibility barriers for individuals with disabilities if, as DRF has documented through its poll surveying, the buildings in which they are held are not accessible for individuals with mobility issues and other disabilities. Tr. 2737:19-2738:11, 2739: 3-19, 2740:18-2742:12 (Babis). As a result, disabled individuals will encounter myriad new accessibility issues, including challenges opening the door to get inside to the drop box, not having a stable path of travel into the building, or finding no curb cut outs to access sidewalks or paths of travel. *Id.* at 2740:16-2742:4; 2742:25-2743:12. It would also create an additional challenge for voters like Robert Brigham, who struggles with incontinence and whose situation worsens when he has to engage in

physical activities like walking into a building, as opposed to sitting in a car. Tr. 1597:21-1598:2, 1601:18-1602:5 (Brigham).

- Provision requires, voters with disabilities face unique hurdles because they may be unable to "use their chosen assistive technology" to navigate SOEs' websites or because the forms and websites are not presented in plain language. Tr. 454:10-455:16 (DePalma). In addition, as Catherine Teti, a 76-year-old voter with mobility issues testified, she was used to simply checking the box on her VBM ballot envelope to request future VBM ballots. Tr. 1590:6-13 (Teti). See, e.g., Tr. 1285:18-1286:9 (Corley) (Supervisor Corley explaining after SB 90, voters cannot renew their VBM requests using a check box); see also ECF No. 462-9 at 69:20-70:1, 71:14-15 (Amendment to include option to renew VBM request by checking a box fails in House Debate). She now does not know how she will request VBM ballots and is worried that she will forget to request them. Tr. 1591: 5-21 (Teti).
- 828. The Line Relief Provision will cause some organizations, including the NAACP, to cease providing line relief because of the threat of potential criminal penalties. Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater). Voters with disabilities who choose to vote in-person are particularly reliant on these line relief services traditionally provided by civic organizations. For voters with mobility impairments, in particular, these line relief activities—getting a chair, water, or food—makes voting in person

possible. Tr. 2744:4-13 (Babis). Further, as Olivia Babis explained, SOE employees cannot always accommodate requests from voters with disabilities, which can lead to these voters leaving the line altogether and not voting. *Id.* at 2744:18-2745:20.

829. The trial evidence clearly establishes that all disabled voters are DRF constituents, and many, if not all of them, would have standing to challenge SB 90 in their individual capacities. Tr. 440:23-24 (DePalma). DRF therefore also has associational standing to challenge SB 90 in this case on behalf of its constituents.

B. FRT Plaintiffs Have Established Standing.

- 1. Plaintiff Florida Rising Together Has Both Organizational and Associational Standing to Sue.
 - i. Organizational Standing
- 830. The testimony of Andrea Mercado, the Executive Director of Florida Rising Together ("FRT"), establishes that FRT has organizational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision, Registration Disclaimer Provision, VBM Request Identification, Drop Box Provision, and Line Relief Provision.
- 831. Due to the Registration Delivery Provision, FRT has hired three additional quality control managers to review the voter registrations its canvassers collect to ensure voters have provided accurate information. Tr. 2043:12-2044:2 (Mercado). FRT will also now incur new costs to mail those voter registrations it collects to Supervisors. *Id.* at 2040:16-2041:7; 2041:19-2042:5.

- has increased from 2 to 3 hours. *Id.* at 2036:14-2037:10. The Registration Disclaimer Provision has also lengthened the time its canvassers spend registering a voter, which has resulted in collecting fewer registrations overall. *Id.* at 2037:16-2037:24; 2037:25-2038:6. As a result, FRT has also decided to stop its practice of using the registration interaction to provide vote-by-mail education because a lengthier conversation was causing the decrease in successful voter registrations—undermining its mission of expanding political participation. *Id.* at 2044:15-2045:9.
- Provision together have caused FRT to hire more canvassers so that it can collect a similar number of registration forms as it has in the past. *Id.* at 2043:12-2044:2; *Fla. State Conf. of NAACP v. Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165 ("[A]n organization suffers an injury in fact when a state 'compel[s]' it to divert more resources to accomplishing its goals."). To do so, it will divert staff time and money away from hiring frontline organizers for its other initiatives, including its housing justice program. Tr. 2044:15-2045:9; 2051:19-2052:15 (Mercado). FRT's diversion of time and resources is an injury sufficient to confer organizational standing to challenge these two provisions. *See Arcia v. Fla. Sec'y of State*, 772 F.3d 1335, 1341 (11th Cir. 2014) ("Under a diversion-of-resources theory, an organization has standing to sue

when a defendant's illegal acts impair the organization's ability to engage in its own projects by forcing the organization to divert resources in response.").

834. Moreover, FRT has organizational standing to challenge the Registration Disclaimer Provision because its First Amendment injuries are cognizable injuries-in-fact, as this Court has recognized. Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 201 at 16 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Voter registration involves core First Amendment-protected activity. See League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158 (voter registration includes "speak[ing] and act[ing] collectively with others, implicating the First Amendment right of association"); see also Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 421-23 (1988). Registration Disclaimer Provision forces FRT to alter the content of their protected speech by undermining the trust and credibility of the organization, which interferes with its canvasser's interactions with the voters they are trying to register. Tr. 2038:7-24 (Mercado); see League of Women Voters v. Hargett, 400 F. Supp. 3d 706, 730 (M.D. Tenn. 2019). FRT has already lost several canvassers due to frustration over the disclaimer. *Id.* at 2038:25-2039:8.

835. The VBM Request Identification and Drop Box Provision together have, in part, caused FRT to spend an unplanned 80 staff hours educating voters about the cumulative effects of SB 90 since it was passed. Tr. at 2048:18-21 (Mercado). For example, as previously noted, FRT has decided to stop its practice

of providing vote-by-mail education in its voter registration program because a lengthier conversation caused a decrease in successful registrations—a burden that collecting confidential information from voters would increase. *Id.* at 2044:15-2045:9. Instead, FRT has diverted its staff time to educating voters on how SB 90 affects their options to vote—including how to request a vote-by-mail ballot and drop box availability. *Id.* at 2067:5-23. An unexpected 80 hours to educate voters on changes to SB 90 is sufficient to confer FRT to challenge these provisions. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341.

- 836. As a result of SB 90, FRT has also decided to stop its practice of using the registration interaction to provide vote-by-mail education because a lengthier conversation was causing the decrease in successful voter registrations—undermining its mission of expanding political participation. *Id.* at 2044:15-2045:9.
- 837. Before SB 90, FRT's predecessor organizations provided food, water, and other comfort items to voters waiting in long lines within 150 feet of polling places in Miami-Dade, Broward, Palm Beach, Duval, Orange, Osceola, Hillsborough, and Pinellas Counties. *Id.* at 2046:11-2047:3.
- 838. Due to the Line Relief Provision, FRT has determined that its past activities are now prohibited and will no longer provide assistance to voters within 150 feet of polling places. *Id.* at 2047:4-8. FRT has made this decision, in part, because it is concerned that Supervisors will not enforce the language of the Line

Relief Provision precisely and consistently. *Id.* at 2047:18-2048:2. Instead, FRT anticipates investing in larger and more visible tents and signage to let voters know they are there to help. *Id.* at 2047:9-17. This diversion of resources will also undermine FRT's ability to hire more frontline organizers for its other initiatives, like vaccine education and housing justice, and is sufficient to confer organizational standing to challenge the Line Relief Provision. *Id.* at 2051:19-2052:15; *Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341.

- 839. FRT also has organizational standing to challenge the Line Relief Provision because it unconstitutionally restricts FRT's First Amendment protected expression. FRT's provision of food, water, and other comfort items are expressive conduct meant to encourage voters to decide to stay in line and vote. Tr. 2045:16-2046:10 (Mercado); *Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs v. City of Fort Lauderdale*, 901 F.3d 1235, 1241 (11th Cir. 2018) ("*FLFNB*"). As discussed further herein, the Line Relief Provision unconstitutionally restricts FRT's right to convey that political message.
- 840. As a result, FRT has established organizational standing as to these Challenged Provisions.

ii. Associational Standing

841. FRT has associational standing to challenge the VBM Request Identification and Drop Box Provision on behalf of its members. First, after

conducting "an analysis of [its] members," FRT identified several members who are unable to successfully request vote-by-mail ballots due to the identification requirement. Tr. 2050:7-24 (Mercado). Many of FRT's are members of Florida's Black and Latino communities. *Id.* at 2050:12-19. Their inability to request a VBM ballot is a sufficient injury for standing purposes. *See Common Cause/Georgia v. Billups*, 554 F.3d 1340, 1351 (11th Cir. 2009) (*citing Ne. Fla. Chapter of Assoc. Gen. Contractors of Am. v. City of Jacksonville, Fla.*, 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993).

- 842. Second, several FRT members have expressed frustration and dismay at both the limited availability of drop boxes and intimidating presence of monitors. *Id.* at 2048:18-2049:13. Because the Drop Box Provision makes it more difficult for some members to vote than other groups, these FRT members have standing to sue in their individual capacities. *See Common Cause/Georgia*, 554 F.3d at 1351.
- 843. Third, FRT's challenges to both the VBM Request Identification and Drop Box Provision are germane to one of FRT's principal purposes—namely, empowering and encouraging diverse individuals to participate in the democratic process. Tr. 2034:12-19; see *Greater Birmingham Ministries v. Sec'y of State for the State of Alabama*, 992 F.3d 1299, 1316 (11th Cir. 2021) ("*GBM*") (voting rights challenge was "germane" to organization's purposes where those purposes included "voter rights and equal opportunity for minority voters").

- 844. Finally, FRT's challenge to these provisions does not require the participation of individual members. Nor does FRT's request for declaratory and injunctive relief. See *GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1316 n.29 ("[P]rospective relief weigh[s] in favor of finding that associational standing exists.").
- 845. Accordingly, FRT has associational standing to challenge SB 90's VBM identification requirement.

2. Plaintiff Poder Latinx Has Organizational Standing to Sue.

- 846. The testimony of Esteban Garces, a founder and then co-Executive Director of Poder Latinx, establishes that Poder Latinx has organizational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision, Registration Disclaimer Provision, VBM Request Identification, Drop Box Provision, and Line Relief Provision.
- 847. Due to the Registration Delivery Provision, Poder Latinx's quality control staff must now verify that voters have provided their correct county-of-residence on their registration forms. Tr. 207:24-208:11; 208:12-15 (Garces). Since SB 90 was enacted, Poder Latinx has already spent an additional \$4,500 between staff time to deliver registration forms and mail costs. *Id.* at 210:6-21. Poder Latinx anticipates those costs will increase to \$40,000-\$50,000 in 2022. *Id.* at 210:22-211:3.

- 848. Due to the Registration Disclaimer Provision, Poder Latinx has implemented longer trainings for its canvassers so it can ensure compliance. *Id.* at 203:12-24. Between the delivery of the disclaimer, and the collection of an acknowledgement form from the voter to show Poder Latinx has complied, the Registration Disclaimer Provision has increased the length of each voter interaction. *Id.* at 206:14-22.
- 849. The Registration Delivery and Disclaimer Provisions together have caused Poder Latinx to divert staff time and money from its efforts to hire more dedicated staff for its programs and make planned investments in the growth of the organization. *Id.* at 223:20-224:10. These two provisions "impair the organization's ability to engage in its own projects" and are injuries in fact sufficient to confer Poder Latinx standing to challenge them. *Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165 & n.14.
- 850. Moreover, Poder Latinx has organizational standing to challenge the Registration Disclaimer Provision because its First Amendment injuries are cognizable injuries-in-fact, as this Court has recognized. Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 201 at 16 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Voter registration involves core First Amendment-protected activity. *See Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158 (voter registration includes "speak[ing] and act[ing] collectively with others, implicating the First Amendment right of association"); *see also Meyer*, 486 U.S. at

- 421-23. The Registration Disclaimer Provision alters the content of Poder Latinx's constitutionally protected speech by undermining its efforts to register voters because it implies that the organization is not trustworthy. Tr. 206:23-207:23; 205:11-206:13 (Garces); *see Hargett*, 400 F. Supp. 3d at 730. This results in reputational harm to Poder Latinx and has already diminished its ability to register voters. *Id.* at 207:8-16; 205:11-206:1 (two voters refused to register); 205:21-206:6 (one-to-three voters per week express serious concerns).
- 851. Due to the VBM Request Identification, Poder Latinx has ceased helping voters apply to vote by mail because SB 90 has made it an onerous process to do so. *Id.* at 215:20-216:17. The cancellation of previous programming is a paradigmatic injury in fact sufficient to confer Poder Latinx standing to challenge this provision. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341 ("Under the diversion-of-resources theory, an organization has standing to sue when a defendant's illegal acts impair the organization's ability to engage in its own projects by forcing the organization to divert resources in response").
- 852. Due to the Drop Box Provision, Poder Latinx anticipates spending additional staff time and resources to research variable drop box availabilities for its voter education and turnout programs—which assisted voters across the state and knocked on 105,000 doors in 2020. *Id.* at 217:12-23; 193:17-24; 191:9-18. Because SB 90 will decrease drop box availability, Poder Latinx has also diverted another

\$15,000 to fund a new transportation program to get Latinx voters to the polls. *Id.* at 217:3-11; 217:24-218:4. Poder Latinx has, and will continue to, divert staff time and money to counteract the adverse effects of the Drop Box Provision on its programs, which it would otherwise have used to hire additional staff members for its programs and invest in the future growth of the organization. *Id.* at 223:20-224:10. The Drop Box Provision frustrates Poder Latinx's voter turnout activities and requires it to add resources to meet its goals, which is sufficient to confer standing. *See Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165.

- 853. Before SB 90, Poder Latinx provided language assistance to voters at polling places in Orange and Osceola Counties. Tr. 218:5-17; 219:20-220:18; 222:8-10 (Garces).
- 854. Due to the Line Relief Provision, Poder Latinx has decided that its former language assistance within the non-solicitation zone is barred. *Id.* at 222:14-20. To compensate for their decreased accessibility to voters, Poder Latinx will now invest in other communication channels—social media or one-hour television segments at a cost of \$20,000 each—to notify voters that they are present to provide language assistance at the pools. *Id.* at 221:21-233:16. Resources diverted to these communications efforts would otherwise have been used to hire additional staff members for its programs and invest in the future growth of the organization. *Id.* at 223:20-224:10.

- 855. Poder Latinx also has organizational standing to challenge the Line Relief Provision because it unconstitutionally restricts Poder Latinx's First Amendment expressive conduct. Poder Latinx provides assistance to voters in line because it encourages them to stay in line to vote. *Id.* at 222:14-20. As discussed further herein, the Line Relief Provision unconstitutionally restricts Poder Latinx's right to convey that political message. *See FLFNB*, 901 F.3d at 1241.
- 856. As a result, Poder Latinx has established organizational standing as to these Challenged Provisions.
 - 3. Plaintiff Equal Ground Education Fund Has Organizational Standing to Sue.
- 857. The testimony of Jasmine Burney-Clark, founder and consulting director of Equal Ground Education Fund ("Equal Ground"), establishes that Equal Ground has organizational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision, Registration Disclaimer Provision, VBM Request Identification. Drop Box Provision, and Line Relief Provision.
- 858. Due to the Registration Delivery Provision, Equal Ground anticipates that complying with the requirement that registration forms are delivered a voter's county of residence will be "almost cost prohibitive" due to its frequent interactions with voters from counties across Florida. Tr. 392:24-393:13 (Burney-Clark). Due to the cumulative impacts of SB 90, including the Registration Delivery Provision, Equal Ground has decided to stop registering voters altogether. *Id.* at 392:8-13. The

cancellation of previous programming is a paradigmatic injury in fact sufficient to confer Equal Ground standing to challenge this provision. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341 ("Under the diversion-of-resources theory, an organization has standing to sue when a defendant's illegal acts impair the organization's ability to engage in its own projects by forcing the organization to divert resources in response").

859. Equal Ground has organizational standing to challenge the Registration Disclaimer Provision because its First Amendment injuries are cognizable injuriesin-fact, as this Court has recognized. Case No. 4:21-cy-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 201 at 16 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Voter registration involves core First Amendment-protected activity. See Browning, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158 (voter registration includes "speak[ing] and act[ing] collectively with others, implicating the First Amendment right of association"); see also Meyer 486 U.S. at 421-23. The Registration Disclaimer Provision would alter the content of Equal Ground's constitutionally protected speech and undermines its efforts to register voters because it tarnishes Equal Ground's reputation and erodes the community's trust in its organization. Tr. 388:15-389:5 (Burney-Clark); see Hargett, 400 F. Supp. 3d at 730. In fact, the compelled disclaimer has completely chilled Equal Ground's political speech, as it has now decided that it could not provide a service that would "harm [its] community or [its] reputation as an organization." Tr. 392:8-13 (Burney-Clark).

- 860. Due to the VBM Request Identification, the Drop Box Provision, and the Line Relief Provision, Equal Ground is now also doubling its spending on voter education for approximately 500,000 voters from \$1 to \$2 million, in part, to inform voters about how SB 90 "directly impact[s] them as a voter." *Id.* at 403:5-407:6. These new materials educate voters on how these Challenged Provisions affect their plan to vote (e.g., how to obtain mail ballots and cast them in a timely manner, early voting information, election day location information). *Id.* at 404:6-15, 405:11-406:10. This diversion of resources is a paradigmatic injury in fact sufficient to confer Equal Ground standing to challenge this provision. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165.
- 861. Due to the Drop Box Provision, Equal Ground has suspended its signature "Souls to the Polls" program because SB 90 has eliminated the ability to have drop boxes at its events. *Id.* at 397:12-23. Equal Ground is now also doubling its spending on voter education, in part to inform voters about how SB 90 will affect them—including the suspension of its Souls to the Polls program. *Id.* at 403:16-19, 405:18-406:10, 406:23-407:6. This diversion of resources and cancellation of previous programming are paradigmatic injuries in fact sufficient to confer Equal Ground standing to challenge this provision. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165.

- 862. Before SB 90, Equal Ground's Souls to the Polls events were held in 20 counties, and an estimated 80 percent were held within 150 feet of a polling place or drop box. *Id.* at 393:14-398:24, 422:4-15, 400:10-401:8. Moreover, as an extension of its Souls to the Polls events, Equal Ground provided water, fans, and seating to voters waiting in line at polling places in Orange, Volusia, Seminole, and Pinellas Counties. *Id.* at 402:5-403:4, 411:15-17.
- 863. Due to the Line Relief Provision, Equal Ground has determined that it is no longer able to continue its Souls to the Polls program to assist voters waiting in long lines at the polls. *Id.* at 402:12-22. It did not conduct the program during the 2021 Florida municipal elections due to SB 90. *Id.* at 392:8-13, 398:3-24, 399:22-24. As a result, Equal Ground has doubled its spending on voter education, in part to inform voters that it will no longer conduct its line relief activities as a result of SB 90. *Id.* at 403:5-15, 405:1-14. This diversion of resources and cancellation of previous programming are paradigmatic injuries in fact sufficient to confer Equal Ground standing to challenge this provision. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165.
- 864. Equal Ground also has organizational standing to challenge the Line Relief Provision because it unconstitutionally restricts Equal Ground's First Amendment expressive conduct. When Equal Ground provides voters waiting in line with waters, fans, and seating, it is intended to "ensure voters stay in line and

commit to voting." *Id.* at 400:24-401:8. As Ms. Burney-Clark testified, the proximity of its events to polling places and drop boxes was key to conveying that message. *Id.* at 396:8-15, 396:17-20. As discussed further herein, the Line Relief Provision unconstitutionally restricts Equal Ground's right to convey that political message. *See FLFNB*, 901 F.3d at 1241.

- 865. In response to each of these Challenged Provisions, Equal Ground has had to divert both staff time and money and has halted several of its programs. If Equal Ground did not have to divert these resources, it would have used them towards its other organizational goals, including increasing outreach to churches and potential voters, managing misinformation in the community, and hiring new staff. Tr. 411:21-412:21 (Burney-Clark).
- 866. As a result, Equal Ground has established organizational standing as to these Challenged Provisions.
 - 4. Plaintiff Hispanic Federation Has Both Organizational and Associational Standing to Sue.
 - i. Organizational Standing
- 867. The testimony of Frederick Velez III Burgos, the National Director of Civic Engagement of Hispanic Federation, establishes that Hispanic Federation has organizational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision, Registration Disclaimer Provision, VBM Request Identification, Drop Box Provision, and Line Relief Provision.

- 868. Due to the Registration Delivery Provision, Hispanic Federation anticipates hiring an additional quality control staff member so it can ensure that the people it registers have provided their accurate counties of residence—an additional \$30,000 to \$40,000 per year the organization would otherwise have used to hire more canvassers. Tr. 769:18-770:1 (Velez Burgos). Hispanic Federation staff will also now need to spend time and resources driving to out-of-county Supervisors' offices to deliver registration forms or incur an estimated \$2,000 in new mail expenses to deliver them. *Id.* at 769:24-770:1, 776:3-14.
- 869. Due to the Registration Disclaimer Provision, Hispanic Federation has incurred legal fees for outside counsel to determine that it will need to print the disclaimer to show compliance with SB 90—both new costs. *Id.* at 765:2-766:7, 789:17-19, 794:5-795:2. Furthermore, Hispanic Federation anticipates that after receiving the disclaimer, some voters will decide to instead rely on an online registration tool that Hispanic Federation provides—resulting in an additional \$4,000 to \$5,000 in costs to the organization. *Id.* at 770:10-771:9, 776:8.
- 870. Owing to both of these provisions, Hispanic Federation estimates the cost of its voter registration program in 2022 will increase by about \$150,000 to \$200,000 in order to reach a similar 20,000 voter registration goal as the 2020 election. *Id.* at 775:7-23. That includes the need to divert another \$60,000 in order to hire three more canvassers to match its 2020 production. *Id.* at 775:24-776:2.

Hispanic Federation will also divert additional staff time to retrain its current canvassers on compliance with these provisions. *Id.* at 800:6-16.

871. The Registration Delivery Provision and Registration Disclaimer Provision together have caused Hispanic Federation to divert staff time and money from its effort to expand its voter registration program to reach voters in additional counties. *Id.* at 762:9-22, 778:25-779:14, 817:7-18. Moreover, if Hispanic Federation does not fundraise an additional \$200,000, it anticipates forgoing planned investments in infrastructure, staff, and an expansion of its civic engagement program to Pennsylvania. *Id.* at 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24. Hispanic Federation's diversion of time and resource is an injury sufficient to confer organizational standing to challenge these two provisions. *Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 552 F.3d 1165 & n.14 (standing established when an organization's "ability to conduct specific projects during a specific period of time will be frustrated").

872. Moreover, Hispanic Federation has organizational standing to challenge the Registration Disclaimer Provision because its First Amendment injuries are cognizable injuries-in-fact, as this Court has recognized. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 201 at 16 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Voter registration involves core First Amendment-protected activity. *See Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158 (voter registration includes "speak[ing] and act[ing] collectively with others,

implicating the First Amendment right of association"); see also Meyer, 486 U.S. at 421-23. The Registration Disclaimer Provision alters the content of Hispanic Federation's constitutionally protected speech and undermines its efforts to register voters because it implies Hispanic Federation is not a trustworthy organization. Tr. 768:10-769:2;, 794:2-4 (Velez Burgos); see Hargett, 400 F. Supp. 3d at 730. This harm to Hispanic Federation's reputation also diminishes its ability to pursue its other programs in the communities it serves. Tr. 771:10-772:16 (Velez Burgos).

- 873. Due to the VBM Request Identification, Hispanic Federation anticipates that lengthier voter interactions will cause a decrease in its voter registration production rate. *Id.* at 758:1-20. It also believes it will see a decrease in Latino voters because it will require Hispanic Federation's canvassers to ask for confidential information—directly impacting the organization's mission. *Id.* at 767:20-768:9. In response, Hispanic Federation will create new voter education materials to inform and follow up with voters on how SB 90's changes will affect them. *Id.* at 757:2-21, 762:23-763:15, 801:2-8. Hispanic Federation's diversion of staff time and resources to "educating potential voters on compliance with the laws" is a sufficient injury in fact to confer standing. *Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341.
- 874. Due to the Drop Box Provision (and the VBM Request Identification), Hispanic Federation anticipates having to conduct unplanned outreach to "SuperVoters" to inform them, in part, of changes to their drop box locations—at a

cost of six cents per text message and/or staff time to make phone calls. Tr. 760:20-761:25 (Velez Burgos).

have caused Hispanic Federation to anticipate diverting staff time and money to unplanned expansions of its voter education programs. *Id.* at 757:2-21, 762:23-763:15, 801:2-8. However, if it cannot fundraise, Hispanic Federation plans to divert funds from its voter education budget to accommodate the necessary changes to its voter registration program first. *Id.* at 761:1-762:8. As a result, the organization expects to reach about 150,000 fewer voters than planned in 2022. *Id.* at 778:21-24. This consequence would be in addition to Hispanic Federation's need to consolidate its satellite offices or forgo the opportunity to reach voters in additional counties. *Id.* at 762:9-22, 778:25-779:14, 817:7-18. Either diversion of resources is far greater than an "identifiable trifle" sufficient to confer Hispanic Federation standing to challenge these provisions. *Common Cause/Ga.*, 554 F.3d at 1351.

876. Before SB 90, Hispanic Federation provided the following within the non-solicitation zone at polling places: (i) language assistance to Latino voters; (ii) food, water, and phone chargers to voters waiting in long lines; and (iii) rides or assistance in reaching the polls to disabled and elderly voters. Tr. 741:12-742:1; 742:1-8, 744:18-745:8, 742:16-743:24, 810:9-25 (Velez Burgos). Hispanic

Federation provided these services in Orange, Osceola, Miami-Dade, and Broward Counties. *Id.* at 722:8-13, 810:13-17.

- 877. Due to the Line Relief Provision, Hispanic Federation has determined that its past activities—including its assistance to disabled and elderly voters—are now prohibited. Tr. 746:3-9, 746:10-21 (Velez Burgos). Some of Hispanic Federation's veteran canvassers are already expressing fears that providing these services may violate the law. *Id.* at 746:22-25, 773:3-13. Furthermore, Hispanic Federation has already observed a "chilling effect" on its staff members' desire to engage in this work, including language access and assisting disabled voters. *Id.* at 773:19-774:4.
- 878. Hispanic Federation also has organizational standing to challenge the Line Relief Provision because it unconstitutionally restricts the organization's First Amendment expressive conduct. When Hispanic Federation provides voters waiting in line with food, water, and phone chargers, it encourages voters to "[p]lease stay in line until you exercise your right to vote." *Id.* at 744:5-15. As discussed further herein, the Line Relief Provision unconstitutionally restricts Hispanic Federation's right to convey that core political message. *See FLFNB*, 901 F.3d at 1241.
- 879. In response to SB 90, Hispanic Federation has had to divert both staff time and money, and has halted its line relief program. If Hispanic Federation cannot raise an additional \$200,000 to comply with SB 90's requirements, it will need to

divert its general operating funds, which would otherwise be used to fund the organization's infrastructure, staff needs, and expansion of its civic engagement program into Pennsylvania. Tr. at 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velz Burgos).

880. As a result, Hispanic Federation has established organizational standing as to these Challenged Provisions.

ii. Associational Standing

- 881. Hispanic Federation also has associational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Disclaimer Provision and Line Refief Provision on behalf of its member affiliates.
- 882. First, due to the Registration Disclaimer Provision, several Hispanic Federation member affiliates may discontinue their voter registration programs altogether because they "fear that using the disclaimer will harm the trust that people have in them." Tr. 772:3-7 (Velez Burgos). The inability to engage in protected expression by registering voters is a paradigmatic First Amendment injury in fact. *See Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158; *Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 421-23. Cancellation of previous programming is also a sufficient injury for standing purposes. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341.
- 883. Second, the organization's member affiliates engage in the distribution of comfort items at polling places like Hispanic Federation does. Tr. 784:8-13,

810:13-17 (Velez Burgos) (subgranting funding to member affiliates to engage in its "line-warming" activities). As with Hispanic Federation, the Line Relief Provision is likely to burden these member affiliates' ability to engage in protected expressive conduct. *See FLFNB*, 901 F.3d at 1241.

- 884. Third, Hispanic Federation's challenges to both the Registration Disclaimer and Line Relief Provisions are germane to one of the organization's principal purposes—increasing Latino political participation in elections. Tr. 719:3-10, 720:8-11 (Velez Burgos); *see GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1315 (voting rights challenge was "germane" to organization's purposes where those purposes included "voter rights and equal opportunity for minority voters").
- 885. Finally, Hispanic Federation's challenge to these provisions does not require the participation of individual members. Nor does its request for declaratory and injunctive relief. *See GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1316 n.29 ("[P]rospective relief weigh[s] in favor of finding that associational standing exists.").
- 886. Accordingly, Hispanic Federation has associational standing to challenge the Registration Disclaimer Provision and Line Relief Provision.

5. Plaintiff Unidos US Has Both Organizational and Associational Standing to Sue.

- i. Organizational Standing
- 887. The testimony of Jared Nordlund, the Florida state advocacy director for UnidosUS, establishes that UnidosUS has organizational standing to challenge

SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision, Registration Disclaimer Provision, and VBM Request Identification.

888. Due to the Registration Delivery Provision, both UnidosUS's voter interactions and a corresponding new step in its quality control process have become lengthier due to the need to collect and verify a voter's county of residence. Tr. 1427:5-1428:1, 1424:13-1425:12 (Nordlund). After it reviews the forms, UnidosUS will incur new expenses either: (i) to mail out-of-county registration forms to the correct Supervisors' office or the Division of Elections; or (ii) to have staff drive registration forms to the correct Supervisors' offices to deliver them by hand. Tr. 1429:4-12, 1429:16-1430-1, 1430:12-1431:24, 1433:8-16 (Nordlund). It anticipates hiring an additional 2-4 quality control staff members, in addition to retraining its canvassers, to accommodate these new processes—resulting in at least \$100,000 in diverted resources. *Id.* at 1437:12-1438:5.

889. Due to the Registration Disclaimer Provision, UnidosUS will spend additional staff hours training its canvassers on the disclaimer. *Id.* at 1424:4-12, 1425:13-18. In addition, due to a lengthier per-voter interaction, UnidosUS expects to register 20,000 fewer voters in 2022 than it did in 2020. *Id.* at 1423:11-19, 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17.

890. The Registration Delivery Provision and Registration Disclaimer Provision together will cause UnidosUS to spend an additional \$5-15 per voter

registration it collects. *Id.* at 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17. This diversion of staff time and money will diminish UnidosUS's ability to pursue its other programs, like its issue advocacy campaigns. Tr. 1490:8-21 (Nordlund). These injuries are sufficient to confer UnidosUS organizational standing to challenge these two provisions. *See Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165.

- Registration Disclaimer Provision because its First Amendment injuries are cognizable injuries-in-fact, as this Court has recognized. **RTECF 201 at 16 (Order Mot. to Dismiss). Voter registration involves core First Amendment-protected activity. *See Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1458; *Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 421-23. The Registration Disclaimer Provision forces UnidosUS to alter the content of its protected speech by undermining the reputation and trust in the organization by giving the inaccurate impression that it habitually delivers voter registrations late. Tr. 1423:20-1424:3 (Nordlund); *see Hargett*, 400 F. Supp. 3d at 730.
- 892. To counteract a higher rate of incomplete applications due to the VBM Request Identification, UnidosUS will spend more staff time and money educating voters on this new statutory provision. Tr. 1486:2-16, 1486:17-24, 1488:20-1489:21 (Nordlund). It will also spend additional staff time to train its canvassers on this requirement. *Id.* at 1488:5-11. This diversion of staff time and money will diminish UnidosUS's ability to pursue its other programs, like its issue advocacy campaigns.

Id. at 1490:8-21. These injuries are sufficient to confer UnidosUS organizational standing to challenge the VBM Request Identification. *See Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341.

893. As a result, UnidosUS has organizational standing as to these Challenged Provisions.

ii. Associational Standing

- 894. UnidosUS also has associational standing to challenge SB 90's Registration Delivery Provision on behalf of its affiliate organizations: the Mexican American Council (Miami-Dade); Hispanic Unity of Florida (Broward); Hispanic Services Council (Hillsborough); and Latino Leadership (Broward, Orange and Osceola). Tr. 1434:6-12 (Nordlund).
- 895. First, UnidosUS's affiliate organizations' voter registration programs will also incur additional staff time and money to comply with the Registration Delivery Provision, including by retraining staff and mailing registration forms to out-of-county Supervisors' offices. *Id.* at 1428:9-24. This diversion of resources impairs these organizations' "ability to engage in [their] own projects" and is an injury sufficient to confer standing. *Arcia*, 772 F.3d at 1341; *Browning*, 522 F.3d at 1165 & n.14.
- 896. Second, UnidosUS's challenge to the Registration Delivery Provision is germane to one of UnidosUS's principal purposes—namely, to "make sure that

all Latinos who are eligible can register to vote and go vote in elections." Tr. 1490:16-18; 1406:13-15 (Nordlund); *see GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1316.

- 897. Finally, UnidosUS's challenge to the Registration Delivery Provision does not require the participation of individual members. Nor does UnidosUS's request for declaratory and injunctive relief. *See GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1316 n.29 ("[P]rospective relief weigh[s] in favor of finding that associational standing exists.").
- 898. Accordingly, UnidosUS has associational standing to challenge the Registration Delivery Provision.

6. Poder Latinx's Capacity to Sue

- 899. Poder Latinx is a fiscally sponsored project of Tides Advocacy. At trial, the Court invited Plaintiffs to address whether Poder Latinx is a proper plaintiff in this lawsuit. Tr. 246:20-247:5.
- 900. To start, Defendants have waived the argument that Poder Latinx is not a proper plaintiff. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(a)(2) provides that if one party seeks to challenge another party's capacity to sue or be sued, the party must "do so by a specific denial, which must state any supporting facts that are peculiarly within the party's knowledge." Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(a)(2). The amended complaint in this case accurately described Poder Latinx the amended complaint described Poder Latinx as a fiscally sponsored project of Tides Advocacy, a California nonprofit

public benefit corporation. Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 59 ¶ 41. None of Defendants' answers included a "specific denial" of Poder Latinx's capacity to sue. Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 225 ¶ 41 ("The Secretary is without sufficient information to admit or deny the factual allegations contained within paragraph 41; therefore denied."); Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 103 ¶ 41 (Defendant-Intervenors); Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 131 ¶ 41 (Defendant White). Accordingly, Defendants have waived this issue. *See, e.g.*, *RK Co. v. See*, 622 F.3d 846, 849 n.2 (7th Cir. 2010).

901. In any event, Poder Latinx does have the capacity to sue. Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 17(b)(3)(A), an "unincorporated association . . . may sue or be sued in its common name to enforce a substantive right existing under the United States Constitution or laws," regardless of whether it generally has capacity to sue under state law. Here, Poder Latinx is suing to enforce substantive rights guaranteed by the First Amendment, Fourteenth Amendment, Fifteenth Amendment, and Voting Rights Act. It therefore has capacity to sue under Rule 17.

- II. THE CHALLENGED PROVISIONS OF SB 90 WERE PASSED WITH RACIALLY DISCRIMINATORY INTENT IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT, FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT AND SECTION 2 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT
 - A. Voting Laws Passed with Racially Discriminatory Intent Violate the Fourteenth Amendment, Fifteenth Amendment, and Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act
- 902. A facially neutral election law violates the U.S. Constitution and the Voting Rights Act when available "circumstantial and direct evidence" shows that the law was passed with racially discriminatory intent. See Rogers v. Lodge, 458 U.S. 613, 618 (1982); N.C. State Conf. of the NAACP v. McCrory, 831 F.3d 204, 220 (4th Cir. 2016) (quoting Vill. of Arlington Heights v. Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 266 (1977)). Ostensibly neutral laws motivated by racial prejudice "are just as abhorrent, and just as unconstitutional, as laws that expressly discriminate on the basis of race." McCrory, 831 F.3d at 220.
- 903. A state statute violates the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments if it (1) was passed with "an intent to discriminate," and (2) has "actual discriminatory effect." *GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1321. Courts apply a two-prong analysis to evaluate intentional discrimination claims. *Id*. On the first prong, the plaintiff must show that the law has both "a discriminatory purpose and effect." *Id*. (quoting *Burton v*. *City of Belle Glade*, 187 F.3d 1175, 1188-89 (11th Cir. 1999)). Once the plaintiff satisfies the first prong, the burden shifts to the defendant to show that the state legislature would have passed the law even absent any discriminatory intent. *Id*.

- 904. Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301, prohibits states from engaging in "invidious discrimination" on the basis of race in enacting voting laws. *Osburn v. Cox*, 369 F.3d 1283, 1289 (11th Cir. 2004) (quoting *Nipper v. Smith*, 39 F.3d 1494, 1524 (11th Cir. 1994)).
- 905. Courts use the multi-factor *Arlington Heights* framework to examine whether a facially neutral voting law was passed with discriminatory intent. *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 266-68; *see GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1321 ("The *Arlington Heights* analysis . . . applies to both Fourteenth Amendment and Fifteenth Amendment claims[.]"); *Brnovich v. Democratic Nat'l Comm.*, 141 S. Ct. 2321, 2349 (2021) (applying *Arlington Heights* to section 2 intent claim).
- 906. Under Arlington Heights, a claim of intentional racial discrimination "does not require direct evidence," United States v. Marengo Cnty. Comm'n., 731 F.2d 1546, 1552 (11th Cir. 1984); see also Lodge, 458 U.S. at 618 ("discriminatory intent need not be proved by direct evidence"). Rather, the Arlington Heights analysis "demands a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available." Young Apartments, Inc. v. Town of Jupiter, 529 F.3d 1027, 1045 (11th Cir. 2008). But discriminatory intent need not be the sole motivating factor: "Under Arlington Heights plaintiffs need only show that racially discriminatory intent was a motivating factor behind the challenged legislation."

Underwood v. Hunter, 730 F.2d 614, 620 n.12 (11th Cir. 1984) (emphasis in original), *aff'd sub nom. Hunter v. Underwood*, 471 U.S. 222 (1985).

907. The Arlington Heights factors are (1) the challenged law's impact, (2) the law's historical background; (3) "the specific sequence of events leading up" to the law's passage, which includes "(4) procedural and substantive departures; and (5) the contemporary statements and actions of key legislators." GBM, 992 F.3d at 1322. This "list has been supplemented" with three additional factors: "(6) the foreseeability of the disparate impact; (7) knowledge of that impact, and (8) the availability of less discriminatory alternatives." Id. These factors are non-exhaustive, id., and no one factor is controlling, see id.. at 1327 (only assessing discriminatory impact "[a]fter examining all of the Arlington Heights factors").

908. While the *Arlington Heights* factors inform the discriminatory purpose inquiry, courts should not "miss[] the forest in carefully surveying the many trees" by focusing on each factor in isolation. *McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 214. Rather, discriminatory purpose under *Arlington Heights* is determined "from the totality of the relevant facts," and courts must weigh the plaintiff's evidence as a whole. *Davis*, 426 U.S. at 242. Accordingly, "[t]he *Arlington Heights* factors require a fact intensive examination of the record." *GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1322 n.33.

- B. SB 90 was Enacted with Discriminatory Intent and Effect under Arlington Heights
- 909. **Racially Disparate Impact**: "[A]n important starting point" under *Arlington Heights* is "[t]he impact of the official action [and] whether it bears more heavily on one race than another." *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. 252 at 266 (quoting *Washington v. Davis*, 426 U.S. 229, 242 (1976)). Testimony from experts, election officials, and Plaintiffs has established the substantial impact that each of the Challenged Provisions will have on Florida voters. *Supra* ¶ 492.
- 910. *Drop Box Provision*: Ample evidence demonstrates how the burden of the Drop Box Provision will "fall disproportionately on voters of color." ECF No. 608 ¶26. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 7, 28 (Smith Rpt.) ("[A] large fraction of the more than half-a-million Black voters and more than 700,000 Latino voters who cast VBM ballots in the 2020 General Election will likely be disproportionately burdened by the [Challenged Provisions].") This provision increases the cost of voting for Floridians in terms of time, transportation, and information. Tr. 2420:9-15, 2486:1-10 (Smith).
- 911. Voters of color will face added barriers because, among other factors, voters of color in Florida are more likely than non-Hispanic white voters in Florida to have, longer commutes to work, less access to transportation and jobs in sectors with less flexible hours. Tr. 622:4-22, 629:12-630:4, 630:9-18, 630:19-631:12 (Cooper); ECF No. 608-16 ¶¶ 23-24 (Cooper Rpt.). This will make it harder, for

instance for these voters to access drop boxes during the reduced timeframes required by Section 28. *Supra* ¶¶ 554-560.

- 912. Additionally, as Dr. Smith and Dr. Herron testified, Black voters relied on drop boxes to cast their ballots at higher rates than voters of other races. *Supra* ¶¶ 563-565. Therefore, any restriction on drop boxes will disproportionately affect Black voters. *See McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 230 (finding disparate impact under *Arlington Heights* where "African Americans disproportionately used the removed voting mechanisms").
- VBM provisions also disproportionately affects minorities. See supra ¶¶ 516-520, 591-592. In Veasey, for example, the court found onerous ID requirements to have a disparate impact on minority voters because they were less likely to have their identification numbers on file with the state. 830 F.3d at 250. So too with SB 90: the VBM provisions "decrease the opportunities for thousands of registered voters to request their VBM ballots, . . . [and] the costs associated with requesting a VBM ballot, which already fall most heavily on racial and ethnic minority voters . . . will be exacerbated under this law." ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 10, 96, 105-106 (Smith Rpt.). To the extent that voters use the Internet to facilitate VBM renewals, the VBM Application Provision is especially burdensome on households that lack broadband

Internet access—a group that is disproportionately comprised of minorities. Tr. 628:18-23 (Cooper).

- 914. *3PVRO Restrictions:* The restrictions on 3PVROs will likewise have a disparate impact on Black and Latino Floridians' ability to register to vote. *Supra* ¶¶ 549-551. Plaintiffs and election officials testified that the Registration Disclaimer and Registration Delivery Provisions will severely impede third-party voter registration efforts by eroding trust between organizations and potential voters. *Supra* ¶¶ 540-542.
- 915. Further, Plaintiffs and experts repeatedly confirmed that 3PVROs play a crucial role in registering Black and Latino voters. *Supra* ¶¶ 545, 549-551. For instance, Dr. Smith relied on an August 2021 snapshot of the Florida statewide voter file to determine that 10.86 percent of Black registered voters as of August 2021, 9.57 percent of Latino registrants and 9.63 percent of "Other" registrants had most recently registered with a 3PVRO. Tr. 2569:13-2570:24 (Smith). In contrast, only 1.87 percent of white registered voters (i.e., 173,616 out of close to 9 million) had most recently registered through a 3PVRO. *Id.* at 2570:25-2571:3 (referencing Table 2 of Dr. Smith's report, at p. 32 of ECF No. 608-6). Therefore, restrictions on 3PVROs will be felt most acutely by voters of color. *See McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 231.
- 916. *Line Relief Provision*: The line relief restrictions will disproportionately impact voters of color by preventing them from accessing needed relief while

waiting in line to vote. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 27 (Smith Rpt.); see also ECF No. 608-5 at 23-24 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 961:9-962:16 (Burch).

- 917. Before SB 90, voters waiting in long lines could rely on nonpartisan organizations to provide line assistance that the government does not provide. *Supra* ¶¶ 577. Some supervisors have confirmed that they will no longer permit this assistance to voters waiting in line under SB 90's Solicitation Provision. *Supra* ¶ 590. Taking opportunities to vote away from minority voters "bears the mark of intentional discrimination." *League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Perry*, 548 U.S. 399, 440 (2006).
- 918. As an initial matter, the VBM restrictions discussed above will exacerbate lengthy voting lines for voters of color, where already "Black and Hispanic voters face longer wait times when casting a ballot in person." ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 230 (Smith Rpt.); see also ECF No. 608-5 at 23-24 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 961:9-962:16 (Burch). For example, in Miami-Dade County, "[o]ver 23 percent of all Black voters, nearly 24 percent of Hispanic voters, but only 17 percent of white voters faced wait times of 30 minutes or more across the five days of early voting." ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 243-244 (Smith Rpt.).
- 919. But even before SB 90, long lines in densely populated areas disproportionately affected minority voters: about 80% of Black and Latino registered voters in Florida are concentrated in the 12 most populated counties in the

state, whereas only about half of non-Hispanic white registered voters reside in those same sets of counties. ECF No. 608-16 ¶19 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 609:17-610:7 (Cooper). Because voters of color are more likely to wait in long lines, they are likely to disproportionately suffer the consequences of the Line Relief Provision. *See McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 231.

- 920. Cumulative impact: While each Challenged Provision raises the cost of voting individually, taken together, the provisions compound one another to add additional costs of voting. Supra ¶ 602-610. For example, when drop boxes are made more difficult to access or it is harder to request a mail ballot, voters can be expected to vote using other methods. If mail ballot or drop box voters shift back to in-person voting, the change will burden individuals who vote in person. Tr. 2159:9-15 (Herron). Dr. Smith testified that altogether, the Challenged Provisions would "without question . . . increase the cost on all Florida voters but particularly racial and ethnic minorities, Black and Hispanic voters, as well as those who have disabilities." Tr. 2395:19-25 (Smith). Together, these provisions result in the kind of "cumulative" disparate impact found to indicate discriminatory intent. See McCrory, 831 F.3d at 231.
- 921. **Historical Background**: *Arlington Heights* instructs that "[t]he historical background of the decision is one evidentiary source, particularly if it reveals a series of official actions taken for invidious purposes." 429 U.S. at 267.

Evidence of historical discrimination is particularly relevant when, as here, it shows "that discriminatory practices were commonly utilized, that they were abandoned when enjoined by courts or made illegal by civil rights legislation, and that they were replaced by laws and practices which, though neutral on their face, serve to maintain the status quo." *Lodge*, 458 U.S. at 625; *see also Marengo Cnty. Comm'n*, 731 F.2d at 1567 ("A history of discrimination is important evidence of both discriminatory intent and discriminatory results.").

- 922. It is well-established that "[a] longstanding general history of official discrimination against minorities has influenced Florida's electoral process." *DeGrandy v. Wetherell*, 794 F. Supp. 1076, 1079 (N.D. Fla. 1992). Further, Plaintiffs have provided ample evidence of Florida's shameful history of "passing legislation that is designed to roll back practices that remove barriers to voting when they are used disproportionately by Black Floridians." ECF No. 608-5 at 6 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 934:16-957:6, 957:7-958:15 (Burch).
- 923. In other words, SB 90 is best understood as the latest chapter of Florida's long history of racially discriminatory voting restrictions. Indeed, an examination of how Florida achieved disenfranchisement reveals principles that are important in assessing subsequent developments in Florida's voting rights history. Supra ¶ 135. One such principle is to understand the significance of seemingly small, incremental changes in voting laws that ultimately result in substantial

disenfranchisement. Supra ¶¶ 70-76. Another principle is the pattern of progress in enfranchisement being met with backlash. Supra ¶ 151. These patterns help to reveal how this history of racial discrimination in voting is not something that stopped during Reconstruction, or even following the passage of the VRA, but continues up to the present. Supra ¶ 135. This historical background, therefore, supports an inference of discriminatory intent.

- 924. **Sequence of Events**: "The specific sequence of events leading up to the challenged decision also may shed some light on the decisionmaker's purposes." *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 267.
- 925. SB 90 was introduced soon after the 2020 general election, which had the highest voter turnout ever reported in Florida. *Supra* ¶¶184-185. More than 11 million ballots were cast, including more than 1.3 million and 1.7 million ballots by Black and Latino voters, respectively. *Id.* Not only were 4.8 million VBM ballots cast in the 2020 election, but the number of VBM ballots cast by Latino and Black voters increased far more dramatically than the increase for white voters from 2016 to 2020. *Supra* ¶¶ 187-189. Black voters were also more likely than other racial groups to rely on drop boxes to return their VBM ballots. *Id.*
- 926. This sequence of events is all the more striking because Florida's 2020 election had been universally lauded as a "success story." Supra ¶¶ 184-215. Indeed, there was no evidence of systematic voter fraud following the 2020 election.

Supra FOF ¶¶ 196-208. Nor were there issues with third-party voter registration organizations. Supra \P ¶ 209-215.

927. This hasty legislative response to the widely-praised 2020 election is a textbook sequence of events exemplifying discriminatory intent. For instance, the McCrory court found that, where, against the backdrop of a major Supreme Court decision lifting preclearance requirements, a state legislature "rushed through the legislative process" a voter ID bill "that restricted voting mechanisms it knew were used disproportionately by African Americans," the "obvious inference [is] that this sequence of events signals discriminatory intent." McCrory, 831 F.3d at 227-29. More recently, the Southern District of Florida determined that a sequence of events "strongly suggest[ed]" that anti-sanctuary city legislation ratified "racially discriminatory views," in part because bill sponsors consistently invoked an "alleged public safety purpose" that "was actually pretextual," since "statistical data [reflected] falling crime rates in Florida, despite the simultaneous rise in undocumented immigration." City of S. Miami v. DeSantis, 2021 WL 4272017, at *27, 43, 48 (S.D. Fla. 2021), appeal filed (11th Cir. Oct. 20, 2021). So too here: the Florida legislature's voter fraud rationale must be pretextual because there is no evidence of widespread fraud or other election integrity problems in recent elections.

928. **Substantive and Procedural Departures**: Substantive and procedural departures from the ordinary lawmaking process exist when "factors usually

considered important by the decisionmaker strongly favor a decision contrary to the one reached." *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 267.

- 929. Thus, when a legislature passes a bill that violates federal law, addresses an imaginary concern, or has no connection to its stated purpose, those substantive departures support an inference of discrimination. *See McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 235-37; *Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 238-39. SB 90's purported motivation—voter fraud—was "almost nonexistent," *Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 239, and their purported solutions are "seemingly irrational restrictions unrelated to the goal of combating fraud," *McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 236. As detailed above, in December 2020 Florida officials touted the 2020 Florida elections as a model of security and accessibility. *Supra* ¶ 228-230. But a mere three months later, legislators aggressively propelled a law purporting to address voter fraud—without evidence that any widespread voter fraud actually existed. *Supra* ¶ 196-208
- 930. Further, a "legislature need not break its own rules to engage in unusual procedures," *McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 228; departure "from usual procedures in its consideration or enactment of the bill" may support a finding of discriminatory purpose claim, *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Abbott*, 495 F.3d 151, 161 (5th Cir. 2007).
- 931. Several procedural irregularities are apparent from the legislative record. ECF No. 608-5 at 46-54 (Burch Rpt.) ("SB 90 was adopted under an unusual process that was designed to stifle debate." *First*, the Supervisors of Elections were

not consulted prior to SB 90's introduction; nor did they support the bill at any stage of the process. Supra ¶¶ 259-261, 271. Indeed, the Supervisors were not given adequate opportunity to voice their concerns about SB 90 before the legislature and did not believe their views were considered. Supra ¶¶ 259-261, 442. Second, public comment in the legislative committees was extremely limited, and in some instances, completely foreclosed. Supra ¶¶ 275-277, 417-441. Third, the time allotted to debate SB 90 was "highly unusual" because it was so truncated. Supra ¶¶ 443-461. Fourth, the use of strike-all amendments—especially the one at 1:30AM on the House floor—was unusual and prevented legislators and stakeholders from adequately reviewing the changes being made to the bill. Supra ¶¶ 462-489.

- 932. Taken together, these substantive and procedural irregularities suggest that "improper purposes [were] playing a role" in the legislative process. *See Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 267.
- 933. **Statements made during deliberations** by "members of the decisionmaking body . . . may be highly relevant" to determining whether there is intentional discrimination. *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 268. In considering such statements in the context of discrimination claims, the Supreme Court has emphasized the importance of considering what the legislature says the "actual purpose" of the provision is. *Shaw v. Hunt*, 517 U.S. 899, 908 n.4 (1996). As discussed above, the legislative sponsors repeatedly provided pretextual and/or false

explanations as to the purpose or operation of their bills, going so far as to falsely assert that a Challenged Provision had been dropped from the final strike-all. *Supra* ¶ 465. It can be "reasonably infer[ed] from [such] falsity of the representation that the [defendant] is dissembling to cover up a discriminatory purpose . . . consistent with the general principle of evidence that the factfinder is entitled to consider a party's dishonesty about a material fact as affirmative evidence of guilt." *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prod. Inc.*, 530 U.S. 133, 147 (2000) (internal punctuation and citations omitted). *Cf. Dep't of Commerce v. New York*, 139 S. Ct. 2551, 2576 (2019) (courts "cannot ignore the disconnect between the decision made and the explanation given . . . [and] are not required to exhibit a naivete from which ordinary citizens are free").

- 934. Foreseeability of the Disparate Impact: To determine whether legislators were aware of a law's disparate impact, courts routinely consider the comments of the bill's opponents. *See, e.g., Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 236 ("[T]he Legislature was advised of the likely discriminatory impact by the Deputy General Counsel to the Lieutenant Governor and by many legislators[.]"). Here, the legislature was repeatedly made aware that SB 90's provisions would have a discriminatory impact on Black and Latino voters. *See Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 236.
- 935. For example, multiple advocacy groups submitted letters highlighting the bill's racially discriminatory impacts. ECF No. 608-5 at 54 (Burch Rpt.); Tr.

1039:11-1046:21 (Burch); see ECF No. 608-100. Legislators also highlighted data showing Black voters had the greatest increase in VBM usage in 2020. ECF No. 608-5 at 54 (Burch Rpt.); ECF No. 461-37 at 93:21-24; ECF No. 461-98 at 100:6-13.

- 936. Even SB 90's sponsors made statements that show that they were aware of the racially disparate impact that SB 90 would have. For example, Senator Baxley, when asked about racially disparate impact, stated that voters would not be disenfranchised but that "look[ing] at the patterns of use" there would be "a learning curve" for particular voters. ECF No. 608-5 at 55 (Burch Rpt.); ECF No. 461-98 at 100:15-22.
- 937. Despite these warnings, SB 90's supporters did not take any action to mitigate the Challenged Provisions' discriminatory impactor even dispute that the bill would burden minority voters. *Supra* ¶¶ 371-375; ECF No. 608-5 at 54-59 (Burch Rpt.); ECF No. 461-37 at 90:3-91:23, 93:21-24; ECF No. 461-98 at 100:6-13, 100:15-22; ECF No. 462-8 at 26:23-27:8, 29:6-20; Tr. 1039:11-1046:21 (Burch). Instead, when proponents of SB 90 were confronted with their colleagues' concerns, they often responded with statements indicative of racial resentment and insinuated that a failure of Black or minority Floridians to vote in the wake of SB 90 would be a result of lack of initiative or laziness. *Supra* ¶ 373. Notably, as Dr. Burch explained in her testimony, the relevant academic studies and scholarly literature

establish that attitudes of racial resentment have been shown to affect policy preferences. Supra ¶ 374.

- 938. What's more, the legislature had access to the Secretary of State's "recap report" from the 2020 election cycle, which is a data set shared by the Secretary of State's office after each election cycle. Tr. 2827:3-14 (Matthews). The "recap report" would have included demographic data about every Florida voter, including race, address, party affiliation, and method of voting. *Id.* at 2827:15-2828:14.
- 939. Thus, as in *Veasey*, SB 90's proponents "were aware of the likely disproportionate effect of the law on minorities, and . . . nonetheless passed the bill without adopting a number of proposed ameliorative measures that might have lessened this impact." *Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 236.
- 940. SB 90's proponents were also explicitly told that, due to existing socioeconomic conditions, the bill would disproportionately burden Black voters. Moreover, even without these explicit warnings, SB 90's sponsors could have reasonably anticipated this disparate impact, given Black people's widely-reported high rate of VBM voting. *See, e.g.*, ECF No. 608-5 at 54-55 (Burch Rpt.) Appendix J; *see also* Ex. 58 (news clip demonstrating that Secretary Lee and senior officials were aware of racial disparities in VBM voting); *cf. McCrory*, 831 F.3d at 227–28 ("a reasonable legislator would be aware of the socioeconomic disparities endured

by African Americans" that undermine their likelihood of possessing identification documents).

- 941. Insofar as SB 90's proponents sought to apply foreseeable burdens on racial minorities in service of perceived political gain, their actions remain subject to disapprobation. *Cf. Cooper v. Harris*, 137 S. Ct. 1455, 1473 n.7 (2017) ("[I]f legislators use race as their predominant districting criterion with the end goal of advancing their partisan interests . . . their action still triggers strict scrutiny.").
- 942. **Availability of less discriminatory alternatives**: The legislature passed SB 90 notwithstanding repeated warnings that its impact would disproportionately harm Black and Latino voters. *Supra* ¶¶ 355-375. Worse still, the legislature "passed the bill without adopting a number of proposed ameliorative measures that might have lessened this impact." *Veasey*, 830 F.3d at 236.
- 943. Over the course of the legislative process, the Florida legislature rejected 57 amendments that would have ameliorated the discriminatory impact of the challenged provisions. *Supra* FOF ¶ 403. This included ten amendments addressing the Section 7 voter registration provisions, eight amendments addressing the Section 24 vote-by-mail provisions, twelve amendments addressing the Section 28 drop box provisions, and three amendments addressing the Section 29 at-poll assistance provisions. *Id.* And, the bill sponsors gave nonsensical or pretextual reasons for rejecting these amendments. *Supra* ¶ 491.

944. Under *Arlington Heights*, these repeated failures to adopt a less discriminatory law "shed some light on the decisionmaker's purposes" to discriminate against minority voters. *Arlington Heights*, 429 U.S. at 267; *City of S. Miami*, 2021 WL 4272017, at *50-51 (finding that rejection of amendments designed to "lessen the discriminatory effect of the bill on minority communities" "suggests an unwillingness to reduce or address the harmful effects that [the bill] posed").

945. Every prong of the Arlington Heights analysis indicates that SB 90 intentionally discriminates against Black and Latino Floridians; that partisan motivations may have also played a role does not alter that conclusion. Indeed, it is well-established that an intent to disadvantage minority citizens to gain a perceived political or partisan benefit still qualifies as discriminatory intent. See League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 440 (2006) (finding that taking away a political opportunity just as minorities were about to exercise it "bears the mark of intentional discrimination"); see also Hunter v. Underwood, 471 U.S. 222, 233 (1985) (finding intentional discrimination where a state enacted a law to harm Black and poor white voters for partisan purposes). As other courts have observed, "acting to preserve legislative power in a partisan manner can also be impermissibly discriminatory." Veasey, 830 F.3d at 241 n.30; see also McCrory, 831 F.3d at 222 ("[I]ntentionally targeting a particular race's access to the franchise because its

members vote for a particular party, in a predictable manner, constitutes discriminatory purpose.").

946. Indeed, courts have long understood that the *Arlington Heights* inquiry requires a careful review when political advantage is proffered as a race-neutral reason for actions that undermine the voting power of a racial or ethnic group. *See, e.g., Garza v. Cnty. of Los Angeles*, 918 F. 2d 763, 771 (9th Cir. 1990) (although county supervisors may have acted primarily out of interest in political "self-preservation," actions were discriminatory when fragmentation of Hispanic community was the means chosen to achieve goal), *Ketchum v. Byrne*, 740 F.2d 1398, 1408 (7th Cir. 1984) (although goal of preserving incumbencies may not be inherently discriminatory, city council's actions were discriminatory when "racial discrimination was the necessary accompaniment of the action taken to protect incumbencies").

947. Finally, as noted above, the shifting explanations and excuses the legislature proffered for the Challenged Provisions are themselves probative of intentional discrimination. The excuse that the Challenged Provisions had an "obvious" partisan purpose and therefore were non-discriminatory (Def. Corrected Memorandum of Law ISO Summ. J. at 34) simply cannot be squared with the myriad other excuses offered by the legislature. *Reeves*, 530 U.S. at 147 (false explanations of motive may be probative of discriminatory intent).

III. SB 90 HAS DISCRIMINATORY EFFECTS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 2 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT

A. Legal Principles

948. In addition to forbidding voting laws or practices adopted with a discriminatory purpose, Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act prohibits any law or practice that "results in a denial or abridgment of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote on account of race or color," regardless of the legislature's intent. 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a) (emphasis added); see Chisom, 501 U.S. at 404 ("a violation of § 2 [can] be established by proof of discriminatory results alone"); GBM, 992 F.3d at 1329 ("[T]he language of Section 2(a) of the VRA requires only proof of discriminatory 'results,' not of discriminatory intent."); Johnson v. Governor of State of Fla., 405 F.3d 1214, 1227 (17th Cir. 2005) (en banc) ("Recognizing the subtle ways that states often denied racial minorities the right to vote, in 1982, Congress amended Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act so that a plaintiff could establish a violation without proving discriminatory intent.").

949. "[A]n application of the results test requires an inquiry into the totality of the circumstances." *GBM*, 992 F.3d at 1329 (quoting Chisom, 501 U.S. at 394). "[I]n looking into the totality of the circumstances, if 'members of a protected class have less opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their choice,' a violation is shown." *Id.* (quoting *Chisom*, 501 U.S. at 388). Stated otherwise, section 2 is violated when

F.3d at 1289 (quoting *Nipper*, 39 F.3d at 1524). The central question is whether a "certain electoral law, practice, or structure interacts with social and historical conditions to cause an inequality in the opportunities enjoyed by black [or other minority voters] and white voters to elect their preferred representatives." *Thornburg v. Gingles*, 478 U.S. 30, 47 (1986).

950. Because Section 2 requires considering the totality of the circumstances, "any circumstance that has a logical bearing on whether voting is 'equally open' and affords equal 'opportunity' may be considered." *Brnovich*, 141 S. Ct. at 2338. Relevant circumstances include a non-exhaustive list of "guideposts" that informed the Supreme Court's decision in *Brnovich*, including (1) "the size of the burden imposed by a challenged voting rule," (2) "the degree to which a voting rule departs" from standard practice in 1982, (3) "[t]he size of any disparities in a rule's impact on members of different racial or ethnic groups," (4) "the opportunities provided by a State's entire system of voting," and (5) "the strength of the state interests served by a challenged voting rule." *Id.* at 2338-40.

951. Also relevant and not to be "disregarded" are the *Gingles* or "Senate" factors, which are set out in a Senate report accompanying the 1982 amendments to section 2. *Id.* at 2340; *see also Gingles*, 478 U.S. at 36-37; *Johnson*, 405 F.3d at 1227 nn.25-26. In particular, courts should consider evidence that "minority group

members suffered discrimination in the past . . . and that effects of that discrimination persist." *Brnovich*, 141 S. Ct. at 2340 (citing *Gingles*, 478 U.S. at 36-37).

952. Given that section 2 requires courts to consider "the totality of circumstances," insufficient proof on some of the relevant factors is not dispositive. See Gingles, 478 U.S. at 45. Rather, no one factor controls, and "there is no requirement that any particular number of factors be proved, or that a majority of them point one way or the other." *Id.* (quoting S. Rep. No. 97-417 at 29). Instead, "the question whether the political processes are equally open depends upon a searching practical evaluation of the past and present reality, and on a functional view of the political process." *Id.* (internal citation and quotation marks omitted); see Wright v. Sumter Cnty. Bd. of Elections & Registration, 979 F.3d 1282, 1288-89 (11th Cir. 2020).

B. Applying the *Brnovich* and *Gingles* Factors, the Challenged Provisions Have Discriminatory Effects

953. **Size of Burden Imposed**: The burdens imposed by SB 90 exceed the "usual burdens of voting," even considering the other "opportunities" for people to vote. In *Brnovich*, the Supreme Court found that Arizona's requirement that voters must vote in their assigned precinct did not "exceed the usual burdens of voting." 141 S. Ct. at 2344 (internal quotation marks omitted). In making that determination, the Court emphasized that the State had "made extensive efforts to reduce [the] impact on the number of valid votes ultimately cast." *Id*.

- 954. In contrast, the burdens imposed by SB 90 are significantly heightened by the fact that Florida has made little effort to reduce the law's impact on voters.
- 955. For example, the Line Relief Provision allows only SOE staff to render aid to voters standing in long lines, yet the legislature did not mandate such assistance and provided no funding to enable SOE staff to offer help. *See* ECF No. 462-9 at 41:8-42:17 (discussion during House floor debate); *supra* ¶ 577-581 (explaining that nonprofit organizations historically have provided assistance that the government does not provide).
- 956. Similarly, regarding the VBM Identification Provision, both the legislature and the Secretary's staff recognized that many voters likely do not know which identification number they provided when they registered to vote. Supra ¶¶ 348-351. Despite this known potential for voter confusion, the legislature required the identification number provided on a VBM request form to be verified in the Supervisor's records. Id. Instead of accommodating voters who did not recall the identification number they had previously used, the Secretary decreed that there will be "no exceptions to the exact-match requirement." Supra ¶¶ 235, 236, 514. Moreover, neither the legislature nor the Secretary mandated that Supervisors conduct outreach to voters with either no identification number or only one identification number on file.

- 957. The record also contains ample evidence that the Challenged Provisions will impose a substantial burden on all Florida voters, and especially voters of color and disabled voters, by raising the cost of voting. *See supra* ¶¶ 503-537 (describing the substantial burden imposed by the bill's VBM Request Identification); ¶¶ 538-545 (describing the substantial burden imposed by the law's 3PVRO restrictions); ¶¶ 554-569 (describing the substantial burden imposed by the Drop Box Provision); ¶¶ 570-584 (describing the substantial burden imposed by the Line Relief Provision); ¶¶ 585-601 (describing the substantial burden imposed by the VBM Application Provision).
- 958. The record also demonstrates that taken together, the Challenged Provisions compound one another and create additional costs of voting. *See supra* ¶¶ 602-650.
- 959. The record further contains ample evidence describing the disparate impact the Challenged Provisions will have on minority voters. For example, Dr. Smith explained that the 3PVRO restrictions impact a registration method used to register at least 10.86% of Black and 9.57% of Latino voters—five times the percentage of white voters. *See supra* ¶¶ 549-550. In addition, the Line Relief Provision prevents organizations from providing assistance to voters in line, significant considering lines in predominantly Black neighborhoods are twice the length of lines in predominantly white neighborhoods. *See supra* ¶ 178. Moreover,

SB 90 impacts one of every four drop boxes deployed in 2020, with Black and Latino voters facing greater impacts than white voters. *See supra* ¶ 555; *see also supra* ¶¶ 493-610; *infra* ¶¶ 995-1028.

- 960. **Benchmarking to 1982**: Though *Brnovich* guideposts examine "the degree to which a voting rule departs" from standard practice in 1982, civil rights organizations challenged Florida's redrawing of districts to prevent the election of Blacks, ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 40 (Kousser Rpt.), and it would be another eleven years before Florida sent a Black person to Congress, *id.* ¶ 35. Thus, Florida's laws in 1982 hardly set a reasonable benchmark for assessing modern voting restrictions.
- 961. However, even measured against Florida's 1982 election laws, SB 90 is in some respects far more restrictive. For example, in 1982, the law only prohibited the distribution of campaign material or selling of any item within 100 feet of a polling place, whereas SB 90 prohibits engaging in *any* activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter within 150 feet of the polls. ECF No. 608-5 at 62-64 (Burch Rpt.). The limitation on the number of ballots an individual can submit for another voter is also a new restriction that was not in place in 1982. *Id.* at 64.
- 962. At trial, when asked whether it was easier for African Americans and Latinos to register and vote today as compared with 1982, Dr. Austin replied, "I would say no." Tr. 914:14-915:2 (Austin).

- 963. **Disparate Impact**: Under the framework established by *Brnovich*, one relevant circumstance to consider is "[t]he size of any disparities in a rule's impact on members of different racial or ethnic groups."
- 964. As discussed, the record contains ample evidence describing the disparate impact the Challenged Provisions will have on minority voters. For example, Dr. Smith explained that the 3PVRO restrictions impact a registration method used to register at least 10.86% of Black and 9.57% of Latino voters, five times the percentage of white voters, *supra* ¶ 549; the Line Relief Provision prevents providing assistance to voters on line, when lines in predominantly Black neighborhoods are twice the length in predominantly white neighborhoods, *supra* ¶ 178; and SB 90 impacts one of every four drop boxes deployed in 2020, with Black and Latino voters facing a greater burden than white voters *supra* ¶ 555.
- 965. **Opportunities to Vote**: The *Brnovich* framework also considers relevant "the opportunities provided by a State's entire system of voting." In *Brnovich*, the Court highlighted the various ways Arizona voters could vote early even if they could not vote on election day in their assigned precinct. 141 S. Ct. 2344. The "easy ways to vote" highlighted by the Court included the option of being placed on a permanent VBM list, an option which SB 90 prohibited. *Id.* Further, the provisions challenged here are distinguishable from those the Court found to be non-discriminatory in *Brnovich* because here they burden practically every mode of

voting in Florida (VBM, VBM via drop box, and voting in person) as well as the process of registering to vote.

- 966. Experts have established that while each Challenged Provision raises the cost of voting individually, taken together, the provisions work to compound the increase in costs of voting caused by SB 90. *Supra* ¶¶ 602-610. Specifically, experts emphasized that the impact of changes in election law as a whole should be key impact analysis, not simply the impact of each individual Challenged Provision. Tr. 1694:22-25 1695:1-12 (Kousser)
- 967. For example, when it is harder to vote by mail or when drop boxes are made more difficult to access, voters can be expected to vote using different methods, such as in-person voting. As a result, in addition to the burdens faced by voters who previously voted by mail or by using a drop box, there are increased costs for individuals who vote in person. Tr. 2159:9-15 (Herron).
- 968. And importantly, the Challenged Provisions of SB 90 would "without question . . . increase the cost on all Florida voters but particularly racial and ethnic minorities, Black and Hispanic voters as well as those who have disabilities." Tr. 2395:19-25 (Smith).
- 969. Supervisor Earley also explained that a restriction on one modality of voting creates a "ripple effect" of adverse impact on others, contributing to the cumulative impact of the Challenged Provisions as a whole on restricting

opportunities to vote. Tr. 2619:1-11 (Earley); *see also* Tr. 3507:6-25 (Earley) (reduction in early voting in 2011 resulted in "chaos" in 2012 on election day).

- 970. Similarly, Supervisor Latimer believed that when one method of voting is affected, it can have repercussions on other methods. ECF No. 608-51 ("Encouraging Vote By Mail is one of the ways we avoid lines at in-person voting, so if fewer voters vote by mail, that could affect wait times during in-person voting."). Supervisor Scott also testified to that effect, agreeing that more voters voting by mail helps keep in-person voting times shorter. Tr. 1210:12-17 (Scott).
- 971. **Strength of State Interest**: SB 90's burdens far outweigh the state interests behind it. In *Brnovich*, the Court stated that Arizona's interest in preventing fraud should not be discounted simply because "there was no evidence that fraud in connection with early ballots had occurred in Arizona." 141 S. Ct. at 2348. But as this Court recognized, "nothing in *Brnovich* suggests that the words 'voter fraud' are a mysterious and powerful incantation that instantly incinerates even the most fearsome section 2 claims." *FRT* Order on Mot. to Dismiss at 48. Here, unlike in *Brnovich*, the legislative sponsors expressly disclaimed that the purpose of the bill was to address fraud.
- 972. The record is replete with evidence that voter fraud did not motivate the passage of SB 90. *Supra* ¶¶ 196-208 (describing absence of systematic voter fraud following 2020 election); ¶¶ 209-215 (noting absence of issues with 3PVROs during

the 2020 election); ¶¶ 308-318 (recounting sponsors' inability to justify major election law changes or the specific Challenged Provisions); ¶¶ 319-335 (detailing sponsors' purported justifications for the Challenged Provisions); see Appendix I; Appendix H.

- 973. Indeed, if the genuine purpose of SB90 was to combat fraud, the SB90 sponsors would not have rejected amendments targeting the sham candidate fraud that actually impacted Florida's 2020 election. *Supra* ¶¶ 336-341; *cf. McCrory*, 831 F.3d 204 ("The photo ID requirement here is both too restrictive and not restrictive enough to effectively prevent voter fraud; '[i]t is at once too narrow and too broad."").
- 974. The state's interests should be further discounted because, unlike in Brnovich, there are no "obvious disadvantages" to the 57 less discriminatory alternatives proposed by legislators during the SB90 debate. 141 S. Ct. at 2346. Supra ¶¶ 490-491.
- 975. **History of Discrimination**: *Gingles* considers especially relevant evidence "that minority group members suffered discrimination in the past." Florida's long history of racial discrimination and efforts to dilute the turnout of voters of color is well-documented, from the Reconstruction period to present day. *Supra* ¶¶ 66-138.

- 976. Even seemingly small, incremental changes have contributed to substantial disenfranchisement. Over time, efforts to dilute the voters of Black and Latino voters have had their intended effect. Tr. 1701: 8-9 (Kousser); ECF No. 608-25 ¶ 33 (Kousser Rpt.).
- 977. And as explained by Dr. Burch, Florida's long history of racial disenfranchisement in voting is relevant and continues to impact ideologies, and ultimately laws, in the present day. Tr. 936:7-938:17 (Burch).
- 978. **Effects of Past Discrimination**: And under *Gingles*, there is ample evidence that "minority group members bear the effects of past discrimination" in various areas of life. *Gingles*, 478 U.S. at 45 citing S. Rep. No. 97-417, at 28-29).
- 979. Based on the Census Bureau's 2019 American Community Survey, expert witness William Cooper walked through the various socioeconomic indicators demonstrating that non-Hispanic Whites outpace African-Americans and Latinos in the state of Florida across "almost all key variables of socioeconomic status" and across a "wide range of data points." ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 10 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 591:9-12, 597:5-22 (Cooper).
- 980. This analysis took into account several metrics, showing socioeconomic disadvantages in education, employment, and health are reflected in lower income, less access to driver's licenses and vehicles, and less access to jobs with flexible hours for Black and Latino Floridians, all of which impedes access to

voting, especially under the Challenged Provisions. *Supra* ¶¶ 139-148. Voter registration rates among Black and Latino individuals who are eligible to vote are lower than their white counterparts. *Id*.

IV. THE CHALLENGED PROVISIONS ARE UNCONSITUTTIONAL UNDER THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS

A. Legal Standard

981. Under the *Anderson-Burdick* test, a court evaluating a claim that a state law burdens the right to vote must undertake a two-step process. At the first step, a court considers whether and to what extent a challenged law burdens the right to vote. See Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S. 780, 789 (1983). A law may impose minimal burdens, serious or significant burdens, or severe burdens. Under controlling Supreme Court authority, Anderson-Burdick requires consideration of whether a statute "imposes 'excessively burdensome requirements' on any class of Crawford v. Marion Cnty. Election Bd., 553 U.S. 181, 202 (2008) voters." (controlling op.) (quoting Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 738 (1974)) (emphasis added). In *Crawford* itself, for example, the "relevant" burdens were "those imposed on persons who are eligible to vote but do not possess a current photo identification" and that "[t]he fact that most voters already possess a valid driver's license . . . would not save the statute." Id. at 202 (controlling op.); see also id. at 199; id. at 212-14 (Souter, J., dissenting) (similar); id. at 239 (Breyer, J., dissenting) (similar).

- 982. Once a court determines the character and magnitude of the burden, the court should move onto step two: considering the strength of the state interests and whether they justify the burden at issue. The standard that the state must meet varies depending on the court's determination at the first step of the magnitude of the burden that the law imposes on the relevant class or classes of voters. If the burden imposed is severe, the law is subject to strict scrutiny. Norman v. Reed, 502 U.S. 279, 280 (1992); see also Democratic Exec. Comm. of Fla. v. Lee, 915 F.3d 1312, 1318 (11th Cir. 2019) ("Regulations imposing severe burdens must be narrowly tailored and advance a compelling state interest."). Burdens that are less than severe are subject to a sliding scale. In those circumstances, the court must "identify and evaluate the precise interests put forward by the State as justifications for the burden imposed by its rule," and in so doing, consider both the "legitimacy and strength of each of those interests." Anderson, 460 U.S. at 789 (1983) (emphasis added). "In passing judgment," the court "also must consider the extent to which those interests make it necessary to burden the plaintiff's rights. *Id.* (emphasis added).
- 983. The upshot is that even laws that have less than severe burdens must be justified by state "interest[s] *sufficiently weighty* to justify the limitation." *Norman*, 502 U.S. at 288–89 (emphasis added); *see also Crawford*. 553 U.S. at 191 (controlling op.) ("However slight" the burden on voting may appear, it still "must be justified by relevant and legitimate state interests 'sufficiently weighty to justify

the limitation.""). Some courts have conceived of this requirement as one of "fit," noting that the law must actually advance the state interests in question. *See*, *e.g.*, *Soltysik v. Padilla*, 910 F.3d 438, 448 (9th Cir. 2018). Under no circumstances are burdens on the right to vote evaluated under a traditional rational basis standard, which simply asks if the law is conceivably rationally related to the state's purported interest.

- 984. Anderson and Burdick are themselves instructive in how to evaluate and weigh burdens and the corresponding state interests. In Anderson, the Court considered an Ohio statute that required all candidates for President, including major party candidates and independent candidates to file a statement of candidacy and nominating petition by late March to appear on the ballot in November. 460 U.S. at 799. The plaintiff argued this deadline made it more difficult in practice for independent candidates to successfully access the ballot. *Id.* at 790.
- 985. The Court then embarked on a detailed examination of each of the proffered state interests for the law at step two. The state claimed three interests: (1) increasing voter education, (2) treating partisan and independent candidates equally, and (3) ensuring political stability. The Court took the first interest—voter education—and asked:
 - Is voter education a legitimate interest? Yes. "There can be no question about the legitimacy of the State's interest in fostering informed and educated expressions of the popular will in a general election." *Id.* at 796.

- 986. But the Court did not stop there. It then asked:
- Does anything undermine this state interest? Yes. "The validity of this asserted interest is undermined by the State's willingness to place major-party nominees on the November ballot even if they never campaigned in Ohio." *Id.* at 798.
- **Does the law actually promote voter education?** No. "It is also by no means self-evident that the interest in voter education is served at all by a requirement that independent candidates must declare their candidacy before the end of March in order to be eligible for a place on the ballot in November." *Id.*
- Is this law necessary to have informed voters? No. "In the modern world it is somewhat unrealistic to suggest that it takes more than seven months to inform the electorate about the qualifications of a particular candidate." *Id.* at 797.
- 987. The Court then turned to the second proffered state interest: treating independent and major party candidates equally. The Court leapfrogged the inquiry into whether the state interest was a legitimate one, and asked:
 - Does law serve the interest of treating candidates equally? Does this law put candidates on equal footing? No. We "find no merit in the State's claim that the early filing deadline serves the interest of treating all candidates alike . . . the reasons for requiring early filing for a primary candidate are inapplicable to independent candidates in the general election." *Id.* at 799.
- 988. The Court then moved onto the third interest: ensuring political stability. It asked:
 - Is this interest a legitimate one? No. The Court explained the state has an interest in preventing unrestrained factionalism, but it does not have an interest in suppressing political competition against the major parties. *Id.* at 802-04.

- Does the deadline actually serve the interest of ensuring political stability? No. "If the deadline is designed to keep intraparty competition within the party structure, its coverage is both too broad and too narrow. . . Moreover, the early deadline for filing as an independent may actually impair the State's interest in preserving party harmony." *Id.* at 805.
- 989. *Anderson* demonstrates that, when faced with even a non-severe burden on the right to vote, the court must ask whether (1) the state interest proffered for the law is a legitimate state goal, and if so, (2) whether the law actually serves that interest, and (3) whether the law is necessary to accomplish that interest.
- 990. Similarly, the *Burdick* Court, which found only a "slight" burden on the right to vote from a ban on write-in voting in Hawai'i, did not apply rational basis review; again, it applied the balancing test: "Because we have already concluded that the burden is slight, the State need not establish a compelling interest to tip the constitutional scales in its direction." 504 U.S. at 439. But the Court still took a close look at the law and evidence before it, before concluding that, in that case, the state's specific interest in "averting divisive sore-loser candidacies," was a legitimate state goal and that "[t]he prohibition on write-in voting is a legitimate means of" accomplishing that goal"; and that, in that particular case, "the State's interests *outweigh* petitioner's *limited interest* in waiting until the eleventh hour to choose his preferred candidate." Id. The Court further found that the prohibition was a necessary component of that state's larger election system, emphasizing that: "Hawaii further promotes the two-stage, primary-general election process of

winnowing out candidates[] by permitting the unopposed victors in certain primaries to be designated office-holders. This focuses the attention of voters upon contested races in the general election. *This would not be possible, absent the write-in voting ban.*" 504 U.S. at 439 (emphasis added). Thus, although the burden was slight, the Court still considered whether the ban was necessary to further the state's interests.

991. *Crawford* did not change this analysis. While *Crawford* unquestionably says that deterring voter fraud is a legitimate state interest, it does *not* say that voter fraud is a sufficiently weighty state interest to justify all voting restrictions, or that courts never need to require evidence of voter fraud, evidence of how the law will prevent voter fraud, or whether the law is necessary to prevent voter fraud. *See, e.g., Fish v. Schwab*, 957 F.3d 1105, 1126 (10th Cir. 2020), *cert. denied*, 141 S. Ct. 965 (2020) (holding that while interests in "protecting the integrity of the electoral process" or "safeguarding voter confidence" are "legitimate [interests] in the abstract," there is "no concrete evidence that those interests make it necessary to burden the plaintiff's rights in this case").¹⁰

992. Moreover, in *Anderson-Burdick* cases, "[t]he existence of a state interest . . . is a matter of proof." *Duke v. Cleland*, 5 F.3d 1399, 1405 n.6 (11th Cir.

¹⁰ In *Crawford*, the Court was not presented with concrete evidence of the relevant burdens, and "on the basis of the evidence in the record it [was] not possible to quantify either the magnitude of the burden" "or the portion of the burden imposed on them that is fully justified." 553 U.S. at 201

1993). It is not enough for state officials to assert in briefing that a law is justified—they must offer "record . . . evidence as to the state's interests in promulgating" the challenged law. *Id.* at 1405. As other circuits have explained, courts need not accept a state's justifications at face value, particularly where those justifications are "speculative," otherwise it "would convert *Anderson-Burdick* . . . into ordinary rational-basis review wherever the burden a challenged regulation imposes is less than severe." *Soltysik*, 910 F.3d at 448–49 (citing *Pub. Integrity All., Inc. v. City of Tucson*, 836 F.3d 1019, 1024-25 ((9th Cir. 2016) (en bane)).

993. Anderson-Burdick requires an individualized assessment of the specific state's law in question and the burdens it imposes. That other states may employ similar laws in their election schemes cannot sufficiently justify any law at issue here. Consistent with the Supreme Court's directive that challenges to laws under this framework "cannot be resolved by any 'litmus-paper test' that will separate valid from invalid restrictions," Anderson, 460 U.S. at 789, courts recognize that states' election laws are not fungible. State voter identification laws, for example, are not universally constitutional or unconstitutional—rather, an individual assessment of each state's law and the burdens it imposes is required. See, e.g., Ohio State Conf. of N.A.A.C.P. v. Husted (Husted III), 768 F.3d 524, 547 n.7 (6th Cir. 2014) (explaining, "we do not find that other states' electoral laws and practices are

on other grounds, No. 14-3877, 2014 WL 10384647 (6th Cir. Oct. 1, 2014).

994. Finally, when assessing the severity of the burden on plaintiffs' right to vote, courts look at the effect on plaintiffs and the groups they represent because the right to vote is "individual and personal in nature." *Reynolds*, 377 U.S. at 561; *see also Veasey v. Abbott*, 830 F.3d 216, 249, n. 40 (5th Cir. 2016) (en banc) ("The right to vote is personal and is not defeated by the fact that 99% of other people can secure the necessary credentials easily.") (citations omitted).

B. The Challenged Provisions Unduly Burden Florida Voters Right to Vote and Are Not Justified by Any Purported State Interest

- 995. The NAACP and FRT Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the *Anderson-Burdick* arguments as set forth in the post-trial brief filed by the League of Women Voters Plaintiffs. The NAACP and FRT Plaintiffs also assert that the Challenged Provisions violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments for the further reasons below.
- 996. Through evidence adduced at trial, Plaintiffs have demonstrated that the Challenged Provisions impose severe burdens on their members, and all Florida voters. Each of the Challenged Provisions increases the cost of voting. Together, their effects are even more severe. These burdens magnify the challenges to voting in Florida, which had a high cost of voting before SB 90. *Supra* ¶ 498.

1. Drop Box Provision

i. The Drop Box Provisions Impose Severe Burdens on Voters

997. Voting via drop box is a popular, secure, and important method of voting in Florida. *See* Tr. 2417: 13-25 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 25 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 93 (Herron Rpt.). More than a million voters relied on drop boxes to cast their votes during the 2020 election. Tr. 2410: 22-2411:3 (Smith). In the future, voters are likely to continue to rely on drop boxes as voters commonly will use accessible means of voting once that method has been made available to them. Tr. 2388:5-10 (Smith); *supra* ¶ 496.

998. Unfortunately for the hundreds of thousands of voters who relied on drop boxes in the past, *supra* ¶ 555, extensive evidence supports that the Drop Box Provisions will significantly reduce the availability and accessibility of drop boxes in future elections. At least one in four drop boxes will have reduced availability, totaling 40,000 fewer hours of availability statewide, compared to the 2020 general election. Tr. 2454:20-2455:11; Tr. 2458:19-2459:13 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 125, 127-30 (Smith Rpt.). SOE discovery responses have already confirmed this concern—60% of counties that previously offered 24/7 drop boxes will no longer offer them. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 132.

999. In particular, there will be greatly reduced drop box availability outside of regular business hours. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 127-29 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2472:4-

24 (Smith); *supra* ¶¶ 555-561. This loss in Drop Box availability will burden all voters, but especially those who typically vote on the Monday before Election Day as drop boxes will only be accessible at SOE offices on this day and it will be too late for them to mail their ballot. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 182 (Smith Rpt.). This improperly burdens voters who wish to "take the time available to consider the issues and candidates in an election." *Vote Forward v. DeJoy*, 490 F. Supp.3d 110, 126 (D.D.C. 2020). Reduced drop box availability will also particularly burden voters with limited access to transportation, *see* Tr. 2293:22-2294:17 (Herron); Tr. 2231: 7-16 (Herron); Tr. 2378:2-2380:8 (Smith), and voters with inflexible work hours. Tr. 527:6-16 (Brown); Tr. 2231:17-24 (Herron); Tr. (Garces) 215:18-217:11.

ii. The Drop Box Provisions Will Disproportionately Burden Voters of Color

1000. The impact of the Drop Box Provisions will be even more severe on Black voters who were more likely to use drop boxes overall. Tr. 2159:20-25; 2256:11-13, 17-21 (Herron); ECF No. 4671 ¶¶ 177, 215 (Herron Rpt.); Feb. 2, 2022 Tr. 960:17-961:8 (Burch); Tr. 395:20-397:1 (Burney-Clark) (describing drop boxes as a key aspect of mobilizing Black voters). Black voters are also more likely to use drop boxes during days and times that are restricted by SB 90. Tr. 2479:9-2480:4; 2481:24:2481:10, 2483:4-9 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 223 (Smith Rpt.). This is confirmed by anecdotal evidence. *See supra* ¶¶ 563-565. Direct return of VBM ballots via drop box rather than through the U.S. Mail is also important for Voters

of Color whose ballots are rejected at disproportionately higher rates in Florida as compared to white voters. ECF No. 608-6 ¶¶ 135, 137 (Smith Rpt.).

iii. The Drop Box Provisions Will Disproportionately Burden Voters with Disabilities

1001. The reductions in drop box hours and outdoor locations will severely impact voters with disabilities. Amy Zukeran, a disabled voter with anxiety; Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Major Depression, relies on outdoor drop boxes to cast her ballot. Tr. 2097:12-2099:10 (Zukeran). Sixty percent of SOEs who previously offered 24/7 drop boxes admitted they will reduce their availability. See supra ¶¶ 566-568. Indoor drop boxes are less accessible to voters with disabilities, particularly those with mobility issues, ECF No. 608-16 at 14, Figure 5, and may even restrict persons with disabilities from accessing the drop box entirely. See supra ¶ 569. Voting via drop box is also a critical option for those voters with disabilities who are unable to vote in person or will face accessibility barriers when casting an in-person ballot. Tr. 2739:1-25 (Babis); Tr. 2095:3-12 (Zukeran). This is particularly true for voters who are unwilling to rely on the U.S. Postal Service. Tr. 2099: 19-2100:4 (Zukeran).

1002. Defendants adduced no evidence to dispute that the Drop Box Provisions will result in less drop box availability statewide. Further, the expert and individual witness testimony that the reduction in said availability will impose challenges and burdens was uncontroverted.

2. VBM Application Provision

i. The VBM Application Provision Imposes Severe Burdens on Voters

The VBM Application Provision burdens the millions of voters in Florida who rely on VBM ballots and standing requests to have ballots mailed to them. Tr. 2500:17-22 (Herron). The VBM Application Restriction increases the cost of voting by adding informational and time taxes to the process of requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 8-11 (Smith); Tr. 2230:18-25 (Herron). This requirement will pose particular challenges for people of lower socio-economic status who are likely to burdened by the administrative challenges involved in requesting VBM ballots more often. Tr. 2205:12-21 (Herron).

The VBM Application Provision threatens to reduce the turnout of voters who rely on their standing applications and who are more likely to vote as a result. Tr. 2492:12-2493:7 (Smith). SOEs testified that this provision will burden voters who rely on standing requests and may cause confusion among those voters. *See* Tr. 2625:1-5, 2626:6-8 (Earley); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 137:23-138:1. Defendants seeming contention that voters can just request VBM ballots via the Internet is of little comfort to those without internet access, *see* Tr. 628:18-23 (Cooper), or those for whom the Internet is not otherwise accessible. Tr. 1100:18-1101:8 (Rogers).

ii. The VBM Application Provision Will Disproportionately Burden Voters with Disabilities.

1003. Voters with disabilities will also be disproportionately burdened by having to request VBM ballots twice as often due to a variety of challenges they face in completing those applications. See ECF No. 608-6 ¶105 (Smith Rpt.). Completing administrative forms can be difficult for older voters, voters with memory issues, and blind voters. Tr. 2204:8-25 (Herron); Tr. 1100:18-1101:8 (Rogers). Requesting vote-by-mail ballots by calling and having to interact with Supervisors of Elections' offices is burdensome for some voters with disabilities. Tr. 493:21-494:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2082:17-2084-3 (Slaughter). disabilities who require specialized equipment to read or fill out forms may have difficulty filling out a vote-by-mail application and satisfying the new ID requirements. ECF No. 608-6¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.); see also Tr. 2494:21-2495:4, 2500:7-14 (Smith). For voters with disabilities who live alone, there may be no one available to assist them in completing the VBM ballot application. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.).

1004. The fact that applying for a VBM twice as often will impose greater burdens on voters was, again, undisputed at trial. Defendants suggested instead that voters could simply vote in person, seemingly ignoring the significant barriers voters with disabilities face when voting in person. *See* Tr. 2089:17-2090:10 (Slaughter); Tr. 1591:22-1593:4 (Teti); Tr. 2095:3-12 (Zukeran). For these individuals,

forgetting to request a VBM ballot may mean not voting at all. Tr. 2079:6-8; 2080:10-13 (Slaughter).

3. VBM Request Identification Provision

i. The VBM Request Identification Provision Imposes Severe Burdens on Voters

1005. The VBM Request Identification burdens several groups of voters: (1) those who are registered to vote, but do not have driver's license, state ID, or the last four of a social security number on file; (2) those who have a form of ID file other than the one that they currently possess; (3) those who have an incomplete or incorrect ID on file; (4) those who cannot remember which ID they provided when they registered to vote; (5) those who no longer possess the form of ID that was used to register to vote; and (6) and those who are simply reluctant to provide their personal information every time they request a VBM ballot. Tr. 2503:4-2505:3 (Smith).

of 2021, were registered to vote in Florida without having a social security number or drivers' license on file. ECF No. 608-68 at 1. Even after outreach by supervisors, the number of voters whose voter file lacks both forms of ID remain in the hundreds of thousands. ECF No. 608-68 at 1; Tr. 2785:8-16 (Matthews); Tr. 3408:2-6 (Matthews). Under SB 90, these voters cannot request a VBM ballot despite being registered to vote, and the law makes "no exceptions" for those who lack a form of

identification. *Supra* ¶ 514; Tr. 2532:19-2533:9 (Smith); ECF No. 608-64 at 17-18. SB 90 increases the costs of voting for these voters by forcing them to separately submit a new registration form before requesting a VBM ballot. Tr. 1173:22-1174:8 (Scott); Tr. at 1287:3-13 (Corley); Tr. 1364:21-1365:6 (White).

1007. Additionally, the VBM Request Identification makes voting more burdensome for any voter who misremembers the identification used when registering to vote or reasonably mistakes supervisors' efforts to verify his identification as attempts at identity theft, thus being subject to confusion or distress simply for attempting to vote by mail. Tr. 1174:21-1175:3 (Scott); ECF No. 465-88 (SOS RFA No. 163); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 26:1-6; Tr. 2652:7-19 (Earley).

1008. Further burdened are the remainder of the more than 3.5 million voters who have neither form of identification or only one form of identification on file, *see* ECF No. 608-68, and cannot be expected to remember which one they provided when they registered to vote. Tr. 2515:23-2516:1; 2517:3-9 (Smith); Tr. 2650:18-24 (Earley).

1009. Furthermore, multiple supervisors testified that because of the VBM Request Identification, they will no longer allow voters to re-request VBM ballots using a simple checkmark on the back of their ballot return envelope. *See, e.g.*, ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 83:5-10. This change increases the costs of voting for

any voter who previously relied on the checkmark, especially voters who, because of socioeconomic, mental or physical limitations, find it difficult to request a VBM ballot by a telephone or online request. *See* Tr. 454:14-455:19, 493:25-494:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2232:4-18 (Herron).

ii. The VBM Request Identification Provision Will Disproportionately Burden Black Voters

1010. The impact of the VBM Request ID provision falls particularly heavily on Black voters. For the voters who registered after 2006, the number of Black voters without a driver's license or social security number on file with the Division of Elections is 2.5 times greater than their overall registration rate. Tr. 2526:1-21 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 81; Table 10 (Smith Rpt.). By contrast, the percentage of white voters registered after 2006 without a driver's license or social security number on file with the division of elections is less than the overall percentage of registered white voters. In Moreover, these post-2006 trends are likely to continue into the future. Tr. 2529:25-2530:21 (Smith).

4. Line Relief Provision

i. The Line Relief Provision Imposes Severe Burdens on *Voters*

1011. The Line Relief Provision prevents nonpartisan groups from providing assistance to voters waiting in line, assistance which the government often does not provide. *See e.g.*, ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 48:3-6. This provision therefore

increases the cost of voting by adding barriers for those waiting who must wait in line to vote. *See* Tr. 2394:14-20 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 27 (Smith Rpt.). The "tax" imposed by lines may lead to balking (when a voter sees how long a line is and decide not to join it in the first place) or reneging (when a voter leaves the line because it is too slow). Tr. 2536:10-2537:13 (Smith).

1012. As a result of the Line Relief Provision, Florida's restriction on activities in the non-solicitation zone is now one of the most severe in the United States. See supra ¶ 225.

ii. The Line Relief Provision Will Disproportionally Burden Voters of Color

1013. Black and Latino voters are disproportionately affected by long lines at polling locations. *Supra* ¶ 571. As discussed above, data from the 2020 election further demonstrates that Black and Latino voters are more likely to vote in a polling location with longer wait times. *Supra* ¶ 573. These voters were more likely to rely on line relief activities of organizations like those of Plaintiff organizations NAACP, Florida Rising Together, and Black Voters Matter. As a result of the Line Relief Provision, this assistance will no longer be available, which could result in voters forgoing voting altogether. Tr. 1963:17-1964:5 (Slater); Tr. 402:9-403:4 (Burney Clark) (testifying that because of SB 90, organization will no longer provide people with food, water, fans and umbrellas at polling places); Tr. 773:19-12, 742:16-743:24 (Velez Burgos) (describing SB 90's "chilling effect" on line warming

volunteers and explaining that to provide line warming assistance at some polling locations, staying 150 away would require setting up in the street); Tr. 223:13-16 (Garces) (describing inability to continue providing language assistance to voters in line because of SB 90).

iii. The Line Relief Provision Will Disproportionally Burden Voters with Disabilities

1014. Voters with disabilities will also be particularly burdened by the inability to receive assistance while waiting in line to vote. *See supra* ¶ 583-584. Disability advocates Mr. DePalma and Ms. Babis explained the importance of voters with disabilities being able to access chairs or water when needed. *Id.*; Tr. 2744:4-13, 2745:5-20 (Babis). At times, SOEs have failed to provide assistance to voters with disabilities. Tr. 2745:2-12 (Babis). Line warming relief by third-party organizations has often included assistance to voters with disabilities. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 745:1-8 (Velez Burgos) ("T ve personally helped wheel some voters into the polling location.").

5. Voter Registration Delivery Restriction & Voter Registration Disclaimer

i. The Voter Registration Delivery Restriction Imposes Severe Burdens on Voters

1015. The Delivery Restriction Provision increases the cost of voting by heavily impacting 3PVROs' various missions to encourage civic engagement and their abilities to assist individuals with registering to vote. 3PVRO plaintiffs

testified to the need to expend significant additional resources to comply with the Delivery Restriction Provision in order to be able to reach the same number of voters they previously did. *See e.g.*, Tr. 2040:16-2041:7 2043:12-2044:2, (Mercado); Tr. 210:6-211:3 (Garces); Tr. 769:18-770:1, 775:7-776:14, 800:6-16 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 1424:13-1425:12, 1427:5-1428:1, 1429:4-12, 1430:12-1431:24, 1433:8-16 (Nordlund). Even then, Plaintiffs are not sure they will reach the same number of registrations as in prior elections. *See* Tr. 1434:17-1435:14, 1436:8-18 (Nordlund) (UnidosUs expecting to register 20,000 less voters in the 2022 election due, in part, to the delivery restriction); Tr. 224:11-25 (Garces) (Foder Latinx believes SB 90 will impose reputational harms and decrease voters turnout).

1016. SOEs testified that the impact to 3PVROs will make it harder for voters to vote, with some voters prevented from voting entirely because they will not be able to register. Tr. 1216:5-8, 17-18 (Scott). For example, the delivery restriction is "almost cost prohibitive" for Equal Ground, who has stopped registering voters because of SB 90. Tr. 392:24-393:13 (Burney-Clarke). 3PVROs are integral to reaching voters who would not otherwise be reached. *See* Tr. 2666:6-11 (Earley). Accordingly, the provision ultimately burdens the over 700,000 of voters in Florida who rely on 3PVROs to register to vote. *See* Tr. 2566:18-2567:23 (Smith).

1017. Additionally, 3PVROs operate their voter registration efforts in locations that attract voters from various counties. Tr. 392:24-393:13 (Burney-

Clarke) (Equal Ground frequently registered voters from various Florida counties due to its location in a tourist hotspot); Tr. 725:16-23 (Velez Burgos) (Hispanic Federation commonly registering voters from 20 to 30 counties during special events). The State has not presented evidence that these visiting voters will otherwise register to vote once they return to their county of residence. Delivering these registrations by mail is not an acceptable alternative not only because of costs, but also because of concerns regarding delays and confidentiality. Tr. 731:16-732:1 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 1418:3-1419:1 (Nordlund).

1018. There has been no evidence from the Defendants to dispute that the provision will result in fewer voter registrations.

ii. The Voter Registration Disclaimer Provision Imposes Severe Burdens on Voters

1019. The Registration Disclaimer Provision has and will continue to have the effect of deterring potential voters from registering with 3PVROs. Since SB 90 was enacted and 3PVROs began delivering the Registration Disclaimer, some voters have declined to register to vote upon hearing the disclaimer. Tr. 50:15-51:2 (Scoon); *see also* Tr. 1237:3-11 (Scott) (describing feedback from 3PVROs that, upon delivering the Registration Disclaimer, potential voters declined to register with the organization by saying "they will register online").

1020. 3PVROs are often local, grassroots organizations comprised of "volunteers from the community who [are] more trust[ed] than government

agencies[.]" Tr. 1162:12-19 (Scott). As Supervisor Earley testified, 3PVROs "absolutely" provide valuable assistance to voters and reach voters that his office does not. Tr. 2665:23-2666:11 (Earley); *see also* Tr. 1343:3-6 (White) (acknowledging 3PVROs can "help to reach potential voters who otherwise might not register to vote").

- 1021. Because of SB 90, fewer people are willing to engage in voter registration. *See e.g.*, Tr. 1131:1-1131:14 (Nash); Tr. 1164:20-1165:13 (Scott); Tr. 52:3-14 (Scoon). The Registration Disclaimer Provision will require volunteers and canvassers to spend more time with each applicant to explain the disclaimer and answer any questions applicants may have. As a result, they will not be able to register as many voters. Tr. 1423:14-19 (Nordlund). *See also* Tr. 2039: 11-17 (Mercado) (Florida Rising Together noticed reductions from 300 to 100 voter registrations per week since enactment of SB 90).
 - iii. The Voter Registration Delivery Provision and the Voter Registration Disclaimer Provision Disproportionately Burden Black and Latino Voters
- 1022. Many 3PVROs focus their efforts on registering low-income, Black and Latino Floridians. Registering to vote online can be a barrier for voters who lack access to the internet or a computer. Tr. 262:1-17 (McCoy); *see also* Tr. 272:19-273:2 (McCoy). This is the case for tens of thousands of Black and Latino Floridians. *See* Tr. 623:14-20 (Cooper); *see also* ECF No. 608-16 at 62 (Cooper

Rpt.). Floridians with disabilities may also find it difficult to register online due to challenges navigating the voter registration form. *See* Tr. 449:10-14 (DePalma). Likewise, registering to vote in person can be a barrier for the 114,000 Black households and 126,000 Latino households without access to a vehicle. Tr. 629:3-8 (Cooper).

1023. Black and Latino voters disproportionately rely on 3PVROs to register to vote than their share of the electorate and rely more heavily on 3PVROs than White voters. ECF No. 608-6 at Table 2; Tr. 2569:20-2571:9 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 at Table 4; Tr. 2572:5-2573:5, 7-13, 2574:4-16, 23-2575:16 (Smith); see also Tr. 2035:20-21 (Mercado) (more than 85% of voters that New Florida Majority Education Fund registered were people of color).

1024. For minority voters and low-income voters, 3PVROs may be their only viable option to register to vote. So, if they are deterred from registering through a 3PVRO because of the Registration Disclaimer Provision they may be foreclosed from registering all together.

6. The Cumulative Effect of the Challenged Provisions Impose Severe Burdens on Voters

1025. The burdens imposed by the Challenged provisions are significant, unnecessary, and could result in outright disenfranchisement. These burdens are unreasonable even under the standard that Plaintiffs need only show that "burdened voters have few alternate means of access to the ballot." *Obama for Am.v. Husted*,

697 F.3d 423, 431 (6th Cir. 2012); see also New Alliance Party of Ala. V. Hand, 933 F.2d 1568, 1575-76 (11th Cir. 1991) (explaining challenged provisions need not be "insurmountable" barriers). Here, the court should consider the effect of the Challenged Provisions on voters generally, and on voters of color and voters with disabilities in particular. See Democratic Exec. Comm. of Fla. v. Lee, 915 F.3d 1312 (11th Cir. 2019).

1026. The Drop Box Restrictions, the VBM Request Requirement and the VBM Request ID requirement are likely to result in more individuals voting in person. Tr. 2419:23-2420:3 (Smith); Tr. 2159:9-15 (Herron); Tr. 2618:23-2619:11 (Earley); Tr. (Mercado) 215:17-24. In addition to burdening those who previously voted via drop box, this shift will burden those who wish to vote in person as they are likely to experience longer wait times at the polls. See Tr. 2419:23-2420:3 (Smith). SOEs testified that alternatives to voting in person on Election Day are critical to avoid lines. ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 115:16-116:2. Moreover, the VBM Application Provision and the VBM Request Identification will operate together to further reduce the number of voters who will vote by mail. Tr. 2533:22– 2535 (Smith). The cumulative impact of the provisions of SB 90 will have a greater impact on the cost of voting, especially for Black and Latino voters, and voters with disabilities. Tr. 2395:5-25 (Smith).

1027. As lines lengthen, more voters may require line relief assistance. With the Line Relief Restriction in place, however, such assistance will be unavailable from nonpartisan organizations who traditionally engaged in these activities. This only exacerbates the burden of voting in person. *Supra* ¶¶ 251-252.

1028. Dr. Cooper provided extensive testimony regarding the socio-economic disparities between white voters and voters of color. *Supra* ¶¶ 142-149. These include less access to vehicles, longer commutes, and less flexible hours, variables which contribute to increased costs of voting. *Supra* ¶ 496. And, Black voters already face higher costs of voting than white voters. Tr. 2391:17-2392:4 (Smith). As do Latino voters, and voters with disabilities. Tr. 2392:5-25 (Smith). The added burdens imposed by the Challenged Provisions compound the challenges and costs of voting voters of color already face, and at a time when VBM usage for Black and Latino voters was on the rise. Tr. at 2409:1-13, 2407:16-2408:5 (Smith); Tr. 960:22-961:15, 1083:19-1084:24 (Burch); ECF No. 608-5 at 21-22 (Burch Rpt.).

C. The State's Interest in the Challenged Provisions is Pretextual, or Is At Least Insufficient to Justify the Burdens on Voters

1029. The State's proffered interests in the Challenged Provisions are tenuous at best, and pretextual at worst. *See supra* Conclusions of Law, Section II.B. Especially without a serious, valid justification, the burdens the Challenged Provisions impose on voters are unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendment.

1030. Despite the State's repeated invocation of voter fraud as a justification for the Challenged Provisions, there simply was no evidence of widespread voter fraud adduced at trial or in the legislative record. Tr. 2207:2-5 (Herron); *id.* at 2210:18-21; *id.* at 2217:7-12; ECF No. 608-5 at 36-38 (Burch Rpt.); *supra* ¶¶ 196-215. Of the few, isolated examples of voting irregularities that Defendants raised, they adduced no evidence that the Challenged provisions would have prevented issues moving forward. *See supra* ¶¶ 308-354. Sponsors of SB 90 were unable to point to evidence of voter fraud, drop box vandalism, or election security issues to justify the Challenged Provisions. ECF No. 461-34 at 15:16-18:13; ECF No. 608-5 at 26 (Burch Rpt.); Tr. 972:15-973:13 (Burch).

1031. For example, Defendants have suggested the Drop Box Restrictions were necessary to address drop box security and prevent tampering; because SOEs were not administering drop boxes properly; and to ensure the chain of custody of each ballot. Tr. 1015:8-1016:23 (Burch); *supra* ¶¶ 324-328. The Legislature considered no evidence in support of these alleged justifications, ECF No. 461-37 at 108:19-109:1, and Defendants adduced no evidence to support these post hoc rationales at trial. In particular, as USPS boxes are outdoors and unattended, there is no basis to treat drop boxes differently. ECF No. 461-34 at 24:7-11; *supra* ¶ 328.

1032. With regard to the VBM Application Restriction, there is no basis in political science literature to support the proposition that it is more secure to require

people to more frequently decide how they vote, as now required by this provision. Tr. 2202:22-2203 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 59 (Herron Rpt.). In fact, counties in Florida that had "check-the-box" provisions on the back of a vote-by-mail envelope which allowed voters to request a VBM ballot continually had higher voter participation. Tr. 2492: 5-21 (Smith). Higher voter participation has been seen not only in general elections but in municipal and special elections that do not have as high a turnout typically because they are off cycle. Tr. 2493: 3-7 (Smith). To justify the VBM Request ID provision, legislators provided only vague and unsupported claims about election safety. ECF No. 461-67: 4-7 (Rep. Ingoglia claiming that the bill "increases election security by requiring a two-factor identification . . . for vote by mail request."). Furthermore, Secretary Lee indicated that SOEs already had safeguards in place to ensure that vote-by-mail ballots are going to voters who are on the voter registration rolls. Tr. 1011:1-1013:2 (Burch). And expert testimony confirmed that numerous safeguards exist to ensure VBM integrity. Tr. 2200:3-2201:24 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶ 58 (Herron Rpt.).

1033. To support the Registration Disclaimer Provision, the State asserts an interest in addressing the risk that 3PVROs might not deliver registrations on time. But this purported interest has no basis. Of the 67 SOEs, 64 are unaware of *any* voter in their county who was unable to vote in 2020 because a 3PVRO returned a registration form past book closing or not at all. *See* Appendix C, at RFA 10. The

alternative ways to register to vote impose substantial burdens for many of the very populations that 3PVROs are so successful at registering to vote. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 1494:16-22 (Nordlund). Moreover, the FVRS is subject to frequent crashes and failures. *See, e.g.*, ECF No. 608-6 at ¶ 44. Yet SB90 does not direct that *that* information be shared with voters.

an interest in decreasing the administrative burden on the SOEs. Tr. 3119:8-3120:18 (Ramba). This justification is weak, at best. SOEs have testified to being able to handle out-of-county registrations in the past and have done so for many years. Tr. 3185:2-7 (White) (the Miami-Dade supervisor's office "for years" was able to handle the out-of-county registrations). ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 183:14 (handled "thousands" of out-of-county registrations during the 2020 general election). The legitimacy of this asserted interest is also undermined by Supervisor testimony confirming that SOEs will nevertheless continue to process out-of-county registrations delivered by other methods (e.g., individual voters), which are not subject to the same delivery restrictions. Tr. 3244:2-15 (Doyle).

1035. Further, this alleged interest was never considered by the legislature. Indeed, during legislative testimony, no one cited any issues regarding 3PVROs. Tr. 1567:4-10,12-18 (Farmer); *see also* Tr. 2795:13-2796:4 (Matthews). The only purported justification for 3PVRO restrictions during the legislative process was to

"clean[] up statutes that have been ruled unconstitutional." ECF No. 461-67 at 4:22-5:4; see also ECF No. 461-78 at 89:5-89:23. In no way does the delivery restriction serve this purported justification—the bill's sponsors were presumably referring to this Court's 2012 decision in *League of Women Voters of Florida v. Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d 1155 (N.D. Fla. 2012), a case that had no mention of requiring 3PVROs to deliver applications to the applicant's county of residence.

1036. For the Line Relief Provision, the State's sole articulated interest is to prevent harassment or intimidation at the polls. Tr. 3474:3-17 (Matthews). There is no evidence of such harassment every having occurred, nor was any evidence considered by the legislature. This concern is also already addressed by Fla. Stat. § 102.031(1).

1037. As discussed above, and in the League of Women Voters post-trial brief each of the purported justifications for the Challenged Provisions are unsupported by the record, and the record before the legislature.

V. FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGES TO LINE RELIEF PROVISION

A. Legal Standard - Expressive Conduct

1038. The *First* Amendment guarantees "all people [] the right to engage not only in 'pure speech,' but 'expressive conduct,' as well." *Holloman ex rel*. *Holloman v. Harland*, 370 F.3d 1252, 1270 (11th Cir. 2004) (citing *United States v. O'Brien*, 391 U.S. 367, 376–77 (1968)).

1039. In *Spence v. Washington*, 418 U.S. 405, 410–11 (1974), the Supreme Court formulated a two-part inquiry to determine whether conduct is sufficiently expressive under the First Amendment: (1) whether "[a]n intent to convey a particularized message was present[;]" and (2) whether "in the surrounding circumstances the likelihood was great that the message would be understood by those who viewed it."

1040. "[I]n determining whether conduct is expressive, we ask whether the reasonable person would interpret it as some sort of message, not whether an observer would necessarily infer a *specific* message. Holloman, 370 F.3d at 1270 (emphasis in original) (citing Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Grp. of Boston, 515 U.S. 557, 569 (1995). Context matters: the circumstances surrounding an event often help set the dividing line between activity that is sufficiently expressive and similar activity that is not. See Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 901 F.3d 1235, 1237 (11th Cir. 2018). Context separates the physical activity of walking from the expressive conduct associated with a picket line or a parade. See United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. 171, 176 (1983) ("There is no doubt that as a general matter peaceful picketing and leafletting are expressive activities involving 'speech' protected by the First Amendment."); Hurley, 515 U.S. at 568 ("[W]e use the word 'parade' to indicate marchers who are making some sort of collective point, not just to each other but to bystanders along the way.").

1041. Context also differentiates the act of sitting down—ordinarily not expressive—from the sit-in by African Americans at a Louisiana library which was understood as a protest against racial segregation. *See Brown v. Louisiana*, 383 U.S. 131, 141–42 (1966).

1042. To aid in this analysis, the Eleventh Circuit applies a five-factor test to determine whether conduct would be understood as conveying a message: (1) whether the plaintiff intends to distribute literature or hang banners in connection with the expressive activity, (2) whether the activity will be open to all, (3) whether the activity takes place in a traditional public forum, (4) whether the activity addresses an issue of public concern, and (5) whether the activity "has been understood to convey a message over the millennia." *Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs*, 901 F.3d at 1242-43; *see also Burns v. Town of Palm Beach*, 999 F.3d 1317, 1343 (11th Cir. 2021).

1043. When, as with SB 90, expressive conduct is regulated based on its content, the regulation must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling government interest. *Solantic, LLC v. City of Neptune Beach*, 410 F.3d 1250, 1258 (11th Cir. 2005); *Burns v. Town of Palm Beach*, 999 F.3d at 1377. "Narrow tailoring" in this context requires "the least restrictive means," *United States v. Playboy Entm't Grp., Inc.*, 529 U.S. 803, 813 (2000). "As a practical matter, only the most extraordinary

circumstances will justify regulation of protected expression based upon its content." *Dimmitt v. City of Clearwater*, 985 F.2d 1565, 1570 (11th Cir. 1993).

1044. Relatedly, the First Amendment doctrine of overbreadth prohibits the government from maintaining regulations that prohibit or chill a substantial amount of protected speech activities. *See Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coal.*, 535 U.S. 234, 244–51, 253–55 (2002); *United States v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, 293, 297 (2008); *Dream Defs. v. DeSantis*, No. 4:21-cv-191, 2021 WL 4099437, at *28 (N.D. Fla. Sept. 9, 2021).

B. Application – Expressive Conduct

1045. SB 90's Line Relief Provision violates the First Amendment as applied to Plaintiffs because it is not the least restrictive means of regulating their expressive conduct. Plaintiffs' line relief activities are expressive conduct because: (1) Plaintiffs intend to convey a particularized message through these activities; and (2) these activities are understood as conveying a message.

1046. Plaintiffs provided uncontroverted testimony that their line relief efforts are intended to communicate that it is important to stay in line to vote. Tr. 1954:12-16 (Slater) (explaining that Florida NAACP volunteers provide "support," "encouragement," "relief," and "a variety of items that we have available to voters to ensure that they stay in line."); Tr. 517:4-11 (Brown) (explaining that Florida NAACP provides assistance to voters waiting in line "to show them the importance

1047. This expressive conduct is not a one-way communication. For example, Florida NAACP provides line relief in direct response to requests from voters. Tr. 1956:13-18 (Slater) (Q: "And do voters ever approach you or volunteers requesting specific items of support?" A: "Yes. That is . . . the only way that we hand out those kinds of items, if they [] approach us with the need for any water or fan or anything else. We don't approach them and just say, Here. You know, we don't do that."); *id.* at 1959:25-1960:2 ("We provide [these] relief efforts [and] relief items to anyone who comes to us and requests or asks.").

1048. Defendants did not offer any evidence that voters requesting this relief do not understand that Plaintiffs' line relief efforts convey support for the act of remaining in line to vote.

1049. The context of these line relief efforts, as evaluated using the five-factor test described in *Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs*, further supports a finding that voters understand these efforts to convey a message.

1050. Regarding factor 1 Plaintiffs do not provide any literature when engaging in line relief efforts. Regarding factors 2 and 3, Florida NAACP provides nonpartisan line relief to all voters waiting in lines in and around polling places, which include traditional public forums such as public streets. *See* Tr. 1957:10-17; 1959:10-1960:2 (Slater); *Burson v. Freeman*, 504 U.S. 191, 196–97 (1992) (finding that a Tennessee law barring electioneering within 100 feet of a polling place "bars speech in quintessential public forums").

1051. Regarding factor 4, it is axiomatic that voting for public officials or on initiatives that affect one's community is a matter of public concern. "[S]peech [is of public concern] when it can 'be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community," or when it "is[] a subject of general interest and of value and concern to the public." *Snyder v. Phelps*, 562 U.S. 443, 453 (2011) (quoting *Connick v. Myers*, 461 U.S. 138, 146 (1983)) (alteration in original) (citation omitted). And Florida NAACP provided uncontroverted

testimony that its members are interested in and value the right to vote. *See* Tr. 1951: 5-6, 1951:19-21 (Slater) (describing that "99.9[%]" of members of the Daytona Beach Branch are registered voters and that "the main thing is when individuals want to become members of the organization, their goal or their mission is to want to support civic engagement efforts within the NAACP."); *see also* Tr. 510:4-11, 512-19-21 (Brown) (stating that voter education, registration, and mobilization are all part of the Florida NAACP's mission and that many Florida NAACP members are voters).

- 1052. Regarding factor 5, while Florida NAACP has not been around for millennia, it has engaged in this work for decades. Tr. 510:16-517:11 (Brown); Tr. 1953:22-1954:8 (Slater). And through the years, courts have repeatedly recognized that the provision of similar forms of voter assistance constitutes expressive conduct. *Buckley v. Am. Const. Law Found. Inc.*, 525 U.S. 182, 195 (1999); *Meyer v. Grant*, 486 U.S. 414, 421–22 (1988); *Coley-Pearson v. Martin*, No. 520-151, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4782272, at *8 (S.D. Ga. Oct. 13, 2021).
- 1053. Given that four of the five factors weigh in Plaintiffs' favor, the overall context supports a finding that Plaintiffs' line relief efforts are expressive conduct.

 As such, these efforts are subject to First Amendment scrutiny.
- 1054. By its plain terms, the Line Relief Provision prohibits "engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter." ECF No. 402

at 26 (Joint Stip.). Plainly, one cannot determine what expressive conduct has the effect of influencing a voter without knowing what was said and done. The Line Relief Provision therefore regulates speech based on its content because it cannot be understood "without reference to the content of the regulated speech." *Burson v. Freeman*, 504 U.S. 191, 212 (1992) (quoting *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989)).

1055. Because it is a content-based restriction, the Line Relief Provision can only survive First Amendment scrutiny if it is the least restrictive means of achieving a compelling government interest. *See Solantic*, 410 F.3d at 1258.

1056. The Line Relief Provision fails both prongs of this test. *First*, it is fatally over-inclusive, because the "any activity" language has no readily discernible limit. *See Perry Educ. Ass'n v. Perry Loc. Educators' Ass'n*, 460 U.S. 37, 66 (1983); *Playboy Entm't Grp.*, 529 U.S. at 814; *Reno v. Am. C.L. Union*, 521 U.S. 844, 875 (1997).

1057. Plaintiffs provided uncontroverted testimony that the broad scope of this provision may sweep up their constitutionally protected line relief activities. Tr. 528:19-25, 529:1-10 (Brown); Tr. 1961:7-8 (Slater). "Because the statute so broadly restricts expressive activity, the State must use far more restrictive means in achieving its goal." *CBS Broad., Inc. v. Cobb*, 470 F. Supp. 2d 1365, 1371–72 (S.D. Fla. 2006).

1058. Second, the Line Relief Provision does not serve a compelling government interest. Director Matthews testified that this provision is designed to address voter harassment. Tr. 3439:22–3440:2 (Matthews). Yet Director Matthews failed to offer any explanation of how this provision actually serves that end. See id. at 3439:13-3474:8. She further admitted that complaints about voter harassment have not been made against nonpartisan groups who provide line relief as Plaintiffs do. Id. at 3474:12-17; see also Tr. 1387:18-1383:14 (White) (describing chaotic activities within the 150-feet no-solicitation zone by "political parties" and "campaigns."). Nor did SB 90's sponsors explain how criminalizing the provision of nonpartisan voter relief promotes voter privacy in any way. See e.g., ECF No. 461-37 at 42-43.

1059. Defendants' evidence thus fails to "show[] that the articulated concern has more than merely speculative factual grounds." *Flanigan's Enters., Inc. v. Fulton Cnty.*, 242 F.3d 976, 986 (11th Cir. 2001).

1060. Nor can Defendants rely on their purported interest in stamping out traditional voter solicitation where, as here, Defendants chose to "regulate expression in such a manner that a substantial portion of the burden on speech does not serve to advance its goals." *Ward*, 491 U.S. at 799; *see also Cobb*, 470 F. Supp. 2d at 1371–72 (enjoining restriction on exit-polling activities, where offending

statute broadly sought to prohibit exit polling activities "without any regard as to whether they are disruptive").

C. Application – Overbreadth

1061. The Line Relief Provision is unconstitutionally overbroad, both on its face, and as-applied to Plaintiffs, for many of the same reasons that it is not narrowly tailored.

1062. Giving effect to every word in this provision, as this Court must do, means that the Line Relief Provision prohibits *any* expressive conduct that has the effect of influencing a voter. *See* ECF No. 402 at 26 (Joint Stip.); *Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253–54 (1992) ("[Clourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statue what it says there.".

1063. Because there are no limitations on what conduct may have an influencing effect, this provision is arguably broad enough to prohibit Plaintiffs' constitutionally protected line relief activities. Tr. 528:19-25, 529:1-10 (Brown) (describing the Line Relief Provision as criminalizing the Florida NAACP's line relief work); Tr. 1961:7-8 (Slater) (describing the Line Relief Provision as criminalizing the Florida NAACP's line relief work); *id.* 1970:1-2 ("SB 90 is not really clear on what we can and can't do overall."). The ambiguity of the Line Relief Provision therefore "consumes vast swaths of core First Amendment speech."

DeSantis, 2021 WL 4099437, at *29. This is the very essence of overbreadth. Ashcroft, 535 U.S. at 237; Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 613 (1973).

1064. The Line Relief Provision's overbreadth is further confirmed by its vagueness, as explained more fully below. *See DeSantis*, 2021 WL 4099437, at *17 ("[O]ften a law is both overbroad and vague—a concept the Eleventh Circuit has called 'overbreadth from indeterminacy.' This is so because an indefinite law may give the government leeway to punish protected conduct." (internal citation omitted)).

D. Legal Standard - Vagueness

1065. The Due Process Clause incorporates the "fundamental principle in our legal system" that "laws which regulate persons or entities must give fair notice of conduct that is forbidden or required." *FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc.*, 567 U.S. 239, 253 (2012). The reasoning is simple: (1) "regulated parties should know what is required of them so they may act accordingly[,]" and (2) "precision and guidance are necessary so that those enforcing the law do not act in an arbitrary or discriminatory way." *Id.*

1066. Therefore, any statute that "forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so [broad] that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application," *Connally v. Gen. Constr. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926), or is "so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously

discriminatory enforcement" violates the essence of due process of law. *Id.*; *see also Fox Television Stations*, 567 U.S. at 253 (holding that the Due Process Clause "requires the invalidation of laws that are impermissibly vague").

1067. This requirement must be applied rigorously when speech is at issue to "ensure that ambiguity does not chill protected speech." *Fox Television Stations*, 567 U.S. at 253–54; *see also NAACP v. Button*, 371 U.S. 415, 432–33 (1963) (finding that "standards of permissible statutory vagueness" impacting First Amendment freedoms "are strict").

1068. When evaluating a law for unconstitutional vagueness, the Court "must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." *Wollschlaeger v. Governor, Fla.*, 848 F.3d 1293, 1322 (11th Cir. 2017) (quoting *Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. at 253–54).

E. Application – Vagueness

1069. The Line Relief Provision is unconstitutionally vague, both on its face and as-applied to Plaintiffs, because it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of what it prohibits. Plaintiffs do not know whether their line relief activities are unlawful and are engaging in self-censorship to avoid running afoul of this provision.

1070. Lawmakers repeatedly put the sponsors of SB 90 and HB 7041 on notice of the Line Relief Provision's ambiguity during legislative debates. *See e.g.*, ECF No. 461-38 at 27:21-28:10; ECF No. 462-29 at 40:20-41:2.

1071. In response, Rep. Ingoglia failed to provide meaningful clarity regarding this provision's reach. *See* ECF No. 462-9 at 5:4-14, 39:10-41:6 (responding to a question regarding whether third parties can provide water to voters on a hot day within the 150-foot no-solicitation zone, saying "Number one, they can go outside the 150-foot line, get food, water, bring it back in . . . If it's a hot day outside, there's nothing under this bill preventing a supervisor of elections, an elections worker for handing out water and taking care of the people in that line."); ECF No. 461-38 at 28:13-19 (responding to a critique regarding the Line Relief Provision's ambiguity, saying, "We tried to be more precise in earlier versions and found that putting it this way was probably the most optimal way and here's why. What we're saying is that the intent – it's basically campaigning. What it boils down to is if you're campaigning on line.").

1072. Plaintiffs testified to the ongoing uncertainty regarding this provision. Tr. 528:19-25, 529:1-10 (Brown) ("We consider it too confusing."); Tr. 1961:7-8 10; 1970:1-2 (Slater) ("SB 90 is not really clear on what we can and can't do overall."); Tr. 746:10-25 (Velez Burgos) (meaning of SB 90 is "not very clear" and Hispanic Federation canvassers are "fearful of being sent to do line-warming

activities"). Plaintiffs have a credible fear that their line relief activities violate the Line Relief Provision because they cannot predict what activities will have the *effect* of influencing a voter in advance.

1073. The Line Relief Provision's ambiguity forces Plaintiffs "to make a choice between declining to jointly express their views [] or risk being arrested and spending time behind bars. . ." *DeSantis*, , 2021 WL 4099437, at *27.

1074. And in fact, Plaintiffs testified they will forgo engaging in expressive conduct supporting the right to vote due to the ambiguity of the Line Relief Provision. Tr. 1963:11-16; 1976:22-1977:7 (Brown); Tr. 2047:4-8 (Mercado); Tr. 222:14-20 (Garces); Tr. 402:12-22 (Burney-Clark); Tr. 746:3-9; 746:10-21 (Velez Burgos).

1075. This provision is vague precisely because it forces Plaintiffs to refrain from engaging in protected speech activities due to its ill-defined boundaries. *See Baggett v. Bullitt*, 377 U.S. at 372; *Button*, 371 U.S. at 433 (holding *inter alia* that the "objectionable quality of vagueness" depends upon "the danger of tolerating, in the area of First Amendment freedoms, the existence of a penal statute susceptible of sweeping and improper application"); *Reno*, 521 U.S. at 871–72, ("The vagueness of such a regulation raises special First Amendment concerns because of its obvious chilling effect on free speech.").

1076. The Line Relief Provision is also unconstitutionally vague because it invites arbitrary enforcement. Key concepts in the provision, including what it means to "influence" a voter; what it means to have an "effect" of a voter; and how to determine intent are left undefined. As Supervisor White testified, this provision is "hard to administer" and "apply [] consistently" because SOE staff cannot easily discern whether someone intends to influence a voter. See Tr. 1378:4-13 (White); see also Tr. 3512:24-3513:6 (Earley); ECF No. 634-20 at 2. Defendants did not offer any evidence that this provision is readily understood by a majority of SOEs. DeSantis, 2021 WL 4099437, at *27 ("Without at least minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit a standardless sweep [that] allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections.") (quoting Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 358 (1983)) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

VI. THE CHALLENGES PROVISIONS VIOLATE THE AMERICANS WITH DIABILITIES ACT

A. Legal Standard

1077. Under Title II of the ADA, "no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity" 42 U.S.C. § 12132. To prevail under Title II of the ADA, a plaintiff must demonstrate "(1) that he is a qualified individual with a disability; (2) that he was excluded from participation in or denied the benefits of a public entity's services, programs, or

activities, or was otherwise discriminated against by the public entity; and (3) that the exclusion, denial of benefit, or discrimination was by reason of the plaintiff's disability." *Am. Ass'n of People with Disabilities v. Harris*, 647 F.3d 1093, 1101 (11th Cir. 2011).

1078. Under the ADA, "services, programs, and activities [must] be readily accessible" to people with disabilities. *Shotz*, *v. Cates*, 256 F.3d 1077, 1080 (11th Cir. 2001) (citing 28 C.F.R. § 35.150). An individual with a disability does not need to be "completely prevented from enjoying a service, program, or activity" for a violation of Title II to occur. *Id*.

1079. In the voting context, whether a person with a disability is discriminated against depends on whether they have access to a particular mode of voting that a state offers, not whether they are precluded from voting altogether. *See Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind v. Lamone*, 813 F.3d 494, 503–04 (4th Cir. 2016); *Disabled in Action v. Bd. of Elections*, 752 F.3d 189, 198-99 (2d Cir. 2014); *People First of Ala. v. Merrill*, 491 F. Supp. 3d 1076, 1158–59 (N.D. Ala. 2020). If a state provides voters different modes of voting, each option must be accessible to voters with disabilities under the ADA. *See People First of Ala.*, 491 F. Supp. 3d at 1158.

1080. Once Plaintiffs demonstrate that a Challenged Provision prevents them from accessing one or more available modes of voting in violation of the ADA, Plaintiffs must offer a "reasonable modification[] to rules, policies, or practices." 42

U.S.C. § 12131(2); see also 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7)(i). Whether a modification is reasonable is "fact-specific." *Nat'l Fed. of the Blind*, 813 F.3d at 508; *Bircoll v. Miami Dade Cnty.*, 480 F.3d 1072, 1085 (11th Cir. 2007). A modification is reasonable if it will not cause "undue hardship." *U.S. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett*, 535 U.S. 391, 401–03 (2012).

one"; it "is enough for the plaintiff to suggest the existence of a plausible accommodation." *Nat'l Fed. Of the Blind*, 813 F.3d at 507–08. In contrast, a public entity must "demonstrate that making the modification[] would fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity" in order to not be bound by it. *Bircoll*, 480 F.3d at 1081-82 (citing 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7)).

B. DRF May Sue Defendants for Violations of the ADA

1082. DRF's constituents are qualified individuals with a disability because they include many citizens eligible to vote and registered voters who meet the "essential eligibility requirements" to vote "with or without reasonable modifications." *See United States v. Georgia*, 546 U.S. 151, 153–54 (2006) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 12131(2)); *see also* Tr. 440:24-441:11 (DePalma); Tr. 2744:4-2745:1 (Babis). As of 2019, approximately 2.7 million persons of voting age in Florida have one or more disabilities, representing 15.9% of the population in the state, and

nearly one-third of the population of Florida's senior citizens. ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 26 (Cooper Rpt.); Tr. 632:15-633-10, 638:14-19 (Cooper).

1083. Defendants, who oversee and provide voting services for voters in Florida, qualify as public entities under the ADA, which is defined as "any State or local government [or] any department, agency . . . or other instrumentality of a State or States or local government." 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).

C. The Drop Box Provision Will Deny Voters with Disabilities' Access to Drop Boxes

1084. The Drop Box Provision will decrease the availability of drop boxes by limiting the locations, days, and hours of operations that SOEs can offer drop boxes. *See supra* ¶¶ 554-564. All voters will be burdened by this change in law, *see supra* Conclusions of Law, Section IV.B.1 i; ¶ 562, but voters with disabilities will have particular difficulty accessing drop boxes by virtue of their disabilities.

1085. Drop boxes as was available prior to SB 90 offered a convenient way for voters with disabilities to deposit their VBM ballots outdoors or in their cars by using a drive-through drop box. Tr. 2462:2-10 (Smith). Now, approximately one-third of SOEs have reported that they will reduce the number of outdoor drop boxes, including by moving drop boxes into indoor locations and removing some outdoor drop boxes altogether. Tr. 2461:19-21, 2484:16-2485:20 (Smith); *see supra* ¶ 560-561. More SOEs may reduce drop box availability in the future as they continue to assess how they will implement SB 90. *See, e.g.*, Appendix D, at ROG No. 3; ECF

No. 463-45 (Hamilton SOE ROG No. 3). The resulting reduction in outdoor drop boxes will make it more difficult for voters with disabilities, particularly those whose physical or mental disabilities make it difficult for them to access indoor buildings, to utilize drop boxes. *See supra* ¶¶ 566-567.

1086. Indoor drop boxes at SOE offices, early voting sites, and other locations are less accessible to many voters with disabilities for a number of reasons. Tr. 2743:8-9 (Babis). According to DRF's poll site accessibility audit in 2018 and 2020, early voting and Election Day voting sites already had barriers such as inaccessible parking, path of travel barriers, and obstruction inside the buildings. Tr. 457:13-458:6, 459:2-19; 461:24-463:10 (DePalma); Fr. 2737:9-2738:11 (Babis). To the extent that SOEs move drop boxes indoors to comply with SB 90 as they have stated, some persons with mobility disabilities will have increased difficulty "being able to access the facility to put their ballot in the drop box," including persons who find it difficult or impossible to open doors or navigate pathways that are not clear and stable. Tr. 2742:25-2743:9 (Babis). The approximately 1.5 million individuals in Florida with serious difficulty walking or climbing stairs may have trouble accessing these indoor drop boxes. See ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.).

1087. Barriers accessing indoor drop boxes extend to voters with other disabilities. For example, Dr. Brigham, who is incontinent, testified that if he had to deposit his ballot in a drop box inside his SOE's office while experiencing an

onset of symptoms, he would have to go home immediately. Tr. 1607:6-13 (Brigham). Voters with mental disabilities may also be burdened by using indoor drop boxes, as entering an indoor facility may trigger severe anxiety. *See* Tr. 2099:11-18 (Zukeran).

1088. In addition, the requirement that all drop boxes must be monitored in person will make drop boxes less accessible for some elderly voters and voters with anxiety or other medical issues for whom the presence of an employee of the SOE's office may be intimidating. *See* Tr. 1626:23-1627:4 (Sauers); Tr. 2098:24-2099:5 (Zukeran).

1. Enjoining the Drop Box Provision is a Reasonable Modification.

1089. Multiple justifications were offered for the Drop Box Provision, including increasing drop box security, preventing ballot tampering, ensuring the proper administration of drop boxes, and protecting the chain of custody of ballots. *See supra* ¶ 324-328. But as Dr. Burch testified, no evidence has been offered to support these justifications. *Id.* In fact, all 67 SOEs admitted that they "did not detect, or receive reports of, any tampering or voter fraud involving Drop Boxes . . ." Appendix E, at RFA 1; *see also* Tr. 2420:18–2421:21 (Smith); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 139 (Smith Rpt.). In addition, the elimination of the Drop Box Provision would restore the pre-SB 90 status quo and would not require SOEs to fundamentally alter their administration of drop boxes in their respective counties. Moreover, the

Defendants have not put forth any evidence that this reasonable modification would be burdensome or fundamentally alter managing drop box availability.

1090. The reasonableness of the pre-SB 90 rules governing drop boxes was reflected in Ms. Zukeran's testimony. *See* Tr. 2102:20–23 (Zukeran) ("I thought maybe the drop boxes were [] a really good compromise . . . or accommodation for people like me who just want to feel like they're voting and drop the ballot off.").

D. The VBM Application Provision Will Deny Individuals with Disabilities Access to Vote-By-Mail.

1091. The VBM Application Provision will make it more difficult for all voters to request a VBM ballot, *see supra* Conclusions of Law, Section IV.B.2.i; ¶¶ 583-590, but in particular it will make vote by-mail less accessible for voters with disabilities by reason of their disabilities. *See* ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 105 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 2500:2–14 (Smith); Tr. 2204:8–25 (Herron) (testifying that older voters with memory issues and blind voters who "have difficulty interacting with forms and contacting government officials . . . are also disproportionately affected").

1092. Approximately 800,000 voting-age individuals in Florida are blind or have serious difficulty seeing, even with glasses. ECF No. 608-16 ¶¶ 26, 28 (Cooper Rpt.). For voters with visual impairments, requesting VBM ballots twice as often will be difficult given the barriers they face in accessing SOEs' websites. *See* Tr. 1100:18–1101:8 (Rogers); Tr. 454:14–455:19 (DePalma). Voters with disabilities who require specialized equipment to read or fill out forms will likely also face

difficulty filling out a VBM application. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.); see also Tr. 2494:21–2495:4, 2500:7–14 (Smith); Tr. 454:14–18 (DePalma).

1093. In addition, municipal websites do not always present information in plain language that voters with cognitive disabilities can assimilate. Tr. 454:19–455:10 (DePalma). These voters will also face difficulties requesting a VBM ballot twice as often on SOEs' websites.

1094. While voters may also request a VBM ballot by calling their SOEs' offices, voters with hearing or visual impairments or mental illnesses may have difficulty making use of this method. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 1096:14–1100:12 (Rogers); Tr. 493:21–494:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2083:22–2084;8 (Slaughter).

1095. Furthermore, approximately 1 million voting age individuals in Florida have difficulty remembering, concentrating, or making decisions. ECF No. 608-16 ¶¶ 26, 28 (Cooper Rpt.). Voters with memory issues or mental impairments may forget to request VBM ballots now that they must request them twice as often and can no longer simply check a box indicating that they would like to receive a VBM ballot. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 1608:13–20 (Brigham); Tr. 1591:14–21 (Teti); Tr. 1102:9–1103:5 (Rogers); Tr. 1623:17 (Sauers); Tr. 2086:1–11 (Slaughter); *see supra* ¶ 237 (citing SOEs that testified that they will no longer offer the "check the box" option to renew vote-by-mail requests after SB 90).

1096. Some SOEs have recognized that the VBM Application Provision will make it more difficult for voters with disabilities to request a VBM ballot. For example, Miami-Dade Supervisor White testified that "the elderly, voters with disabilities, and overseas military may be most affected" by the change in law. Tr. 1361:15–1362:4 (White); ECF No. 608-75.

1097. Overcoming these obstacles will likely be even more difficult for the approximately 20.5% of voting age Floridians with a disability who live alone and may not have assistance requesting a VBM ballot. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.); ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 29 (Cooper Rpt.); see also id. ¶¶ 26, 28 (stating that approximately 1,000,000 voting age individuals in Florida have difficulty living independently, including doing errands alone). While in-person assistance may be possible at a polling location, such assistance may not be available at home to comply with the new VBM application requirements. ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 106 (Smith Rpt.).

1098. Florida Statute § 101.62(7) specifies that "[e]xcept as expressly authorized for voters having a disability under s. 101.662, . . . a county, municipality, or state agency may not send a vote-by-mail ballot to a voter unless the voter has requested a vote-by-mail ballot in the manner authorized under this section." But neither § 101.62 nor § 101.662 specifies how a voter with a disability may request a VBM ballot after SB 90. Moreover, no regulations have been promulgated pursuant

to either statute stating how a voter with a disability may request a VBM ballot after SB 90. No evidence was introduced at trial demonstrating alternative means by which voters with disabilities may request VBM ballots.

1099. While an individual with a disability does not need to show that they will be precluded from voting altogether to state a claim under the ADA, see Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind, 813 F.3d at 503–04, in the instant case, voters with disabilities' difficulty obtaining a VBM ballot may in fact exclude them from voting altogether. As witnesses testified at trial, many voters may have difficulty or be unable to vote in person by virtue of their disabilities if they cannot obtain a VBM ballot. See, e.g., Tr. 1591:22–1593:4 (Teti); Tr. 2079:6–8, 2080:10–13 (Slaughter); Tr. 2095:3–12 (Zukeran). Similarly, Leon County Supervisor Earley recognized that elderly, infirm, and people with disabilities are amongst the category of voters "who would have difficulty voting if they are not able to vote-by-mail." Tr. 2633:20-2634:6 (Earley). Thus, the VBM Application Provision will make it more difficult for voters with disabilities to vote-by-mail, which could prevent them from voting altogether if they are unable to secure a VBM ballot.

1. Enjoining the VBM Application Provision is a Reasonable Modification

1100. Enjoining the VBM Application Provision is a reasonable modification, which will allow voters with disabilities to request VBM ballots with greater ease.

The VBM Application Provision does not protect the integrity of the voting process,

and no evidence has been introduced of fraud associated with requesting VBM ballots. See supra ¶ 601 The VBM Application Provision was introduced for the purported purposes of ensuring that voter files are accurate and enabling voters to choose each year how they want to vote. See supra ¶¶ 321-323. But expert testimony from Dr. Burch has demonstrated that no evidence has been adduced to support these justifications. See supra id. Moreover, Dr. Herron has undermined the purported justifications by testifying that multiple safeguards ensure the integrity of VBM balloting and that the change in law is not necessary to enable voter choice. See supra ¶¶ 588-589.

1101. The elimination of the VBM Application Provision would not burden the Defendants because they would not be required to take any affirmative acts to implement the change as the law would revert to the pre-SB 90 position. Moreover, allowing a VBM request to extend to two election cycles would not "fundamentally alter" voting-by-mail in Florida and therefore the Defendants should not be excused from implementing the reasonable modification. *See Bircoll*, 389 F.3d at 1082. The Defendants meanwhile have not put forth any evidence that this reasonable modification would be burdensome. In fact, it would reduce the SOEs' administrative burden by restoring pre-SB 90 rules that were easier and more efficient to administer. *See* Tr. 3498:10–24 (Earley).

1102. At a minimum, if the Court does not enjoin the VBM Application Provision, it should order Defendants to specify procedures governing how a voter with a disability may request a VBM ballot pursuant to § 101.62(7).

E. Enforcement of the Line Relief Provision Will Deny Individuals with Disabilities Equal Access to In-Person Voting.

1103. The enforcement of the Line Relief Provision will make in-person voting less accessible for individuals with disabilities and will result in excluding many individuals with disabilities from voting in-person by reason of their disabilities.

1104. Long lines at polling places in Florida are commonplace. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 1210:7–9 (Scott); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 230 (Smith Rpt.), Tr. 2163:10–14 (Herron); ECF No. 467-1 ¶296 (Herron Rpt.); ECF No. 549-2 (Hays Dep.) at 130:12–15. There is ample evidence that many voters with disabilities, especially those with limited mobility or those who use a walker, have difficulty standing in line at polling places. Tr. 2744:4–13 (Babis); ECF No. 608-6 ¶ 233 (Smith Rpt.); *see also* Tr. 1589:10, 1589:18–25 (Teti); Tr. 1091:19–25 (Rogers); Tr. 1627:19–1628:6, 1628:10–15 (Sauers).

1105. Given that 1.5 million individuals with disabilities have serious difficulty walking or climbing stairs, ECF No. 608-16 ¶ 28 (Cooper Rpt.), these individuals, including voters with other disabilities, benefit from line relief activities,

such as receiving chairs or water, while waiting in line to vote. Tr. 2744:4–13 (Babis); Tr. 1628:17–1629:11 (Sauers).

1106. Voters with disabilities especially rely on line relief support from nonpartisan groups because SOEs are not obligated to provide disabled voters waiting in line chairs or to allow them to move to the front of the line. Tr. 488:18–25 (DePalma); ECF No. 549-3 (Latimer Dep.) at 48:3-6. At times, some SOEs have failed to provide such assistance to voters with disabilities even when it is requested. *See* Tr. 2745:2–12 (Babis).

1107. Without assistance from third party organizations providing chairs, water or food, it will be more difficult for voters with disabilities to vote in-person, see Tr. 1629:3–8; 1629:12-17 (Sauers); Tr. 2745:5–20 (Babis), which would render polling sites not "readily accessible" for voters with disabilities, see Shotz, 256 F.3d at 1080.

1. Fla. Stat. § 101.051(2) is Inapposite and Does Not Prohibit Plaintiffs' Line Relief Activities

1108. Defendants argued at trial that the line relief activities that Plaintiffs contend are rendered illegal by the Line Relief Provision are already prohibited under Fla. Stat. § 101.051(2). ECF No. 532; see also Tr. 152:13–23 (Scoon). Section 101.051(2) makes it a first-degree misdemeanor for any "person at a polling place, a drop box location, or an early voting site, or within 150 feet of a drop box location or the entrance of a polling place or an early voting site" to "solicit any

elector in an effort to provide assistance to vote pursuant to subsection (1)." (emphases added). But Defendants' interpretation of § 101.051(2) misstates the plain meaning of § 101.051, which affords voters who require assistance in voting "by reason of blindness, disability, or inability to read or write" the right to receive assistance in casting a ballot.

1109. Defendants' argument further ignores the context in which the relevant provision of § 101.051(2) was added to the Election Code in 2005. Explaining the statutory language that was added to the bill, a bill analysis drafted by the House of Representative staff reiterated that the section was amended to "prohibit anyone from soliciting a voter at a polling place, early voting site, or within 100 feet of such locations, in an effort to provide the voter with assistance in casting their vote." House of Representative Staff Analysis, Ethics and Elections Committee, HB 1567, 19th Legislature, 2005 Regular Session, at 10 (Apr. 20, 2005) (emphasis added). There is no evidence in the record that any parties "solicited" any voter "in an effort to provide" the kind of direct assistance in casting a ballot inside a polling place as described in § 101.051.

1110. Moreover, Defendants' argument is further undermined as courts interpreting § 101.051 have consistently interpreted it as pertaining to helping a disabled voter cast a ballot, not activities related to the management of polling places generally or providing food, water, umbrellas, or chairs to voters waiting in line.

See, e.g., Am. Ass'n of People with Disabilities v. Hood, 278 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1356 (M.D. Fla. 2003); Am. Ass'n of People with Disabilities v. Smith, 227 F. Supp. 2d 1276, 1285 (M.D. Fla. 2002); Wakulla Cnty. Absentee Voter Intervenors v. Flack, 419 So. 2d 1124, 1127 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1982). Thus, Defendants' argument at trial that Plaintiffs' line relief activities are already prohibited under § 101.051(2) should be rejected.

2. Eliminating the Line Relief Provision is a Reasonable Modification.

- 1111. Eliminating the Line Relief Provision is a reasonable modification, which will allow Plaintiffs to continue to provide, and voters with disabilities to continue to receive, line-relief assistance as they did before SB 90 was enacted.
- 1112. SB 90's Line Relief Provision does not protect the integrity of the voting process. While preventing harassment of voters was offered as an alleged justification for the Line Relief Provision, *see* ECF No. 461-37 at 42:20–43:16, there is no evidence in the legislative or trial record suggesting that the line relief activities provided by Plaintiffs disrupts polling sites or harasses voters. *See supra* 329-331, 581-582. Moreover, SOEs are already authorized to prevent any actual harassment of voters and to maintain order at polling sites under Fla. Stat. § 102.031(1), rendering the Line Relief Provision unnecessary.
- 1113. The elimination of the Line Relief Provision would not burden Defendants. They would not be required to take any affirmative actions to implement

the change as the reasonable modification would restore the pre-SB 90 status quo. In addition, the Defendants have not put forth any evidence that a reasonable modification would be burdensome or would fundamentally alter their ability to manage election administration at polling sites.

1114. Thus, Plaintiffs have demonstrated that enforcement of the Drop Box Provision, VBM Application Provision, and the Line Relief Provision violates the ADA, and enjoining these provisions presents a reasonable modification.

VII. THE LINE RELIEF PROVISION OF SB 90 IS PREEMPTED BY SECTION 208 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT

1115. Conflict preemption occurs "where . . . state law 'stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." *Arizona v. United States*, 567 U.S. 387, 399 (2012); *see also Felder v. Casey*, 487 U.S. 131, 151 (1988) (state law preempted where it "interferes with and frustrates the substantive right Congress created").

1116. "The purpose of the Voting Rights Act is to prevent discrimination in the exercise of the electoral franchise," which necessitates the regulation, and sometimes the preemption, of state election procedures. *Adamson v. Clayton Cnty. Elections & Registration Bd.*, 876 F. Supp. 2d 1347, 1356 (N.D. Ga. 2012).

1117. Section 208 of the VRA provides that "[a]ny voter who requires assistance to vote by reason of blindness, disability, or inability to read or write may

be given assistance by a person of the voter's choice, other than the voter's employer or agent of that employer or officer or agent of the voter's union." 52 U.S.C. §10508.

1118. Section 208 was enacted because voters with disabilities and voters who speak limited English "must be permitted to have the assistance of a person of their own choice." S. Rep. No. 97-417, at 62 (1982). Congress sought to continue "the effort to achieve full participation for all Americans in our democracy"—including those who need assistance at the polls. *Id.* at 4.

1119. As the Court has already determined, the plain language of the VRA also provides that private parties, including the Plaintiffs in this case, may enforce section 208. Case No. 4:21-cv-187-MW-MAF, ECF No. 328 at 23.

1120. The Line Relief Provision, which prohibits anyone from "engaging in any activity with the intent to . . . or effect of influencing a voter," Fla. Stat. § 102.031(4)(b), prevents nonpartisan civic organizations from providing voters with disabilities assistance in the form of water, food, chairs, or other items of support to encourage those voters to stay in line and vote. *See supra* ¶¶ 250-251.

1121. The Line Relief Provision also bars an organization from providing language assistance to a voter. If, for example, a volunteer seeking to ensure that a limited-English voter can cast her vote effectively helps the voter communicate with poll workers about voting technologies, the volunteer has engaged in conduct that has the intent and effect of influencing the voter to cast her vote. *See id.* In light of

the Line Relief Provision, many organizations have determined that their past activities—including language assistance and assistance to disabled and elderly voters—are now prohibited within the 150-foot zone. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 746:3-9; 746:10-21; 746:22-25; 773:3-13 (Velez Burgos); Tr. 222:21-223:16 (Garces).

and limited-English voters may choose to assist them, it cannot coexist with Section 208, which guarantees certain voters—i.e., "voters needing assistance due to blindness, disability, or inability to read or write"—"assistance by a person of the voter's choice, other than the voter's employer or agent of that employer or officer or agent of the voter's union." 52 U.S.C. § 10508; see OCA-Greater Houston v. Texas, 867 F.3d 604, 615 (5th Cir. 2017) (Section 208 guarantees to voters the right to receive assistance from persons of their choice when voting, including "steps in the voting process before entering the ballot box"); *Priorities USA v. Nessel*, 462 F. Supp. 3d 792, 816 (E.D. Mich. 2020) (finding a conflict with Section 208, which "provides that a voter may be given assistance by anyone of that voter's choice," where the regulation did "not permit a voter to request just anyone to assist them.").

1123. Plucking an excerpt from a U.S. Senate Report stating that "State provisions would be preempted only to the extent that they unduly burden" voters, Defendants have claimed that preemption turns on whether the Line Relief Provision *unduly* burdens the voting rights of voters with disabilities. Case No. 4:21-cv-187-

MW-MAF, ECF No. 285-1 at 53 (quoting S. Rep. No. 97-417, at 62-63 (1982)). Yet the Senate Report cannot override the plain language of Section 208 itself, which does not articulate such an "undue burden" analysis. *See Arkansas United v. Thurston*, No. 5:20-CV-5193, 2020 WL 6472651, at *4 (W.D. Ark. Nov. 3, 2020).

1124. Even if Defendants were correct, the evidence at trial has shown that individuals with disabilities are more likely to experience, and be vulnerable to, long lines and wait times and that the Line Relief Provision will unduly burden their access to the aid they need from a person of their choice so that they can exercise their right to vote. *See supra* Conclusions of Law, Section VI. In that respect it "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress" in Section 208 of the VRA. *See Arizona*, 567 U.S. at 399.

1125. In sum, the Line Relief Provision of SB 90 is preempted by Section 208 of the VRA and invalid.

VIII. FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO REGISTRATION DISCLAIMER PROVISION AS COMPELLED SPEECH

A. Legal Principles

1126. The *Florida Rising Together* and *NAACP* Plaintiffs join the section of the *HTFF* post-trial submission relating to compelled speech.

1127. Organizations possess First Amendment rights. *Primera Iglesia Bautista Hispana of Boca Raton, Inc. v. Broward Cnty.*, 450 F.3d 1295, 1305 (11th Cir. 2006).

1128. "[F]reedom of speech includes both the right to speak freely and the right to refrain from speaking at all." *Janus v. Am. Fed. of State, Cnty., and Mun. Emps.*, 138 S. Ct. 2448, 2463 (2018) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The government therefore cannot "compel affirmance of a belief with which the speaker disagrees." *Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Grp. of Boston*, 515 U.S. 557, 573 (1995). This rule "applies not only to expressions of value, opinion, or endorsement, but equally to statements of fact the speaker would rather avoid." *Id.*

mandatory disclaimer necessarily "alters the content" of speech and constitutes a content-based regulation. *Nat'l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra*, 138 S. Ct. 2361, 2371 (2018) (*NIFLA*). Accordingly, such laws are subject to strict scrutiny. *Id.*; *see also League of Women Voters v. Hargett*, 400 F. Supp. 3d 706, 730 (M.D. Tenn. 2019) (applying strict scrutiny to a mandatory voter registration disclaimer); *Masonry Bldg. Owners of Or. v. Wheeler*, 394 F. Supp. 3d 1279, 1297 (D. Or. 2019) (applying strict scrutiny to a disclaimer relating to building safety).

1130. A content-based law is "presumptively unconstitutional" and fails strict scrutiny unless it is "narrowly tailored to serve compelling state interests." *Reed v. Town of Gilbert, Ariz.*, 576 U.S. 155, 163 (2015); *McClendon v. Long*, 22 F.4th 1330, 1338 (11th Cir. 2022).

1131. "To be a compelling interest, the State must show that the alleged objective was the legislature's *actual* purpose" *Shaw v. Hunt*, 517 U.S. 899, 908 n.4 (1996) (emphasis added) (quotation marks omitted). it is irrelevant "what 'may have motivated' the legislature" to adopt legislation. *Id.* Courts regularly apply *Shaw*'s "actual purpose" requirement to evaluate First Amendment claims. *See Haight v. Thompson*, 763 F.3d 554, 562 (6th Cir. 2014); *McLaughlin v. City of Lowell*, 140 F. Supp. 3d 177, 190 (D. Mass. 2015).

B. The Registration Disclaimer Provision Violates the First Amendment

1. The Registration Disclaimer Provision Is a Content-Based Regulation of Speech

1132. Plaintiffs' voter registration activities, including conversations with prospective voters, constitute protected speech and expressive conduct intended to convey Plaintiffs' belief in the importance of all eligible citizens participating in the democratic process. Tr. 212:5-15 (Garces) (explaining that "[v]oter education starts at the voter registration phase" and that Poder Latinx trains canvassers to discuss "the importance of election[s]" and "the importance of [voter] participation" in the field, particularly with members of the community who may not trust the electoral system); Tr. 744:5-15 (Velez Burgos) (Hispanic Federation encourages voters to "[p]lease stay in line until you exercise your right to vote" when it provides food,

water, and phone chargers to voters in line); Tr. 263:20-23 (McCoy) (explaining that canvassers "help [prospective voters] . . . understand the importance of voting").

- 1133. Advocating for that belief by registering Floridians to vote is core political speech and expression. *See Meyer v. Grant*, 486 U.S. 414, 421-23 (1988). Plaintiffs' voter registration activities also constitute protected associative conduct. *See League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1158 (voter registration includes "speak[ing] and act[ing] collectively with others, implicating the First Amendment right of association").
- 1134. The Disclaimer Provision requires a 3P VRO to tell potential voters that it may not submit their registration forms within 14 days or before close of registration; that the voter may submit their own registration forms online, by mail, or in person; and how they can determine if their registration form has been delivered to election officials. *See* Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(3)(a).
- 1135. 3PVROs would not engage in this speech if SB 90 did not mandate it. See supra ¶¶ 673, 702, 725.
- 1136. Because the Disclaimer Provision compels speech by 3PVROs, it is a content-based regulation subject to strict scrutiny.
- 1137. The fact that the disclaimer may be communicated to prospective registrants in writing rather than verbally does not change the First Amendment analysis. "Speech is speech, and it must be analyzed as such for purposes of the

First Amendment." *Otto v. City of Boca Raton*, 981 F.3d 854, 866 (11th Cir. 2020) (quoting *Wollschlaeger v. Gov., Fla.*, 868 F.3d 1293, 1307 (11th Cir. 2017)). Thus, which level of scrutiny applies does not depend on whether the speech is communicated verbally or in writing, but whether the regulation constitutes a content-based regulation. *See* ECF No. 583; *Otto*, 981 F.3d at 861.

1138. The fact that 3PVROs can provide their own message to counter the government-mandated message also does not render the compelled disclaimer constitutional, because the government cannot "require speakers to affirm in one breath that which they deny in the next." *Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. v. Pub. Utils. Comm'n of Calif.*, 475 U.S. 1, 16 (1986); *see McClendon*, 22 F.4th at 1337.

2. The Disclaimer Does Not Serve Any Actual Governmental Interest Identified by the Legislature

1139. In light of *Shaw*'s "actual purpose" requirement, only state interests that were contemporaneously identified by the legislature are relevant to Plaintiffs' First Amendment claims.

1140. The legislative record is utterly devoid of any rationale for the disclaimer provision, let alone a compelling interest to justify it. There is no evidence that any specific information about 3PVROs was provided to the legislature to justify the disclaimer. Nor were any relevant statements made on the record that would justify the provision.

1141. The most commonly offered rationale for 3PVRO changes offered in the record—that these changes were included to comply with a court order—is spurious as it pertains to the Challenged Provisions. The referenced court order is presumably *League of Women Voters of Florida v. Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d 1155 (N.D. Fla. 2012), which invalidated the requirement that 3PVROs submit voter registration forms within 48 hours of collection. SB 90 did amend the bill to formally strike the 48-hour provision and replace it with a 14-day deadline; those changes are not challenged in this litigation. ECF No. 461-2 § 7 (revising 97.0575(1)(c), (d), and eliminating 48-hour turnaround requirement in (3)(a), (5)). The provisions that *are* challenged—including, as relevant here, the Registration Disclaimer Provision—are in no way mandated by the *Browning* decision.

of chaos [] occurs as a result of private involvement with voter registration"; as an example, the speaker cited problems with an organization "using outdated information" and sending "flyers" to people who are deceased." ECF No. 466-87 at 63:4-17. But neither of those issues bears any specific relation to the registration disclaimer provision. At most, it reveals that the true intent of the law was simply to limit third-party voter registration efforts—an improper purpose in light of Plaintiffs' First Amendment rights and the undisputed invaluable role that 3PVROs play in reaching voters who might not otherwise register.

1143. Defendants' post hoc rationales for the Registration Disclaimer Provision are not only legally irrelevant; they are unpersuasive on their own terms. For example, Defendants assert that the disclaimer serves the role of "informed consent"; gives voters who may not be "comfortable" the chance to turn in their own applications; and gives voters "options," which allegedly improves voter "confidence in the process." Tr. 3417:4-21 (Matthews). The evidence presented at trial demonstrates the opposite is true. The disclaimer *reduces* voter confidence, as evidenced by the reduction in voters registering through 31 VROs and the testimony that the disclaimer undermines 3PVROs. *See supra* \$\infty\$ 538-545.

1144. Nor does the record suggest that 3PVROs systematically return voter registration applications late. On the contrary, many Supervisors testified that they were not aware of any late submissions, let alone significant numbers of them. *See supra* ¶¶ 209-213. Plaintiffs testimony similarly demonstrated that accidental late submissions have been rare and constitute a very small fraction of the total number of the forms they submit. Poder Latinx, for example, has submitted only 55 of 33,000 forms late since 2019 (*i.e.*, 0.16%), and none of those forms was submitted after book closing. Tr. 191:11-13, 201:18-202:22, 234:3-10 (Garces).

1145. The strong record of Plaintiffs and other 3PVROs with respect to timely submission of forms is compelling evidence that existing laws—which allow the Secretary of State to impose fines for untimely submissions and to refer 3PVROs to

the Attorney General for enforcement, Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(3)(a), (4)—are sufficient to incentivize timely return of voter registrations.

1146. To the extent Defendants claim an interest in preventing voter registration fraud, they cannot establish that the Registration Disclaimer Provision serves that interest at all. It was already unlawful before SB 90 to submit fraudulent voter registration forms; SB 90 did not change that prohibition. Tr. 3474:24-3475:3 (Matthews). Moreover, the disclaimer provision does not require 3PVROs to warn registrants about the possibility of fraud. *Id.* at 3475:4-6. And the isolated instances of voter registration fraud discussed at trial, including a situation where canvassers registered a deceased voter, would not have been prevented by SB 90's disclaimer. Tr. 3423:2-20 (Matthews). If a canvasser registers a deceased or fictitious voter, the canvasser will not have any interaction with a voter at all and therefore has no opportunity to provide a disclaimer.

1147. Moreover, the record demonstrates that Plaintiffs have strong training and quality control processes that seek to prevent voter registration fraud to the maximum extent possible. After collecting the forms in the field, 3PVROs engage in internal and external quality control processes to determine, among other things, whether forms have been filled out with the same handwriting—a potential indicator of fraud. Tr. 2062:4-12 (Mercado); Tr. 198:9-199:14 (Garces). The predecessor of New Florida Majority Education Fund, for example, identified two canvassers

engaged in potential fraud based on handwriting flags; the organization terminated the canvassers, brought the issue to the attention of Supervisor Earley, and cooperated with a subsequent law enforcement investigation. Tr. 2062:4-12, 2065:21-25 (Mercado). In other words, the record demonstrates that 3PVROs make a good-faith effort to detect and report fraud, at least those instances that can be detected without "hav[ing] access to the same kinds of records as the Supervisor of Elections does" (e.g., voter signatures and registration files). Tr. 2062:4-12 (Mercado).

Together was not responsible for any isolated instances of canvasser fraud. The agent responsible for the investigation wrote: "I wanted to reiterate that based off my investigation, I do not believe this is an organizational issue. [New Florida Majority Education Fund] has provided several documents to include training material where canvassers appear to be properly trained prior to canvassing events. Also, the organization appears to have strict and efficient quality control practices in my opinion." ECF No. 634-15. For this reason as well, any suggestion by Defendants that SB 90's restrictions on 3PVROs are justified to address fraudulent voter registration activity is entirely unsubstantiated. Indeed, the example of a fraudulent change of address cited by Director Matthews—the example of Governor

DeSantis—was not made by a 3PVRO, but rather by someone who accessed the online registration system. Tr. 3425:13-18, 3466:18-25 (Matthews).

actual interest that could be served by enforcing the disclaimer, let alone a compelling one. As the Supreme Court has emphasized, "[t]he simple interest in providing voters with additional relevant information does not justify a state requirement that a writer make statements or disclosures she would otherwise omit." *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm'n*, 514 U.S. 334, 348 (1995). There must instead be a compelling interest beyond the provision of information that justifies the compelled disclosure. And that is especially so where "the compelled disclosure will almost certainly hamper the legitimate efforts," *Nat'l Fed. of the Blind of N.C., Inc.*, 487 U.S. 781, 799 (1988), of the parties forced to speak—here, the 3PVROs working to register voters.

3. The Registration Disclaimer Provision Is Not Narrowly Tailored

1150. Defendants cannot demonstrate that the disclaimer is narrowly tailored to serve its purported interests of informing the public about a "possible registration delay" or voter registration options more generally. Critically, Florida already has extensive requirements meant to ensure 3PVROs timely submit voter registration applications, including placing the collection date and organization ID on the forms and fines for noncompliance. Tr. 2768:4-20 (Matthews).

- 1151. The government's alleged "simple interest in providing voters with additional relevant information does not justify a state requirement that a [speaker] make statements or disclosures she would otherwise omit." *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm'n*, 514 U.S. 334, 348 (1995).
- 1152. Even assuming the disclaimer serves some state interest, Florida has "more benign and narrowly tailored options" available to serve that end. *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 800. The government is entirely free to speak for itself, and can "communicate the desired information to the public without burdening a speaker with unwanted speech during the course of a solicitation." *Id.*; *see also NIFLA*, 138 S. Ct. at 2376.
- applicants that Florida law requires 3PVROs to serve as a fiduciary to the applicant and to return completed applications within 14 days or by the registration deadline. See ECF No. 464-13. The Florida Voter Registration Form already informs applicants that they can return their forms by mail or in person at certain government offices, and that the voter registration deadline is 29 days before Election Day, thereby allowing applicants to decide for themselves whether to entrust the form to a third party. *Id.* These aspects of the form demonstrate the ease with which the government can communicate its own messages to applicants.

1154. The state could also—but currently does not—provide information on its registration form concerning the option for those with DHSMV IDs to register online. *See id.* Instead it ignores online registration in its notice of "Where to Register" and says only that "the downloadable/printable online form is available at registertovoteflorida.gov" ignoring the existence of the online option at the very same website. *See id.*

1155. Finally, the state could simply rely on enforcement of existing laws that penalize 3PVROs that submit voter registration forms late. Indeed, these fines already work to promote the timely submission of forms, as demonstrated by how rare it is for 3PVROs to submit voter registration forms late. *See* Appendix C at RFA 10.

1156. Each of these "more narrowly tailored" options would be "in keeping

1156. Each of these "more narrowly tailored" options would be "in keeping with the First Amendment directive that government not dictate the content of speech absent compelling necessity, and then, only by means precisely tailored." *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 800.

4. The Court Should Reject Defendants' Proffered Analogies to Professional Speech and Campaign Finance Disclosures

1157. Although federal courts have previously applied lesser scrutiny to content-based regulations of "commercial speech, as well as incidental speech swept up in the regulation of professional conduct," this Court has already held that voter registration activity is not commercial speech. ECF No. 647 at 7-11 (responding to

Court's questions at ECF No. 636); Case No. 4:21-cv-201-MW-MAF, ECF No. 294 at 31-32 (Order on Cross Mots. Summ. J.); *compare Otto*, 981 F.3d at 865, *with NIFLA*, 138 S. Ct. at 2374 ("[T]he lawyer's statements in *Zauderer* would have been 'fully protected' if they were made in a context other than advertising." (citation omitted)).

1158. For the reasons discussed in Plaintiffs' separate filing in response to the Court's questions (ECF No. 636), 3PVRO voter registration activities are not "professional conduct" and are not compelled disclosures akin to campaign finance law jurisprudence. ECF No. 647 at 7-11.

1159. Zauderer also does not apply because the disclaimer does not provide "purely factual and uncontroversial information about the terms under which . . . services will be available." See NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2366 (quoting Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel of Supreme Court of Ohio, 471 U.S. 626, 651 (1985)). To the extent portions of the disclaimer do include any factual information, those portions require 3PVROs to disclose information about other modes of registration offered by the state—not their own voter registration activities. Other portions of the mandatory disclaimer are not purely factual and uncontroversial. For example, the statement that 3PVROs "might not" turn in applications on time is misleading at best and false at worst, given the strong record of 3PVROs at submitting forms on time. The statement that voters can register online is misleading for certain

prospective registrants; only those with internet access as well as a Florida-issued driver license or ID card can register to vote online. Fla. Stat. § 97.0525(4)(a). Finally, there is no comprehensive tracking system for 3PVROs to point to as to delivery status, because the statewide registration lookup contains no information regarding the application unless and until it is processed and the person is added to the voter roll. ECF No. 402 at 32, ¶¶ 22–24 (Joint Stip.).

1160. Defendants now cite cases applying intermediate scrutiny to campaign finance disclosure requirements to argue that the same level of scrutiny applies to the disclaimer. See ECF No. 582. Unlike campaign finance disclosure rules subject to lesser scrutiny, the disclaimer goes beyond requiring Plaintiffs to identify basic information about themselves. Cf. Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 366 (2010) (challenging federal law requiring televised electioneering communications funded by anyone other than a candidate" to display the name of the funder and its address or website and to clearly state that the "communication is not authorized by any candidate or candidate's committee"); Worley v. Fla. Sec. of State, 717 F.3d 1238, 1240-41 (11th Cir. 2013) (challenging law requiring political action committees to disclose their donors and identify themselves in political advertisements); Gaspee Project v. Mederos, 13 F.4th 79, 83 (1st Cir. 2021). The Registration Disclaimer Provision must therefore satisfy strict scrutiny. *McClendon*, 22 F.4th at 1338.

1161. For these reasons and the reasons articulated in Plaintiffs' separate filing, compelled disclosure cases do not provide the appropriate parallel for SB 90's disclaimer provision.

5. The Registration Disclaimer Provision Violates the First Amendment Even If a Lower Level of Scrutiny Applies

1162. Even when lesser scrutiny applies because the regulated speech is commercial in nature, the government must cite actual interests or harms redressed by the regulation. *Ibanez v. Fla. Dep't of Bus. & Pro. Regul., Bd. of Acct.*, 512 U.S. 136, 142-3 (1994); *see also Tinsley Media, LLC v. Pickens Cnty.*, 203 F. App'x 268, 273 (11th Cir. 2006) ("[T]he vast majority of courts reject the use of *post hoc* testimony as a means of determining legislative intent."). "[A] governmental body seeking to sustain a restriction on commercial speech must demonstrate that the harms it recites are real and that its restriction will in fact alleviate them to a material degree." *Borgner v. Brooks*, 284 F.3d 1204, 1211 (11th Cir. 2002) (citing *Rubin v. Coors Brewing Co.*, 514 U.S. 476, 487 (1995)).

of commercial speech "does not permit [courts] to supplant the precise interests put forward by the State with other suppositions. Neither will [they] turn away if it appears that the stated interests are not the actual interests served by the restriction." *Edenfield v. Fane*, 507 U.S. 761, 768 (1993) (internal citation omitted).

1164. Not only did the legislature fail to articulate any legitimate interest supporting the Registration Disclaimer Provision, but there can be no legitimate interest in requiring organizations to provide misleading information. *See* e.g., *League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d 1155, 1164-65 (N.D. Fla. 2012) (enjoining misleading sworn statement).

IX. FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO REGISTRATION DISCLAIMER PROVISION BASED ON PLAINTIFFS' RIGHTS TO FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION

1165. "[T]he freedom to associate for the purpose of engaging in activities protected by the First Amendment . . . is protected by the First Amendment as a necessary corollary of the rights that the amendment protects by its terms." *Gaines v. Wardynski*, 871 F.3d 1203, 1212 (11th Cir. 2017) (quoting *McCabe v. Sharrett*, 12 F.3d 1558, 1563 (11th Cir.1994)).

Supreme Court has held that such person is entitled to exercise such right in an effective manner." *League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Cobb*, 447 F. Supp. 2d 1314, 1334 (S.D. Fla. 2006) (citing *Meyer v. Grant*, 486 U.S. 414, 424 (1988)). The First Amendment protects 3PVROs' "right to select what they believe to be the most effective means of conducting their voter registration drives to ensure their voices are heard in the political process." *Id.* The Registration Disclaimer Provision makes communications between canvassers and potential voters less effective by

interfering with the trust that Plaintiffs and other 3PVROs try to build within the community in the course of their voter registration activities.

1167. "Election regulations that impose a severe burden on associational rights are subject to strict scrutiny." Wash. Stat. Grange v. Wash. State Republican Party, 552 U.S. 442, 451 (2008); League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Browning, 575 F. Supp. 2d 1298, 1331 (S.D. Fla. 2008) ("[R]egulations directly burdening the one-on-one, communicative aspect of [electoral activity] are subject to strict scrutiny." (quoting Buckley v. Am. Constitutional Law Fndt., Inc., \$25 U.S. 182, 215 (1999)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (alteration in original)). The disclaimer provision significantly interferes with and burdens the one-on-one interaction with potential voters that Plaintiffs seek to reach. See Supra ¶ 538-544.

1168. A law also violates the right of association when it "reduce[s] the quantum of political speech and association." *Cobb*, 447 F. Supp. 2d at 1333 (citing *Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 422–23). The disclaimer reduces the quantum of Plaintiffs' and other 3PVROs' political speech and association by forcing them to dedicate a portion of their limited time with each potential voter to providing the disclaimer, answering questions about it, and reassuring potential voters that it can be trusted to submit their registration forms on time. *See supra* ¶ 543-544.

1169. The Registration Disclaimer Provision severely burdens Plaintiffs' speech and associational rights in the course of their "interactive communication

concerning political change" and for that reason as well, must be narrowly tailored to a compelling government interest. *See Buckley*, 525 U.S. at 186. For the reasons discussed above regarding compelled speech, Defendants have put forward no evidence of an interest sufficiently weighty or tailored to justify the disclaimer.

X. FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGES TO VOTER REGISTRATION DELIVERY RESTRICTION

A. Legal Principles

1170. This Court has already held that 3PVROs' collection and submission of voter registration forms involves First Amendment-protected expression and association. Case No. 4:21-cv-00201, ECF No. 294 at 37-38 ("[T]he act of returning a registration application is inextricable from the other, speech-imbued aspects of encouraging Floridians to register to vote. And, at any rate, the act of collecting and returning voter registration forms implicates third-party registration organizations' right to associate, both with their members and with unregistered Floridians."); see also supra ¶¶ 1132.

1171. Laws that burden political speech are subject to "exacting scrutiny" and will be upheld only if "narrowly tailored to serve an overriding state interest." *McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm'n*, 514 U.S. 334, 347 (1995). "To withstand [exacting] scrutiny, the strength of the governmental interest must reflect the seriousness of the actual burden on First Amendment rights." *Ams. for Prosperty Found. v. Bonta*, 141 S. Ct. 2373, 2383 (2021) (quoting *Doe v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186,

196 (2010)). And the state must demonstrate that the provision is narrowly tailored to meet that interest. *Bonta*, 141 S. Ct. at 2383-84 (reaffirming that exacting scrutiny requires narrow tailoring); *see also Meyer v. Grant*, 486 U.S. 414, 426 (1988).

1172. The Anderson-Burdick standard does not substitute for exacting scrutiny here. The Supreme Court has explained that Anderson-Burdick applies to laws that "control the mechanics of the electoral process" or "govern[] the voting process itself." McIntyre, 514 U.S. at 344-45; see id. at 344 (noting that the Court had applied Anderson-Burdick in cases involving filing deadlines, ballot access, write-in voting, and eligibility to vote in primaries). If a law "govern[s] electionrelated speech and association," the Supreme Court instead applies exacting scrutiny, as such cases implicate "the area where the First Amendment has its fullest and most urgent application." Priorities USA v. Nessel, 462 F. Supp. 3d 792, 810-11 (E.D. Mich. 2020) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also McIntyre, 514 U.S. at 345, 347 (applying exacting scrutiny to a law banning the circulation of campaign literature); Meyer, 486 U.S. at 420 (applying exacting scrutiny to regulation of petition-drive activities); League of Women Voters v. Hargett, 400 F. Supp. 3d 706, 721 (M.D. Tenn. 2019) (applying exacting scrutiny to law regulating voter registration drives).

1173. Exacting scrutiny applies even though the Registration Delivery Restriction does not directly regulate speech (unlike the Registration Disclaimer

Provision, which directly compels speech and is therefore subject to strict scrutiny). In *Meyer*, for example, the Supreme Court applied exacting scrutiny to a Colorado law that made it unlawful to pay individuals to circulate petitions for ballot initiatives. 486 U.S. at 420. The Court explained that the law "restrict[ed] political expression" by reducing the number of people who could circulate petitions and ultimately "limit[ing] the size of the audience [that initiative proponents] can reach." *Id.* at 422-23. Here, the Delivery Provision similarly makes it more burdensome for 3PVROs to engage in voter registration and therefore reduces the effectiveness of their programs. *See infra* ¶¶ 1175-1180.

B. The Registration Delivery Restriction Violates the First Amendment Under Exacting Scrutiny

1174. The Registration Delivery Restriction imposes fines on 3PVROs that fail to deliver registration applications to the "supervisor of elections in the county in which the applicant resides" within 14 days. Fla. Stat. § 97.0575(3)(a)(1)-(3).

1175. The Registration Delivery Provision substantially burdens Plaintiffs' voter registration activities by significantly raising the costs associated with third-party voter registration and ultimately deterring those activities.

1176. Multiple Plaintiffs testified that they routinely collect registration forms from out-of-county voters. For example, it is common for Hispanic Federation to register people from 20 to 30 counties during a voter registration drive. Tr. 725:16-23 (Velez Burgos). Similarly, Poder Latinx operates in Central Florida and regularly

collects forms from tourists who live across the state. Tr. 209:16-210:5 (Garces); see also Tr. 392:24-393:13 (Burney-Clark) (testifying that Equal Ground previously operated voter registration drives in tourist hotspots).

1177. Prior to SB 90, 3PVROs could submit all of the forms they collected to the nearest SOE office in person. *See supra* ¶ 552. Plaintiffs testified that they prefer to deliver forms in person, as it allows them to ensure that forms are delivered on time and also "build a relationship with the staff" at the SOE office. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 2041:19-2042:5 (Mercado).

1178. In light of SB 90, 3PVROs now have to expend limited resources sorting the voter registration forms they collect and either hand-delivering or mailing them to the SOE in each applicant's home county. Plaintiffs and other 3PVROs have had to allocate substantial additional staff time and funding to ensure that forms are delivered correctly. FRT has hired three part-time quality control managers to ensure compliance with SB 90, including the Registration Delivery Provision. Tr. 2043:12-2044:2 (Mercado). Poder Latinx anticipates spending an additional \$40,000-50,000 in mail and staff costs in 2022 due to the delivery requirement. Tr. 210:6-25 (Garces); id. (explaining his calculations of Poder's compliance costs).

1179. If Plaintiffs do not engage in these quality control measures, they will be subject to fines or other enforcement actions. Indeed, Poder Latinx was already

threatened with a fine for turning in a form to the county that the voter had incorrectly identified as part of their address. Tr. 209:1-15 (Garces).

1180. Plaintiff Equal Ground has terminated its registration program altogether because of the burden imposed by SB 90's 3PVRO restrictions, including the Registration Delivery Provision. Tr. 392:24-393:13 (Burney-Clark).

1181. The Registration Delivery Provision thus infringes on Plaintiffs' First Amendment rights because it burdens Plaintiffs with increased costs and dissuades them from engaging with and registering potential voters.

1182. Defendants have not demonstrated that any sufficiently weighty state interest is served by the Delivery Provision. The only explanation the FSE lobbyist offered for requesting the provision is that SOEs did not feel "it was [their] responsibility to be [the 3PVROs?] assistant and separate out their files for them." Tr. 3120:16-18 (Ramba). That interest—a slight increase in administrative convenience—is far from "sufficiently important" to survive exacting scrutiny. *See Bonta*, 141 S. Ct. at 2387 (holding that state's interest in "ease of administration . . . cannot justify [a] disclosure requirement" under exacting scrutiny); *id.* ("Mere administrative convenience does not remotely reflect the seriousness of the actual burden that [the challenged regulation] imposes on donors' association rights.") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

1183. The administrative convenience rationale is especially unpersuasive here, where Defendants presented no evidence that SOEs actually encountered any problems sorting voter registration forms and delivering them to the appropriate counties. Accordingly, Florida lacks any legitimate interest in forcing 3PVROs, at risk of fines and reputational harm, to expend their limited resources delivering each form to the registrant's home county.

1184. The fact that Florida permits 3PVROs to mail unsorted forms to the Division of Elections does not reduce the burden on Plaintiffs and other 3PVROs. First, in light of the potential fines for late submissions, Plaintiffs have chosen to send forms to out-of-county SOEs by priority mail. Tr. 208:16-22 (Garces) (explaining that Poder Latinx sends forms "by priority mail" and obtains "certified mail receipts"); Tr. 2041:16-18 (Mercado) (same). Mailing all forms is likely to be financially untenable for many nonprofit 3PVROs. Second, as noted, Plaintiffs prefer to deliver voter registration forms in person to confirm receipt, save costs, and develop relationships with their local SOEs. Plaintiffs cannot realize these benefits if they simply mail all unsorted forms to the Division. *Cf. Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 424 ("The First Amendment protects [Plaintiffs'] right not only to advocate their cause but also to select what they believe to be the most effective means for so doing.").

1185. The Registration Delivery Provision also violates the First Amendment because it constitutes unconstitutional viewpoint- and speaker-based discrimination,

in that it imposes different obligations on 3PVROs than it does on government agencies and family members that collect voter registration forms. *See* Fla. Stat. § 97.021(40) (defining "[t]hird-party voter organizations"). Those persons may continue to return applications to any Supervisor. At the very least, the fact that Florida allows others to deliver forms to any Supervisor is evidence that the state lacks a sufficiently important interest in the Delivery Provision.

C. Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Injunctive Relief

1186. To obtain a permanent injunction, a plaintiff "must satisfy a four-factor test." *Monsanto Co. v. Geertson Seed Farms*, 561 U.S. 139, 159 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). A plaintiff must show (1) "irreparable injury"; (2) that "remedies at law are inadequate"; (3) that "the balance of hardships weigh[]" in their favor; and (4) "that a permanent injunction would not disserve the public interest." *Barrett v. Walker Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 872 F.3d 1209, 1229 (11th Cir. 2017) (citing *eBay Inc. v. MercExchange*, *L.L.C.*, 547 U.S. 388, 391 (2006)). These requisite elements are satisfied here.

1187. First, Plaintiffs have suffered an irreparable injury. Constitutional violations establish per se irreparable harm. *See Elrod v. Burns*, 427 U.S. 347, 373 (1976) ("The loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, unquestionably constitutes irreparable injury."); *see also Jones v. Governor of Fla.*,

950 F.3d 795, 828 (11th Cir. 2020) ("The denial of the opportunity to cast a vote that a person may otherwise be entitled to cast -- even once -- is an irreparable injury.")

1188. Second, given that they have suffered an irreparable harm, Plaintiffs also have no adequate remedy at law for Florida's deprivation of its rights. *See Ferrero v. Associated Materials, Inc.*, 923 F.2d 1441, 1449 (11th Cir. 1991); *see also Deerfield Med. Ctr. v. City of Deerfield Beach*, 661 F.2d 328, 338 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981) ("An injury is 'irreparable' only if it cannot be undone through monetary remedies."). [1]

1189. Third, the balance of hardships favors Plaintiffs. Defendants have demonstrated only weak or pretextual injuries from being prohibited from enforcing the Challenged Provisions. Moreover, Defendants have not demonstrated that their interest in the Challenged Provisions outweighs the significant and numerous impacts to Plaintiffs. Conversely, Plaintiffs have important constitutional and statutory rights at stake.

1190. Fourth, injunctive relief would promote—not disserve—the public interest. Indeed, "[t]he vindication of constitutional rights ... serve[s] the public interest almost by definition." *Browning*, 863 F. Supp. 2d at 1167. It is well-established that "the public has a strong interest in exercising the fundamental political right to vote . . . [that] is best served by favoring enfranchisement and ensuring that qualified voters' exercise of their right to vote is successful." *Obama*

for Am. V. Husted, 697 F.3d 423, 436 (6th Cir. 2012) (citations omitted); see also League of Women Voters of Fla. v. Detzner, 314 F. Supp. 3d, 1205, 1224 (N.D. Fla. 2018) ("[A]llowing for easier and more accessible voting for all segments of society serves the public interest.")

1191. Decisions from the former Fifth Circuit's Unit B constitute binding precedent in the Eleventh Circuit. *Barrett*, 872 F.3d at 1229 n.12; *Stein v. Reynolds Secs., Inc.*, 667 F.2d 33, 34 (11th Cir. 1982).

XI. THE NEED FOR BAIL-IN RELIEF UNDER SECTION 3 OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT

A. Legal Principles

1192. Section 3(c) of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10302(c), provides in relevant part:

(c) If in any proceeding instituted by the Attorney General or an aggrieved person under any statute to enforce the voting guarantees of the fourteenth or fifteenth amendment in any State or political subdivision the court finds that violations of the fourteenth or fifteenth amendment justifying equitable relief have occurred within the territory of such State or political subdivision, the court, in addition to such relief as it may grant, shall retain jurisdiction for such period as it may deem appropriate and during such period no voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure with respect to voting different from that in force or effect at the time the proceeding was commenced shall be enforced unless and until the court finds that such qualification, prerequisite, standard, practice, or procedure does not have the purpose and will not have the effect of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of race or color, or in contravention of the voting guarantees set forth in section 10303(f)(2) of this title[.]

52 U.S.C. § 10302(c). In short, Section 3(c) "empowers a court, in a proper case, to impose a preclearance remedy on states," known as "bail-in" relief. *Perez v. Abbott*, 390 F. Supp. 3d 803, 807 (W.D. Tex. 2019) (citing *Jeffers v. Clinton*, 740 F. Supp. 585, 587 (E.D. Ark. 1990), *aff'd*, 498 U.S. 1019 (1991) (mem.)).

1193. "Section 3's provisions have long applied equally to all states and localities, and have been imposed in numerous cases." *Allen v. City of Evergreen*, No. 13-0107-CG-M, 2014 WL 12607819, at *1-*2 (S.D. Ala. Jan. 13, 2014) (collecting cases and ordering bail-in relief). In considering whether to impose Section 3(c) relief, courts have applied a two-step analysis, asking (1) "whether violations of the Fourteenth or Fifteenth Amendments justifying equitable relief have occurred within the State or its political subdivisions"; and (2) "whether, if so, the remedy of preclearance should be imposed." *Perez*, 390 F. Supp. 3d at 813 (citing *Jeffers*, 740 F. Supp. at 587).

1194. Per the terms of the statute, "triggering violations for bail-in relief must be violations of Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendment protections against intentional racial discrimination in voting." *Id.* at 813-14 (citing *Jeffers*, 740 F. Supp. at 589). A plaintiff must prove "conscious racial discrimination" by "preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* at 813 (citing *Jeffers*, 740 F. Supp. at 589); *see id.* at 814-16 (finding that state congressional and legislative district plans were "motivated by racially discriminatory purpose" and thus "qualif[ied] as triggers for § 3(c) bail-in relief").

1195. At the second step of the inquiry, "traditional principles of equitable discretion" guide whether courts should impose bail-in relief, "as conditioned by the necessities of the public interest which Congress has sought to protect." Jeffers, 740 F. Supp. at 600-01 (quoting *The Hecht Co. v. Bowles*, 321 U.S. 321, 329-30 (1944)). Several non-exhaustive factors are relevant in making this determination: "[1] Have the violations been persistent and repeated? [2] Are they recent or distant in time? [3] Are they the kinds of violations that would likely be prevented, in the future, by preclearance? [4] Have they already been remedied by judicial decree or otherwise? [5] How likely are they to recur? [6] Do political developments, independent of this litigation, make recurrence more or less likely?" Perez, 390 F. Supp. 3d at 818 (quoting Jeffers, 740 F. Supp. at 601). While courts must consider the defendants' countervailing interests alongside the interest of the plaintiffs in vindication of their constitutional right to vote," "the rights of the plaintiffs must prevail" when "prospective relief in the form of preclearance is indicated by the other factors in the case." Jeffers, 740 F. Supp. at 601.

B. Application

1196. Here, each of these factors favors bail-in relief. As is thoroughly documented in the record of this case, Florida has a longstanding pattern of imposing burdens on Black and Latino voters, both historically and continuing into the present. Most notably, the legislature sought to impose limits on mail voting only when mail

voting became a preferred mode of voting for Black and Latino voters. The State has a practice of trying to impair the activities of Third Party Voter registration organizations, with full knowledge that these organizations principally meet the needs of Black and Latino voters. The State has a well-documented history of extensive wait times at polling places, particularly in minority precincts, a trend that was mitigated to some degree in 2020 due to extensive use of mail voting. Now the legislature proposes to reduce mail voting, which will have the predictable effect of reviving the extended wait times on election day and early voting.

1197. Moreover, because the legislature and the Governor are controlled by the same party, and because that party tends to benefit from imposing burdens on Black and Latino voters, these patterns are likely to recur. This continued domination of the Florida legislature and the office of the Governor by the same political party tends to make recurrence more likely. Thus, preclearance may be the only mechanism to prevent the State of Florida from engaging in further efforts to impair the voting rights of Black and Latino voters.

1198. The scope of the remedy the court imposes "must be tailored to" the violations found. *Veasey v. Abbott*, 888 F.3d 792, 801 (5th Cir. 2018). Where the court finds that a challenged statute was adopted for the purpose of restricting participation of minority voters in the political process, and equitable factors point in favor of relief, the court may order that future statutes concerning related aspects

of voting and elections "must be subjected to the preclearance process" before the U.S. Department of Justice. *Jeffers*, 740 F. Supp. at 601; *see also Patino v. City of Pasadena*, 230 F. Supp. 3d 667, 729-30 (S.D. Tex. 2017). The court may also retain jurisdiction to enforce its order and hear any challenges by the prevailing plaintiffs to relevant future legislation. *Jeffers*, 740 F. Supp. at 602; *Patino*, 230 F. Supp. 3d at 729-30; *Allen*, 2014 WL 12607819, at *3.

RETREETED FROM DEMOCRACYDOCKET COM

Dated: February 26, 2022

s/ Jeremy C. Karpatkin JOHN A. FREEDMAN* JEREMY C. KARPATKIN ELISABETH S. THEODORE* JANINE M. LOPEZ* LESLIE C. BAILEY* SAM I. FERENC* Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP 601 Massachusetts Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20001-3743 (202) 942-5000 John.Freedman@arnoldporter.com Jeremy.Karpatkin@arnoldporter.com Elisabeth.Theodore@arnoldporter.com Janine.Lopez@arnoldporter.com Leslie.Bailey@arnoldporter.com Sam.Ferenc@arnoldporter.com

JEFFREY A. MILLER*
Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP
3000 El Camino Road
Five Palo Alto Square, Suite 500
Palo Alto, CA 94306-3807
(650) 319-4500
Jeffrey.Miller@arnoldporter.com

AARON STIEFEL*
DANIEL R. BERNSTEIN*
RYAN D. BUDHU*
ANDREW R. HIRSCHEL*
Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP
250 West 55th Street
New York, NY 10019-9710
(212) 836-8000
Aaron.Stiefel@arnoldporter.com
Daniel.Bernstein@arnoldporter.com
Ryan.Budhu@arnoldporter.com
Andrew.Hirschel@arnoldporter.com

Respectfully submitted,

s/ *P. Benjamin Duke* Benjamin L. Cavataro (Fla. Bar No. 113534) Morgan E. Saunders (pro hac vice) Michael A. Fletcher II (pro hac vice) Elizabeth T. Fouhey (pro hac vice) Cyrus Nasseri (pro hac vice) Miles Galbraith* Covington & Burling LLP 850 Tenth Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20001 202-662-5693 bcavataro@cov.com msaunders@cov.com mfletcher@cov.com efouhey@cov.com cnasseri@cov.com mgalbraith@cov.com

P. Benjamin Duke (pro hac vice) Shira M. Poliak (pro hac vice) Covington & Burling LLP 620 Eighth Avenue New York, NY 10018 212-841-1270 pbduke@cov.com spoliak@cov.com

Robert D. Fram (pro hac vice)
Ellen Y. Choi (pro hac vice)
Nia Joyner (pro hac vice)
Covington & Burling LLP
415 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
415-591-7025
rfram@cov.com
echoi@cov.com
njoyner@cov.com

KIRA ROMERO-CRAFT Florida Bar No. 49927 MIRANDA GALINDO* LatinoJustice, PRLDEF 523 W. Colonial Drive Orlando, FL 32804 (321) 418-6354 Kromero@latinojustice.org Mgalindo@latinojustice.org

BRENDA WRIGHT*
DEMOS
80 Broad St, 4th Flr
New York, NY 10004
(212) 633-1405
bwright@demos.org

JUDITH BROWNE DIANIS** GILDA R. DANIELS JORGE VASQUEZ** SABRINA KHAN** ESPERANZA SEGARRA Florida Bar No. 527211 SHARION SCOTT** ADVANCEMENT PROJECT 1220 L Street, N.W., Suite 850 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 728-9557 Jbrowne@advancementproject.org Gdaniels@advancementproject.org Jvasquez@advancementproject.org Skhan@advancementproject.org Esegarra@advancementproject.org Sscott@advancementproject.org

Counsel for Florida Rising Plaintiffs

Michael Pernick (pro hac vice)
Morenike Fajana (pro hac vice)
Romane Paul (pro hac vice)
NAACP Legal Defense & Educational
Fund, Inc.
40 Rector Street, 5th Floor
New York, NY 10006
212-965-2200
mfajana@naacpldf.org

Amia Trigg (pro hac vice)
Mahogane D. Reed (pro hac vice)
NAACP Legal Defense & Educational
Fund, Inc.
700 14th Street NW, Ste. 600,
Washington, DC 20005
202-682-1300
atrigg@naacpldf.org

Nellie L. King (Fla. Bar No. 0099562) The Law Offices of Nellie L. King, P.A. 319 Clematis Street, Suite 107 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 561-833-1084 Nellie@CriminalDefenseFla.com

Counsel for NAACP Plaintiffs

*Admitted pro hac vice

^{*}Admitted pro hac vice **Application for admission pro hac vice forthcoming

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of this document was served on all counsel of record through the Court's CM/ECF system on the 26th of February, 2022.

s/ P. Benjamin Duke
Attorney for Plaintiffs

RELIBIENED FROM DEINOCRACYDOCKET, COM

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

REFERENCE PROWN DELINO CRACE TO CONTROLLED FROM DELINO CRACE TO CONTRO

NAACP Plaintiffs Standing Chart

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
NAACP	Organizational	Drop Box VBM Request	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 531:6-15 (Brown); Tr. 531:18-24 (Brown); Tr. 531:25-532:23 (Brown); Tr. 532:24-533:10 (Brown) Frustration of Mission: Tr. 534:1-13 (Brown) Diversion of Resources: Tr. 531:6-15 (Brown); Tr. 531:18-24 (Brown); Tr. 531:25-532:23 (Brown); Tr. 532:24-533:10 (Brown) Frustration of Mission: Tr. 534:1-13 (Brown)

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
			Diversion of Resources: Tr. 531:6-15 (Brown); Tr. 531:18-24 (Brown); Tr. 531:25-532:23 (Brown); Tr. 532:24-533:10 (Brown)
		Voting Line Relief	First Amendment, VRA, Vagueness, Overbreadth: 1961:17-1962:22 (Slater); Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater)
		CRACTO	Frustration of Mission: Tr. 534:1-13 (Brown)
		Drop Box	ECF No. 608-6 at ¶¶ 10, 12-13 (Smith Rpt.); Tr. 77:1-78:17 (Scoon); Tr. 527:1-16 (Brown); ECF No. 608-84
	Associational	VBM Request	Tr. 527:23-528:15 (Brown)
	RELIBITE	Voting Line Relief	Tr. 529:4-530:25 (Brown); Tr. 1963:17-1964:5 (Slater); Tr. 1961:17-1962:22 (Slater); Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater)

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
Disability Rights Florida	Organizational	Drop Box Drop Box VBM Request	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 468:23-469:15 (DePalma); Tr. 472:19-473:10 (DePalma), Tr. 483:11-484:5 (DePalma); Tr. 474:7-24 (DePalma); Tr. 475:14-476:1, 476:8-477:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:3-13 (Babis); Tr. 2731:24-2732:3 (Babis); 2732:17-2733:4 (Babis), 2733:23-24 (Babis); 2734:3-6 (Babis); 2735:14-24 (Babis); 2735:25-2736:3 (Babis); 2735:14-24 (Babis); 2735:25-2736:3 (Babis); 2736:20-25 (Babis) Diversion of Resources: Tr. 468:23-469:15 (DePalma); Tr. 472:19-473:10 (DePalma), Tr. 483:11-484:5 (DePalma); Tr. 474:7-24 (DePalma); Tr. 475:14-476:1 (DePalma), 476:8-477:8 (DePalma); Tr. 2731:3-13 (Babis); Tr. 2731:24-2732:3 (Babis); 2732:17-2733:4 (Babis), 2733:23-24 (Babis); 2734:3-6 (Babis); 2734:18-2735:2 (Babis); 2735:3-6 (Babis); 2735:14-24 (Babis); 2735:25-2736:3 (Babis); 2736:20-25 (Babis)

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Drop Box	ECF No. 608-84; Tr. 2737:19-2738:11, 2739: 3-19, 2740:18-2742:12 (Babis); Tr. 2740:16-2742:4; 2742:25-2743:12 (Babis); Tr. 1597:21-1598:2, 1601:18-1602:5 (Brigham)
	Associational	VBM Request	Tr. 454:10-455:16 (DePalma); Tr. 1590:6-13 (Teti); Tr. 1285:18-1286:9 (Corley); Tr. 1591:5-21 (Teti)
		Voting Line Relief	Tr. 1962:23-1963:16 (Slater); Tr. 2744:4-13 (Babis); 2744:18-2745:20
		DEROMITA	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 544:10-24 (Albert); Tr. 544:25-545:21, 556:25-558:2 (Albert); 558:4-
Common Cause	Organizational	Drop Box	8, 559:6-11 (Albert)
			Frustration of Mission: Tr. 558:9-14 (Albert)

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		VBM Request	Diversion of Resources Tr. 544:10-24 (Albert); Tr. 544:25-545:21, 556:25-558:2 (Albert); 558:4- 8, 559:6-11 (Albert)
			Frustration of Mission: Tr. 558:9-14 (Albert)

APPENDIX B

FRT Plaintiffs Standing Chart

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
	Organizational	Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 2043:12-2044:2; 2040:16-2041:7, 2041:19-2042:5; 2044:15-2045:9, 2051:19-2052:15 (Mercado).
Florida Rising Together		Registration Disclaimer	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 2036:14-2037:10; 2037:16-2037:24, 2037:25-2038:6; 2043:12-2044:2; 2044:15-2045:9, 2051:19-2052:15 (Mercado). First Amendment: Tr. 2038:7-24; 2038:25-2039:8 (Mercado).
		VBM Request Identification	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 2048:18-21; 2044:15-2045:9; 2067:5-23 (Mercado).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Drop Box	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 2048:18-21; 2067:5-23 (Mercado).
	all	Line Relief	Prior Activities: Tr. 2046:11-2047:3 (Mercado). Diversion of Resources: Tr. 2047:4-8; 2047:18-2048:2; 2047:9-17; 2051:19-2052:15 (Mercado). First Amendment, VRA & Vagueness: Tr. 2047:4-8; 2047:18-2048:2; 2045:16-2046:10 (Mercado).
	Associational	VBM Request Identification	Tr. 2050:7-24; 2050:12-19; 2034:12-19 (Mercado).
		Drop Box	Tr. 2048:18-2049:13; 2034:12-19 (Mercado).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
	Poder Latinx Organizational	Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 207:24-208:11, 208:12-15; 210:6-21; 210:22-211:3; 223:20-224:10 (Garces).
Poder Latinx		Registration Disclaimer	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 203:12-24; 206:14-22; 223:20-224:10 (Garces). First Amendment: Tr. 206:23-207:23, 205:11-206:13; 207:8-16, 205:11-206:1, 205:21-206:6 (Garces).
		VBM Request Identification	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 215:20-216:17 (Garces).
		Drop Box	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 217:12-23, 193:17-24, 191:9-18; 217:3-11, 217:24-218:4; 223:20-224:10 (Garces).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Line Relief	Prior Activities: Tr. 218:5-17, 219:20-220:18, 222:8-10 (Garces). Diversion of Resources: Tr. 222:14-20; 221:21-233:16; 223:20-224:10 (Garces).
		ockac the	First Amendment, VRA & Vagueness: Tr. 222:14-20 (Garces).
	, Ralin Vi	Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 392:24-393:13; 392:8-13; 411:21-412:21 (Burney-Clark).
Fauel Cround	Organizational	Registration Disclaimer	First Amendment: Tr. 388:15-389:5; 392:8-13 (Burney-Clark).
		VBM Request Identification	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 403:5-407:6; 404:6-15, 405:11-406:10; 411:21-412:21 (Burney-Clark).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Drop Box	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 403:5-407:6; 404:6-15, 405:11-406:10; 397:12-23; 411:21-412:21 (Burney-Clark).
	RETRIEVE	Line Relief	Prior Activities: Tr. 402:5-403:4; 411:15-17; 393:14-398:24, 422:4-15, 400:10-401:8 (Burney-Clark). Diversion of Resources: Tr. 402:12-22; 392:8-13, 398:3-24, 399:22-24; 403:5-407:6; 404:6-15; 405:11-406:10; 411:21- 412:21 (Burney-Clark). First Amendment, VRA & Vagueness: Tr. 400:24-401:8; 396:8-15, 396:17-20; 402:12- 22; 392:8-13; 398:3-24; 399:22-24 (Burney-Clark).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
	Organizational	Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 769:18-770:1; 769:24-770:1; 776:3-14; 775:7-23, 775:24-776:2, 800:6-16; 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velez Burgos).
Hispanic Federation		Registration Disclaimer	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 765:2-766:7, 789:17-19, 794:5-795:2; 770:10-771:9, 776:8; 775:7-23, 775:24-776:2, 800:6-16; 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velez Burgos). First Amendment: Tr. 768:10-769:2, 794:2-4; 771:10-772:16 (Velez Burgos).
		VBM Request Identification	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 758:1-20; 767:20-768:9; 757:2-21, 762:23-763:15, 801:2-8; 757:2-21, 762:23-763:15, 801:2-8; 778:21-24; 762:9-22, 778:25-779:14, 817:7-18; 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velez Burgos).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Drop Box	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 760:20-761:25; 757:2-21, 762:23-763:15, 801:2-8; 778:21-24; 762:9-22, 778:25-779:14, 817:7-18; 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velez Burgos).
	2ET PAIEVE	Strong Line Relief	Prior Activities: Tr. 722:8-13, 810:13-17; 741:12-742:1, 742:1-8; 744:18-745:8, 742:16-743:24, 810:9-25 (Velez Burgos). Diversion of Resources: Tr. 746:3-9, 746:10-21; 776:15-777:19, 807:19-808:13, 816:18-24 (Velez Burgos). First Amendment, VRA & Vagueness: Tr. 746:3-9, 746:10-21; 746:22-25, 773:3-13; 773:19-774:4; 744:5-15 (Velez Burgos).
	Associational	Registration Disclaimer	Tr. 772:3-7; 719:3-10, 720:8-11 (Velez Burgos).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
		Line Relief	Tr. 784:8-13, 810:13-17; 719:3-10, 720:8-11 (Velez Burgos).
		Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 1427:5-1428:1, 1424:13-1425:12; 1429:4-12, 1429:16-1430-1, 1430:12-1431:24, 1433:8-16; 1437:12-1438:5; 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17; 1490:8-21 (Nordlund).
UnidosUS	Organizational	Registration Disclaimer	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 1424:4-12, 1425:13-18; 1423:11-19, 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17; 1438:19-1439:2, 1508:9-1509:17; 1490:8-21 (Nordlund). First Amendment: Tr. 1423:20-1424:3 (Nordlund).
		VBM Request Identification	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 1486:2-16, 1486:17-24, 1488:20-1489:21; 1488:5-11; 1490:8-21 (Nordlund).

Plaintiff Organization	Theory of Standing	Challenged Provisions	Supporting Evidentiary Cites
	Associational	Registration Delivery	Diversion of Resources: Tr. 1434:6-12; 1428:9-24; 1490:16-18, 1406:13- 15 (Nordlund).

PEL LATERIER EN DE L'ES ON DE MOCESACA DOCKET. COM

APPENDIX C

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

LAUREL M. LEE, in her official capacity as Florida Secretary of State, et al.,

Defendants,

and

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, and NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE,

Intervenor-Defendants.

Case No.: 4:21-cv-186-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-187-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-201-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-242-MW/MAF

(consolidated for trial)

COMPILATION OF SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS' RESPONSES AND OBJECTIONS TO THE *LEAGUE* PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION NOS. 1, 2, 3, 10, 12, 23, AND 24

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 1

Request for Admission No. 1: Admit that the 2020 presidential primary election in your county was secure.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. This request is vague and unclear as to what constitutes "secure."
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct 21, 2021	Objection; vague and ambiguous as to the term "secure" as used in this context. Notwithstanding this objection, admitted that to my knowledge the election was held in accordance with applicable state law and there were no known security breaches.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit

¹ The response dates in this document refer to the date of service or the date of verification, whichever is earlier.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request is vague.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, in part. Supervisor White admits that she did not report any irregularities to the Board of County Commissioners with respect to the 2020 Presidential Preference Primary. However, after reasonable inquiry of the information that she knows or can readily obtain, Supervisor White is unable to admit or deny whether the 2020 Presidential Preference Primary was "secure" in Miami-Dade County because that phrase is ambiguous for purposes of this litigation.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Qct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. The Supervisor is unable to admit or deny this Request because the word "secure" has not been properly defined.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	Admit
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 2

Request for Admission No. 2: Admit that the 2020 August primary election in your county was secure.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2921	Objection. This request is vague and unclear as to what constitutes "secure."
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct 21, 2021	Objection; vague and ambiguous as to the term "secure" as used in this context. Notwithstanding this objection, admitted that to my knowledge the election was held in accordance with applicable state law and there were no known security breaches.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request is vague.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, in part. Supervisor White admits that she did not report any irregularities to the Board of County Commissioners with respect to the 2020 August Primary Election. However, after reasonable inquiry of the information that she knows or can readily obtain, Supervisor White is unable to admit or deny whether the 2020 August Primary Election was "secure" in Miami-Dade County because that phrase is ambiguous for purposes of this litigation.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. The Supervisor is unable to admit or deny this Request because the word "secure" has not been properly defined.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	Admit
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 10 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 3

Request for Admission No. 3: Admit that the 2020 general election in your county was secure.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. This request is vague and unclear as to what constitutes "secure."
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct 21, 2021	Objection; vague and ambiguous as to the term "secure" as used in this context. Notwithstanding this objection, admitted that to my knowledge the election was held in accordance with applicable state law and there were no known security breaches.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 12 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request is vague.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 13 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, in part. Supervisor White admits that she did not report any irregularities to the Board of County Commissioners with respect to the 2020 General Election. However, after reasonable inquiry of the information that she knows or can readily obtain, Supervisor White is unable to admit or deny whether the 2020 General Election was "secure" in Miami-Dade County because that phrase is ambiguous for purposes of this litigation.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. The Supervisor is unable to admit or deny this Request because the word "secure" has not been properly defined.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	Admit
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request as vague.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 14 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 15 of 35

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 10

<u>Request for Admission No. 10</u>: Admit that you are not aware of any voter who was unable to vote in your county in 2020 as a result of a third-party voter organization returning their voter registration form late or failing to return a voter registration form.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 16 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 17 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	The material allegations of this request are admitted. The Supervisor would note that he would be unaware of an issue of any voter failing to return a voter registration form, individually or through an organization.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	Denied.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Deny.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Not aware, therefore Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	Admit to being unaware of any voter who was unable to vote as a result of a 3PVRO submitting a voter registration late. However, I would have no knowledge of persons unable to vote due to a 3PVRO failing to submit a voter registration form.
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Denied. This office received 12 late registrations from third-party voter organizations in 2020. The registration book closed on February 18, 2020, for the March 17, 2020 election. These voters were not able to vote in the 2020 March election. See documents produced in response to LWV Request for Production item 33 documents are numbered St. Johns 015107- St. Johns 015134.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 18 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 12

<u>Request for Admission No. 12</u>: Admit that you are not aware of the occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in your county after January 1, 2014, that would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	After making reasonable inquiry, the information he knows or can readily obtain is insufficient for Mr. Scott to admit or deny this matter.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Calls for speculation as to whether the voting fraud reported to the Supervisor by ERIC would have been prevented by SB 90. See response to Request No. 6 above. Request for Admission No. 6: Admit that
					you are not aware of any charges, indictments, or convictions related to Unlawful Voting Conduct that occurred in your county during the 2020 general election.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 20 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					RESPONSE: Admitted in part, denied in part. Nine incidents of double-voting were reported to the Supervisor by ERIC in conjunction with the 2020 General Election. Prosecutorial status unknown.
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct. 21, 2021	To the extent I am not aware of the occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct, admitted, although I cannot say whether such conduct occurred, nor whether any such conduct would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	SOE Hogan cannot answer this request because it is unclear and/or vague.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Supervisor Stafford lacks sufficient knowledge or information to truthfully admit or deny this matter. Supervisor Stafford has made reasonable inquiry, but the information he knows or can readily obtain is insufficient to enable him to admit or deny this matter.
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 21 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Glades County after January 1, 2014. After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Hardee County after January 1, 2014. After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Hendry County after January 1, 2014.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 22 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit that not aware of the occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Hernando County after January 1, 2014. Without knowledge that such occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests; therefore, denied. Objection based on being overbroad and speculative.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Holmes County after January 1, 2014. After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request on the ground that it calls for speculation.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 23 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted with the qualification that the Supervisor's tenure as Lake County Supervisor of Elections did not begin until January 3, 2017.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Levy County after January 1, 2014. After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 24 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Supervisor White is unable to admit or deny this request based on the information that she knows or can readily obtain because this request asks Supervisor White to speculate as to the motivations of third parties who would desire to commit Unlawful Voting Conduct and whether SB 90 would have a deterrent effect on them.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Speculative and unduly burdensome, as it is impossible for the Supervisor to know whether the relevant provisions of Senate Bill 90 would have prevented any Unlawful Voting Conduct. Subject to the foregoing objection, admitted.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted that Defendant is not aware of an occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in any election in Okeechobee County after January 1, 2014. After reasonable inquiry, the information known or readily obtainable by Defendant is insufficient to enable Defendant to admit or deny that Unlawful Voting Conduct, of which Defendant has admitted they are unaware, would have been prevented by Senate Bill 90's reduced duration of vote-by-mail ballot requests.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 25 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects to this request on the ground that it calls for speculation.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor lacks sufficient knowledge or information to truthfully admit or deny this matter. The Supervisor has made reasonable inquiry, but the information she knows or can readily obtain is insufficient to enable her to admit or deny this matter.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Not aware, therefore Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	Admit; will not speculate about possible impact of SB90 on potential occurrences.
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted that the Supervisor is aware of the occurrence of Unlawful Voting Conduct in Seminole County after January 1, 2014, but that the change referenced in this request would not have prevented it.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 26 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation. Also, this set of requests for admission were served after the court issued deadline for serving written discovery.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Defendant can neither admit nor deny this Request with respect to the time period of January 1, 2014 – April, 2016. Defendant did not become Supervisor of Elections until May, 2016, and is unable to obtain the requested information for this time period as it is not reasonably available to her. Admitted as to the time period of May, 2016 to present.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Objection. Overbroad in time and scope, unduly burdensome and calls for speculation.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 27 of 35

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 23

Request for Admission No. 23: Admit that the Secretary of State did not consult you about the Challenged Provisions prior to their enactment.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted the Secretary did not consult, personally, with me prior to the enactment of Senate Bill 90.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 28 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 29 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 30 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	The Florida Supervisors of Elections (FSE) communicates with the Florida Division of
					Elections on matters that affect elections administration in Florida.
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Adapit.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 24

Request for Admission No. 24: Admit that the Legislature did not consult you about the Challenged Provisions prior to their enactment.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
546	462-47	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit
547	462-48	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
548	462-49	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
549	462-50	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
550	462-51	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
551	462-52	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
552	462-53	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
553	462-54	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
554	462-55	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted the Legislature did not consult, personally, with me prior to the enactment of Senate Bill 90.
555	462-56	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
556	462-57	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
557	462-58	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
558	462-59	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
559	462-60	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
560	462-61	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
561	462-62	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
562	462-63	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
563	462-64	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 32 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
564	462-65	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
565	462-66	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
566	462-67	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
567	462-68	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
568	462-69	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
569	462-70	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
570	462-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
571	462-72	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
572	462-73	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
573	462-74	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
574	462-75	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
575	462-76	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
576	462-77	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
577	462-78	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ref.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
578	462-79	Lafayette	Travis Harr	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
579	462-80	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
580	462-81	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 33 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
581	462-82	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Denied.
				, DOCK	During the 2021 legislative session, Supervisor Earley, along with several other Supervisors of Elections, gave testimony at legislative committee meetings and conferred with legislative staff to try to decrease the problems inherent in early versions of SB 90 and other related bills. As a result of these efforts, we were able to alter some of the worst provisions before final passage of SB 90. Unfortunately, other problem areas in the bill remain.
582	462-83	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
583	462-84	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
584	462-85	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
585	462-86	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
586	462-87	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
587	462-88	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
588	462-89	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Denied.
589	462-90	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
590	462-91	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
591	462-92	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Denied.
592	462-93	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 34 of 35

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
593	462-94	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Other than the February 24, 2021, survey requested by the Public Integrity & Elections Committee sent by the Florida House of Representatives to Florida's Supervisors of Elections, admitted.
594	462-95	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
595	462-96	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	ADMIT.
596	462-97	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
597	462-98	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Deny.
598	462-99	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
599	462-100	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
600	463-1	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
601	463-2	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Nov. 1, 2021	The Florida Supervisors of Elections (FSE) weighs on legislative matters that affect elections administration in Florida.
602	463-3	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	The Supervisor objects that this request seeks an admission that is not relevant to any party's claim or defense.
603	463-4	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
604	463-5	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
605	463-6	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
606	463-7	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
607	463-8	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
608	463-9	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
609	463-10	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
610	463-11	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-3 Filed 02/26/22 Page 35 of 35

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 24

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
611	463-12	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
612	463-13	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

REFERENCE FROM DEMOCRAÇADOCKET, COM

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

LAUREL M. LEE, in her official capacity as Florida Secretary of State, et al.,

Defendants,

and

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, and NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE,

Intervenor-Defendants.

Case No.: 4:21-cv-186-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-187-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-201-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-242-MW/MAF

(consolidated for trial)

COMPILATION OF SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS' RESPONSES AND OBJECTIONS TO THE *LEAGUE* PLAINTIFFS' INTERROGATORIES NOS. 3 & 4

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Interrogatory No. 3

<u>Interrogatory No. 3</u>: For any upcoming elections in 2021 and 2022, if you intend on removing any previously-offered drop boxes in your county, or changing the days or times on which drop boxes will be available, please describe your reasons for such changes.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
622	463-20	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	July 28, 2021	Our office will not be removing any previously offered drop boxes but we are relocating a drop box. The drop box located at the Newberry Municipal Building (25420 W Newberry Rd, Newberry, FL 32669) will be moved to the new early voting site for the upcoming 2022 elections. Our office will be using the Alachua County Agriculture and Equestrian Center (23100 W Newberry Rd, Newberry, FL 32669).
624	463-22	Baker	Chris Milton	July 27, 2021	Our county has offered one drop box in the past at the Supervisor of Elections Office. This drop box will be available during early voting hours as set by law.
625	463-23	Bay	Mark Andersen	July 27, 2021	I have not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time. However locations will only be located inside our active early voting sites and main office as required. This will be very close to what we have done in the prior election.
626	463-24	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	July 30, 2021	For the 2021 municipal election (the only election we have in 2021) we have removed the drop box outside of our office due to not having staff to monitor in person. This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time.

¹ The response dates in this document refer to the date of service or the date of verification, whichever is earlier.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
628	463-26	Brevard	Lori Scott	Sept. 16, 2021	Supervisor Scott has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for any upcoming elections. Notwithstanding the above, for elections in 2021, Brevard County does intend on changing the dates or hours of operation of previously-offered drop boxes in the County, as the 2021 Municipal and Special District Election is not a countywide election and early voting is not conducted in conjunction with this election. Therefore, drop boxes are not warranted countywide or for the same number of days. However, drop boxes will be offered for the upcoming 2021 election, with one (1) drop box provided at each branch office in accordance with Senate Bill 90, starting October 1, 2021. The drop boxes will be offered Monday through Friday, from 8:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m, and on Election Day (November 2, 2021) from 7:00 a.m. through 7:00 p.m. Also notwithstanding the above, for elections in 2022, Brevard County does intend on changing the dates or hours of operation of previously-offered drop boxes in the County. Specifically, due to the fiscal impact of Senate Bill 90's mandate requiring 'a secure drop box at an office of the supervisor must be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the supervisor's office when the drop box is accessible for deposit of ballots', Brevard

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 5 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
				S. ACTOCK	County will be initiating postage paid return on all mail ballots and modifying drop box hours (no longer available 24/7). However, Brevard anticipates the same number of dates and same, or more, number of drop boxes in 2022 than were available in 2020. Hours and locations for 2022 election drop boxes have not yet been solidified but all required locations, as outlined in Senate Bill 90, will be utilized. Updates will be provided as drop box plans are finalized. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Scott reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
629	463-27	Broward	Joe Scott	July 29, 2021	With regard to drop boxes at early voting sites, there will be no boxes removed except to the extent that our office will utilize different early voting sites than have been used during prior elections. At this time, there is no intention to change any such early voting sites. The Broward County Supervisor of Elections does not intend on reducing the days or time drop boxes at early voting sites are available for returning vote-by-mail ballots for any 2021 or 2022 elections as compared to drop box days/times during prior elections. There will be a reduction in drop box times at permanent offices of the Supervisor of Elections because of the requirement under SB 90 that "[a] secure drop box at the office of the supervisor must be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the supervisor's office when the drop box is accessible for deposit of ballots." Because of this change under SB90

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 6 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					regarding drop boxes at offices of the Supervisor of Elections, our office will likely not have 24-hour availability to deposit ballots at these locations.
630	463-28	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	July 27, 2021	Not yet determined
631	463-29	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	July 26, 2021	The Supervisor does not intend to make any changes with respect to drop boxes.
633	463-31	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Sept. 20, 2021	As to the 24-hour drop-box previously located outside of the Supervisor's office in Crystal River, to ensure in person monitoring, it will be moved to within the office, and will be available during business/voting hours. Otherwise, Supervisor Baird has not made a decision in this respect.
634	463-32	Clay	Chris Chambless	July 29, 2021	The dropbox outside the SOE's main office will remain locked and inaccessible due to the box not being monitored.
635	463-33	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	July 26, 2021	The Supervisor has not made final decisions with respect to the future dates, hours, and locations of drop boxes.
636	463-34	Columbia	Tomi Brown	July 29, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time.
637	463-35	DeSoto	Mark Negley	July 29, 2021	No changes are anticipated at this time.
638	463-36	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	July 28, 2021	For 2022 elections, there are no changes. We only have one drop box location – at the SOE office.
639	463-37	Duval	Mike Hogan	July 21, 2021	There are no elections in 2021. As for 2022, the Duval County Supervisor has no plans to make changes at this time. Plans are the same as always for mid-term elections (same times and days).

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
640	463-38	Escambia	David H. Stafford	July 23, 2021	No decisions have been made for the 2022 election cycle at this time. There are no elections scheduled for 2021.
641	463-39	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	July 28, 2021	
					Palm Coast, FL 32137 Palm Coast Community Center 305 Palm Coast Parkway NE Palm Coast, FL 32137

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
		County	Elections	Response Date ¹	Additionally, the information described below was provided to voters regarding the 2021 Palm Coast Special Election: Senate Bill 90 was passed and signed by the Governor in May during this year's Legislative Session. This new law changes the way we can receive your voted mail ballot in our secure drop box at the Elections Office. The secure ballot drop box at the Elections Office is no longer available 24/7. Please see the information below about returning your voted mail ballot in person. Returning Your Mail Ballot Mail ballots must be received in the Elections Office by 7:00 P.M. on July 27, 2021 in order to be counted. If returning your ballot by mail, please allow at least TEN DAYS for delivery. Your voted mail ballot must be received by 7:00 P.M. on the day of the election, July 27. A postmark does not extend this deadline. You may come inside the Elections Office and deliver your ballot in person anytime during office hours: Monday through Friday from 8:30
					A.M 4:30 P.M., excluding Federal holidays. Secure Ballot Drop Boxes A secure ballot drop box is available during office hours at the entrance of the Elections Office beginning on July 6, 2021. The secure ballot drop box at the Elections Office is no longer available 24/7. The law was changed during this year's Legislative Session, and now

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
			RETRIEVEDERON	DEMOCRACIDOCK	requires in-person monitoring of ballot drop boxes in the state of Florida. Secure drop boxes will still be available at all early voting sites during the early voting period. Voters may use these drop boxes to deposit their mail ballots at any time early voting sites are open for voting. DO NOT bring your voted mail ballot to the polling place on Election Day, it must be returned directly to the Elections Office on Election Day. References: https://www.FlaglerElections.com https://www.flaglerelections.com/Election_Info/2021-Palm-Coast-Special-Election For 2022 Elections, the above-identified three early voting sites will be available, with the possibility of one additional site. The secure ballot drop box at the Elections Office will no longer be available 24/7. A secure drop box will be available 60 days prior to a Primary or General Election and through Election Day, during office hours only at the entrance of the Elections Office.
642	463-40	Franklin	Heather Riley	July 29, 2021	I have not made a decision about any changes at this time.
643	463-41	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	July 29, 2021	The drop box that is installed in the door of the Supervisor of Elections building has been removed.
1602	480-75	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Jan. 24, 2022	Supervisor Sanchez anticipates that a total of one (1) drop box will be offered in Gilchrist County for elections in 2022, located inside the Office of the Supervisor of Elections. It will be available during

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 10 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					regular business hours of the Office of the Supervisor, following the issuance of vote-by-mail ballots, through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots, for each respective election in 2022.
645	463-43	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Aug. 1, 2021	We have not yet finalized decisions for any future elections.
646	463-44	Gulf	John Hanlon	July 30, 2021	Supervisor Hanlon has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for any upcoming elections. Hours and locations for 2022 election drop boxes have not yet been solidified but all required locations, as outlined in Senate Bill 90, will be utilized. Updates will be provided as drop box plans are finalized. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Hanlon reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
647	463-45	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	July 28, 2021	This office will follow F.S. 101.69. This county has one drop box, which is currently located at the SOE office building, outside. The drop box will be open and monitored in person according to F.S. 101.69. The decision on whether this office keeps this drop box outside or removes it from being outside and placing it in the SOE office has not been determined for 2022. This county does not have any upcoming elections in 2021.
648	463-46	Hardee	Diane Smith	Aug. 4, 2021	We have not yet finalized decisions for any future elections.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 11 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
649	463-47	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Aug. 1, 2021	At this time, we do not intend to remove any previously offered drop boxes. In 2021, there will be a City of LaBelle Election with a drop box at the early voting site. Early voting dates and hours for the LaBelle election will be August 2 through August 14, 2021, weekdays 9:00 am to 5:00 pm and weekends 9:00 am to 2:00 pm. Early voting hours change for each election based on past election voting patterns. We have been consistent with our number of early voting days beginning the first day allowed and closing early voting the Saturday before the election. Early voting hours in 2022 are undetermined at this time.
650	463-48	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	July 13, 2021	The Hernando County Supervisor of Elections anticipates moving its main office out of the Hernando County Courthouse, which is located at 20 North Main Street, Brooksville, Florida, 34601, sometime in 2021. If the move occurs, the Supervisor of Elections' Office will remove the drop box that is presently located in the Courthouse's eastern parking lot.
652	463-50	Highlands	Penny Ogg	July 30, 2021	Supervisor Ogg does not intend on removing any previously-offered drop boxes in Highlands County, or changing the days or times on which drop boxes will be available, for any upcoming elections in 2021 and 2022.
654	463-52	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	July 30, 2021	This information was previously provided in the Affidavit and Response No. 34 to Plaintiffs' First Request for Production.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 12 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹		Respoi	ıse
			RETRIEVEDERON	DEMOCRACYDOCK	Affida Plainti Produce REQU Drop Apollo Comm Austin Librar Bloom Regio Librar C. Bly Jr. Pul Fred H Cente Jan K Regio Librar Regio Librar Maure	wit of Peg Ree ffs' First Set o etion): JEST NO. 34: Boxes Planner o Beach nunity Center o Davis Public cy ningdale nal Public cy n Memorial cy whe Andrews, blic Library B. Karl County r aminis Platt nal Library ie B. Keel nal Public	se in Response to f Requests for d for 2022 Elections: 664 Golf and Sea Blvd., Apollo Beach, FL 33572 17808 Wayne Road, Odessa, FL 33556 1906 Bloomingdale Ave., Valrico, FL 33596 302 W McLendon St., Plant City, FL 33563 2607 E Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd., Tampa, FL 33610 601 E Kennedy Blvd., Tampa, FL 33602 3910 S Manhattan Ave., Tampa, FL 33611 2902 W Bearss Ave., Tampa, FL 33618 11211 Countryway Blvd., Tampa, FL 33626

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 13 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹		Respor	ıse
						New Tampa Regional Library	10001 Cross Creek Blvd., Tampa, FL 33647
						North Tampa Branch Library	8916 N Blvd., Tampa, FL 33604
						Northdale Recreation Center	15550 Spring Pine Dr., Tampa, FL 33624
					10	Port Tampa Community Center	4702 W McCoy St., Tampa, FL 33616
				<	Y COM	Providence West Community Center	5405 Providence Rd., Riverview, FL 33578
				OCK		Riverview Branch Library	10509 Riverview Dr., Riverview, FL 33578
				CRACT		Robert L. Gilder Elections Service	2514 N Falkenburg Rd., Tampa, FL 33619
				EMOC .		Center	
			RETRIEVED FROM	Or		SouthShore Regional Library	15816 Beth Shields Way, Ruskin, FL 33573
			EVED			Northwest Elections Office	4575 Gunn Highway, Tampa, FL 33624
			ak Rill			Southeast Elections Office	10020 S US Hwy. 301, Riverview, FL 33578
						USF TECO Hall (David C. Anchin	4110 USF Apple Drive, Tampa, FL
						Center)	33620
						Temple Terrace Public Library	202 Bullard Parkway, Temple Terrace, FL 33617
						Town 'N Country Regional Public Library	7606 Paula Drive, Tampa, FL 33615

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 14 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response		
		County	Elections	Response Date ¹		West Tampa Branch Library University Area Community Center Hours of Operation All Sites: Primary: All EV May 6 PM General: All EV May PM SOE Offices: July 14 – August 23, hours, with extended Voting and Election September 29 Nov and hours, with exter Voting and Election Removal of previou Amalie Arena and Ra are unavailable as ear will not be used for dare underway to secural	2312 W Union Street, Tampa, FL 33607 14013 N 22nd Street, Tampa, FL 33613 : kimum days, 10 AM to kimum days, 7 AM to 7 business days and hours during Early Day ember 8: business days aded hours during Early Day sly used sites: aymond James Stadium rly voting sites and thus lrop boxes. Attempts re ent locations for early
						The SOE 24 hour dro Service Center will b	op box at the Elections

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 15 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
655	463-53	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Aug. 3, 2021	We have not yet finalized any decisions for any future elections.
656	463-54	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	July 26, 2021	In 2021, no elections will be conducted in Indian River County at which early voting will be offered. For the November 2, 2021 municipal elections, the drop box at the Elections Office will be accessible during business hours—as it was in 2020—and will be available once vote-by-mail ballots are available (approximately September 17, 2021). With respect to the 2022 elections, the Supervisor has not made any final decisions with respect to drop boxes, but does not anticipate any changes to drop-box locations. The Supervisor and her staff will discuss drop-box dates, times, and locations for the 2022 elections after Indian River County's November 2, 2021 municipal elections.
657	463-55	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	July 29, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time.
1600	480-73	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Jan. 24, 2022	For the 2020 General Election, one drop box was located at 1175 W. Washington St., Monticello, FL 32344, 24 hours per day from 10/19/2020 through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots on 11/3/2020. There were no elections in 2021. Supervisor McNeill anticipates that a total of one
					(1) drop box will be offered in Jefferson County for elections in 2022, located inside the Office of the

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 16 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					Supervisor of Elections. It will be available during regular business hours of the Office of the Supervisor of Elections, 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., following the issuance of vote-by-mail ballots, through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots, for each respective election in 2022.
659	463-57	Lafayette	Travis Hart	July 27, 2021	Barring a reversal of the law in the 2022 Legislative Session regarding drop boxes, the SOE will remove the drop box currently located at the courthouse. The drop box located at the Early Voting site will remain unchanged.
660	463-58	Lake	Alan Hays	July 28, 2021	Drop boxes are not used at local elections such as the elections to be conducted in 2021. At the 2022 elections, the drop box previously provided outside of the elections office will no longer be available because of the requirement that the drop box be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the Supervisor's office when accessible for deposit of ballots. However, the drop box inside the elections office will continue to be available and accessible to voters from 8 a.m. to 7 p.m. The drop box at the Sorrento location might be unavailable for reasons unrelated to SB 90. The Supervisor does not have a current agreement to utilize this location, and the location might not be available for use.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 17 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					The Supervisor anticipates that the final locations, dates, and times of drop boxes for the 2020 elections will be determined by January 2022.
662	463-60	Lee	Tommy Doyle	July 26, 2021	The Supervisor has not made decisions concerning removal of previously offered drop boxes. The Supervisor anticipates that the days of the week and times when drop boxes are available to voters will not change.
651	463-49	Leon	Mark Earley	July 29, 2021	We do not anticipate adding or removing any drop box locations. Our current plan is to maintain the drop boxes at our Main Office and the same Early Voting sites as in the 2020 election cycle. The dates for drop boxes at Early Voting sites for the 2022 Primary Election will coincide with our standard nine days of Early Voting for primary elections. It should be noted that the addition of 5 days to our early voting period (and thus the increased availability of Drop Boxes) for the 2020 primary election to 14 days was part of our Covid-19 response. We plan on scaling back the number of days to our normal 9, but we expect to maintain the same hours of availability during those days in the 2022 primary election as in the 2020 primary election. Drop Boxes at our Main Office will be available per a very similar schedule as in 2020.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 18 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					We plan on maintaining the same number of days and the same hours of availability for drop boxes in the 2022 General Election as in the 2020 general election.
663	463-61	Levy	Tammy Jones	Aug. 1, 2021	We have not yet developed a plan for any future elections.
664	463-62	Liberty	Grant Conyers	July 27, 2021	Yes. Senate Bill 90's requirements will change the way we do drop boxes.
665	463-63	Madison	Heath Driggers	July 29, 2021	Supervisor Driggers has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for 2021 or 2022 elections. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Driggers reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
668	463-66	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Sept. 15, 2021	The Supervisor has not decided the dates, hours, and locations of drop boxes for the 2022 elections. However, because SB 90 requires drop boxes at elections offices to be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the Supervisor's office when accessible for deposit of ballots, the Supervisor does not at this time anticipate that he will continue to provide an outdoor drop box at the elections office on a twenty-four-hour, seven-day-aweek basis. Instead, the Supervisor expects to provide a continuously monitored outdoor drop box at the elections office during normal business hours.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 19 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					Manatee County will not conduct any "elections" in 2021, as defined for purposes of these interrogatories.
669	463-67	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	July 26, 2021	The drop box previously provided outside of the elections office will no longer be available because of the requirement that the drop box be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the Supervisor's office when accessible for deposit of ballots. However, the drop box inside the election's office will continue to be available and accessible to voters during all business hours.
670	463-68	Martin	Vicki Davis	July 29, 2021	 No previously offered drop boxes will be removed; Primary Election early voting dates and times will remain the same; Saturday, 8/13/2022-Saturday 8/20/2022, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. daily General Election early voting will be held Wednesday, 10/26/2022 – Saturday, 11/5/2022, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. daily 2022 Early Voting and Drop Box Locations – Martin County (martinvotes.com)
672	463-70	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Aug. 19, 2021	For municipal elections in 2021 and 2022, Miami-Dade County conducts elections at the request and direction of the relevant municipality. All decisions regarding the location, days, and hours that drop boxes will be available for those elections lies in the discretion of the relevant municipality. For the 2022 Primary Election, Supervisor White currently plans to offer drop boxes at the same 23

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 20 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
NO.	INO.		REPORT OF THE PROPERTY OF THE	DEMOCRACYDOCK	Early Voting locations that were offered during the 2020 Primary Election. Just like in 2020, these drop boxes will be available during the same days and hours of operation as the Early Voting sites. For the 2022 General Election, Supervisor White currently plans to offer drop boxes at 28 Early Voting locations rather than the 33 Early Voting locations provided in the 2020 General Election. The 28 Early Voting sites is the same number of Early Voting locations provided during the previous gubernatorial election in 2018. This reduction from 33 to 28 sites is customary and based on the lower turnout expected for a non-presidential election. Just like in 2020, these drop boxes will be available during the same days and hours of operation as the Early Voting sites. In addition, during the 2020 Primary Election, Miami-Dade County offered drop boxes on Election Day during the same hours that polls were open at four locations: (1) the Main Office of the Supervisor of Elections, (2) a Branch Office at the Stephen P. Clark Center, (3) the South Dade Government Center. This was provided in accordance with Resolution No. R-592-20, which was passed by the Miami-Dade Board of County Commissioners. For the 2020 General Election, Miami-Dade County offered drop boxes at those four locations on Election Day during the same hours that polls were open and the

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 21 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					day prior from 7 am - 7 pm. All four of these locations also served as Early Voting locations during the 2020 Primary and General Elections.
				c.RACTDOCK	For future county-wide elections, Miami-Dade County does not intend to provide drop boxes at the South Dade Government Center or the North Dade Government Center outside of the days and hours of Early Voting because neither location meets the definition of "permanent branch office" as described in Section 28 of Senate Bill 90 (2021). Those two locations, however, will continue to serve as drop box locations during the days and hours of Early Voting.
673	463-71	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	July 29, 2021	No changes will be made to the times and locations of drop boxes in Monroe County.
674	463-72	Nassau	Janet Adkins	July 29, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time.
675	463-73	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	July 29, 2021	Okaloosa County will not be required to make any such changes due to the recently enacted law.
677	463-75	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Aug. 3, 2021	We have not yet finalized decisions for any future elections.
678	463-76	Orange	Bill Cowles	Aug. 9, 2021	The Orange County SOE's Response to LWV's First Request for Production No. 34 & No. 35, incorporated here, are responsive to this interrogatory.
679	463-77	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	July 29, 2021	No drop box location will be changed unless we add an Early Voting site. Times could differ depending on the hours and days that Early Voting is offered.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 22 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
680	463-78	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Aug. 2, 2021	The SOE will not be removing any of the permanent drop boxes at our four (4) office locations, but we will limit the time during which voters will be able to drop off ballots, due to the expense and safety concerns implicated in staffing those drop boxes overnight by Supervisor of Elections employees. Our office will not be offering any of the temporary drop boxes that were offered in the 2020 General Election due to lack of funding. Grant money was used to implement and staff those twenty-five (25) drop boxes throughout the county, during Early Voting, and for drive-through drop boxes at the Main SOE Office and the day before Election Day and on Election Day.
681	463-79	Pasco	Brian Corley	July 27, 2021	The Supervisor will provide a drop box at the J. Ben Harrill Recreation Complex instead of the South Holiday Library due to better parking and increased access at the J. Ben Harrill Recreation Complex. The Supervisor will also provide a drop box at the Wesley Chapel Recreation Complex instead of AdventHealth Center Ice because the Supervisor's contract with AdventHealth Center Ice concluded. The Supervisor will next provide a drop box at Veterans Memorial Park at the 2024 election, when early-voting turnout warrants the additional site. There will be no change to drop-box hours of operation, and drop boxes will continue to be available throughout the early-voting period.
682	463-80	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	July 15, 2021	Pinellas County intends to maintain 25 ballot drop- box locations for the 2022 primary and general

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 23 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
				a RCTDOCK	elections. An agreement with the Tampa Bay Rays allowed for the use of Tropicana Field during the 2020 general election, but this location will not be used for future elections. Other locations may be moved to alternate sites due to various reasons. Ballot drop-off locations other than the Supervisor of Elections offices will not be available the Monday prior to election pursuant to Section 19269, Florida Statutes. Additionally, some ballot drop-off locations had time restrictions during the 2020 general election due to COVID. However, to the extent possible, the hours of operation at those locations may be extended.
683	463-81	Polk	Lori Edwards	July 29, 2021	Removal or changes of the number of drop boxes, or days or times they will be available for any upcoming elections have not yet been determined.
684	463-82	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	July 27, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time. The drop box located in the parking lot may be removed due to lack of funding to staff the drop box with an election worker as now required.
685	463-83	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	July 20, 2021	There are no scheduled elections in 2021 for Santa Rosa County and plans have not been determined for the 2022 election cycle.
686	463-84	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Aug. 6, 2021	The only remaining elections in 2021 are municipal elections (City of Venice and Town of Longboat Key in November). The designation of drop box locations is based on historical voter turnout and vote-by-mail ballot numbers associated with a particular election. At this time, we plan to have a

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 24 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					VBM drop box available in the Venice elections office, which also serves as the early voting site, during regular office hours, including all hours that early voting takes place and until 7 p.m. on election night, and inside the Sarasota and North Port elections offices during regular business hours and until 7 p.m. on election night.
687	463-85	Seminole	Chris Anderson	July 27, 2021	The Supervisor anticipates no changes to drop-box locations, days, or hours in Seminole County.
688	463-86	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	July 19, 2021	The 24/7 drop box located outside the Supervisor of Elections office will no longer be available as it was previously monitored by security cameras. Early voting locations for the 2022 elections have yet to be determined.
689	463-87	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	July 29, 2021	In 2020 we had a total of 6 drop boxes during the times of Early Voting. Also, during 2020 a drop box was located at a county library in an outlying area to accommodate the large number of voters there. SB90 requires locations for Supervisors of Elections Office and Early Voting sites. For the 2022 election cycles we are eliminating only 1 drop box.
690	463-88	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	July 28, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time. No changes to our current drop boxes/locations are anticipated unless we add a new Early Voting Site.
691	463-89	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	July 29, 2021	We are not removing any drop boxes, but we are extending early voting times so the drop boxes at early voting sites will be open more days (14 days form [sic] our previous 8 days) and longer hours

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 25 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					each day, from 8:30AM-4:30PM previously to now 8:30AM – 5:30PM for 2022.
692	463-90	Taylor	Dana Southerland	July 27, 2021	This supervisor has not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time.
693	463-91	Union	Deborah Osborne	July 27, 2021	Yes, I plan on removing the drop box in the front of my office because I have one in the rear of my office that the voters can drive up to and I don't have the funds to pay two deputies to stand by both during Early Voting. I will only use one.
694	463-92	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	July 28, 2021	This information is unknown at this time.
695	463-93	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	July 28, 2021	We will pay for additional staff to watch the box. We do not want to risk a box watcher going to the restroom, someone taking a photo of a box unattended, and getting fined \$25,000.
696	463-94	Walton	Bobby Beasley	July 29, 2021	Do not know yet.
697	463-95	Washington	Carol Rudd	July 28, 2021	Washington County's Drop box locations will remain the same and will match our Early Voting dates and times.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 26 of 38

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the League Plaintiffs' Interrogatory No. 4

<u>Interrogatory No. 4</u>: For any upcoming elections in 2021 and 2022, if you do not know whether you will remove any previously-offered drop boxes in your county, or whether you will change the days or times on which drop boxes will be available, please describe in detail any anticipated changes and how and when you will decide on whether you will make changes to drop box availability.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
622	463-20	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	July 28, 2021	The drop box located at the main office (515 N Main St, Gainesville, FL 32601) will not be opened 24 hours. The drop box will remain open through designated early voting hours but the extra hours of availability are undetermined. Determinations will be finalized by December 31, 2021.
624	463-22	Baker	Chris Milton	July 27, 2021	See answer to Interrogatory No. 3
625	463-23	Bay	Mark Andersen	July 27, 2021	I have not determined 2022 locations for drop boxes at this time. However drop box locations will only be located inside our active early voting sites and main office as required. This will be very close to what we have done in the prior election.
626	463-24	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	July 30, 2021	This decision has not been made for 2022.
628	463-26	Brevard	Lori Scott	Sept. 16, 2021	Supervisor Scott has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for any upcoming elections.
					Notwithstanding the above, for elections in 2021, Brevard County does intend on changing the dates or hours of operation of previously-offered drop boxes in the County, as the 2021 Municipal and Special District Election is not a countywide election and early voting is not conducted in conjunction with this election. Therefore, drop boxes are not warranted countywide or

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 27 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
			RET RATE VED FF	ONDENOCRACTO	for the same number of days. However, drop boxes will be offered for the upcoming 2021 election, with one (1) drop box provided at each branch office in accordance with Senate Bill 90, starting October 1, 2021. The drop boxes will be offered Monday through Friday, from 8:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m, and on Election Day (November 2, 2021) from 7:00 a.m. through 7:00 p.m. Also notwithstanding the above, for elections in 2022, Brevard County does intend on changing the dates or hours of operation of previously-offered drop boxes in the County. Specifically, due to the fiscal impact of Senate Bill 90's mandate requiring 'a secure drop box at an office of the supervisor must be continuously monitored in person by an employee of the supervisor's office when the drop box is accessible for deposit of ballots', Brevard County will be initiating postage paid return on all mail ballots and modifying drop box hours (no longer available 24/7). However, Brevard anticipates the same number of dates and same, or more, number of drop boxes in 2022 than were available in 2020. Hours and locations for 2022 election drop boxes have not yet been solidified but all required locations, as outlined in Senate Bill 90, will be utilized. Updates will be provided as drop box plans are finalized. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Scott reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
629	463-27	Broward	Joe Scott	July 29, 2021	Not Applicable. See answer to Interrogatory No. 3.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 28 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
630	463-28	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	July 27, 2021	Not yet determined
631	463-29	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	July 26, 2021	The Supervisor does not intend to make any changes with respect to drop boxes.
633	463-31	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Sept. 20, 2021	See response to no. 4.
634	463-32	Clay	Chris Chambless	July 29, 2021	SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS: The SOE objects to this interrogatory as vague and unclear to the extent that the term "anticipated changes" is not defined. The SOE also objects to the interrogatory to the extent it asks the SOE to speculate about "anticipated changes" that have not yet been determined.
				CTV	ANSWER: See response to Interrogatory No. 3.
635	463-33	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	July 26, 2021	Drop-box decisions will likely be made in early 2022 after local redistricting has been completed.
636	463-34	Columbia	Tomi Brown	July 29, 2021	This decision has not been made.
637	463-35	DeSoto	Mark Negley	July 29, 2021	As noted above in response to Interrogatory Number 3, no changes are anticipated at this time. Should anticipated changes arise, any such anticipated changes will be made well in advance of any upcoming election cycle. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Negley reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer should any anticipated changes arise.
638	463-36	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	July 28, 2021	There is no change.
1597	480-70	Duval	Mike Hogan	Jan. 12, 2022	In December of 2021, the Duval County Supervisor of Elections conducted a special municipal election and provided drop boxes at all early voting sites. The drop boxes were available during the days and hours of early voting. As for 2022, the Duval County

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 29 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					Supervisor of Elections will provide drop boxes at all early voting sites, and they will be available during the days and hours of early voting. The Duval County Supervisor's main office will be a drop box location for early voting. The Duval County Supervisor of Elections intends to conduct future elections consistent with past elections.
640	463-38	Escambia	David H. Stafford	July 23, 2021	No decisions have been made at this time. Any such changes, if any, will be made in advance of the 2022 Primary Election.
641	463-39	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	July 28, 2021	Please see Supervisor Lenhart's answer to Interrogatory No. 3, above, for anticipated changes and drop box availability.
642	463-40	Franklin	Heather Riley	July 29, 2021	I will most likely decide on changes, if any, after the first of the year 2022.
643	463-41	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	July 29, 2021	This decision has not been made.
1602	480-75	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Jan. 24, 2022	Supervisor Sanchez anticipates that a total of one (1) drop box will be offered in Gilchrist County for elections in 2022, located inside the Office of the Supervisor of Elections. It will be available during regular business hours of the Office of the Supervisor, following the issuance of vote-by-mail ballots, through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots, for each respective election in 2022.
645	463-43	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Aug. 1, 2021	We will probably not have a drop box outside available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Drop boxes will most likely be inside the Supervisor of Elections office, during working hours, which are Monday through

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 30 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Final decisions regarding changes to drop box availability will not be made until after the next legislative session and all litigation is concluded.
646	463-44	Gulf	John Hanlon	July 30, 2021	Supervisor Hanlon has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for any upcoming elections. Hours and locations for 2022 election drop boxes have not yet been solidified but all required locations, as outlined in Senate Bill 90, will be utilized. Updates will be provided as drop box plans are finalized. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Hanlon reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
647	463-45	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	July 28, 2021	See No. 3.
648	463-46	Hardee	Diane Smith	Aug. 4, 2021	We do not currently anticipate any changes. Final decisions regarding changes to drop box availability will not be made until after the next legislative session and all litigation is concluded.
1598	480-71	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Jan. 14, 2022	Drop boxes will be available at all early voting sites. Early voting sites in 2022 will be located at: LaBelle Election Office 25 E. Hickpochee Avenue LaBelle, Florida 33935 (863) 675-5230 Clewiston Election Office 1100 S. Olympia Street

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 31 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					Clewiston, Florida 33440 (863) 902-3393
					Early voting for the 2022 Primary Election will be held August 8, 2022 through August 20, 2022. The drop boxes will be available from 9:00 am to 6:00 pm each day.
				10 ^C	Early voting for the 2022 General Election will be held October 24, 2022 through November 5, 2022. The drop boxes will be available from 9:00 am to 6:00 pm each day.
650	463-48	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	July 13, 2021	With regard to the drop box located in the parking lot of the Hernando County Courthouse, please see my answer to Interrogatory No. 3 above.
			QE RIEVED FF	July 13, 2021	To comply with the new requirements imposed by Section 28, Chapter 2021-11, the Hernando County Supervisor of Elections' Office anticipates that the drop boxes that it will provide will only be open from Monday to Friday, between 8 a.m. and 4:30 p.m.
652	463-50	Highlands	Penny Ogg	July 30, 2021	Supervisor Ogg does not anticipate making any such changes. See answer to Interrogatory No. 3 above.
654	463-52	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	July 30, 2021	See Response to Number 3.
655	463-53	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Aug. 3, 2021	There will probably be a drop box at the Supervisor of Elections office available during early voting hours. Final decisions regarding changes to drop box availability will not be made until after the next legislative session and all litigation is concluded.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 32 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
656	463-54	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	July 26, 2021	Drop-box decisions will likely be made in early 2022 after local redistricting has been completed.
657	463-55	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	July 29, 2021	This decision has not been made.
1600	480-73	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Jan. 24, 2022	For the 2020 General Election, one drop box was located at 1175 W. Washington St., Monticello, FL 32344, 24 hours per day from 10/19/2020 through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots on 11/3/2020. There were no elections in 2021. Supervisor McNeill anticipates that a total of one (1) drop box will be offered in Jefferson County for elections in 2022, located inside the Office of the Supervisor of Elections. It will be available during regular business hours of the Office of the Supervisor of Elections, 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., following the issuance of vote-by-mail ballots, through the deadline for delivering vote-by-mail ballots, for each respective election in 2022.
659	463-57	Lafayette	Travis Hart	July 27, 2021	Should the Florida Legislature reverse course regarding drop boxes, the drop box located at the courthouse will remain as it is currently. Without a reversal, the box will be removed to reduce voter confusion. This decision will be made as soon as is practicable at the conclusion of the 2022 Legislative Session.
660	463-58	Lake	Alan Hays	July 28, 2021	The Supervisor incorporates his answer to Interrogatory No. 3 above.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 33 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
662	463-60	Lee	Tommy Doyle	July 26, 2021	There are no upcoming elections in Lee County for the remainder of 2021. The Supervisor anticipates that final decisions concerning the availability, times, and locations of drop boxes for the 2022 election cycle will be made after January 1, 2022.
651	463-49	Leon	Mark Earley	July 29, 2021	See response to Interrogatory 3.
663	463-61	Levy	Tammy Jones	Aug. 1, 2021	We had a drop box that was available 24 hours a day, located at the Supervisor of Elections office, which will most likely only be available during office hours. Final decisions regarding changes to drop box availability will not be made until after the next legislative session and all litigation is concluded.
664	463-62	Liberty	Grant Conyers	July 27, 2021	We will not make drop boxes available for 2022 elections.
665	463-63	Madison	Heath Driggers	July 29, 2021	Supervisor Driggers has not made a determination as to the total number of drop boxes that will be offered, or the days or times on which such drop boxes will be available, for 2021 or 2022 elections. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Driggers reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once such determination(s) has/have been made.
667	463-65	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Aug. 4, 2021	The dates, hours, and locations of drop boxes for the 2022 elections will be determined at least 45 days before each election.
669	463-67	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	July 26, 2021	The Supervisor incorporates his answer to Interrogatory No. 3 above.
670	463-68	Martin	Vicki Davis	July 29, 2021	SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS:

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 34 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					The SOE objects to this interrogatory as vague and unclear to the extent that the term "anticipated changes" is not defined. The SOE also objects to the interrogatory to the extent it asks the SOE to speculate about "anticipated changes" that have not yet been determined.
					ANSWER: See response to Interrogatory No. 3.
672	463-70	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Aug. 19, 2021	See Response to Interrogatory No. 3.
673	463-71	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	July 29, 2021	No changes will be made to the times and locations of drop boxes in Monroe County.
674	463-72	Nassau	Janet Adkins	July 29, 2021	This decision has not been made.
675	463-73	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	July 29, 2021	Okaloosa County will not be required to make any such changes due to the recently enacted law.
677	463-75	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Aug. 3, 2021	We will most likely be extending the drop box hours to coincide with the extended early voting hours to better meet the needs of the citizens of Okeechobee County. Final decisions regarding changes to drop box availability will not be made until after the next legislative session and all litigation is concluded.
678	463-76	Orange	Bill Cowles	Aug. 9, 2021	The Orange County SOE's Response to LWV's First Request for Production No. 34, incorporated here, are responsive to this interrogatory.
679	463-77	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	July 29, 2021	SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS: The SOE objects to this interrogatory as vague and unclear to the extent that the term "anticipated changes" is not defined. The SOE also objects to the interrogatory to the extent it asks the SOE to speculate about "anticipated changes" that have not yet been determined.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 35 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					ANSWER: No drop box location will be changed unless we add an Early Voting site. Times could differ depending on the hours and days the Early Voting is offered.
680	463-78	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Aug. 2, 2021	Please see the response to "Interrogatory No. 3" above.
681	463-79	Pasco	Brian Corley	July 27, 2021	The Supervisor incorporates his answer to Interrogatory No. 3 above.
682	463-80	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	July 15, 2021	Pinellas County intends to maintain 25 ballot drop-box locations for the 2022 primary and general elections. An agreement with the Tampa Bay Rays allowed for the use of Tropicana Field during the 2020 general election, but this location will not be used for future elections. Other locations may be moved to alternate sites due to various reasons. Ballot drop-off locations other than the Supervisor of Elections offices will not be available the Monday prior to election pursuant to Section 101.69, Florida Statutes. Additionally, some ballot drop-off locations had time restrictions during the 2020 general election due to COVID. However, to the extent possible, the hours of operation at those locations may be extended. The Supervisor will designate drop box locations and availability in accordance with the timeframe required by F.S. 101. 69(2)(b).
1599	480-72	Polk	Lori Edwards	Jan. 14, 2022	SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS: The SOE objects to this interrogatory as vague and unclear to the extent that the term "anticipated changes" is not defined. The SOE

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 36 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					also objects to the interrogatory to the extent it asks the SOE to speculate about "anticipated changes" that have not yet been determined.
				ON DENOCRACYDO	SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE: With regard to municipal elections, the SOE assists 13 municipalities in Polk County with their municipal elections each April. In April 2021, the SOE's staff installed secure vote by-mail ballot drop boxes, monitored by municipal staff, at the designated city hall for each municipality conducting an election. As a result of SB90, for the April 2022 municipal elections the SOE's office will not be providing drop boxes at the 13 city halls because early voting services are not available at those locations for the municipal elections. With regard to the 2022 general election, the SOE does not have any details of anticipated changes or know when a decision will be made on any potential
					anticipated changes.
684	463-82	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	July 27, 2021	This decision has not been made. We may possibly extend early voting days to allow for more available drop boxes.
685	463-83	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	July 20, 2021	Plans have not been determined for the 2022 election cycle.
686	463-84	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Aug. 6, 2021	We have no plans at this time to remove locations of drop boxes in 2022. Drop boxes will be available during normal business hours and during early voting dates and times at all elections offices and during early voting dates and times at early voting sites. All drop

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 37 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
					box locations will be designated at least 30 days before an election, as required by Florida statute.
687	463-85	Seminole	Chris Anderson	July 27, 2021	The Supervisor anticipates no changes to drop-box locations in Seminole County.
688	463-86	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	July 19, 2021	Drop boxes will only be available inside the Supervisor of Elections Office and at all early voting locations; only accessible during business and early voting hours. Early voting locations for the 2022 elections have yet to be determined but will be at least 30 days prior to each election.
689	463-87	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	July 29, 2021	SPECIFIC OBJECTIONS: The SOE objects to this interrogatory as vague and unclear to the extent that the term "anticipated changes" is not defined. The SOE also objects to the interrogatory to the extent it asks the SOE to speculate about "anticipated changes" that have not yet been determined.
			REFERENCE		ANSWER: See response to Interrogatory No. 3. We will no longer have 24-hour drop boxes available. At our 4 office locations the drop box hours will coincide with our regular office hours until Early Voting begins and then follows the hours of Early Voting.
690	463-88	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	July 28, 2021	This decision has not been made. We are not removing/changing any drop boxes or dates/times.
691	463-89	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	July 29, 2021	See answer to Interrogatory #3, above.
692	463-90	Taylor	Dana Southerland	July 27, 2021	This decision has not been made.
693	463-91	Union	Deborah Osborne	July 27, 2021	Drop boxes will be available the same hours as Early Voting. 8:00 am to 6:00 pm every day except Sunday 10:00 to 6:00 pm.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-4 Filed 02/26/22 Page 38 of 38

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
694	463-92	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	July 28, 2021	The information sought in this Interrogatory is unknown and has not been determined at this time.
695	463-93	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	July 28, 2021	We are still researching what will be the best way to handle drop boxes for upcoming elections.
696	463-94	Walton	Bobby Beasley	July 29, 2021	Previously-offered drop boxes will be continued in accordance with the law, as it stands today. Any changes in locations and dates and times are subject to when and where the designated early voting sites will be in operation.
697	463-95	Washington	Carol Rudd	July 28, 2021	See the response to #3, above.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

LAUREL M. LEE, in her official capacity as Florida Secretary of State, et al.,

Defendants,

and

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, and NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE,

Intervenor-Defendants.

Case No.: 4:21-cv-186-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-187-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-201-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-242-MW/MAF

(consolidated for trial)

COMPILATION OF SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS' RESPONSES AND OBJECTIONS TO THE *NAACP* PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION NOS. 1 AND 8

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the NAACP Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 1

Request for Admission No. 1: Admit that You did not detect, or receive reports of, any tampering or voter fraud involving Drop Boxes, including 24/7 Drop Boxes, in Your county in connection with the 2020 general election.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
882	464-14	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit.
883	464-15	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
884	464-16	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
885	464-17	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
886	464-18	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
887	464-19	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
888	464-20	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2921	Admit.
889	464-21	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
890	464-22	Citrus	Maureen Baird	Oct 21, 2021	Admitted.
891	464-23	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
892	464-24	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
893	464-25	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
894	464-26	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
895	464-27	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
896	464-28	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
897	464-29	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit
898	464-30	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
899	464-31	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
900	464-32	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
901	464-33	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

¹ The response dates in this document refer to the date of service or the date of verification, whichever is earlier.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 4 of 10

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
902	464-34	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
903	464-35	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
904	464-36	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
905	464-37	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
906	464-38	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
907	464-39	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
908	464-40	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
909	464-41	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
910	464-42	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
911	464-43	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
912	464-44	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct 22, 2021	Admit.
913	464-45	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
914	464-46	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
915	464-47	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
916	464-48	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
917	464-49	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
918	464-50	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
919	464-51	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
920	464-52	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
921	464-53	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
922	464-54	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
923	464-55	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 5 of 10

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
924	464-56	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, in part. However, with respect to 24/7 Drop Boxes, this request is inapplicable to Supervisor White because Miami-Dade County did not offer 24/7 Drop Boxes during the 2020 General Election.
925	464-57	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
926	464-58	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
927	464-59	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, although the Supervisor does not have 24/7 drop boxes.
928	464-60	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
929	464-61	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
930	464-62	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
931	464-63	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
932	464-64	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
933	464-65	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
934	464-66	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
935	464-67	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
936	464-68	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
937	464-69	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Oct. 6, 2021	Admitted.
938	464-70	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	Denied that Seminole County offered 24/7 Drop Boxes during the 2020 general election. Otherwise, admitted.
939	464-71	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
940	464-72	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
941	464-73	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
942	464-74	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 6 of 10

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the NAACP Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 1

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
943	464-75	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
944	464-76	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
945	464-77	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
946	464-78	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
947	464-79	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
948	464-80	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

RETRIEVED FROM DEMOCRACYDOCKET.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 7 of 10

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the NAACP Plaintiffs' Request for Admission No. 8

<u>Request for Admission No. 8</u>: Admit that, in Your county, Monitoring of Drop Boxes was sufficient to ensure the integrity of the 2020 general election with respect to vote-by-mail ballots deposited in Drop Boxes in Your county in the 2020 general election.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
882	464-14	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	Oct. 14, 2021	Admit.
883	464-15	Baker	Chris Milton	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
884	464-16	Bay	Mark Andersen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
885	464-17	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
886	464-18	Brevard	Lori Scott	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
887	464-19	Broward	Joe Scott	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
888	464-20	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
889	464-21	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted. All drop boxes were located in voting locations and our Main Office.
890	464-22	Citrus	Paul A. Stamoulis Maureen Baird	Oct. 21, 2021	Objection; vague and ambiguous as to the phrase "sufficient to ensure the integrity" as used in this context. Notwithstanding this objection, admitted that to my knowledge the election, including the use of drop boxes, was held in accordance with applicable state law and there were no known security breaches.
891	464-23	Clay	Chris Chambless	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
892	464-24	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
893	464-25	Columbia	Tomi Brown	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
894	464-26	DeSoto	Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
895	464-27	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
896	464-28	Duval	Mike Hogan	Oct. 27, 2021	Admitted.
897	464-29	Escambia	David H. Stafford	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 8 of 10

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
898	464-30	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
899	464-31	Franklin	Heather Riley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
900	464-32	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
901	464-33	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
902	464-34	Glades	Aletris Farnam	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
903	464-35	Gulf	John Hanlon	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
904	464-36	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
905	464-37	Hardee	Diane Smith	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
906	464-38	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
907	464-39	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
908	464-40	Highlands	Penny Ogg	Oct 22, 2021	Admitted.
909	464-41	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
910	464-42	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
911	464-43	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
912	464-44	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
913	464-45	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
914	464-46	Lafayette	Travis Hart	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
915	464-47	Lake	Alan Hays	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
916	464-48	Lee	Tommy Doyle	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
917	464-49	Leon	Mark Earley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
918	464-50	Levy	Tammy Jones	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
919	464-51	Liberty	Grant Conyers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
920	464-52	Madison	Heath Driggers	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 9 of 10

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
921	464-53	Manatee	Michael Bennett	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
922	464-54	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
923	464-55	Martin	Vicki Davis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
924	464-56	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted, in part. Supervisor White admits that she did not report any irregularities to the Board of County Commissioners with respect to vote-by-mail ballots deposited in Drop Boxes in Miami-Dade County during the 2020 General Election. However, after reasonable inquiry of the information that she knows or can readily obtain, Supervisor White is unable to admit or deny whether the Monitoring of Drop Boxes, as defined in this Request for Admission, was "sufficient to ensure the integrity of the 2020 General Election" because that phrase is ambiguous and subjective.
925	464-57	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
926	464-58	Nassau	Janet Adkins	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
927	464-59	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
928	464-60	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
929	464-61	Orange	Bill Cowles	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
930	464-62	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
931	464-63	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
932	464-64	Pasco	Brian Corley	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
933	464-65	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	Oct. 21, 2021	Admit.
934	464-66	Polk	Lori Edwards	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
935	464-67	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
936	464-68	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-5 Filed 02/26/22 Page 10 of 10

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date	Response
937	464-69	Sarasota	Ron Turner	Oct. 6, 2021	Admitted.
938	464-70	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Oct. 21, 2021	Admitted.
939	464-71	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
940	464-72	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
941	464-73	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
942	464-74	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
943	464-75	Taylor	Dana Southerland	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
944	464-76	Union	Deborah Osborne	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
945	464-77	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Oct. 22, 2021	Admitted.
946	464-78	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
947	464-79	Walton	Bobby Beasley	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.
948	464-80	Washington	Carol Rudd	Oct. 22, 2021	Admit.

APPENDIX F

ARPENDIX P

ARETRIEVED FROM DEMOCRACY TO CHEET PROPERTY OF THE PRO

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

LAUREL M. LEE, in her official capacity as Florida Secretary of State, et al.,

Defendants,

and

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, and NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE,

Intervenor-Defendants.

Case No.: 4:21-cv-186-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-187-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-201-MW/MAF 4:21-cv-242-MW/MAF

(consolidated for trial)

COMPILATION OF SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS' RESPONSES AND OBJECTIONS TO THE *NAACP* PLAINTIFFS' INTERROGATORY NO. 13

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 3 of 11

Supervisors of Elections' Responses and Objections to the NAACP Plaintiffs' Interrogatory No. 13

<u>Interrogatory No. 13</u>: Identify the maximum number of locations in Your County where, under the terms of SB 90, a drop box may be placed that could be open outside of early voting hours.

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
949	464-81	Alachua	Kim A. Barton	July 28, 2021	Supervisor of Elections Office - 515 N Main St, Gainesville, FL 32601
950	464-82	Baker	Chris Milton	July 21, 2021	At this time, the only location that a drop box can be placed that could feasibly be open outside of early voting hours is at the Supervisor of Elections Office.
951	464-83	Bay	Mark Andersen	July 21, 2021	No specific plans for 2021 have been completed at this time.
952	464-84	Bradford	Amanda Seyfang	July 19, 2021	I'm not sure. I believe 1 location (SOE office)
953	464-85	Brevard	Lori Scott	July 29, 2021	Lori Scott objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90.
			JED FIX		Subject to and without waiving this objection, such is undetermined at this time.
955	464-87	Broward	Joe Scott	July 16, 2021	There are potentially an infinite number of locations in Broward County where a drop box may be placed that could be open outside of early voting hours, dependent on the number of "permanent offices" of the Broward County Supervisor of Elections. At this time, there are two such offices, with an additional four "permanent offices" to be opened shortly at Broward County libraries. In addition, the Broward County Supervisor of Elections is in the process of

¹ The response dates in this document refer to the date of service or the date of verification, whichever is earlier.

1

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 4 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					securing additional satellite sites for such "permanent offices."
956	464-91	Calhoun	Sharon Chason	July 21, 2021	One
957	464-92	Charlotte	Paul A. Stamoulis	July 15, 2021	Three. The Supervisor has one main office and two permanent branch offices.
958	464-93	Citrus	Maureen Baird	August 6, 2021	Supervisor Baird has not, yet, analyzed this issue.
960	464-95	Clay	Chris Chambless	July 16, 2021	One, the SOE's main office during business hours.
962	464-97	Collier	Jennifer Edwards	July 14, 2021	Two. The Supervisor has one main office and one permanent branch office.
963	464-98	Columbia	Tomi Brown	July 15, 2021	Two.
965	464-100	DeSoto	Tomi Brown Mark Negley	Oct. 22, 2021	Mark Negley objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, Supervisor Negley presently does not know the answer to this Interrogatory. However, regarding the use of drop boxes in elections in 2022, Supervisor Negley currently anticipates offering the same indoor drop box as used in the 2020 elections, at the same location and during the same days and hours. He also anticipates using the same methods of securing, supervising, and monitoring the indoor drop box. Supervisor Negley also anticipates offering a second indoor drop box, in the lobby of the County Administration Building, 201 E. Oak Street, Arcadia, FL 34266, during early voting days and hours. He anticipates securing, supervising, and monitoring this second indoor drop box through the

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					use of in-person poll workers. Supervisor Negley currently anticipates that he will not offer the outdoor drop box that was used in the 2020 general election. In accordance with FED. R. CIV. P. 26(e), Supervisor Negley reserves the right to supplement this interrogatory answer once any additional determination(s) has/have been made.
966	464-101	Dixie	Starlet Cannon	July 26, 2021	None.
968	464-103	Duval	Mike Hogan	July 21, 2021	This has not been determined yet.
970	464-105	Escambia	David H. Stafford	July 19, 2021	One location - at our office.
971	464-106	Flagler	Kaiti Lenhart	July 28, 2021	Kaiti Lenhart objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, one.
972	464-107	Franklin	Heather Riley	July 21, 2021	Two locations. Our main office and our branch office.
973	464-108	Gadsden	Shirley Green Knight	July 26, 2021	One.
974	464-109	Gilchrist	Connie Sanchez	Aug. 2, 2021	Connie Sanchez objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, Supervisor Sanchez presently does not know the
07.6	464 111	C1 1	A1 T	T 1 10 2021	answer to this Interrogatory.
976	464-111	Glades	Aletris Farnam	July 19, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
977	464-112	Gulf	John Hanlon	July 27, 2021	John Hanlon objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90.

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 6 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					Subject to and without waiving this objection, Supervisor Hanlon presently does not know the answer to this Interrogatory.
978	464-113	Hamilton	Laura Hutto	July 22, 2021	None
979	464-114	Hardee	Diane Smith	Aug. 3, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
981	464-116	Hendry	Brenda Hoots	July 19, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
982	464-117	Hernando	Shirley Anderson	July 13, 2021	The Hernando County Supervisor of Elections' Office is unable to formulate a response to this interrogatory.
985	464-120	Highlands	Penny Ogg	July 30, 2021	Penny Ogg objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, the only location outside Early Voting times would be
			WED FRE		our main office at 580 S. Commerce Ave., Sebring, FL.
986	464-121	Hillsborough	Craig Latimer	July 20, 2021	Fred B. Karl County Center 601 E. Kennedy Blvd., 16th Floor Tampa, FL 33602 Tel: (813) 272-5850 Fax: (813) 272-7043
					Robert L. Gilder Elections Service Center 2514 North Falkenburg Rd. Tampa, FL 33619 Tel: (813) 744-5900 Fax: (813) 744-5843

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 7 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					Northwest Regional Office 4575 Gunn Hwy. Tampa, FL 33624 Southeast Regional Office 10020 South U.S. Hwy. 301 Riverview, FL 33578
989	464-124	Holmes	Therisa Meadows	July 19, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
990	464-125	Indian River	Leslie Rossway Swan	July 12, 2021	One. The Supervisor has one main office and no permanent branch offices.
991	464-126	Jackson	Carol Dunaway	July 26, 2021	Zero.
992	464-127	Jefferson	Marty Bishop (ret.)/ Justin "Tyler" McNeill		Marty Bishop objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, Supervisor Bishop presently does not know the answer to this Interrogatory. However, he does not anticipate providing a drop box at any additional locations in future elections.
993	464-128	Lafayette	Travis Hart	July 22, 2021	1
994	464-129	Lake	Alan Hays	July 12, 2021	One. The Supervisor has one main office and no permanent branch offices.
995	464-130	Lee	Tommy Doyle	July 16, 2021	Four. The Supervisor has one main office and three permanent branch offices.
984	464-119	Leon	Mark Earley	July 16, 2021	One. We already maintain a drop box at the one location where a drop box could be located outside

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 8 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					of early voting hours – the Leon County Elections Center.
997	464-132	Levy	Tammy Jones	July 19, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
998	464-133	Liberty	Grant Conyers	July 21, 2021	0.
999	464-134	Madison	Heath Driggers	July 29, 2021	Heath Driggers objects to this request as it seeks pure legal opinions and legal conclusions regarding SB 90. Subject to and without waiving this objection, none.
1000	465-1	Manatee	Michael Bennett	July 16, 2021	One. The Supervisor has one main office and no permanent branch offices.
1001	465-2	Marion	Wesley Wilcox	July 15, 2021	One, provided that the drop box is continuously monitored in person by an employee of the Supervisor's office when the drop box is accessible for deposit of ballots. (The Supervisor has one main office and no permanent branch offices.)
1002	465-3	Martin	Vicki Davis	July 16, 2021	One – the Martin County Elections Office located at 135 SE Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd. Stuart, FL 34994.
1005	465-6	Miami-Dade	Christina White	Aug. 19, 2021	2.
1006	465-7	Monroe	Joyce Griffin	July 14, 2021	Three. The Supervisor has one main office and two permanent branch offices.
1007	465-8	Nassau	Janet Adkins	July 26, 2021	Potentially two at this time.
1008	465-9	Okaloosa	Paul A. Lux	July 28, 2021	Two.
1010	465-11	Okeechobee	Melissa Arnold	July 19, 2021	This has not yet been determined.
1011	465-12	Orange	Bill Cowles	July 29, 2021	Pursuant to Section 101.69(2)(a), Florida Statutes, the number of locations in Orange County would be one: The Orange County Supervisor of Elections

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 9 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					Office located at 119 West Kaley Street in Orlando, Florida 32806.
1012	465-13	Osceola	Mary Jane Arrington	July 16, 2021	We only have one office, therefore, there is only one location where a drop box may be placed that could be open outside of early voting hours, and that is the office of the Supervisor of Elections.
1015	465-16	Palm Beach	Wendy Sartory Link	Aug. 19, 2021	Four, one at each SOE Office: 1. MAIN OFFICE, 240 South Military Trail, West Palm Beach, FL 33415
				(MOCRACTOO	2. NORTH COUNTY BRANCH OFFICE, Northeast County Courthouse, 3188 P.G.A. Blvd., Rm. #2401, Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410
			RELIEVED FROM		3. SOUTH COUNTY BRANCH OFFICE, Southeast PBC Administrative Complex, 345 South Congress Avenue, Rm. #103, Delray Beach, FL 33445
			AETH CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERT		4. WEST COUNTY BRANCH OFFICE, West County Office Building, 2976 State Road #15, Second Floor, Belle Glade, FL 33430
1019	465-20	Pasco	Brian Corley	July 13, 2021	Three. The Supervisor has one main office and two permanent branch offices.
1020	465-21	Pinellas	Julie Marcus	July 15, 2021	Pursuant to Section 101.69, Florida Statutes, ballot drop off will be available at our three election offices:
					Election Service Center

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 10 of 11

Exhibit No.	ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
					13001 Starkey Rd
					Largo, FL 33773
					Pinellas County Court House
					315 Court St, Room 117
					Clearwater, FL 33756
					County Building
					590 First Avenue North
				>,	St. Petersburg, FL 33701
1022	465-23	Polk	Lori Edwards	July 16, 2021	Two.
1024	465-25	Putnam	Charles Overturf, III	July 26, 2021	None, other than the SOE office counter.
1025	465-26	Santa Rosa	Tappie Villane	July 16, 2021	Zero
1028	465-29	Sarasota	Ron Turner	July 13, 2021	Drop boxes at the three Sarasota County elections
				Or	offices (inside and outside locations) may be open
1020	165.20	Seminole	Chris Anderson	Index 15, 2021	outside of early voting hours.
1029	465-30	Seminole	Chris Anderson	July 15, 2021	One. The Supervisor has one main office and no permanent branch offices.
1030	465-31	St. Johns	Vicky Oakes	July 12, 2021	One – Supervisor of Elections Office 4455 Avenue
			2×		A, Suite 101, St. Augustine, FL 32095.
1031	465-32	St. Lucie	Gertrude Walker	July 16, 2021	The Four Supervisors of Elections Offices:
					Orange Blossom Business Center
					4132 Okeechobee Road, Fort Pierce, FL 34947
					St. Lucie West South County Annex
					250 NW Country Club Dr., Port St. Lucie, Florida 34986
					Walton Road County Administration Annex
					1664 SE Walton Road, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34952

Case 4:21-cv-00186-MW-MAF Document 652-6 Filed 02/26/22 Page 11 of 11

ECF No.	County	Supervisor of Elections	Response Date ¹	Response
				Tradition/Tax Collectors Office 10264 SW Village Parkway, Port St. Lucie, FL 34987
465-35	Sumter	William "Bill" Keen	July 7, 2021	We have two drop boxes located at our main office and at our annex office. These are available during our hours of operation.
465-36	Suwannee	Jennifer Kinsey	July 21, 2021	Suwannee County will have a drop box in the Elections Office during regular office hours once Vote By Mail ballots start going out to voters.
465-37	Taylor	Dana Southerland	July 23, 2021	There are no additional sites.
465-38	Union	Deborah Osborne	July 21, 2921	One location, our office located at 175 W Main St, Lake Butler, FL 32054.
465-39– 465-40	Volusia	Lisa Lewis	Aug. 5, 2021	One location – Supervisor of Elections, 1750 S. Woodland Blvd., DeLand, Florida 32720.
465-45	Wakulla	Joe Morgan	July 22, 2021	0.
465-46	Walton	Bobby Beasley	July 19, 2021	The 2 SOE office locations, detailed above.
465-47	Washington	Carol Rudd	July 26, 2021	Unknown at present. There are 2-3 potential locations for drop boxes that are being evaluated for 2022.
	No. 465-35 465-36 465-37 465-38 465-39 465-40 465-45 465-46	No. County 465-35 Sumter 465-36 Suwannee 465-37 Taylor 465-38 Union 465-39-465-40 Volusia 465-45 Wakulla 465-46 Walton	No. County Elections 465-35 Sumter William "Bill" Keen 465-36 Suwannee Jennifer Kinsey 465-37 Taylor Dana Southerland 465-38 Union Deborah Osborne 465-39 Volusia Lisa Lewis 465-40 Wakulla Joe Morgan 465-46 Walton Bobby Beasley	No. County Elections Response Date 465-35 Sumter William "Bill" Keen July 7, 2021 465-36 Suwannee Jennifer Kinsey July 21, 2021 465-37 Taylor Dana Southerland July 23, 2021 465-38 Union Deborah Osborne July 21, 2021 465-39- 465-40 Volusia Lisa Lewis Aug. 5, 2021 465-45 Wakulla Joe Morgan July 22, 2021 465-46 Walton Bobby Beasley July 19, 2021

APPENDIX G

	Amendments that Would Have Made It Easier to Vote by Mail						
Exhibit #	Barcode	Date/Chamber	Sponsor	Amendment Summary			
446 (ECF	211540	2/16 Senate	Sen. Lori Berman	Returns to 2-cycle application for			
461-55)			(Democrat)	VBM			
447 (ECF	823918	2/16 Senate	Sen. Tina Scott Polsky	Permanent VBM upon request			
461-56)			(Democrat)				
454 (ECF	588080	3/10 Senate	Sen. Victor Torres	Permanent VBM upon request			
461-63)			(Democrat)				
455 (ECF	924624	3/10 Senate	Sen. Victor Torres	Grandfathered previous VBM			
461-64)			(Democrat)	requests for 2 cycles			
473 (ECF	284554	4/14 Senate	Sen. Gary Farmer	Allows SOEs to send out VBM request			
461-82)			(Democrat)	forms to voters who haven't applied			
501 (ECF	137780	4/22 Senate	Sen. Janet Cruz	Free postage on VBM			
462-2)			(Democrat)				
512 (ECF	125891	4/27 House	Rep. Susan Valdés	Allows voters to request future VBM			
462-13)			(Democrat)	by checking a box on envelope			
513 (ECF	455989	4/27 House	Rep. Omari Hardy	Allows in-person or telephone			
462-14)			(Democrat)	request for VBM by name, address,			
			_(and DOB			

	Amer	dments that Wo	uld Have Made It Easier	to Register to Vote
Exhibit #	Barcode	Date/Chamber	Sponsor	Amendment Summary
470 (ECF	940740	4/14 Senate	Sen. Perry Thurston	Same-day registration, election day
461-79)			(D)	holiday, out-of-precinct voting,
				receipt of VBM up to 10 days after
				election, last four digits of SSN
				substitute for signature on VBM, no
				polling places in gated communities
471 (ECF	937796	4/14 Senate	Sen. Gary Farmer	Allows registration with last four
461-80)			(Democrat)	digits of SSN, DHSMV not required to
				inform SOS of address change
476 (ECF	139050	4/14 Senate	Sen. Jeff Brandes	If a voter updates address at DHSMV,
461-85)			(Republican)	her voter registration is updated
490 (ECF	832704	4/22 Senate	Sen. Shevrin Jones	Pre-register 16-year-olds at school
461-99)			(Democrat)	
491 (ECF	869250	4/22 Senate	Sen. Jeff Brandes	Electronic signature okay for online
461-100)			(Republican)	registration
492 (ECF	471674	4/22 Senate	Sen. Annette Taddeo	Opt-out on change of registration
461-101)			(Democrat)	address if changing registration on
				driver's license
493 (ECF	868964	4/22 Senate	Sen. Lori Berman	Opt-out on application for driver's
461-102)			(Democrat)	license, ID card, or change of address
			CPJ	at DHSMV; DHSMV to transmit voter
			NO	information to DOS
494 (ECF	218458	4/22 Senate	Sen. Jeff Brandes	If a voter updates address at DHSMV,
461-103)			(Republican)	her voter registration is updated
510 (ECF	193657	4/27 House	Rep. Geraldine	Same-day registration
462-11)		K	Thompson	
			(Democrat)	
531 (ECF	258551	4/29 House	Rep. Geraldine	Same day registration with utility bill;
462-32)		5×	Thompson	automatic registration at age 18
			(Democrat)	unless opt out

	Amer	ndments that Wo	uld Have Made It Easier	to Use Drop Boxes
Exhibit #	Barcode	Date/Chamber	Sponsor	Amendment Summary
500 (ECF	297608	4/22 Senate	Sen. Jeff Brandes	24 hour drop boxes at SOE office with
462-1)			(Republican)	video surveillance
504 (ECF	471968	4/22 Senate	Sen. Shevrin Jones	Allows SOEs to assign drop boxes
462-5)			(Democrat)	closer than 30 days before election
505 (ECF	257964	4/22 Senate	Sen. Lori Berman	Eliminates \$25K penalty for SOEs not
462-6)			(Democrat)	having personal supervision of drop
				boxes
516 (ECF	812997	4/27 House	Rep. Travaris	Authorizes depositing ballot at drop
462-17)			McCurdy (Democrat)	box with 12 valid photo IDs, not
				attestation form
517 (ECF	540673	4/27 House	Rep. Tracie Davis	Allows SOEs to put drop boxes
462-18)			(Democrat)	outside of location and hours in
				emergency
518 (ECF	776895	4/27 House	Rep. Dotie Joseph	Drop boxes could be open 24 hours
462-19)			(Democrat)	with video surveillance
519 (ECF	96099	4/27 House	Rep. Yvonne Hinson	Appropriated \$150/day for an
462-20)			(Democrat)	employee to man a drop box for
				\$10/hour
520 (ECF	119951	4/27 House	Rep. Robin	Removes the ID, attestation, and
462-21)			Bartleman	declaration requirement from drop
		,	(Democrat)	box
521 (ECF	118365	4/27 House	Rep. Robin	Removes the declaration form from
462-22)			Bartleman	the drop box
			(Democrat)	
535 (ECF	190169	4/29 House	Rep. Michele Rayner	Removes \$25K penalty for SOEs for
462-36)			(Democrat)	drop boxes
542 (ECF	526688	4/29 Senate	Sen. Bobby Powell	Allow 24-hour drop boxes with video
462-36)			(Democrat)	surveillance
453 (ECF	537504	4/29 Senate	Sen. Bobby Powell	Allow drop boxes at SOE discretion
462-44)			(Democrat)	during emergencies

Amendn	Amendments that Would Have Made It Easier to Offer In-Person Assistance to Voters in Line						
Exhibit #	Barcode	Date/Chamber	Sponsor	Amendment Summary			
474 (ECF	742050	4/14 Senate	Sen. Gary Farmer (D)	Allows non-officials to hand out			
461-83)			(Democrat)	water, food to people in line			
475 (ECF	153722	4/14 Senate	Sen. Gary Farmer (D)	Allows non-candidates to reach out			
461-84)			(Democrat)	to voters outside solicitation zone			
536 (ECF	710189	4/29 House	Rep. Anna Eskamani	Allows civic orgs and nonprofits to			
462-37)			(Democrat)	offer water and food to people in line			

RETRIEVED FROM DEMOCRACYDOCKET, COM

APPENDIX H

	Success of the 2020 Election in Florida					
Exhibit Number	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)			
445 (ECF 461-54)	2:15-18	Secretary Laurel Lee	"It certainly was our objective, the supervisors in the Department of State, that Florida have an election that ran as smoothly as possible and inspired confidence on the part of Florida's voters."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	2:4-7	Sen. Baxley (Republican)	"I want to start by thanking you for an exceptional election process this year along with all of the supervisors of elections and the many, many people that are involved in working with them to accomplish that."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	30:5-7	Sen. Baxley (Republican)	"We have a very high customer satisfaction rate right now with Floridians on how the election was run."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	19:9-22	Sen. Annette Taddeo (Democrat); Secretary Laurel Lee	Sen. Taddeo: "We had a smooth election. What do you think were the challenges and the reasons why, unlike other states, we were able to do that?" Secretary Lee: "We were far more prepared in advance than we had ever been for a prior election. That was very important. Our elections code also works very well. It is evident that our legislature has thought critically and extensively about a functional election code. It was adaptable enough to accommodate voters' voting preferences, provided voters with options."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	43:18-19	Sen. Baxley (Republican)	"Vote-by-mail was a success. It was operated successfully."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	89:10-14	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"I haven't seen any valid reason why we should change the law. It's kind of if it ain't broke, don't fix it. We've heard from Laurel Lee that the system works. We did try and change it nine years ago and then we went back to where we have it now. It's going to be expensive to do."			
445 (ECF 461-54)	37:15-17	Supervisor of Elections (Leon County) Mark Earley	"I think one of the key successes, as the secretary stated, for 2020 and one of the key reasons for our success was truly the flexibility of the election laws in Florida."			
425 (ECF 461-34)	9:3-5	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	"What I would say is, now is the time we had an excellent, excellent conducted election, and very high credibility."			
425 (ECF 461-34)	15:18-22	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat)	"Just a few months ago, back in November, the Governor hailed Florida selection as a model for the rest of the country. And I agreed with him on that. I thought we did a really good job with how we handled the elections."			
425 (ECF 461-34)	44:12-14	Sen. John Gruters (Republican)	"My own personal supervisor, Ron Turner who does an amazing job in Sarasota, and all 67 supervisors did an amazing job and we are the gold standard here in Florida."			

426 (ECF	2:22-25	Rep. Blaise	"Last election cycle, Florida administered one of the
461-35)		Ingoglia	smoothest elections, and it was heralded as a standard on
		(Republican)	how elections should be run across the United States."
426 (ECF	34:13-22	Rep. Susan	"I mean, this was an amazing election cycle that we had in
461-35)		Valdés	the State of Florida. Why all of these changes when we
,		(Democrat)	have we didn't I don't think that we have a problem to
			fix. Why all of these changes? Was there anything around
			the State of Florida that prompted this to come up? I mean,
			help me understand. Because we've been praised
			nationally over our elections this past year. I don't get it."
426 (ECF	35:12-	Rep. Blaise	"But then there are other problems that happened in other
461-35)	36:16	Ingoglia	states that we recognized. And just because we've seen it in
401-33)	30.10	(Republican)	other states, and we do not have something in law to
		(Republican)	prevent some of that, does not mean that it's not good
			policy and we shouldn't attack it now.
			We should never always have to well for a graphless to accom-
			We should never always have to wait for a problem to occur
			to head off that problem. So, to go with what happened in
			the State of Florida, we authorized drop boxes in the 2019
			legislation. And I will tell you that there were a myriad, a
			number of Supervisors of Elections, that did not follow the
			intent of the lawSo the intent of the law was to have the
			drop boxes manned at all the time all times."
426 (ECF	67:15-	Rep. Tracie	"Drop boxes. Again, you started off in your summary saying
461-35)	68:5	Davis	this was this I wrote it down twice. This was the
		(Democrat)	smoothest selection that Florida had. And I agree with you.
			So now the question goes to drop boxes. You authored the
		W.	drop box narrative in the last piece of election last year,
		PIL	actually using a piece of legislation that I created when I first
		05/	got here to vote by taking a voted ballot to the early voting
			site, and you, Rep. Ingoglia, added the drop boxes, which
			turned out to be great.
			So now my question to you is why so much narrow
			supervision? Why are we instituting you said your intent
			was to make sure it was manned by a person, right? Why so
			much security with the drop boxes at
			this point?"
426 (ECF	106:22-	Rep. David	To the representative, I'd like to thank you for the work that
461-35)	103:5	Smith	you led us on in 2019 in the legislation that was passed
		(Republican)	which I believe paved the way for probably the smoothest
		, , ,	election cycle we've ever seen in 2020. Many other
			members have mentioned that today. I think we could do
			nothing and still be fine.
1	1	L.	5

426 (ECF 461-35)	111:4-9	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"I've heard you say over and over today, this is the smoothest election that Florida had, smoothest election in Florida. I absolutely agree. Our Governor also touted the 2020 elections were great as well, that the SOEs did an awesome job ensuring Floridians had a safe, secure and accurate elections."
426 (ECF 461-35)	112:10-18	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"I've heard it over and over and over again today. That's what we're talking about here. We're not talking about the public crisis that we're going through. We're not talking about the unemployment system that's been broken since March. We're not talking about any of that. We're talking about changing, securing one of the smoothest elections we've had in Florida, but we still have no idea of what it's going to cost us."
427 (ECF 461-36)	2:9-11	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"Members, the last election cycle, Florida administered one of the smoothest elections and was praised as a model for how elections should be run."
427 (ECF 461-36)	51:14-19	Rep. Ben Diamond (Democrat)	"And just generally I want to state for the record that, you know, as the Representative [Ingoglia] said in his introduction, we just completed the most successful election in the history of our state. I think there's broad and bipartisan acknowledgement of that."
427 (ECF 461-36)	53:1-9	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"We again still have very restrictive measures in this bill. This bill is still an unfunded mandate we're spending money unnecessarily, but yet we say we ran one of the smoothest elections we've had here in Florida."
428 (ECF 461-37)	10:17-19	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Fiorida was a model for the nation in November. That's something we can all take pride in."
483 (ECF 461-92)	2:10-18	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"Members, in the last election cycle Florida administered one of the smoothest elections in the nation and praised as a model for how elections should be run. But we should use every election as opportunities to look back and identify things that we can do better. The intent of this bill is to continue Florida's successful track record of securing our vote, voter access, and election transparency. The goal is simple. Expand access to the polls while adding common sense security measures to keep our elections safe and secure."
489 (ECF 461-98)	2:12	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	"Florida was a model for the nation in November."
507 (ECF 462-8)	3:20-22	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"Dropping off a ballot was not an issue in this past election. As a matter of fact, we had one of the best elections in the country. Why do we need a bill then to fix absolutely nothing?"

507 (ECF	6:6-13	Sen. Victor	"Florida has been one of the most secure, open, and
462-8)		Torres (Democrat)	efficient election systems in the nation. After the 2000 presidential election, Florida became the laughingstock of the country with our hanging chads and a month-long recount process. After that mess, much needed reforms were made to protect our voting system. Now we are the gold standard of how to conduct elections and the envy of many states."
507 (ECF 462-8)	7:6-12	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"November 4 th our Governor DeSantis at a press conference said that Florida was able to handle 11 million ballots - a combination of in person, early voting, vote-by-mail - on Election Day and processed them in a timely way, tabulate them, and report them. He said, quote, I think that's how elections should run. So why are we looking at this bill now?"
507 (ECF	11:10-13	Sen. Loranne	"We have just experienced the most successful election
462-8)	11.10 10	Ausley	cycle in the history of our state with more people voting
		(Democrat)	than ever before. No one has suggested otherwise."
507 (ECF	13:23-	Sen. Loranne	"Frankly, our own governor went on national TV and
462-8)	14:6	Ausley	celebrated what a great election cycle we had and no issues
		(Democrat)	in Florida. So what are we trying to fix? There's nothing
			broken. If it ain't broken, don't fix it. But we're trying to fix
			something that supposedly may happen down the road.
			The excuses I heard for trying to fix our election system or
			trying to do this bill were just excuses because it's clearly
			very political and very partisan in my opinion.
507 (ECF	17:13-15	Sen. Shevrin	is true the governor and many of you even in debate
462-8)		Jones	made it clear that this was one of the most, safest and
		(Democrat)	secure elections."
507 (ECF	33:3-7	Sen. Gary	"The most transparent and efficient election in the country
462-8)		Farmer	was held in the State of Florida in 2020. Don't take my word
		(Democrat)	for it because those aren't my words. That is a verbatim
			quote from the Governor of the State of Florida."
Ex. 508	2:23-3:3	Rep. Blaise	"Members, last election cycle Florida administered one of
(ECF 462-		Ingoglia	the smoothest elections in the nation and was praised as a
9)		(Republican)	model for how elections should be run."
Ex. 508	91:18-21	Rep. Robin	"One point five million voters used the drop boxes this last
(ECF 462-		Bartleman	election cycle, 70 percent of Florida voters support the drop
9)		(Democrat)	boxes. We had a successful election here in Florida. We
F., F00	112.2.6	Dam Dalli	were the model for the country."
Ex. 508	112:2-6	Rep. Dotie	"If it ain't broke, don't fix it. You also heard in [Rep.
(ECF 462-		Joseph	Ingoglia's] opening about how wonderful our elections went
9)		(Democrat)	down this past cycle. You heard from the governor about
			what a great job we did in Florida. If it ain't broke, why are we fixing it?"

Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	112:24- 113:3	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"We've heard over and over and over again from several news outlets your governor saying, our governor saying 2020 was one of the smoothest elections we've had. I said once and I'd day it again I certainly agree."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	3:12-18	Rep. Ben Diamond (Democrat)	"We have in this state a very successful, and effective, and fair elections process. It's a process that we believe in. Based on elected supervisors of elections and canvassing boards with judges, a process with oversight and security. By every metric I can look at that is objective, that process with our election system has worked well especially in this last election."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	5:1	Rep. Ben Diamond (Democrat)	"Our elections are safe. Our elections are secure."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	7:3-9	Rep. Michael Gottlieb (Democrat)	"Members, this last election cycle I had the privilege of working for the Biden campaign at the Broward Supervisor of Elections where I worked daily hand-in-hand with the representatives from the Trump campaign. What I can tell you is we did not see election fraud. We did not see election fraud that necessitates a model legislation, which is what this is."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	8:23-9:2	Rep. Michael Gottlieb (Democrat)	"What's more troubling, and we've said it before and it was said in the opening on this legislation, is that Florida was the model of elections integrity. Yet we're now implementing new unproven measures to allegedly improve on perfection."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	8:21-24	Rep. Dianne Hart (Democrat)	Why do we think there's a need to fix something that is not broken? The former president, governor, and many of you have said this was one of the most secure and safe elections ever."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	10:20-24	Rep_Ralph Massullo (Republican)	"It's been said that the last election was perhaps one of the most secure that we've seen in Florida. Certainly, when we compare our elections in Florida with other states, you'll see Florida has done a wonderful job."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	16:19-23	Rep. Carlos Smith (Democrat)	"Why are we doing this? Well, the supporters of the bill continue repeating we have the smoothest election in the country. We found zero cases of voter fraud. So what's the problem that we're trying to fix? Oh, here's the problem. Florida Democrats cast 600,000 more vote-by-mail ballots in Florida."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	18:22- 19:3	Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	"Perhaps [Gov. DeSantis] said shortly after the election 2020 was the year we finally vanquished <i>Bush v. Gore</i> . He said if the third most populous state in the country can count 11 million votes, produce a result across the board, why can't some 1 of these other states that are much smaller do that? We're not here because we have a problem with our elections."

Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	24:4-7	Rep. Michael Grieco (Democrat)	"And after the most secure election in American history, one in which Florida outperformed the rest of the country, we are now apparently in need to question the integrity of our own great work."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	29:8-12	Rep. Ramon Alexander (Democrat)	"Whether you call it vote by mail or absentee voting in Florida, the election system is safe and secure. Tried and true. Florida's voting system has been cleaned up. That was President Trump in August in a tweet before he was deplatformed."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	29:18-22	Rep. Ramon Alexander (Democrat)	"Governor DeSantis called our election in November the smoothest and most successful election of any state. We did it right, the governor said. A certain bill sponsor even tweeted that Florida was the shining example of efficiency instead of being the punch line."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	44:2-11	Rep. Matt Willhite (Democrat)	"So I think there are a lot of ideas but, members, I think what's concerning about this is the trend that's going on right now. It's that I think we need to fix more elections when we have heard nationwide that our elections in this last one, where 150 million people plus voted in that election - more than anywhere in the history of our country, the number of people - people say that many people couldn't have voted. They voted. It was a good and fair election. We don't need to be changing it in every single state across this nation now at this time."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	48:11-13	Rep. Travaris McCurdy (Democrat)	"[R]erorts do exist regarding Florida having one of these best elections to date as many of my colleagues have cited."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	50:15-17	Rep. Michele Rayner (Democrat)	"And this bill that was filed was filed after we had the smoothest and safest election we've ever had."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	57:1-3	Rep Anna Eskamani (Democrat)	"The good news is that our election this past year was one of the best in the country. Republican leaders said the same thing."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	64:20- 65:4	Rep. Patricia Williams (Democrat)	"We heard that our last election was one of the most smoothest election ever. We talked about the vote by mail drop box, identification requirement, additional forms need to be filled out, vote-by-mail request, number ballots that could be dropped off. All of those things deter voters. What I did not hear was what was the problem. Why are we looking for a solution and we didn't have a problem? If that was one of the most smoothest election there was, why would we need to fix it?"
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	67:11-15	Rep. Dotie Joseph (Democrat)	"When asked about the impetus of this bill, we were told that it was to expand access and to make elections more secure; yet, we also heard the bill sponsor talked about how safe and well run our elections were. We all know what the

			record turnout was not just in Florida but throughout this
			nation."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	77:8-14	Rep. Fentrice Driskell (Democrat)	"But I'm reminded that when Chair Ingoglia opened and started explaining this bill yesterday, he indicated that in 2020 we had the best election cycle that Florida had ever seen. My hat's off to the head of our Department of State, to the supervisors of elections, to their workers, to the volunteers who worked so hard to make that happen, and
			to the voters who came out in record numbers."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	79:5-11	Rep. Fentrice Driskell (Democrat)	"We led when we showed the world how to run a general election in a midst of a global pandemic. Members, that was leading. We had historic turnout because of our bipartisan supervisors of elections and because the people turned out and showed us that, in Florida, the right to vote is alive and well and people care about exercising their right to vote. Let us not now retaliate against voters with this very bad bill."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	92:13- 93:6	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"But guess what? Your governor, my governor, has said over and over again why can't these other states be more like Florida. He gave high praise to the state because they handled the tabulation and the reporting of election results in a way that inspire confidence. The way Florida did it I think inspires confidence. I think that's how election should be run. Not my words. These are the words of the governor as reported on November 20, 2020. He continued to say and to get the state to a point of being an election success story that other states want to emulate. The very own sponsor of this bill stated the election system here in Florida was a beacon of light in the United States. Does that sound like comment from people who do not believe in the current election system? No. Because I will tell you our elections here in Florida are transparent. They're safe. They're secure and they have been for many years after 2000 accessible to everyone. That's what it's all about from an election professional."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	33:14-23	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"And I reminded you of what your governor said yesterday. I reminded you of what the sponsor of this bill said yesterday. Our election system in 2020 was a beacon in the U.S. This is what the sponsor of this bill said. Now we're going back and forth this House and the Senate trying to figure out the best way we can change Florida election law in the midst of this day after the best election we just had in Florida. How do you tell voters these are not deliberate barriers? How do you tell voters we're not minimizing their access to the voting box? How do you tell voters that?"
Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	39:8-10	Rep. Joseph Geller (Democrat)	"This bill is a solution searching for a problem. There's not a problem here. We don't need to do this. We had a very good election."

Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	41:20-23	Rep. Michele Rayner (Democrat)	"Right now, in the State of Florida, this is not a pressing issue. We've had the most successful and safest elections we've ever had. Not my words. The words of the majority party. The words of the governor."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	44:12-16	Rep. Anna Eskamani (Democrat)	"Governor Ron DeSantis himself talked about how successful Florida's elections were. He had a press conference. He was celebratory. He said Florida had the best elections in the country. We bragged about it. We knew the results of Florida's elections before anyone else in the country."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	30:11-18	Sen. Tina Polsky (Democrat)	"The election went so well. There were no problems in Florida. Many of us were up that night. Our results came in quickly. And then we sat and wondered what was going on in the rest of the country. So, after something like that, we say, great. Let's move on to very important and other topics that we have, unemployment, et cetera. But we've spent a lot of time on election law. And we wonder why when everything went so well. Why are we fixing a system that is not broken?"
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	34:13-14	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"We know that our election in Florida went smoothly and our governor agreed."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	35:17-24	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"It's been stated around the country that Florida had a model election cycle. So why would we be trying to undo great? It makes little sense to do that. Certainly, if I'm confused by all of the things that are on this piece of paper, our constituents are going to be confused, too, trying to figure out what changed since the last great election we had. And why do we have to go through all these extra steps to exercise our right to vote?"
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	46:1-6	Sen. Annette Taddeo (Democrat)	"We've heard a lot about the fact that we've all celebrated what a great election we just had. Our governor celebrated. We all celebrated. And although some of us in Florida didn't like the results in Florida, we celebrated the fact that there were no issues and that the results were known."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	49:11-17	Sen. Travis Hutson (Republican)	"Members, I think the one thing we can agree on is we all agree that we had a great election. I agree we had a great election because I believe it was our governor and our supervisors that entered into these agreements through his executive orders. Right? We had a pandemic, so they had to work together in terms of getting this great election that we just had."

APPENDIX.

APPENDIX.

REFIREPED FROM DE MOCRACY TROCKÉT.

Α	bsence of Evi	dence of Fraud &	Statements that Fraud is Not the Purpose of the Bill
Exhibit Number	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)
445 (ECF 461-54)	16:6-8	Secretary Laurel Lee	"So certainly there are safeguards in place to ensure that vote-by-mail ballots are going to voters who are on the voter registration rolls."
445 (ECF 461-54)	17:2-7	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat); Secretary Laurel Lee	Sen. Berman: "In the last election, was there any instance of fraud where people received the mailed ballot and voted even though it wasn't intended for them?" Secretary Lee: "Senator, I am not personally aware of that occurring."
445 (ECF 461-54)	46:21- 47:6	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"Members, we heard from Secretary Lee that the vote-by-mail went really smoothly. There wasn't any evidence of fraud."
445 (ECF 461-54)	64:4-8	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	You mentioned one of the reasons to do this [shortening the validity of a VBM request to one year] is because of the mobility of people. People are moving. But they've always been moving. I don't get why now when it's been working and this is your reason for doing it when this has always been the case.
445 (ECF 461-54)	85:20- 86:2	Sen. Tina Scott Polsky (Democrat)	Vote-by-mail was so successful in the last election. My supervisor of elections put out vans at each voting site to collect the vote-by-mail ballots. More people went and dropped off those vote-by-mail ballots in person, then probably went to vote in person. And we had a huge turnout. Not one case of fraud that I'm aware of. I thought that was such a successful process.
445 (ECF 461-54)	87:8-16	Sen. Tina Scott Polsky (Democrat)	[Speaking about the bill's provisions on vote-by-mail] Again, as I said, moving is not an issue for the supervisors of elections to handle. They already get a lot as it is. They manage the process and there's no evidence of fraud with that process. This is not trying something new. This is going backwards. This change is already made. There was a problem. It was fixed. It was extended. And now we want to go back for absolutely no apparent reason that I can see. Unfortunately, I fear that this is going backwards for the wrong reasons. I really hope that that is not the case. So I certainly hope that my colleagues can vote down this bill.
425 (ECF 461-34)	8:23-9:3	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Torres: "So you're saying that the elimination of the drop boxes is because is there fraud with the drop boxes?" Sen. Baxley: "I don't know that I would have the evidence chain to present to you for that case."

425 (ECF 461-34)	10:3-15	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat); Sen. Dennis	Sen. Torres: "And, Senator, why are we adding requirements for vote-by-mail applications? What's the reason?"
		Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Baxley: "The only requirements I see are just procedures so that there's a clear and common procedure to follow."
425 (ECF 461-34)	15:22- 16:6	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat); Sen. Dennis	Sen. Stewart: "So my question is, have we ever had any widespread issues with voter fraud on the vote-by-mail ballots?"
		Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Baxley: "And I don't know of widespread complaints. But I'm not a person that likes to wait for a big problem."
425 (ECF 461-34)	16:24- 17:16	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Stewart: "I also have a question regarding the drop boxes. The any specific cases or anyone that is come to you and have been having great concerns that the drop boxes were never secured or safe, or they were used in some manner that might cause fraud to be existed or fraud that might seem like it could happen? we've had the Governor even admits that we've had such a great election, have you heard of any issues regarding secured drop boxes?"
			Sen. Baxley: "Well, the challenge is that you don't know what you don't know because many of these boxes were actually in places that no one was providing security over them or observing what was going on there. So we presume everything was valid."
425 (ECF 461-34)	18:4-10	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley	Sen. Stewart: "And regarding your Section 7, regarding the urgency to retroactively invalidate a voter's request for a vote-by-mail ballot before 2022 election, what was your position on putting this into the bill?"
		(Republican)	Sen. Baxley: "That's really about just fresh start. This is fresh start, everybody gets to choose, and we'll get it on a pattern."
425 (ECF 461-34)	23:22- 24:16	Supervisor of Elections (Lake County) Alan Hays	"The rule promulgated by the Division of Elections requires every drop box in the state of Florida to be monitored. To the best of my knowledge, that rule was followed to the letter in this past election.
			There have been all sorts of allegations about this or that or the other, but I have yet to see anybody who can give us concrete evidence that that rule was violated.
			I know what happened in Lake County. And here's another question, sir. Who's going to monitor the U.S. Postal Service boxes? You know, I'm sorry, but there's a dichotomy here

			that I personally cannot deal with. They're you're not going to pay for a cop to stand at the post office box, are you?
			Are you going to disallow the use of the Postal Service and require those ballots to be returned to us? I think not. I think this bill needs a lot of work."
425 (ECF 461-34)	41:8-10	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat)	"There I just don't see any need for this bill, as there has been no evidence of fraud. The only thing this bill will bring is more costly lawsuits"
426 (ECF 461-35)	109:15-24	Rep. Allison Tant (Democrat)	"And most of all, you know, we're talking about fraud, and where there's I would like to see an audit done to give evidence to this fraud. In the meanwhile, just last week, we saw headlines, you know, a former elected official who absolutely committed fraud in an election, but there's nothing in this bill that addresses that. So I'd like to see, if we're really going to talk about fraud here, I think that we've got to have real fraud that we're talking about."
427 (ECF 461-36)	2:14-19	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"The intent of this bill is to continue Florida's successful track record of securing our votes, voter access, and election transparency. The goal is simple. Expand access to the polls while adding common sense security measures to keep our election safe and secure."
427 (ECF 461-36)	10:9-17	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"But so this [the provisions relating to ID checks when returning VBM ballots] all boils down to we have plenty of safeguards when you vote in person. You have to show your ID, you get the ballot, somebody watches you put it in there, so there are plenty. There are little or no safeguards when it comes to vote-by-mail. But to your point, yes, somebody can drop it in a mailbox, and that's the way a lot of people do it now. But we can only control what we can control."
427 (ECF 461-36)	51:20-24.	Rep. Ben Diamond (Democrat)	"We had no real reports of voter irregularity. We had no reports of voter fraud. And I've been talking with my Supervisor, and I think there's some very concerning consequences of this big rewrite of our election code."
428 (ECF 461-37)	11:5-10	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	"We all lose when people have no confidence in the integrity of an election. That's what we want to avoid. It's critical that we safeguard against abuse and continue to maintain the integrity of our free and fair elections, a cornerstone of this nation's democracy.
428 (ECF 461-37)	11:11-18	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	"Voting by mail has proven to be a safe way to cast a ballot in Florida for many years. Many Floridians opted to vote by mail this past election, particularly with COVID, and millions of voters have taken advantage of this safe and simple process for more than a decade, and we're going to keep it

			that way. We don't want to backslide. We want to keep
			Florida a model for the nation."
428 (ECF 461-37)	70:1-17	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican); Sen. Audrey Gibson	Sen. Gibson: "And are they [the SOEs] did they request this bill? Why are we doing this? If they didn't request it, and we didn't and we had excellent run election last election cycle, why are we doing this bill?"
		(Democrat)	Sen. Baxley: "We are doing this bill because it becomes clear as you look across the country, that there was a lot of confusion for many people on different fronts. And it is duly cautious to work on security, and the longer different patterns of voting are around, you find out what the issues are that you should address, to make sure that you're secureI don't understand the whole suppression discussion, and voters do different things."
428 (ECF 461-37)	71:24- 72:17	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Bracy: "Senator Baxley, you keep talking about the security of the drop boxes, and how that's important, but theSupervisors of Elections Association has said there has been no vandalism whatsoever. What are you talking about, when you're talking about the security of these drop boxes, when there's been no evidence of any tampering with these drop boxes?
		WED	Sen. Baxley. "We had a lot of things happening across the country this year for whatever reasons, and many reasons, but it it just bears that it's our responsibility to secure their protection. And that's not good planning, to wait to see what goes wrong, and then say we should have fixed that, now we'll fix it."
428 (ECF 461-37)	144:12- 145:5	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat)	"Over the years that I've served in this body in the Senate and in the House, every time we talk about things that appear to some of us to be in the realm of voter suppression, it's always said that it's about fraud. We always ask, show us the fraud
			We have an opportunity now because we have investigations going on, and we could say, well, whatever happens in that investigation has nothing to do with this legislative session right here. And we're going to do what we have to do to make sure that it doesn't happen again. And we have the ability to do that.
			We're in session. We see what's going on. All we have to do is propose the legislation. I've looked at three bills that are out there that could address fraud. But see, this isn't about fraud."

428 (ECF 461-37)	73:9- 74:18	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Bracy: "So in the history of elections in this state and having drop boxes, there has never been a problem, andthe Supervisor of Elections across this state have said there are no problems, never have been, and you're saying we need to change this, because there might be a problem, when there never has been, in the history of having elections in this state of FloridaI just want to clarify that you're saying that you agree that there is not a problem" Sen. Baxley: "Substantively yeah. I that prevention is worth itI don't know what's wrong with being preventive
			so that you don't have problems."
483 (ECF 461-92)	23:13- 24:8	Rep. Dotie Joseph (Democrat); Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	Rep. Joseph: "Lines 1059, I was trying to direct your attention there where it talks about engaging in any activity with the intent to influence or effect of influencing a voter soliciting. I was wondering if we can make that a little bit more precise because it's very vague. So I'm assuming you mean to vote a particular way. But, like for example, this could technically be interpreted to say if you're even just giving out water to people standing in line, to influence them to stay in line, that could beSo I'm just trying to see if that is your intent."
		WED	Rep. Ingoglia: "We tried to be more precise in earlier versions and found that putting it this way was probably the most optimal way. Here's why. What we're saying is that the intent, it's basically campaigning. What it boils down to is if you're campaigning on line."
483 (ECF 461-92)	68:23- 69:4	Rep. Caries Guillermo Smith (Democrat)	[Representative Smith proposed an amendment to prohibit candidates from soliciting or influencing a third-party sham candidate to run.]
			"Members, we've heard a lot about the need for the underlying bill because of needing to crack down on so called voter fraud or possible future voter fraud. So this amendment will actually address the only election fraud that took place in Florida in the last cycle."
483 (ECF 461-92)	71:17- 72:5	Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	"That [third-party sham candidate] was the most notable instance of voter fraud in this last election, and that was the only instance of voter fraud to which the legislature has not saw fit to respond This is the most important instance of fraudulent behavior with respect to an election, and I think that it merits an immediate response."
483 (ECF 461-92)	72:17-23	Rep. Robin Bartleman (Democrat)	"This amendment [addressing third-party sham candidates] though is the one amendment that is addressing the only true documented case of voter fraud, where an arrest has been made, where there is a

483 (ECF 461-92)	80:13-17	Rep. Carlos Guillermo	federal indictment, where there are other investigations. And yet, when this bill – this bill has been moving through the committees, and not at one point did the sponsor of the bill say, oh, maybe I should add language to address the real fraud going on here." "Look, this bill is totally unnecessary. It's not about election integrity. Because if it was, we would have adopted my
401 32)		Smith (Democrat)	amendment to push back and finally crack down on sham candidates who actually did commit election fraud in the last election."
485	4:18-22	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"Receiving a ballot in the mail so that you have the option of voting by mail if you so choose is a good thing. It's not a bad thing. There certainly been no fraud, or abuse, or untoward practices with regard to the vote by mail."
485	5:3-11	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"Some of the provisions regarding vote-by-mail signatures and the provisions regarding what you can and cannot do at a polling place vis-à-vis what we call the solicitation provision of this bill again address issues for which there has been no showing of any wrongdoing, or fraud, or activities that question the accuracy of the vote. In fact, to the contrary, our governor called this the most transparent and efficient election we've ever had in the State of Florida. He held us up as a model for other states.
485	9:6-14	Sen. Dennis Baxley (Democrat)	"The purpose - at least for me - has always been to clarify our intent for secure, fair, and evenhanded elections To protect ballot boxes with ballots inside from being destroyed, any ballot, Republican or Democrat. To ensure, unlike other states, that a glass of water given in sincerity is not a violation of the law."
489 (ECF 461-98)	62:12-16	Sen. Fowell (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Powell: "[T]he officials in charge of the Florida's elections report suspected fraud happens only 0.0001 percent of the time. Would you say that's correct?" Sen. Baxley: "I'm not aware of that."
489 (ECF 461-98)	64:5-10	Sen. Powell (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Powell: "Senator Baxley, do you believe that there was vote-by-mail fraud in the last election?" Sen. Baxley: "That's not the purpose of our bill. It's not in the bill, and I don't really have the answer to that question either."
489 (ECF 461-98)	71:10-22	Sen. Tina Polsky (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Polsky: "When you say ballot harvesting that implies fraud, can you point to any examples of fraudulent ballot gathering or changing of ballots that occurred in the last election that prompted this change in law?"

			Sen. Dennis Baxley: "I don't have specific material. I'm not trying to build a case on it I want easy to vote, hard to cheat, and full participation."
489 (ECF 461-98)	73:15- 74:2	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Thurston: "[W]hen you were talking about the drop boxes, you said you wanted to protect it from someone doing something or vandalizing Was there somewhere in some parts of the state in this last election where that was a problem?" Sen. Baxley: "Look, anytime you get those stories, you don't have the whole fact pattern. So I don't carry those around or share them by name and place. But 1 I assure
489 (ECF	74:15-20	Sen. Perry	you, that is a regular phenomenon that happens." [Continuing the above exchange]
461-98)	74.15-20	Thurston (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Thurston: "But is there one county that you think I can just inquire and say, well, tell me that you had an issue?" Sen. Baxley: "No sir, I wouldn't launch that kind of pursuit."
489 (ECF 461-98)	85:22- 86:6	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat); Sen. Jim Boyd (Republican)	Sen. Thurston: "Last question for real this time. Is there any data that you have in support of the restrictions and this, what we're doing to restrict the drop boxes? Any data whatsoever?" Sen. Boyd: "I'm not aware of any data. But we're not restricting the use or application of drop boxes. We're just making them as secure as possible."
489 (ECF 461-98)	87:23- 88:6	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Thurston: "[I]n the bill, we add a no solicitation zone within 150 feet of a drop box. I think I wonder were there any reports of any type of widespread solicitation near drop 1 boxes in the past election?" Sen. Baxley: "I'm not aware of that. I will tell you that it's for consistency that we give the same level of security."
507 (ECF 462-8)	4:3-12	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Senate)	"Let us not deny the people the right to vote in the matter in which they choose, and further, try to disenfranchise individuals who just want to exercise their right. This bill is just a vindictive way of trying to punish people for an election that some people just didn't like at the national level. Not one indication of fraud. Just a lot of folks decided that they were fed up and they wanted to vote. We had COVID happening. They decided they wanted to vote by mail. Oh, good gosh, Almighty, what's wrong with that? They do have that right."

507 (ECF 462-8)	7:12-8:1	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"Despite this flawless election, we're looking at this because it's based on the big lie and the discredited claims that the 2020 election was rigged. There is no evidence of voter fraud and irregularities except for third parties which are not addressed here in this billThere's never been any evidence of voter fraud."
507 (ECF 462-8)	8:8-13	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"There are unnecessary changes all throughout this bill to promote the big lie. There were over 60 cases that were filed and lost contesting the presidential election results in 2020. Nearly all suits were dismissed or dropped due to lack of evidence. There is simply no reason for us to have this bill and I urge all of you to vote against it.
507 (ECF 462-8)	14:7-10	Sen. Loranne Ausley (Democrat)	"The fact is we had an enormous amount of people that decided to vote by mail or use the drop boxes with their vote by-mail ballot. And maybe that's what's going on here. That large number of people scares some of us."
507 (ECF 462-8)	33:16-22	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"We've got safeguards on voting by mail with regard to the signature that you have to apply to the outside envelope of that ballot. So the claims of fraud are really not well-founded. And when you compare the number of people who may not be able to exercise the ability to vote by mail should this bill become law, far more will be disenfranchised than any proof of any kind of fraud that has been presented in support of this bill."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	3:7-9	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"The goal is simple, expand access to the polls while adding common sense security measures to keep our election safe and secure."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	20:15-19	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"I would argue that having an election where you have to request vote-by-mail ballots every election cycle keeps and forces the supervisors of elections and the electors, the voters of the county, in constant contact with each other which would then in turn foster greater turnout."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	26:24- 27:1	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"Just the fact that they weren't caught doesn't necessarily mean that it's not happening."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	42:19- 43:1	Rep. Geraldine Thompson (Democrat); Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	Rep Thompson: "Has any Supervisor of elections requested from you or reported to you that there has been a problem with integrity, fraud, et cetera?" Rep. Ingoglia: "No."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	106:8-14	Rep. Carlos Smith (Democrat)	"I know that many of you have noticed that the only election fraud, the only documented election fraud in the State of Florida from the 2020 election included or resulted in recent indictments of former House and Senate member Frank Artiles who recruited a sham third-party candidate

			and bribed him with \$50,000 to corrupt the outcome of a
			state Senate race in South Florida."
Ex. 508	109:8-10	Rep. Carlos	"What the reality is, is that the sponsor doesn't like the bill
(ECF 462-	103.0 10	Smith	because it actually cracks down on the real election fraud
9)		(Democrat)	that happened in the last cycle."
Ex. 508	112:8-10	Rep. Dotie	"The one issue we actually did identify, the only
(ECF 462-	112.0 10	Joseph	documented case of voter fraud in the entire state is not
9)		(Democrat)	addressed in the bill."
Ex. 528	4:4-13	Rep. Ben	"I bring it up because I think we've got to be making our
(ECF 462-		Diamond	laws, with all respect to the bill sponsor, based on the
29)		(Democrat)	evidence and not suspicion. You know there was an
'			exchange yesterday. What evidence is there of this so-called
			ballot harvesting? Well, there isn't any evidence was the
			response. But just because no one got caught doesn't mean
			it's not happening. We keep saying in different parts of this
			debate that there's no real guardrails or no real security
			around our election process. Members, we all know that
			that is totally not the case."
Ex. 528	7:18-19	Rep. Michael	"Yet there was no fraud that we've seen here in the State of
(ECF 462-		Gottlieb	Florida. None that anybody can point to."
29)		(Democrat)	200
Ex. 528	8:24-9:10	Rep. Dianne	"Not a single person in favor of this bill has been able to
(ECF 462-		Hart	produce one example of one incident of fraud that this
29)		(Democrat)	legislation is supposed to prevent. On the contrary, in a
			clear-cut case of Florida election fraud that occurred just
			last year where individuals were charged with felonies in
			widening investigations that continue, not a single provision
			in this legislation addresses those illegalities. Nothing in this
		· EN	bill addresses manipulation of at least one election and
		RIV	possibly more that had nothing to do with drop boxes,
		24	signatures, or reapplying mandates for vote-by-mail
		Ť	ballots."
Ex. 528	18:16-21	Rep. Omari	"We are not here because our elections didn't go smoothly.
(ECF 462-		Hardy	We're not here because someone found evidence of the
29)		(Democrat)	type of voter fraud that this bill purports to address. We're
			not here because elections in Florida on the whole lack
			integrity. And if you don't believe me, you should believe
			the Republican governor you voted for."
Ex. 528	19:4-20:1	Rep. Omari	"We are here because the Republican former president lost
(ECF 462-		Hardy	his reelection in November. Rather than admitting his
29)		(Democrat)	defeat, he spun a web of lies. Racialized the lies in an
			attempt to explain away his loss. Taken together, we call
			this web of lies the big lie I can't get over the racialized
			aspect of the lies. Please remember he focused in particular
			on Detroit in Michigan and on Philadelphia in Pennsylvania.
			Two cities that have large African-American populations
			where the vote count of the state is going to turn on

			whether African-Americans turn out and at what rate they turn out. So targeted were his lies that his supporters attempted to storm the Detroit Convention Center as they were counting the ballots. These ballots were cast largely by Black and Brown people."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	23:23- 24:3	Rep. Michael Grieco (Democrat)	"I don't know who to be more afraid of, the Florida man or the boogeyman. But this is another boogeyman bill. This is a bill that is claiming that something is happening that's not actually happening. There has not been one case of fraud that has been brought before us that has triggered this bill."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	29:13-17	Rep. Ramon Alexander (Democrat)	"To date we've not seen fraud on a scale that could have affected a different outcome in the election. Most claims of fraud are very particularized to a particular set of circumstances or actors or conduct. They are not systemic allegations."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	29:22-24	Rep. Ramon Alexander (Democrat)	"There was no evidence of fraud in Florida. Of the roughly 50 legal cases the Trump campaign brought, not a single one was in Florida."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	39:21-24	Rep. Joseph Geller (Democrat)	"But there was not massive fraud in the elections that were held in 2020. It's just not the fact. Everybody that's looked for it hasn't found it. Listen, my party lost this state. If that wasn't done on the square, I'd be complaining about it."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	48:4-8	Rep. Travaris McCurdy (Democrat)	"Well, I find that very difficult when bills like this bear no substance at all. They're formed from personalities and personal opinions and biases. This bill does not enhance the fairness, safety, secureness, or transparency of elections like we saw in 2020."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	54:15- 55:5	Rep. Anna Eskamani (Democrat)	"We actually do have voter election fraud in this state, but it's not with the vote-by-mail ballots, members. We have election fraud taking place in Senate district races. Today an article came out about the fake candidate that ran in several [indiscernible] to mean SD9 where she was already applying for citizenship in Sweden as she was filing to run for this fake election she had. I mean that's serious fraud. I had a fake candidate who filed against me. He filed at my first election cycle. On the last day it qualified. Not living in my district. His treasurer was a Republican. It was pretty clear to me a shenanigan was going on. I had to sue him because the Florida Elections Commission was not going to be an avenue for timely action. So litigation was my only option. That's a real threat to our elections and to our democracy and it's not being addressed in this bill."
Ex. 528 (ECF 426- 29)	68:10-17	Rep. Dotie Joseph (Democrat)	"So let's break those down because this bill utterly fails at both. In one documented case of cheating, which you've heard plenty about in the last election cycle where a Republican lawmaker recruited a sham candidate to trick voters and to literally cheat and is now facing criminal

			consequences, does this bill address that? No. Did he have the opportunity to address it? Yes. Over and over again he could have addressed it. Did he? No. Because it's not about cheating."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	34:22- 35:2	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"Why are we significantly limiting the drop box hours? It's not to make it more secure. Because we know we can do that through electronic means. Why are we limiting who can bring in vote-by-mail ballots? It's not because of fraud because we haven't seen any."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	35:13-16	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"The first point is that the bill is not needed. There was no evidence of fraud in the recently held election. I don't believe there was any fraud in the previous election, either."

RELIGIENED FROM DEMOCRACY DOCKET, COM

APPENDIX, J

		iscussion of isc	criminator mpact on Minorit oters
Exhibit Number	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)
445 (ECF 461-54)	87:22- 88:21	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"We've had record turnout and now we are putting something in place that will, what I believe, reduce vote-by-mail, a way in which a lot of people like to do it. It is hard for me not to look at it through the lens of what has happened here in Florida. Florida has had the worst record of voter suppression in the country by farit's hard not to look at it as a party that's in control doing whatever they can to keep it. Because when you look at it, we've got an election coming up in 2022. The last gubernatorial election is one of the closest we've ever had, one that was decided by 35,000 votes out of more than 9 million. This is clearly going to reduce vote-by-mail in Democratic counties. "
426 (ECF 461-35)	89:19- 91:1	Ida Eskamani (Florida Rising Together)	"And we ultimately feel we should not break what's working. Florida elections received widespread bipartisan praise around the nation including from our Governor. But this bill as written has severe consequences to the voters of this great state and their access to the ballot. Forcing voters to request a vote-by-mail ballot every election cycle is an administrative hurdle that will lead to fewer people voting. It's an unfunded mandate that is unnecessary and physically irresponsible. ID and address checks at drop boxes and requiring the address in the ballot to match the address of your ID will suppress the vote of students, renters, seniors, people with disabilities, and the precariously housed. And in fact, criminalize those voters trying to exercise their rights. This bill will disproportionately impact access to the ballot for blue-collar working-class Floridians and particularly those who are people of color. Members, voting should be made more accessible to all Floridians who are eligible. The nation and the state have a long dark history of voter suppression. Let's keep those days behind us and please oppose this bill."
428 (ECF 461-37)	93:21- 94:12	Sen. Bobby Powell (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Powell: "An analysis of the recent election indicated that Black voter turnoutdoubledduring the last election. Do you think by putting some of these measures in place and I would agree that it was a pandemic and many people voted by mail. Do you think that by putting these measures in place, it would be helpful to reduce that Black voter turnout?"

			Sen. Baxley: "I certainly hope not. That's not the intention on my part; I can assure youAnd so there I don't buy the whole Jim Crow story."
428 (ECF 461-37)	139:6-9	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"And when we look at the history of voter suppression in this state, going back a century, I think we're just continuing that legacy."
483 (ECF 461-92)	80:3-8	Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	"This is not about election integrity. It is about making sure that ballots cast by eligible voters don't count because they didn't jump through the myriad hoops that this bill creates in order for them to cast such a ballot. This is the legislative engineering of the electorate to shave off in particular people of color, and I cannot support this bill."
489 (ECF 461-98)	15:4-17:9	Sen. Shevrin Jones (Democrat)	"Members, while we are placing an unfair assumption that organizations will not comply with the law, you and I both know that this will likely have a chilling effect on the willingness of potential electors to participate in voter registration drivesMembers, we know that minorities are more likely to register to vote through third party voter organizations."
489 (ECF 461-98)	33:11-12	Sen. Shevrin Jones (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Jones: "This amendment will eliminate the provisions of the bill that extend the distance from drop boxes or polling places where individuals are legally allowed to offer voter assistance when voting. Currently under the bill, individuals will only be able to offer assistance from 150 feet away, as opposed to the 100 feet allowed by current law. Members, there are certain areas especially like in Miami Gardens that if we do this 150 feet away, that's sometimes out in the road. So this is definitely a restriction for certain communities."
		\	Sen. Baxley: "I would ask you to please vote no on this one because it really is a sacred time and place."
489 (ECF 461-98)	100:6-19	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Berman: "The Stanford-MIT Healthy Elections Project examined Florida's voting data from the 2020 general election, and found the racial group that had the greatest increase in voting by mail from the last presidential election was Black voters. It was up 7 percent. Are you aware that the restrictions in this legislation including those related to drop box and access to voter assistance will have a disparate impact on Black voters?"
			Sen. Baxley: "I really have a hard time hearing somebody even say that. There is nothing in this bill that disenfranchises anyone. Now to look at patterns of use and say, well, you may have to go about it a little different way. There's a learning curve."

507 (ECF 462-8)	2:18-23	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"Since voting is a right, why would we as a state attempt to reduce the right of a person to exercise their right to vote and in the manner in which they decide to vote? We may not have to take a test, count bubbles and marbles, or any other such nonsense. But this bill is tantamount to the same thing."
507 (ECF 462-8)	4:12-19	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"Let's not add extra burdens or scare tactics particularly to our seniors, particularly to our seniors of color who already had hesitation of voting my mail in the first place. They and their ancestors lived through what it was like not to be able to exercise their right to vote. They lived through it. They've talked to us also as their descendants of what it was like to try to be able to exercise their right to vote."
507 (ECF 462-8)	5:6-6:1	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"There's no election coming up, but they know about these election bills. They know and they feel about how they think they're trying to impact their vote, how they are trying to keep them from voting. They think it's a trick. I believe it is a trick. Don't close the vote to our citizens. It's not right. I urge all of you to think long and hard about what we're doing to communities around this state in this bill."
507 (ECF 462-8)	6:13-19	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat)	"This bill will make it harder, not easier, for legitimately registered voters to exercise their constitutional rights to participate in our representative democracy. Seniors, minority groups including those of the Latino community, and residents who have physical disabilities will find more barriers to casting their vote and less opportunities to participate in the election process."
507 (ECF 462-8)	8:19-9:5	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat)	"But I think that we are proceeding with this bill sometimes it seems like without acknowledging that we know that this isn't just what the State of Florida is doing. In fact, we know that this bill simply adds Florida to a long list of states that are following this voter restriction legislation. It's being filed in record number, almost like we've never seen it since the Jim Crow era of legislation of this sort. That's why Leader Gibson talked about counting jellybeans, and poll taxes, and literacy tests, and even lynching because that's what was done during the Jim Crow era."
507 (ECF 462-8)	9:11-22	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat)	"And when I look at this bill, I think I have to do it with an eye towards the history of Florida, the history of my state, the history of our state. The lynching, the denial of individuals the right to vote, that's what we have and that's our sordid history. That's Florida's sordid history. So when we say we want to make changes to an individual's right to vote, I can tell you that

			the people who were deprived of that right for the longest
			of time, they take that personally."
507 (ECF 462-8)	10:14-11:2	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat)	"Does it say on here voting only for certain people? No, the bill doesn't say that. Does it say on here you need to be of a certain intellectual level or you can't vote? No, the bill doesn't say that. Does it say on here that you have to count jellybeans in a jar and be able to guess the correct number or you won't be able to vote? It doesn't say any of that either. Does it say you can possibly lynch and your whole town burned down for trying to vote? It doesn't say that either. But during the Jim Crow era, when all of those were the policies of the State of Florida, it didn't say that then either. It doesn't have to say that. This is what this bill is. It's the modern day version of voter suppression in the State of Florida."
507 (ECF 462-8)	12:12- 13:7	Sen. Loranne Ausley (Democrat)	"Now this legislationwill serve only to make it much harder to vote for our citizens who have historically been marginalized. Secured drop boxes have made it easier and more efficient for supervisors and for voters. The changes in the bill turned back the clock on those efficiencies. Every time we make a change in voter ID requirements, we're creating a barrier for certain voters and just confusing others. These and the other changes in this legislation are inefficient, unnecessary, unasked for, and simply serve no purpose other to keep people from voting when we should be doing everything in our power to make it easier for every eligible voter to safely and securely cast their ballot."
507 (ECF 462-8)	17:13- 18:21	Sen. Shevrin Jones (Democrat)	"I know that our founding fathers saw voting as a fundamental component of democracy in perfect union that they sought to create. But even within that democracy, myself, Senator Rouson, Senator Powell, we weren't able to vote. As a matter of fact, you only saw me as three-fifth of a human. Those were history making moments, moments when blacks were able to voteBut yet still we're coming here today in an election that we said was secure and safe in the country. We're saying no. We need to change the rules again. Why? Because you lost? Is that the way that we run our democratic process?"
507 (ECF 462-8)	31:17-324	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"I just want to say, if we look back at history, Florida has the worst record of voter suppression in this country So I believe that we are just continuing a legacy, an ugly legacy in this state if we pass this bill."

	ı		
507 (ECF 462-8)	32:14-19	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"There are provisions in this bill that would place an inordinate burden on minority low income and young voters who are less likely to possess certain types of identification. According to a 2012 National Election Studies, 13 percent of black respondents, 10 percent of Hispanic respondents but only 5 percent of white respondents lacked photo identification."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	77:2-4	Rep. Angela Nixon (Democrat)	"Hurdles to voting in jails disproportionately affect people of color and the poor who are overrepresented in local jails nationwide."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	20:8-21:9	Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	"Jim Crow. I'll be brief because I've got about 50 seconds. You have to understand how Jim Crow worked. Jim Crow didn't work by simply saying Black folks can't vote. Jim Crow was a complicated series of laws [interruption by Speaker Chris Sprowls]. Jim Crow was a series of complicated regulations and hurdles to voting. That happened to disproportionally affect people of color. This bill is the same thing. You don't need to say to Black people that they can't vote. I'm going to read you an addendum to the Mississippi Constitution in 1890 It says every provision in the Mississippi Constitution applies equally without discrimination whatever to both white and negro races. Any assumption, therefore, that the purpose of the framers was to discriminate was ulterior and dishonest and gratuitous This bill is the revival of Jim Crow in this state. Whether the sponsors admit it or not, that's what it is."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	26:15-18	Rep. Michael Greico (Democrat)	"Fhat bill that was passed in the state just north of us sent us a message. The response to that bill should have let us know that we should not be doing this. Please do not Georgia my Florida."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	27:1-29:1	Rep Christopher Benjamin (Democrat)	"In 1861 the folks that look like me got to be free for the first time in hundreds of years. It took another five years before some of them even knew they were free. Then it took them until 1870 to be even allowed in the process of selecting leadership in our government. In Florida particularly, we gained 19 Black elected officials out of a 76-member legislature. And we got one member of Congress from freedom to the Capitol. By 1876, just six short years later, that representation was done. Reconstruction ended. All the progress that was made during reconstruction was systematically taken back. Between all the Jim Crow laws and Florida's 1885 State Constitution, almost every Black vote was eliminated. And they went further than that because by 1892 Florida adopted white-only primaries. Which mean that only white voters, white male voters, could vote in the primaries. It took 53 years before that law would be stricken down by the Florida Supreme Court. In 1944, after the law had been stricken down, a Black

		RET RATE VED	Jacksonville minister attempting to register was told this: You won't go to jail, but you will be killed because this is Florida and we don't let N words vote in the primaries. Before that we had poll taxes. I bring up poll taxes that were enacted in Florida in 1889 because, when that tax was implemented, it affected every Floridian. It didn't just say Black folks. It said everybody. This law will pertain to everybody. But here's what they understood when they implemented that law. It's that they understood that it will have a disparate impact on Black folks. That Black folks would be barred from the polls because they would be unable to pay because they were too poor. But the same poor white folks will be given waivers. Some would be paid for. And once again Blacks would be prevented from the polls. In our current election, in 2020, we had unprecedented numbers of Black folks participate in our elections. They used drop boxes. They used volunteers to tend to people in the lines. We used people to assist our elderly in getting their votes to the drop boxes or getting them to the polls. And now we turn around. Although our law says nothing about Black folks, it says it will apply to everyone equally, we know that it will have a disparate impact on folks like me. But it's of no surprise because that's our history. Our history has been to systematically do subtleties that seem unevasive. Exclude our most vulnerable. Exclude those who have need the most representation. So I say to you today we can see clearly. You uncover your eyes so you can see, too, that this bill doesn't make elections better. It doesn't make elections easier. It continues a system that we have historically used to exclude."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	36:5-38:8	Rep. Felicia Robinson (Democrat)	"The freedom to vote is America's most cherished and important democratic right outside of the original Bill of Rights. It is also the most hard won fight because my people fought hard to get here. Being an African-American and a woman, those I represent have always had a battle when it came to voting. When the republic was formed, only white male landowners could vote. Over time, after decades of fighting, we saw civil rights victories and slowly voting access expanded. We have transitioned from only white male laborers to all Americans regardless of race, class, gender, or religion having the right to vote. The Voting Rights Act of 1965, which established strong federal protections for the freedom to vote by banning or limiting many of the discriminatory election policies and practices of Jim Crow, was the linchpin to these efforts. Instead of giving boards of elections more funding to improve their operations and increase their workforce in order to speed

		RETRIEVED.	up the time it takes to vote and to count votes, we tend to hinder that. Instead of looking for ways to allow our older adults shut in and those in rural communities to cast their ballots with ease, SB90 will add a poll tax by requiring people to buy photocopy machines and figure out how to sign extra papers just to vote by absentee. By limiting the use of drop boxes to counties' early voting hours and operations, it requires drop boxes at all locations to be monitored in person and create additional security and accountability just related to drop boxes. The bill also bans election supervisors from mailing a vote-by-mail ballot to a person without a specific request. It asks additional identifiers in order to request a vote-by-mail ballot. It requires voters to renew their standing request for a vote-by-mail ballot every calendar year. Totally unnecessary. And limits who can deliver a vote-by-mail ballot on voter's behalf and how. The vote is the people's most sacred right. Placing more obstacles in the way, limiting access, adding more work on our boards of election will only make voting more difficult. SB90 is not about decreasing voter fraud but about disenfranchising voters. Today I ask my fellow colleagues to have the courage to say no to SB90. I ask you to vote your conscience and say to your constituents that your voters matter. That all voters matter. Carol Anderson is quoted. In 1810 the Magnolia State passed the Mississippi Plan. A dizzying array of poll tax literacy tests, understanding clauses in newfangled voter registration rules, and good character clauses, all intentionally and racially discriminatory but dressed up the genteel grasp [sounds like] of bringing integrity to the voting booth. If we are not careful, someone will say the same about us here in Florida. This cannot be our story. I ask you to not change and go back in history. Let's continue to move Florida forward
			please."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	49:22- 50:13	Rep. Michele Rayner (Democrat)	"It was 1962 when my mother turned 18 years old. Eighteen years old is when we have the right to go and register to vote; yet, she was not eligible to vote until she was in 1965. The same year the Voting Rights Act passed. The same year John Lewis nearly died on the Edmund Pettus Bridge. Yet here I stand 56 years later in this Chamber and we're actively trying to suppress people's rights to vote. Last week a representative quoted Ida B. Wells to advance pro-gun agenda. Well, Ida B. Wells was also a suffragette who fought courageously and aggressively for voting rights because Ida B. Wells could not vote. She was a black woman. While a small part of her passion and purpose was dedicated to gun ownership to defend herself from racist mobs, more of her

			matches was about fair and equitable access to the ballot
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	51:2-7	Rep. Michele Rayner (Democrat)	box for eligible people." "Instead of literacy tests and poll taxes, we are attempting to require voters to send in their request for a vote-by-mail ballot every calendar year. Not only do voters have to renew their vote-by-mail ballot request every year, but there are added hurdles and obstacles to this process."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	52:17-53:18	Rep. Anna Eskamani (Democrat)	"Members, when you consider any piece of legislation, I urge you to consider the impact on our state's most vulnerable especially with a bill as consequential as this one. I urge you to put yourselves in the shoes of Floridians who face systematic historic hurdles to the ballot box. This does include people of color and Floridians who are living in poverty, Floridians with disabilities, Floridians who speak English as a second language, nontraditional families, seniors on a fixed income, Floridians caught in the digital divide, workers on the nightshift, our students, the homeless. These are all different Floridians who have faced in the past and the present systematic barriers to voting. Several provisions within this bill do not do right by those communities of people. It cuts the lifespan of vote-by-mail ballots requests in half. It adds new barriers in order to drop off vote-by-mail ballots for immediate family members. And again, to focus on this point a little bit longer, we are requiring immediate family, boyfriends and girlfriends, seniors, people with disabilities, parents with adult children, roommates, working Floridians who don't own a printer, Floridians who don't own a car to fill out a form and to ask someone to deliver their ballot for them. To fill out a form so that someone can deliver a ballot for them, I can't think of any other government system who really put that type of requirement in place. Then we limit how many ballots folks can deliver for free for those marginalized communities."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	57:9-16	Rep. Anna Eskamani (Democrat)	"I want to stress that we shall be adding additional hurdles for folks to access the ballot. We need to win our elections fair and square. Not create these new obstacles. And we should be increasing voter participation. Not making it harder to vote. As mentioned already, Madam Speaker, we have a dark history of Jim Crow in this state in this country. Let's keep that in the past and vote down this bill."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	65:10-23	Rep. Patricia Williams (Democrat)	"One of the other members in the front row turned around, looked at us, and stated when he put on his green he didn't see colors. Well, to that member, I don't care if you put on green or blue. If you walk in the skin that I'm in, it's a difference. According to what I'm looking at in this bill, it deters people of color from voting. Number one, because we work more, our hours are longer. We have more people living in the home with us, so the number of ballots that we

			can drop off deters us from voting. The number of hours we work, because of the drop box that would not be there 24 hours as it normally would be, that deters us from voting. How do I know things are different? I live the skin that I'm in."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	81:15-83:4	Rep. Geraldine Thompson (Democrat)	"This is a sad day. It's a sad day for me personally because people like me not too long ago, not recent history, were not able to vote. I know personally the path, the sacrifice that it has taken to get here. We have come over a way that with tears it has been watered. We have come threading our path through the blood of the slaughtered. To talk about the blood of the slaughtered, I told you last week about a man named July Perry who in 1920 in Orange County - where I'm from - in the Town of Ocoee went to vote. He was lynched because he wanted to vote. He was told he had not paid his poll taxes. There was a dispute. A mob followed him home, took him out of his house in the presence of his wife and his children, drove him to the Orange County Jail. He was taken out of the jail and hung, his body used for target practice. The blood of the slaughtered. We're here today talking about treating voters worse than we would treat a dog. This is a sad day. It's a sad day for me because I grew up in the South. When I look at my birth certificate, it shows that under race I'm listed as colored. When I went to school, all of my school records show that I was Negro. When I went to college, we decided then who we were and we said we were black. But to capture all of our heritage, today we say we are African-American. We've come threading our path through the blood of the slaughtered. We would not give food and water to Florida voters standing in the Florida heat. We couldn't give them a fan. We couldn't give them an aspirin. We couldn't give them a fan. We couldn't give them an aspirin. We couldn't give them a fan. We couldn't give them an aspirin. We couldn't give them a slice of pizza. This is a sad day. My children say that I'm holding [sounds like] in my feelings today about this. Maybe that's so. I've been in this process for a while and I try not to internalize what goes on here because it would be hard to keep going. But the test of courage comes when you're in the minority. So I keep coming back and I continue to add
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	84:1-17	Rep. Geraldine Thompson (Democrat)	"It's not just July Perry. There's a man named Harry T. Moore in Brevard County who in 1951 had a bomb placed under his bedroom on Christmas night, he's 25th wedding anniversary, because he was registering African-Americans to vote. The blood of the slaughtered. So this is a sad day for

Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	88:17- 89:11	Rep. Bobby DuBose (Democrat)	me. One of my granddaughters said I can see that you are feeling some kind of way. And so, yes, I'm feeling some kind of way today. I shared with you yesterday that, when I was a member of the Florida Senate, I sponsored Senate Bill 112 which allowed everyone to vote by mail. Not absentee voting. No excuse. You didn't have to show cause. And today we're considering this legislation that rolls back vote by mail. Yes, I'm feeling some kind of way. I know how the vote is going to go but I have to ask you on behalf of July Perry who wanted to vote in 1920, on behalf of Harry T. Moore who was killed on Christmas night in 1951, on behalf of his wife Harriette who died nine days later. Vote this voter suppression bill down." "Now, my colleagues, those that look like me have expressed some concerns based on history as laws have been put on the books as it relates to elections. So as much as what we're doing here today isn't new, the effect isn't new either. So I would caution you to not dismiss the cry that you hear from the back, especially those that look like me. Because when I have conversation with my grandparents, they rell me the difficulties and the laws that we all now agree were voter suppression laws. At the time that they were debated and they were talked about and they were put on the books, at that time they were considered just laws. So I want you all in this body, as we all talk about decorum and we talk about respecting one enother, please let's not wait until history comes back and our kids are saying: My daddy stood up in these chambers. My daddy told me about bills that were being proposed that were said to be just and they were about security. But they hurt my daddy. They hurt people in our community that looks like us. There's a reason why we reflect on history, so
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	92:3-10	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"So then I've also heard intent. I've heard we're not talking about the words on the page of this bill. I've also heard, well, let's bring it back to the bill. I want you all to know that everything we've said today has nothing to do but this bill. Everything we're talking about, it is about this bill. It is about communities of color. It is about our seniors and it is about people with disabilities. It is about all of that, all of those people."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	37:16- 38:5	Rep. Geraldine Thomson (Democrat)	"I'm standing here tonight like a palm tree. This is just another storm. I've been through this before. People like me have been relegated to the back of the bus and not allowed to participate in our democracy. And you want me to sit here calmly and accept that this is something that's going to be good for the electorate in the State of Florida? I do not accept it. You can't gaslight me and tell me you turn the

Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	42:13-18	Rep. Angie Nixon (Democrat)	lights down but tell me it's highly illuminated and it's not dim in here. This is a sad day. It's a shameful day in the State of Florida. Members, I ask you to vote down on this undemocratic bill that is Jim Crow, as my colleague said. But Jim Crow today wears a suit, carries a brief case, and is now James Crow, Esquire." "We are attempting to keep people oppressed and it's very frustrating. It's super hard to be in this chamber and to be cool with people and cordial with people who are making policies that are detrimental to our communities. We tell you this day in and out that you are making policies that are detrimental to our communities, that are hurting our communities."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462- 31)	43:3-15	Rep. Angie Nixon (Democrat)	"So we have what I see is an attempt of a group of people who are so fearful of losing power and control because they realize that we came out in record numbers previously and we voted. Right? We voted. They feel like eventually we may have taken over the chamber, and taken over the governor's mansion, and do the same thing that you all have historically done to communities of color for years and do that to you all. That's very frustrating and it's very upsetting to the communities that we work in. I have been so distraught and disheartened this whole entire time. People laugh and people joke. But again we came up here and we took an oath to these people. In every single time you all moved the goal post."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	33:11- 34:2	Sen. Bobby Powell (Democrat)	on us. This bill does a number of things that will, of course, impact elections in the way that we do them. Still, the idea that still comes to my mind, other than the long history that we have here in the State of Florida, from the Voting Rights Act to how people have voted in this state and this country as a whole, but still looking at the implications of this bill, as it has changed, there's still problematic language with the idea that any item cannot be given to a person who is in line. That has implications of people not being able to receive water or things when they're standing in line for hours and hours upon time. So, I think it's incumbent upon us to make it easier and less restrictive for people to vote, than more difficult and more restrictive. The idea is expansion, not restriction."
Ex. 539 (ECF 462- 40)	38:1-19	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat)	"Restricting food and water, it's totally obvious why that happens. Because many of us engaged, in our minority communities in particular, may have food trucks or activities of food near it'll be more than 150 feet, but we may take a plate over to those who are 150 feet away from the entrance to the polling place. I've dropped off food for the workers inside. Give it to someone and say, hey, take this to

	I	I	
			the workers who are serving everyone else who comes up. So I want to make sure they have some water and stuff too. There's no name on the box. They don't know that it came from me. They just know they got food. So we know what that restriction is about too. There's no reason whatsoever that we should deter people from voting and making it much more difficult. History has already shown us what that looks like and I don't think we want to repeat that history again. So let us not put barriers on our seniors and, particularly on seniors, undue burden on seniors who live through the history. And undue burdens on people like my dad."
Ex. 539	39:15-	Sen. Perry	"I spoke against this bill because we believe and I believe
(ECF 462-	40:15	Thurston	that at its core it's a form of voter suppression. Senator
40)	10.13	(Democrat)	Polsky talked about why we feel so strongly about the bill.
10)		(Bemocrat)	Well, it aims to make it difficult for some people to vote and
			that should never be acceptable. It should never be
			acceptable that you're trying to make it difficult for some
			people to vote. But when you go past that and view this
			legislation in light of Florida's history that Senator Gibson
			- (1,
			was talking about, it just makes it particularly insulting
			because you have to look at where we've come from. I'm
			going to not go through all the details of Florida's history.
			But if we're changing Florida law, you should have some
			reference to what we've done historically as it relates to
			some people voting. And what have we done? We put so
			many barriers in front of some people's right to vote. We
			put Jim Crow laws in front of the barriers. We put poll taxes
		. L. Ne	in front of the barriers. We put literacy test as barrier. We
		. ZPIV	even used lynching as a barrier. For what? Just to stop some
		OK,	people from voting. We even had them guessing the
		`	number of jelly beans in jars and other life-threatening and
			humiliating requirements. Requirements that stood in the
			way of people that just wanted to vote. This is the sordid
			history that we come across this legislation when it's
			denying people the right simply to vote."

APPENDIX K

APPENDIX R

REFERENCE PROWN THE MOCKAGE VIDOCHEET ...

REFERENCE PROWN THE MOCKAGE VIDOCHEET ...

		Burden on	ther oters and oters enerall
Exhibit Number	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)
445 (ECF 461-54)	47:3-5	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"And the system is working correctly. So I don't see why we should be changing our vote-by-mail and making it harder for people to vote-by-mail."
445 (ECF 461-54)	48:12-17	Sen. Tina Scott Polsky (Democrat)	"So I agree the vote-by-mail system in Florida is working very well. I say increase it. Increase the availability. Don't make people go through the process of signing up just like we don't make them re-sign their voter registration. The vote-by-mail should be in sync with voter registration. We should be making voting easier not harder."
445 (ECF 461-54)	50:19-24	Sen. Tina Scott Polsky (Democrat)	It was an expensive and cumbersome process to get so many people to request vote-by-mail the first time and it was so successful by all counts. So by taking away the simple process that we've already established, having them have to do it again, we will not get the same numbers of vote-by-mail. And unfortunately I guess that's the intent here.
445 (ECF 461-54)	62:5-21	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Bracy: "Senator Polsky in her comments about the amendment said that it seems like it's the intent to reduce vote-by-mail. I think with these new burdens to have to sign up every year, most likely it will reduce vote-by-mail. And she's mentioned that it's the intent. I have to go here, but it looks partisan. I mean it looks like there's an effort to try to get a strategic advantage knowing that Democrats overwhelmingly vote by mail, use a vote-by-mail system. So can you just speak to that because I feel like it's the elephant in the room? She brought it up, would you respond to that?"
			Sen. Baxley: "It's certainly not my intent. My intent is to make sure that we don't make a mess out of it and that we keep a pattern by which people maintain their choice. I think still there's nothing more secure than having the real person show up with identification and that's why I do it."
445 (ECF 461-54)	63:3-8	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"I mean, I don't see the need to re-sign up every year when you have those signature matches in place so that we know the person that is voting on this vote-by-mail is that person. So why create these extra burdens when we already have the protections in place? They're doing a great job. We've seen a record turnout."
445 (ECF 461-54)	65:2-11	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"We've got people who are signed up thinking they're signed up for the '22 election. And then we're now changing the law. So do we have any money in this bill to inform them that we're changing the law without their

			knowledge? Why do it, I guess, if they are under this assumption and now we're changing the law and we're not even letting them know why?"
445 (ECF 461-54)	81:1-22	Brad Ashwell (All Voting is Local)	"This bill changes rules on voters who apply to vote by mail in the last election cycle. We believe it could lead to confusion. It also creates another hoop for voters to jump through. We disagree with the claim that it gives voters choices. We really find it hard to see it doing anything other than adding obstacles. I mean essentially we shouldn't be making elections harder for eligible registered voters. We should be making it easier.
			Some bills are solutions to a certain problem. In our view, this is a problem to an issue that's already been solved. As it is, we already update addresses. We do it on a regular basis. We already have security measures and checks. That's worked well. The election was a great success. We agree with Senator Baxley, the safeguards are necessary. But we challenge Senator Baxley to point out anybody doing irregularities to necessitate this bill.
			I'll conclude by saying, from our perspective, this is the opposite of what we should be doing. We really should consider making vote-by-mail applications permanent until voters opt out. According to the National Conference of State Legislatures, five states and Washington, D.C. already this. Many additional states do for disabled voters and seniors."
445 (ECF 461-54)	84:7-23	Dr. Rich Templin (Florida AFL- CIO)	Florida AFL-CIO is opposed to this for just a single reason. Again our concern, as you've heard, is the shortening of the vote-by-mail validity. We want the ability to cast ballots. It's helped transform our democracy, making it more inclusive and readily accessible. As Chair Baxley said earlier and many others, our elections were exemplary and we had the highest vote-by-mail turnout we've seen - close to 5 million votesWe know because we engage our members. We mobilize our members. We reeducate members every time you institute changes like this. Any time you add another step, that requires a tremendous amount of outreach and education. The losers in that are the people that you don't reach, are the ones that don't understand and find themselves disenfranchised from the process. Vote-by-mail has been a vital tool of inclusion in a strong and vibrant democratic process.
425 (ECF 461-34)	31:5-21	Trish Neely (League of Women Voters)	"Taking away safe and secure drop boxes makes absolutely no sense unless you're looking for ways to suppress the vote. I used to drop box last year, like

			8 millions of other Floridians did. It was convenient, close to my home, unlike the post office or my Supervisor of Elections office; and I didn't have to worry about my vote being suppressed by a political appointee mucking up the voting process. Case in point: The intentional manipulation of the USPS prior to last year's election. Second, changing the vote-by-mail process, especially
			following a major election, makes no sense unless you're looking for ways to confuse voters into not voting, or to make it harder, so they don't vote. Both are voter suppression tactics. The system we have now works fine,
425 /565	22.14	la nathan	and what the electorate is used to."
425 (ECF 461-34)	32:14- 33:16	Jonathan Webber (Florida Conservation	FCV opposes this bill because it will make it harder for voters to vote and cost taxpayers a lot of money. As you know, 2020 was a banner year for a vote by mail for our country. Despite an unprecedented public health
		Voters)	emergency, citizens cast their votes and made their voices heard in record numbersUnfortunately, SB 90 as it's currently written, this PCS, is a step backwards specifically the section of the bill that relates to removing drop off boxes from early voting sitesThey are safe, secure, easy to use. Everyone who's ever early voted knows exactly where to goThis section of the bill will only lead to less people voting and, to us, that is unacceptable.
425 (ECF	34:19-23	Brad Ashwell	"This really can't be seen as anything other than an attack
461-34)		(All Voting is	on voting rights. Why are we doing things with that
		Local)	would confuse voters, create less options for them
_			after record turnout in November?"
425 (ECF 461-34)	34:24- 36:7	Brad Ashwell (All Voting is Local)	"We should be focused on expansion of vote by mail and expansion of early voting and efforts to improve the accessibility to vote particularly to seniors and veterans with disabilities who will be disproportionately impacted by this bill. We had a good and I'd say a great election this cycle, something that Florida hasn't been able to say for a very long time. We should be building on what worked.
			I'm going to highlight a couple of things that the supervisors from Lake and Leon said earlier - 1.5 million voters use drop boxes. \$14 million to \$16 million will cost them to mail voters who have vote by mail applications on file. That's a huge expense. A large number of voters will be impacted who obviously found drop boxes convenient. Vote by mail drop boxes provided an effective, safe, and secure means for voters to return vote-by-mail ballotsthey give voters options. They make vote by mail more certain especially with questions around USPS. They've been a particularly good option for those with health concerns. They have

		T	
42E (ECE	37:2-13	Ida Eskamani	countless benefits. They actually make election administration in Florida more efficient and improve voter access. If security is a concern, let's address those specific security concerns with the advice and buy-in for the supervisors of elections who are running our elections." And I'll just add, of course, you know, according to the
425 (ECF 461-34)	37.2-13	(Florida Rising Together)	Governor's own words, our elections were a model across the country. What we're seeing across the country, unfortunately, and here in Florida, is one of the serious attempts to restrict the rights of certain Americans to vote since the days of Jim Crow.
			This legislation is voter suppression. It impacts seniors, veterans access to the ballot, people with disabilities, folks with health ailments, and also folks that are already marginalized, already have struggles to access the ballot."
425 (ECF 461-34)	42:23- 43:3	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat)	"In debate, to me, is why are we doing things that will create voter confusion and roll back the clock further? Our record turnout in November, we should be focused on the expansion of vote by-mail, expansions of early voting and efforts to improve the accessibility to vote."
425 (ECF 461-34)	43:4-12	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat)	"During the time of crisis of pandemic, this came the drop boxes came in handy for our voters, for our seniors, for our veterans, for every group. We heard certain Supervisor of Elections already testify that we don't need change. We allowed voters to return to their mail ballots in drop boxes. And guess what? It worked. Voters across the state use them. And it was a particularly important option given the pandemic."
425 (ECF 461-34)	43:13-441	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat)	"I just feel that I know my constituents in Central Florida, Osceola, and Orange County, look at this is as a way of voicing their support on any candidate whether it's Republican or Democrat or Independent, they have a choice, and they could do it in the comforts of their home filling out the absentee ballot and dropping off in a drop box.
			We don't need to make obstacles for our voters. And we have voters here with different languages, with different issues, and we need to make sure that they are allowed to vote. And I think that many constituents across the state have called my office, have sent emails, and not to support this bill."
426 (ECF 461-35)	52:22- 53:11	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat);	Rep. Davis: "So on the voter registration application, a person gives they have a choice to give a driver's license number, or the last four of their Social. How will the

		Rep. Blaise	Supervisor of Elections offices know how to identify these
		Ingoglia (Republican)	pieces? What comparison can they do if they don't have the Social of the voter, or the Florida ID of the voter, or the driver's license number of the voter? Because that's optional on the application."
			Rep. Ingoglia: "I don't know if there's any, like, database that they can look to, but it's more of a collection issue."
426 (ECF 461-35)	73:8-11	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat); question posed to Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"Do you not see this slowing down the drop box process? Do you not see this resulting in long lines at a drop box?"
426 (ECF 461-35)	82:4-18	Trish Neely (League of Women Voters)	"However, we believe that this bill is just unnecessary. Our concerns include the price tag, which we understand could be a staggering 14 to 16 million just to implement. We're concerned about vote-by-mail requests being limited to one election cycle. Voting access limited for working, elderly and mobility impaired Floridians is concerning. We believe that this bill adds unnecessary complications and barriers to the vote-by-mail drop boxes, and their prohibitions against handing out food and water to voters waiting in line to cast their ballot is also concerning.
426 (ECF 461-35)	123:20- 124:3	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia	"So I would stand here and say that our constituents are demanding more, more integrity and more transparency in
401-33)	124.3	(Republican)	our elections it's kind of funny when I hear the word "voter suppression" when it comes to elections bills, particularly that I have drafted over the years."
426 (ECF 461-35)	124:13-18	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"I don't think it's voter suppression. Because at the end of the day, especially when it comes to vote-by-mail, all somebody has to do is put a stamp on it and mail it back. And you can just basically walk to your mailbox, put the flag up, and then your ballot will make it back."
426 (ECF 461-35)	110:10-24	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"You've heard over and over again, from the stakeholders that were with us today, this is unnecessary. It's cumbersome. It denies folks basic, simple access to voting. And basically what we're trying to institute here in this forum, is a waste of taxpayers dollars. We have a bill in front of us that changes our vote-by-mail
			system statewide, and we have no idea how much that's going to cost us. The staff analysis says as the State's it

		T	
			starts off by saying the State system has proven to regain public trust. And actually, that's true. There are 67 Supervisors of Elections that work day in and day out to make sure this state, Florida, has safe, secure, efficient, and accurate elections."
426 (ECF 461-35)	111:14-23	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"I agree with most of the people that have spoke today. This is unnecessary, cumbersome, at this stage, denies people simple access to voting, with an overreach of security measures, and it's a waste of taxpayers dollars.
			And I keep saying it's a waste of taxpayer dollars, because we just have no idea what that number is going to be. This bill creates administrative and fiscal and administrative and fiscal costs that can only be identified in an analysis as indeterminant."
426 (ECF 461-35)	113:8- 114:6	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"This bill creates unnecessary obstacles to those drop boxes The ID check at the drop boxes is cumbersome, and it will cause delays. But the response I know someone will say, well, they can just mail it back. They can. But considering the fact we had a former administration that terrified everyone about mailing things in the mailbox, it's going to be kind of hard to go back to just dropping it in the mail."
427 (ECF 461-36)	54:4-16	Rep. James Bush (Democrat)	One or two reasons why I think that this would impede the ability of just good citizens being able to vote is that it would reduce access for those individuals who really just want to participate and who has been voting a certain way, now abruptly they have to change their way of voting. It may just discourage them from voting. And secondly, for the working voter, those individuals who work and get off at a certain time, they might get off during the time that the polls closeif you don't have a drop box, would impede their ability to be able to vote, and they might just become discouraged and don't want to vote.
428 (ECF 461-37)	26:11-15	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat); Sen. Dennis	Sen. Gibson: "So if I request a vote-by-mail ballot and who gives me the identifier number that's not on my voter registration card?
428 (ECF	42:1-11	Baxley (Republican) Sen. Gary	Sen. Baxley: "Well, you have whatever identifying numbers." "As the Baxley amendment currently stands, only supervisor
461-37)		Farmer (Democrat)	of election employees or volunteers that are directly affiliated with the supervisor of election can offer assistance to voters. This would include the handing out of water bottles. We live in a very, very warm and humid state. We've seen long lines during the election process."

428 (ECF	43:23-	Sen. Gary	"We've all seen and are familiar with the images of long
461-37)	44:9	Farmer (Democrat)	lines of people on Election Day and even in early voting waiting to vote. In many cases, the lines have gone so long that voters are still waiting when the polls close. Everybody here I think knows that even when the clock strikes 7:00 p.m. or whatever the closing time is, if you're in line, you get to stay in line until you get to exercise that right to vote. That can be a long, long, long time in lineI just think it's humane and immoral to preclude people from offering assistance to those who are waiting in line to vote. We don't want people passing out from dehydration because they wanted to exercise their constitutional rights."
428 (ECF 461-37)	64:20- 65:12	Sen. Audrey Gibson (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Gibson: "I want to ask about the a hundred and fifty feet, now, from I guess that's the front of a the entrance of a polling location. Is it that is it only that no individual can give any item to a voter, and that's that's within the hundred and fifty feet. Is that correct?" Sen. Baxley: "As I understand your question, that would be exactly right. The restrictiveness if you want to give somebody some food to eat or something like that before they're down to the last 150 feet of the polling site entrance, then great. But after that, we try to get more restrictive, so that nobody's campaigning inside that window of restriction for the sacredness of this act and the individual making their decisions."
428 (ECF 461-37)	75:2-25	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat); Sen. Demis Baxley (Republican)	where people can can drop their votes off, their ballots off. There was a Supervisor of Elections that said Monday, the Monday after early voting, is a day that many people drop off their early ballot. You limiting the hours now to just early voting hours, for that Monday before the election Do you realize the disenfranchisement that could happen by limiting the time that people can drop these ballots off during the early voting hours?" Sen. Baxley: "Senator Bracy, my response to that is really, we have opened so many channels, all they need is a stamp. They don't need to go hunt a box that's open, or if they choose to, if you're operating them all the same, it's easier to keep up with."
428 (ECF 461-37)	122:21- 123:8	Ida Eskamani (Florida Rising Together)	"The language around not having being able to give out water, of course, is problematic. Can a voter in line give water to some a voter in line with them if someone's thirsty? Of course in Florida, with long lines, you know that's an issue."

483 (ECF	19:8-14	Rep. Robin	Rep. Bartleman: "What's the difference between the
461-92)	15.0 14	Bartleman	mailbox and the drop box? I don't have to use my
401-32)		(Democrat);	declaration form in a mailbox but I have to use my
		1	·
		Rep. Blaise	declaration form in a drop box. That's what you're saying?"
		Ingoglia	Don Blaice Ingesties "Ves Thetis securete Ves denit have
		(Republican)	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia: "Yes. That's accurate. You don't have to."
402 /565	24.7	Dan avia	
483 (ECF	21:7-	Rep. evin	Rep. Chambliss: "If you don't mind, I'd like to go back to the
461-92)		Chambliss	no solicitation zone But my concern is about the non-
		(Democrat);	partisan groups that support and help voters.
		Rep. Blaise	For example, in my area, those voters who don't have
		Ingoglia	English as the first language, there are nonpartisans groups
		(Republican)	that are there to work with them and make sure that they
			can understand the ballot. There are other groups that are
			there that are not party affiliated that do the same thing.
			But the more we keep pushing the solicitation zone back,
			the more difficult it is for us to do things the right way.
			Does your current bill address
			that? And if not, is that something you would be willing to
			discuss?
			200
			Rep. Ingoglia: "That's a question that your supervisor of
			election is going to have to answer based upon their site
			selection. We are not planning on addressing that in this
			bill."
483 (ECF	78:23-	Rep. Yvonne	"Improving voting access of all voters from all points of view
461-92)	79:3	Hinson	should be our goal, but not so here. This bill limits voter
		(Democrat)	access, imposes extreme obstacles to
		, VEL	the voter in registration, identification requirements, and
		PIK	casting of ballot."
483 (ECF	80:18-	Rep. Carlos	"It's an attack on our voting rights. Here's why. It is making
461-92)	81:2	Guillermo	it substantially harder for people to be able to drop off their
		Smith	vote-by-mail ballots at drop boxes. Why do they need all of
		(Democrat)	this identification when they can just go to the PO Box?
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	They can go to UPS. They can go to the post office. They
			can drop off these ballots. No ID is required. No driver
			license is required. Why do we care about how a valid 1
			ballot cast has been received?"
483 (ECF	81:17-	Rep. Robin	"I believe this bill sets up deliberate barriers not just for
461-92)	82:4	Bartleman	people of color, but for all votersEverything you have in
101 52,		(Democrat)	this bill is going to impact all of them equally if they forget
		(Semocrac)	their declaration form, if the senior citizen can't find
			someone to drop off their ballot. You've
			heard from everyone, and I just want to say this is going to
			have huge, unintended consequences, and the amendment
			•
			we pass 1 today is going to create chaos.
			So just remember 1 that although this may be pointed at
	1		one party or one group, which I kind of feel it is, it impacts

			everyone and all of us are going to be penalized because of this law."
485	3:19-4:5	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"We saw a very, very high turnout compared to our last election even in the face of this COVID-19 pandemic. We saw a record use of our vote-by-mail system and it worked. It worked tremendously well. I believe it was 2.2 million Floridians who voted by mail this past time. For the first time ever Democrats did outpace their counterparts in the vote-by-mail process. So 1 that has led many to ask us, you know, why are we undoing this? Why after such an effective election cycle with great enfranchisement, not disenfranchisement, enfranchisement of so many people and a methodology that proved to be so desirable to so many voters."
485	5:12-19	Sen. Gary Farmer (Democrat)	"So we believe this bill does go too far and will result in potential disenfranchisement of those who maybe won't know that they have to re-request that vote-by-mail ballot. Maybe have health issues that suddenly arise and all of a sudden they realize that ballot isn't coming. They don't have that option available to them. I could go on and on with the list of possibilities or hypotheticals where provisions of this bill are going to be problematic for Florida voters.
489 (ECF 461-98)	63:9-14	Sen. Bobby Powell (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Powell: "What reasons do you have for wanting to increase barriers to the right to vote and adding administrative costs to different supervisors of elections throughout the state? Sen. Baxley: "Again, to bring a level of consistency and privacy for them at the time that they're voting."
489 (ECF 461-98)	91:7-92:2	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Thurston: "So the bill requires voters to verify additional forms of identification when they want to make a name change, address change, or change in party affiliation, or request a vote-by mail ballot. So, what is the purpose for the additional burden that we put on the individuals in this piece of legislation?" Sen. Baxley: "What we're after in that bill is trying to interrupt the impact of trying to get people to change their registration for the vote when it's clearly that they want to be a candidate and make that move. So that is the target
489 (ECF 461-98)	101:1-7	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat); Sen. Dennis	that we're after in that situation." Sen. Berman: "Georgia's recent election law eliminated about 300 hours of drop box availability. Do you know how many hours of vote-by-mail drop box availability your bill eliminates?"

		Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Baxley: "No, I don't. I don't know that calculation."
489 (ECF 461-98)	101:22- 102:8	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat); Sen. Dennis	Sen. Berman: "So do you believe that by enacting this law, it will cause voters who would have otherwise voted in the 2022 election not to vote in the election?"
		Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Baxley: "Well, I would really answer by telling you that I think the latitude that we left for supervisors to select those sites, and most of them are sites, hopefully, that they've consistently used is there should not be a lot of dramatic change."
507 (ECF 462-8)	10:6-13	Sen. Perry Thurston (Democrat)	"The question really becomes why are we doing this? Why do we ever want to make it more difficult for anybody to vote? That answer should be never. We should never say we want to discourage anyone from voting. We should always be encouraging them to vote. This legislation that we're addressing here today will not encourage one person in the State of Florida to vote. It will not. And it will deprive individuals of their opportunity to vote."
507 (ECF 462-8)	20:21- 21:2	Sen. Joe Gruters (Republican)	"I go back and I take issue with the suppression comments. Because we have so many ways to vote here in Florida, no excuse to absentee voting. You could literally vote for 30 days. If you don't want to vote by mail, you could vote through early voting almost two weeks. No reason. Just go to any location and vote early."
507 (ECF 462-8)	27:5-14	Sen. Jim Boyd (Republican)	I was getting into business and growing up one thing I want to remember in life - think, plan, and act. And that's what we're doing. Senator Baxley's good bill is codifying what's in place. It's not restricting voting rights. It's not restricting the ability to vote or the mechanisms in which you can vote. But we have to take responsibility ourselves, and I trust our constituents will as well, to plan their vote."
507 (ECF 462-8)	29:15-20	Sen. Travis Hutson (Republican)	"I heard that we're making it harder to vote in the State of Florida. Nothing could be farther from the truth. We have four ways to vote in Florida - in person, vote by mail, early voting, and if this passes now, manned drop boxes. Four ways to vote in Florida with plenty of time, the only excuse you have is that you're lazy if you do not vote."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	74:14-16	Rep. Joseph Geller (Democrat)	"If you believe in what Chair Ingoglia is trying to do, then having a provision that may arguably discriminate against the disabled is not a good idea."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	75:17-19	Rep. Geraldine	"Members, we should not discriminate against individuals because they have an impairment or a condition that limits one or more of their major life functions."

		Thompson	
		(Democrat)	
Ex. 508	86:12-18	Rep. Dotie	"I also want to point out that when we're thinking about
(ECF 462-		Joseph	how this impacts voters, also think about transportation.
9)		(Democrat)	Some people have limited access to transportation to get to
			these inconvenient places. Also some people have very
			challenging work hours that makes it a challenge for them
			to do it just during the work hours, the business hours that
F.: F00	00.24	Dan Visana	are outlined in the underlying bill."
Ex. 508	90:24-	Rep. Yvonne Hinson	"All I'm asking for is an amendment that will grant the
(ECF 462-	91:3		supervisor of elections the possibility to do a good job on
9)		(Democrat)	securing these drop boxes. Without it, we're going to have chaos." (discussing an amendment that would have
			provided supervisors with additional funding to monitor
			drop boxes)
Ex. 508	91:22-24	Rep. Robin	"The sponsor of this bill refers to these changes as
(ECF 462-	31.22 2 .	Bartleman	guardrails. I refer to these changes as hurdles or barriers for
9)		(Democrat)	people to deliver their vote.
Ex. 508	93:2-5	Rep. Robin	"This is going to create chaos for voters. It's going to create
(ECF 462-		Bartleman	long lines. And it's going to aggravate citizens, law-abiding
9)		(Democrat)	citizens who just want to drop off their ballot."
Ex. 508	95:9-10	Rep. Robin	"Think about our seniors."
(ECF 462-		Bartleman	C.P.M.
9)		(Democrat)	,00
Ex. 508	96:7-10	Rep. Anna	"We have a lot of concerns around members of the
(ECF 462-		Eskamani	disability community and our seniors being able to actually
9)		(Democrat)	have the support in getting their vote-by-mail ballots turned
F.: F00	00:10 31	Dan Christia	in."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-	99:18-21	Rep. Christine Hunscholsky	"I would suggest and ask everybody to support this very important amendment to make sure that people of all
9)		(Democrat)	abilities are included and that there are no additional
3)		(Delocial)	barriers given to them in order to exercise their right to
			vote."
Ex. 508	101:17-18	Rep. Anna	"Some of my biggest concerns with the bill are grounded on
(ECF 462-		Eskamani	issues of equity."
9)		(Democrat)	,
Ex. 508	111:1-4	Rep. Anna	"This is an administrative 1 burden. It's a term we used
(ECF 462-		Eskamani	often in the academic space to talk about policies that are
9)		(Democrat)	not really designed to improve a system, but actually makes
			a system harder to navigate or harder to use."
Ex. 508	111:11-12	Rep. Anna	"This is an effort to make voting much more difficult."
(ECF 462-		Eskamani	
9)		(Democrat)	
Ex. 508	114:6-15	Rep. Tracie	"So it's not about the security you're trying to put in place.
(ECF 462-		Davis	You're not even recognizing the barriers, the hurdles that
9)		(Democrat)	you are doing in the guise with this amendment of voter
			protection, voter security. You're not acknowledging

Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	5:1-8	Rep. Ben Diamond (Democrat)	everyone doesn't have an ID. And I'm going to close it. But you're looking at my 90-year-old mother-in-law, the seniors you've heard us talk about today, the people that are disabled that we talked about today. You're not acknowledging that maybe they don't have an ID. You're not acknowledging maybe they don't have a driver's license." "All this bill does is seek to take us steps backwards to limit access. I'm very concerned about the limitations on access to drop boxes. Drop boxes improve voter access. They improve confidence. And Florida voters support the use of ballot drop boxes. What are we saying with this bill? We're saying we don't really trust they're working again without the evidence behind it."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	7:16-22	Rep. Michael Gottlieb (Democrat)	"In largely Democratic strongholds, where the pandemic was, Democrats came out and voted en masse with vote-by-mail ballots The new identification requirements that we're authorizing in this ballot measure does nothing more than make it more difficult for individuals to vote and, thereby, disenfranchises voters."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	10:1	Rep. Dianne Hart (Democrat)	"Now here we are with this voter suppression bill."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	13:13-16	Rep. Marie Paule Woodson (Democrat)	"I find it very interesting that, at the same time we denounce the oppression in other countries, we sit here and discuss legislation that will make it harder for people to exercise their right to vote."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	13:23- 14:3	Rep. Marie Paule Woodson (Democrat)	We can only call a good policy when we consider the impact that it will have on others; on everyone including the 1 most marginalized, disenfranchised, oppressed, exploited and our seniors. Our frail seniors who don't have people watching after them."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	14:11- 15:5	Rep. Marie Paule Woodson (Democrat)	"I think we will all know what we are doing here and the effect it will have, so I won't take up any more time saying that we already know what's happening here. Voter suppression. That said, I will leave you with this thought. Dr. Martin Luther ing, Jr. once said that: The arc of the moral universe is long, but it bends toward justice. This bill will pass, but we will not go away and these issues will not go away. Instead they would fuel the next generation of advocates who will fight every day until we have equity and justice for all. While democracy cannot [sic] be often delayed, it can never be permanently defeated. In this truth, in this faith we trust. For while we have our eyes on the future, history has its eyes on us. History will be the judge of how we vote here today. now that history will not look kindly upon us for, no matter how good for people we are or a policymaker 1 we think we might be, if our vote is in

			favor of this bill that you know will hurt people, as my colleague has tried tirelessly to explain so far, that is the legacy that you will leave and this is how people would remember you."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	15:12-14	Rep. Carlos Smith (Democrat)	"Members, this bill is about making it harder for certain people to vote. By making it harder, we're also disenfranchising people from voting."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	16:3-6	Rep. Carlos Smith (Democrat)	"So if they have to go to a drop box, now we're putting on all of these restrictions that can possibly lead to disenfranchisement. And it will lead to disenfranchisement for many voters."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	16:16-18	Rep. Carlos Smith (Democrat)	"Make them do this, make them do that. Make them give up. That's what we're doing here. I think it's sickening."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	23:18-20	Rep. Michael Grieco (Democrat)	"We do not have government by the majority. We have government by the majority that participate. This bill makes it harder for some to participate."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	25:6-10	Rep. Michael Grieco (Democrat)	"If you want to win fair elections and reduce public demand to amend the state constitution, my advice is that you pass a legislation that the majority of Floridians actually want instead of disenfranchising thousands of voters and focusing on the 2021 gerrymandering that's to come."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	31:23- 32:2	Rep. Ramon Alexander (Democrat)	"Whatever the case may be. Heck, why don't we just rename this the Injured and Elderly Disenfranchisement Act of 2021?"
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29	41:13-16	Rep. Joseph Geller (Democrat)	"But the goal of these bills in my opinion is - especially with some of these restrictions on vote by mail - the goal or the effect, take your pick, is going to be less votes cast."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462- 29)	51:10-19	Rep. Michele Rayner (Democrat)	"This completely undermines the process and will confuse voters, some of whom stay in line well after the polls close to vote because they believe in the political process. They also know what it is to be disenfranchised. They believe they have a voice. Guess what? The goal of this bill is to disillusion our citizens and stop them from voting. Let's take our frontline workers as an example. The nurses get off their 12-hour shift working from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. perhaps with a ballot in the car ready to be dropped up. Why not make it easier for them to participate in democracy?"
Ex. 528 (462-29)	63:4-13	Rep. Robin Bartleman (Democrat)	"What this bill does is it aggravates and confuses voters. It creates hurdles for voters, for all voters. Your Republican voters are going to get caught in this mess and be aggravated. The Democratic voters will be caught in this mess and be aggravated. The independent voters, the seniors. I represent Century Village. They like to put all their ballots together and just drop them off. They're not going to

			be able to do that. For seniors who can't drive, for seniors who don't have family members, why aren't we making this easy for them? Why aren't we making this like a smooth process?"
Ex. 528	68:18-	Rep. Dotie	"Instead of making it easier to vote, this bill does the exact
(ECF 462-	69:1	Joseph	opposite. SB90 erects deliberate barriers to voting which
29)		(Democrat)	makes it harder for all Floridians, regardless of your political
,			party, to exercise that right to vote. It makes it harder to use
			vote by mail, something that most Floridians appreciate in a
			pandemic mind you. It makes it harder to use convenient
			and secure drop boxes in a pandemic mind you. And it
			makes it just harder to vote."
Ex. 528	80:20-	Rep.	"Members, Florida Statute Chapter 828 focuses on the
(ECF 462-	81:15	Geraldine	treatment of animals. It stipulates that if animals are
29)	01.13	Thompson	required to be outside for continuous periods, they must be
23)		(Democrat)	provided necessary food, water, and attention. And
		(Bemocrat)	individuals who violate Florida Statute 828 are guilty of a
			misdemeanor of the second degree. Our humane societies,
			our ASPCAs, operate under Florida Chapter 828 and we are
			here today considering a bill that would treat animals more
			humanely than we would treat Florida voters. When I asked
			the sponsor yesterday if we could give water, food,
			medication, a fan, anything to a voter standing in line, I was
			told, no, that might be campaigning. So we're here today
			with a bill that would treat Florida voters worse and less
			humanely than we would treat animals. This is a sad day. In
			addition to Florida Statute 828, under the International
		ED	Criminal Court it's a war crime to deprive a prisoner or a war
			refugee of food, water, and attention. But we're here in the
			State of Florida, the Chamber of the Florida House of
		5-x	Representatives, considering a bill that would deprive voters
F ₁ , F ₂ 0	04:17.20	Don Tuesia	standing in line of food and water."
Ex. 528	94:17-20	Rep. Tracie	"But you're not admitting this is a deliberate barrier to
(ECF 462-		Davis	voting. The reason this is a deliberate barrier to voting is
29)		(Democrat)	because it imposes severe restrictions and limitations, the
			two words you don't want to hear today, but that's what's
F., F20	24.6.44	Dan Tarris	happening."
Ex. 530	34:6-11	Rep. Tracie	"We are changing election law. We are blocking voter
(ECF 462-		Davis	access. There are words that I would love to say - like
31)		(Democrat)	suppression, restriction, limitation - but you don't want to
			hear that because in your mind this is still security. You
			don't place deliberate barriers in folks' way and call it
			security. This is not what this is and especially not now."
Ex. 530	36:11-16	Rep.	"This bill says to people that you can't have food or water if
(ECF 462-		Geraldine	you're standing in line while we have created the long lines.
31)		Thomson	And I had talked to you about that yesterday. We are treating voters less humanely than we would treat a dog.
		(Democrat)	

	This is shameful. This is shameful and I cannot believe that
	we are here considering this kind of legislation."

PET LATER EN LE LE COM DE LA CESTA CALOCKET. COM DE LA CESTA CALOCKET. COM DE LA CALOCKET. COM DE LA CALOCKET.

APPENDIX L

	iscussion of Supervisors of Elections pposition				
Exhibit Number	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)		
445 (ECF 461-54)	46:23- 47:3	Sen. Lori Berman (Democrat)	"If we change the vote-by mail procedure, we're going to create an inordinate amount of work for our supervisors. It's going to be costly. Pinellas County thought it would cost them \$260,000 for that one county alone."		
445 (ECF 461-54)	73:1-10	Supervisor of Elections (Okaloosa County) Paul Lux	"However, there are a lot of supervisors 1 that have concern about the ability to outreach to the voters in that instance. A bigger concern is paragraph 3 which strikes all standing absentee requests and wipes them all out and clean slates everything. That is a big concern to the supervisors because there will have to be outreach then. Because so many voters, who when they signed up for ballots in 2020 were told this was good through 2022, will have to be contacted to make sure that they are aware, if this law passes, that their request for a ballot has been erased."		
445 (ECF 461-54)	87:20-22	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"I highlighted before that I've had supervisors that are texting me now and telling me that this is unworkable."		
425 (ECF 461-34)	14:5-15:1	Sen. Victor Torres (Democrat); Sen. Dennis Baxley (Republican)	Sen. Torres: "Out of the 67 SOEs in the state of Florida, how many are in support of this bill?" Sen. Baxley: "I don't know that I've heard from every one of them." Sen. Torres: "Well, Senator, the response that I received was 66 out of the 67 don't like your bill. That's what I got. The cost factor to the SOEs is going to be monumental to follow the guidelines of this bill."		
425 (ECF 461-34)	19:17-22	Supervisor of Elections (Lake County) Alan Hays	"Sir, now in my role as the election supervisor of Lake County, I'm asking each member of the legislature to seek the opinions and take the advice of the elections professionals of the State of Florida before making significant changes in tinkering with our statutes."		
425 (ECF 461-34)	20:14- 21:2	Supervisor of Elections (Lake County) Alan Hays	"Page 11, Line 309 [the proposed restrictions on drop boxes], begins a travesty. All of us are aware of the perils, perceived or actual, of trusting the United States Postal Service to deliver ballots on time. Last year in the general election, 4.9 million Floridians returned their vote-by-mail ballot for tabulation. Out of those 4.9 million, one and a half million were placed in drop boxes. If you allow Section 5 of this PCS to stand as it is currently worded, you will have outlawed the use of those drop		

			boxes, and you have just played havoc in the lives of one and a half million Floridians, not to mention the burden that you've added to the Supervisors of Elections. Is that really your intention?"
425 (ECF 461-34)	21:3-21	Supervisor of Elections (Lake County) Alan Hays	Now for Page 12, line 336, Section 7 [the proposed requirement to require voters to request a new mail ballot each year]. The true estimated cost of this one section is 14- to \$16 million. Let me reiterate 14 million to \$16 million for that one section of this bill. Meeting the requirements stated in Section 1 of this PCS necessitates the Supervisors to send the information to the voters, and the voters send it back to us on something other than a postcard.
			This section will require us to mail the six million voters who received vote-by-mail ballots last year to let them know that their request, currently valid through 2022, has been invalidated by this legislature. If they want a vote-by-mail ballot for the '22 elections, they will then have to go through another, more involved, process to request a vote-by-mail ballot.
			Do you really wish to impose on the counties this added expense of \$16 million and alienate six million voters who have a request on file?"
425 (ECF 461-34)	23:6-13	Supervisor of Elections (Lake County) Alan Hays	"Perhaps it might clarify if I just stated that nothing in this bill is on our list of suggestions, with the exception of that one section giving us the authorization to begin canvassing the vote-by-mail ballots after the logic and accuracy testing is completed. That's the only thing that we are in favor of in this bill."
425 (ECF 461-34)	28:1-13	Supervisor of Elections (Leon County) Mark Earley	"I am one of those people who at least claim to be representing the Supervisors. I have heard of no Supervisors who are in support of this bill. There are a few good measures; but on ballots, we're against this bill vehemently.
			In my lifetime serving voters, I've seen the best and worst elections have to offer. This bill appears, from my perspective, to be setting us up for another 2012 where we had long lines and chaos and confusion."
425 (ECF 461-34)	28:14-25	Supervisor of Elections (Leon County) Mark Earley	The key points that I'm very concerned about are the prohibition of the use of drop boxes. Supervised drop boxes are the gold standard of the chain of custody for receiving voter ballots. I mean, that's plain and simple. We have security procedures in place that take those every day, sometimes every couple of hours, as the boxes are

			getting filled up to into our custody in secure bags, sealed bags.
			That's the way elections should be administered. And that's actually the way the Secretary of State in her October memorandum to our Supervisors suggested it happen."
425 (ECF 461-34)	29:14- 30:8	Supervisor of Elections (Leon County) Mark Earley	"The reset of the vote-by-mail requests. We already have a reset. It's every two years. All the requests on file right now are at the request of voters. We don't just, by default, put them on for two election cycles. They've requested that, and they're expecting it.
			We've spent great amounts of money inputting all of these requests. We're going to have to zero those out, send out, as a Senator Hays has detailed, lots more, supervise lots more vote-by-mail information, education to our voters, and get back and reprocess all of those requests that are already on file.
			I think that does a great disservice to our voters, to our taxpayers to pay for this. I'm not sure how we're going to pay for it. But yes, Supervisors of Elections do get the job done. We'll probably manage, but it's going to cause great confusion. And I don't like trying to explain this to our voters after all the disinformation in 2020."
425 (ECF 461-34)	41:17-19	Sen. Linda Stewart (Democrat)	"Our County Supervisors obviously don't want this bill. "S going to increase their costs and their burdens."
426 (ECF 461-35)	108:25- 110:2.	Rep. Allison Tant (Democrat)	"I would prefer if we could do this as a workshop today, instead of vote. I just think that there's a lot to be worked out, I would, you know, be anxious for my SOE and the others to be heard. I do have significant issues with the billI'm concerned about the drop box, and the delays that that's going to result in for voters I am concerned about the cost to our SOEs for all of thisI want to continue to make sure my SOE's voice is heard throughout this process."
426 (ECF 461-35)	111:24- 112:9	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"However, SOEs have asked have stated that this cost, just to implement the vote-by-mail piece nothing more we're not talking about additional staff for securing the drop boxes, we're not talking about the 12 to 14 to 16 hours that it takes to do the verification process, when they go into viewing the absentee vote-by-mail ballots, we're not talking any of that. We're only talking about the implementation of the vote-by-mail process and what it means to communicate to the voters of this state, 14- to \$16 million."

405	74600	C I. CC	#01	
485	7:16-8:2	Sen. Jeff Brandes (Republican)	"I've received a number of phone calls yesterday questioning my intent on this bill. I need to put on the record that, to my knowledge, not one Republican supervisor of elections in the State of Florida supports this bill in its current form. I need to put on the record that even our good friend, Senator Hays, who had left here to become a supervisor of election, one of the most staunch conservatives that had run through this chamber, has strongly opposed this piece of legislation and believes that it will not work and will frankly hurt the voting process."	
489 (ECF 461-98)	52:11-18	Sen. Shevrin Jones (Democrat)	require drop box locations to be designated at least 30 days	
507 (ECF 462-8)	11:21- 12:11	Sen. Loranne Ausley (Democrat)	"We have 67 elected superintendents, more than half of whom are Republicans. They are experts in the election process and their voices are respected. They are closest to the voters and, after every election, they've always told us what went right and what went wrong. Like many of you, I asked for and listened to several of the supervisors of elections in my district. Each of them shared their concerns about this bill and how it will make it harder for them to do their jobs for absolutely no reason. In past elections we all typically listened to these experts and worked hard to fix what was broken - except for this year. This year something is different because, instead of listening to those voices, those experts we're doing exactly the opposite of what they're suggesting."	
507 (ECF 462-8)	15:5-18	Sen. Loranne Ausley (Democrat)	"My last point is has any supervisor of elections ask for this bill. No, they have not. As a matter of fact, I know my supervisor and other supervisors have contacted us to let us know they are not in favor of this bill."	
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	31:24- 32:2	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican)	"We have had conversations with [the Supervisors]. We just have a fundamental disagreement on how often they should engage with voters."	
Ex. 508 (ECF 462- 9)	113:11-15	Rep. Tracie Davis (Democrat)	"This bill, this amendment is a slap in the supervisors of elections' faces after an election that you say, we say, was one of the best we've had because you're going to charge them \$25,000 if they don't comply with what you want them to do with these drop boxes."	

Ex. 528	5:13-16	Rep. Ben	"[Rep. Ingoglia] had a fundamental policy disagreement
(ECF 462-	3.13 10	Diamond	with the supervisors of elections, which we are
29)		(Democrat)	independently electing across this state. There's just no
/		(= 55 55)	trust there that they're actually doing their job correctly."
Ex. 528	6:7-17	Rep. Ben	"I mean finding the right balance to provide access to
(ECF 462-		Diamond	Floridians to vote while maintaining the security of our
29)		(Democrat)	elections is something that we should all be working toward
			together, in consultation with, and with the support of our
			supervisors of elections who I think have been doing this
			work in Florida very well. I see my time is running short. So,
			members, I would just ask that you please take a step back. I
			know many of us have been talking to our local supervisors
			of elections who have expressed concerns, real, real
			concerns with how this bill may impede the successful
			administration of elections in Florida."
Ex. 528	8:2-7	Rep. Michael	"Yesterday we heard that all the supervisors of elections
(ECF		Gottlieb	support this. Yet, in contrast to that, and I quote: I have
462:9)		(Democrat)	heard of no supervisors who are in support of this bill. That
			was Leon County Supervisor of Elections Mark Earley in a
Ex. 528	32:12-15	Pon Pamon	Senate committee hearing just two weeks ago on this bill." "I also defer to folks like the supervisors of elections across
(ECF 462-	32.12-13	Rep. Ramon Alexander	the state because they're the experts. The overwhelming
29)		(Democrat)	majority of them are opposed to the changes in this bill."
Ex. 528	67:19-20	Rep. Dotie	"We know that the supervisors of election throughout the
(ECF 426-	07.123 20	Joseph	state are opposed to this version of the bill."
29)		(Democrat)	
Ex. 528	78:3-19	Rep. Fentrice	also asked about whether the Florida Supervisors of
(ECF 462-		Driskell	Elections support this bill. I didn't get a clear answer, but I
29)		(Democrat)	got a general impression that maybe they don't oppose the
		(PIL	bill. Well, members, to eliminate any confusion, let me read
		24	you a statement from a local supervisor of elections that
			was made on behalf of all 67 of them: Florida Supervisors of
			Elections does not support SB90 or HB7041 in their current
			form, but continue to share information with the
			Legislature. Which we would expect them to do, right?
			They're a bipartisan body. They're not in the politics of this.
			They just want to get it right and make sure that we get our
			elections processes right. But in other words and in sum, the facts and circumstances don't demonstrate any fraud that
			would warrant a bill like this. The people don't want a bill
			like this and the supervisors of elections say we don't need a
			bill like this. So if we don't need a bill like this and no one
			wants a bill like this, what's the point?"
Ex. 528	91:11-	Rep. Tracie	"True enough we had supervisors come and talk to us in one
(ECF 462-	92:2	Davis	of our committees, but I'm not sure I was shocked as it was
29)		(Democrat)	stated a little bit earlier. I wasn't shocked at all because all
			we heard over and over again was that 2020 brought Florida

		the best elections ever. We had an appointed supervisor
		who had not been in that seat long enough to have given
		the explanation about ballot harvesting that he did, but we
		,
		also had two supervisors that I served with for over 15 years
		that spoke that same day and they literally were cut off and
		stopped. So I'm not sure who was shocked in that room. I
		simply was shocked that the supervisor that had so much to
		say was the supervisor who had been in a seat the least
		amount of time. But the supervisors that spoke had more
		than 15, 20 years of experience, so I had the tendency to
		listen 1 to what they said and shocked was not what I was."
Ex. 530 34:21-2	4 Rep. Tracie	"When we can sit down at the table and make a decision
(ECF 462-	Davis	together, when we can include the 67 supervisors in this
31)	(Democrat)	state, then we will be doing something. But this is insulting
		and I will not let you sit in this room and not acknowledge
		it."
Ex. 539 34:16-2	1 Sen. Lori	"So, why are we making it so hard to vote, especially by
(ECF 462-	Berman	mail? Why are we shortening the timeframe for vote-by-
40)	(Democrat)	mail? It's not because we're concerned about mail going to
		addresses of people who moved. Our supervisors have
		already told us, that's not a problem."
Ex. 539 46:7-22	Sen. Annette	"So instead of as with this bill actually going to our
(ECF 462-	Taddeo	supervisors of elections who did such a great job all in our
40)	(Democrat)	67 counties and asking what is something that we need to
		fix, instead they've been coming to us with all the problems
		they've had with this bill. I actually find it astonishing that
		we're actually adding to this bill. I'm going to read line 1047
		of the bill: If any drop box is left accessible for ballot receipt
	JE	other than as authorized by this section, the supervisor is
	PIF	subject to a civil penalty of \$25,000. The division is
		authorized to enforce this provision. What does this mean?
	~	It means that those supervisors of elections that we're
		celebrating and that we appreciate so much because they
		do such a great job are now personally liable in this bill
		\$25,000. I think that's a slap in the face to the celebration
		·
		that we should be having towards our supervisors of

APPENDIX M

APPENDIX M

PROMOBENO CRACTOO CHEET COMMODELINO CRACTOO CHEET CRACTOO CHEE

	runcated ebate & Limited Public omments				
Exhibit	Page-Line Numbers	Speaker(s)	Relevant Statement(s)		
Ex. 426 (ECF 461-35)	103:3-10	Chairwoman Erin Grall (Republican)	"Just a reminder for the Committee, this is a proposed Committee bill. This is the first stop. There will be continued opportunities. This bill is not slated to move directly to the floor from this position, to my knowledge. So there will be opportunities to continue conversations with all the supervisors, with the stakeholders, as the bill moves forward."		
Ex. 428 (ECF 461-37)	81:3-9	Sen. Randolph Bracy (Democrat)	"I'm going to end this, because I know we've got to move on, and we've got many speakers, but I would just say that I asked you that water question because it's gotten a lot of attention with Georgia and their law that they passed, and this as I read this amendment, it sounds very similar to what Georgia has passed."		
Ex. 428 (ECF 461-37)	119:23- 120:17	Chairwoman Passidomo (Republican)	because people speak too long And we're		
Ex. 428 (ECF 461-37)	125:21- 126:4	Theresa ing (member of the public)	going to cut the testimony off at one minute." Ms. ing: "The more I have listened to this bill today, the more concerning I am on the disenfranchisement of all of the voters that this would affect, not just my 86-year-old father-in-law, who literally begged me to speak for him. I just wish that you know, with a state that had such a great record in 2022 2020 " Chairwoman Passidomo: "Thank you very		
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	2:3-5	Chair Ralph Massullo (Republican)	much for your testimony, ma'am." "Members, we're going to be limiting questions and debate. We have a lot of		

		I	
			people who want to testify and we may be limiting those times as well."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	51:22-52:1	Rep. Carlos Guillermo Smith (Democrat)	"Because we're so rushed for time for such an important bill - I mean we have ten minutes left at this committee - we can't properly vet these amendments. I want to point out that I have a concern."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	55:1-2	Chair Ralph Massullo (Republican)	"I'm sorry we're moving so fast. The time crunch is 15 minutes left. Less than 15 minutes left."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	55:11-13	Rep. Carlos Guillermo Smith (Democrat)	"I apologize if I'm asking you questions on the wrong amendment now. We're moving so fast."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	64:1-12	Rep. Robin Bartleman (Democrat); Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican); Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	Rep. Bartleman: "Why can't we just follow the normal process? Why is there a rush to make it happen right away? There is only one situation I could think of that would lead you to want to do that." Rep. Ingoglia: "It's a policy decision." Rep. Hardy: "What were the considerations behind making that policy decision?"
		an DEMO	Rep. Ingoglia: "Just that we thought that the law should take effect as quick as possible."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	64:17-65:9	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican); Rep. Dotie Joseph (Democrat); Chair Ralph Massullo (Republican)	Rep. Joseph: "Are there any funds allocated to notifying the public about these changes if it's not going to follow our normal process?" Rep. Ingoglia: "The question is not germane to the amendment."
			Rep. Joseph: "But I haven't even finished asking the question." Chair Massullo: "All right. No public testimony. We're in debate on that
			amendment. Members?" Rep. Joseph: "Chair, I haven't even finished like I'm interrupted in the middle of the question."
			Rep. Massullo: "I'm sorry. Moving on. I am moving on. Thank you. No debate"

	1		
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	65:18- 66:10	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia (Republican); Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	Rep. Hardy: "It's not clear to me that it's the right thing to do to push this on voters right now particularly given that this is a difficult thing for those of us on this committee to wrap our brains around."
			Rep. Ingoglia: "It has always been my intention to have this act take effect upon being a law. It was one of those amendments that we were planning on making at the beginning of the session. We just decided not to do all the amendments at certain committee stops. This was the committee stop where we're going to make this."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	77:5-8	Chair Ralph Massullo (Republican)	"Now, we're going to go to public testimony on the bill as amended, and for the sake of time, and I apologize to the individuals that have made the trip here, but we're just going to read into the record your position on the bill."
Ex. 483 (ECF 461-092)	78:4-6	Chair Ralph Massullo (Republican)	"That ends public testimony. Again, I appropriate. We needed to work through those quickly, but we do appreciate you all coming, and we appreciate your interest and your opinions."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	59:22-60:6	Rep. Omari Hardy (Democrat)	"It's very interesting that we should be given just five minutes to open, question, debate, and close amendments on this bill which is about the heart of our democracy in this state, one of the most important states in the United States of America. I can't begin my discussion of this amendment without expressing how I feel about having this debate essentially canceled or truncated because we happened to have filed lots of amendments on this very objectionable piece of legislation."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	87:10	Rep. Dotie Joseph	"So notice the misdirection." (referencing Rep. Ingoglia's statement of opposition against an amendment that would have allowed drop boxes to be monitored by video surveillance)
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	88:3-5	Rep. Dotie Joseph	"If our goal is to make it user friendly for the voters, then these are the kinds of amendments that we should be incorporating in the legislation."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	104:23- 105:2	Rep. Blaise Ingoglia	"So Ronald Reagan once said the scariest words are I'm from the government, I'm here to help. I think the second scariest words are

			I'm from the government, I'm here to help you vote."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	110:14-16	Rep. Anna Eskamani	"We brought forth quite a few amendments here in the back row to try to make this bill less harmful but, as you all know, they were all rejected."
Ex. 508 (ECF 462-9)	111:22-24	Rep. Dotie Joseph	"You know the Senate sent over a version. This is the version that we have in the strike all that was dropped at almost 2:00 this morning."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462-29)	17:23-18:6	Rep. Carlos Smith	"And I do want to talk about the process. This bill is a case study in democracy in the dark. Strike all amendments at 1:33 a.m. The sponsor repeatedly said yesterday, well, if you read the strike all, if you read the strike all, if you read the strike all. Who had time to read the strike all? It was filed at 2:00 in the morning. No one. All rushed. Yesterday I couldn't even debate on the strike all because there was no more time. No more questions."
Ex. 528 (ECF 462-29)	22:23-23:7	Rep. Michael Grieco	"Friends, Floridians, countrymen and women, lend me your ear because it's Groundhog Day again. I say that because it's the last week of
Ex. 528 (ECF 462-29)	65:23-66:4	Rep. Patricia Williams	"All of the things that we have put for amending this bill, all of them has been turned down. It shows me that you're not willing to work with the people that are here in the back row and that we can't work together, this is not something that all of us want. I feel like a plate of food. It was fixed and it was shoved in our face and say eat it."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462-31)	30:20-24	Rep. Tracie Davis	"This has been a fun, fun day I tell you, but I'm thoroughly disappointed. I am disappointed because there are a lot of things that have changed in this bill. But the problem that I'm having is that we have less than an hour or two to prepare adequately."
Ex. 530 (ECF 462-31)	34:3-5	Rep. Tracie Davis	"You have allowed a caucus less than three hours to prepare for something that will

			change Florida's election law for over millions
			of voters."
Ex. 530 (ECF	34:12-20	Rep. Tracie Davis	"I have a caucus of members. Me especially.
462-31)			And I'm just going to tell you I'm completely
			offended at this body. Completely. I'm
			disappointed. I'm offended. I'm actually
			insulted. And that continues from yesterday.
			You gave us less than three hours to go
			through how many pages is this? A 48-page
			document to see the good stuff that you say is
			in here. It hasn't changed enough for me. It
			hasn't changed enough for my caucus. It hasn't
			changed enough for your voters. So don't tell
E 520/505	20.40.45	Dec. In cash Caller	me this is a better product."
Ex. 530 (ECF	38:10-15	Rep. Joseph Geller	"This process dishonors the work that's been
462-31)			done on this bill. This process, where people
			barely know what's coming back, belies the
			work that's been put in in both houses. This
			process at 9:00 at night on day 59 is how not
			we should be revising our election laws."
Ex. 530 (ECF	39:4-8	Rep. Joseph Geller	"This s not how we should be fixing perceived
462-31)			problems in our election law. This ends up a
			hodge-podge. The Senate sends some stuff
		,,0	over. We barely have time to find out what it is
		SEM.	whether it's right, whether it's a good idea.
		al land	We're not fixing anything that's wrong in this
		, P.O.	bill."
Ex. 530 (ECF	39:14-22	Rep. Joseph Geller	"We could talk about individual provisions of
462-31)		Rep. Joseph Geller	this bill for a long time. But most of the people
		R	sitting here, members, if we had a quiz tonight
		OK.	on where we're at on drop boxes, on
			attestation, on where we're at tonight, on who
			can sign for when and how many drop boxes
			you can have and where, I got to tell you I
			suspect most of these people in this room -
			maybe me included - would flunk that quiz.
			Please vote down on this last minute attempt
			to try and get something through at all costs
			whether it's good or bad."
Ex. 530 (ECF	40:1-4	Rep. Bobby DuBose	"Man, I know we only have a few minutes left.
462-31)	1		It's really unfortunate with something that's so
.02 02,			important how we are being handled. I feel
			like I'm being censored."
			וותב ו ווו טבוווצ נבווטטובע.